## **DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENT**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

William E. Diehl

Date

## APPROVAL SHEET SPECIES SPECIFIC DIFFERENCES IN TRIM5α FUNCTION AND GENOMIC COMPOSITION

By

WILLIAM E. DIEHL Doctor of Philosophy Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Microbiology & Molecular Genetics

Eric Hunter, Ph.D. [Advisor] Samuel H. Speck, Ph.D. [Committee Member]

Cynthia A. Derdeyn, Ph.D. [Committee Member]

**Paul Spearman**, Ph.D. [Committee Member] Tristram Parslow, M.D./Ph.D. [Committee Member]

> **Guido Silvestri**, M.D. [Committee Member]

Byeongwoon Song, Ph.D. [Committee member]

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

# SPECIES SPECIFIC DIFFERENCES IN TRIM5α FUNCTION AND GENOMIC COMPOSITION

By

# WILLIAM E. DIEHL

M.S., Tulane University, 2002

Advisor: ERIC HUNTER, Ph.D.

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Microbiology & Molecular Genetics 2010

#### ABSTRACT

# SPECIES SPECIFIC DIFFERENCES IN TRIM5α FUNCTION AND GENOMIC COMPOSITION

#### WILLIAM E. DIEHL

It has recently become apparent that the alpha splice variant of tripartite motif-containing protein 5 (TRIM5 $\alpha$ ) can impose a major barrier to cross-species retroviral infection. This antiviral activity is most prominently exerted shortly after viral entry into a target cell and results in an abortive infection prior to viral genome integration into the host chromatin. Work from other groups has shown that TRIM5 $\alpha$  is capable of restricting infection by a variety of Gammaretroviruses, Lentiviruses, and Spumaviruses. In this dissertation molecular virological approaches were used to demonstrate that a prototype Betaretrovirus, Mason-Pfizer Monkey Virus (M-PMV), encounters a virus specific post-entry block to replication in cells from three New World monkey species. In two cases TRIM5 $\alpha$  was identified as being responsible for this block, thus expanding known TRIM5 $\alpha$  antiviral activity to Betaretroviruses.

In primate genomes, TRIM5 is found in conjunction with the related genes TRIM6, TRIM22 and TRIM34. Similar to TRIM5, TRIM22 has been shown to possess antiviral activity and both genes have been identified as having faced strong selective pressures during primate evolution. In contrast, the neighboring genes have been under purifying selection. Using genomics approaches it was discovered that elevated rates of transposable element fixation has occurred within the introns of TRIM5 and TRIM22, including the fixation of multiple endogenous retroviral (ERV) long terminal repeat (LTR) elements in the first intron of these genes. Using molecular biological techniques it was further shown that differential fixation of one such LTR element has resulted in a species-specific regulation of TRIM22 in response to p53 activation. As TRIM5 and TRIM22 are found adjacent each other in the genome and are situated such that they share a 5 kilobase (kb) promoter region, it is likely that the various LTRs fixed in these genes similarly modulate gene expression. These results are suggestive of a scenario where primate genomes have co-opted inserted endogenous retroviral elements as a mechanism for rapid alteration of gene expression, presumably to match the tissue tropism of a pathogenic virus challenge.

# SPECIES SPECIFIC DIFFERENCES IN TRIM5α FUNCTION AND GENOMIC COMPOSITION

By

# WILLIAM E. DIEHL

M.S., Tulane University, 2002

Advisor: ERIC HUNTER, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Microbiology & Molecular Genetics 2010

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to sincerely thank Eric Hunter, my mentor, for his support and guidance during my Ph.D. studies. As a student in the Hunter laboratory, I was given virtually free rein in charting the course of my project, and also in the design and conducting experiments. I was also blessed with the opportunity to mentor newcomers to the laboratory. This freedom greatly added to the sense of accomplishment when experiments yielded fruitful results and helped keep me motivated during times of uncertainty. I also would like to sincerely thank my committee members Drs. Cynthia Derdeyn, Tristram Parslow, Samuel Speck, Paul Spearman, Byeongwoon Song, and Guido Silvestri for their critical feedback on my thesis work and for their interest in the developing me as a scientist.

Many people played a role in preparing me for the Ph.D. program at Emory University. First and foremost I would like to thank my parents, Kathleen Brown and Richard Diehl, for stressing the importance of my education and pushing me to always give 100% effort. I would like to thank my High School Biology teacher, William Kays, and swim coach, Brian Delola, for demonstrating that with a lot of hard work anything is possible. Thanks also to the Professors of the Cellular and Molecular Biology program at Tulane, especially Drs. David Mullin, Carol Burdsal, and Ken Muneoka, who provided me with a strong knowledge base on which I was able to build. Finally I would like to thank my previous boss Dr. Jakob Reiser, from whom I learned many of the techniques I employed in my graduate studies as well as how to use these techniques in a well controlled experiment.

Past and present members of the Hunter laboratory have made working in Eric's lab a truly unique experience. The time spent with them, both in and out of the lab, made the years fun and exciting. They are Melissa Alexander, Jon Allen, Effie Bartley, Debby Basu, Carla Belk, Sushma Bhakta, Debi Boeras, Daniel Claiborne, Chandrima Chatterjee, Jasmine Clark, Paul Farmer, Sumita Ganguly, Richard Haaland, Paulina Hawkins, Mackenzie Hurlston, Amber Johnson, Wendy Lumm, Lara Pereira, Jessica Prince, Malinda Schaefer, Adrain Smith, Elizabeth Stansell, Ajay Vishwanathan, Ling Yue, and (honorary Hunter lab member) Rebecca Lynch. The times we have spent together will certainly be remembered forever (most of them, anyway!). Thanks also to the friends and collaborators in the Vaccine Research Center and around campus.

Finally, I would like to thank my wife, Agnieszka Bialkowska, for everything that she does and has done for me. She was always there for technical assistance on unfamiliar experiments, troubleshooting of experiments when they didn't work, and listening to my ramblings about my project. Her being there for me made the scientific portion of graduate school easier for me. Outside of the lab, she provided me with all of the support necessary so that life did not become overwhelming during the times when long nights were spent in the lab or in front of the computer, or when experiments looked like they would never work. She has always been able to find a way to keep me from getting to high when things were going well and keep me from getting too low when they weren't. Buziaczki baby, love you!

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

| INTRODUCTION  | 1   |
|---|-----|
| Retroviridae  | 1   |
| Conserved Retroviral Genetics   | 3   |
| Retroviral Accessory Genes  | 8   |
| Retroviral Lifecycle  | 13  |
| Restriction Factors and Evasion Mechanisms  | 26  |
| TRIM5α  | 40  |
| IDENTIFICATION OF POST-ENTRY RESTRICTIONS TO MASON-PFIZER<br>MONKEY VIRUS INFECTION IN NEW WORLD MONKEY CELLS   | 53  |
| ALTERED TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION OF MEMBERS OF THE <i>TRIM5</i> ,<br><i>TRIM22</i> , <i>TRIM34</i> , <i>TRIM6</i> LOCUS AS A RESULT OF DIFFERENTIAL FIXATION OF<br>ENDOGENOUS RETROVIRAL ELEMENTS IN THE NON-CODING REGIONS OF<br>THESE GENES | 84  |
| DISCUSSION  | 117 |
| LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS   | 124 |
| REFERENCES  | 132 |

# **LIST OF FIGURES**

# INTRODUCTION

| Figure |   | Page |
|--------|---|------|
| 1.     | Retroviral phylogeny  | 2    |
| 2.     | Schematic representation of the Mason-Pfizer Monkey Virus (M-PMV) genomic RNA and coding structure  | 4    |
| 3.     | Schematic of a mature particle from a hypothetical retrovirus   | 6    |
| 4.     | Lifecycle of a typical retrovirus   | 15   |
| 5.     | Major steps during reverse transcription  | 18   |
| 6.     | Model for the hexameric structure of HIV-1 capsid domains in the immature and mature lattices   | 26   |
| 7.     | Schematic representation of the proposed evolution and transfer of <i>vpu</i> and <i>nef</i> during zoonotic transfer of Lentiviruses in Old World primates | 41   |
| 8.     | Representation of the TRIM5 coding structure and protein domain architecture  | 43   |
| 9.     | Stereo model of a mature HIV-1 capsid core  | 48   |
| 10.    | Composition and structure of the of TRIM5 genomic locus   | 49   |

## IDENTIFICATION OF POST-ENTRY RESTRICTIONS TO MASON-PFIZER MONKEY VIRUS INFECTION IN NEW WORLD MONKEY CELLS

| Figure |   | Page |
|--------|---|------|
| 1.     | M-PMV infectivity is reduced in New World monkey cell lines                                 | 65   |
| 2.     | Observed infectivity differences are specific to M-PMV                                      | . 68 |
| 3.     | Quantitative PCR analysis of reverse transcriptase products in primate fibroblast cells     | 69   |
| 4.     | Exogenous expression of tamarin and squirrel monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$ inhibit M-PMV infection  | 71   |
| 5.     | Quantitative PCR analysis of reverse transcriptase products in TRIM5α expressing CRFK cells | 75   |

# LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

## IDENTIFICATION OF POST-ENTRY RESTRICTIONS TO MASON-PFIZER MONKEY VIRUS INFECTION IN NEW WORLD MONKEY CELLS

| Figure                                  |  | Page |
|---|--|------|
| 6.                                      | Truncated forms of TRIM5 have dominant-negative activity in TRIM5 $\alpha$ expressing CRFK cells   | 77   |
| 7.                                      | Expression of dominant-negative spider monkey TRIM5 does not enhance<br>M-PMV infectivity in spider monkey fibroblasts   | 79   |
| ALTEF<br><i>TRIM5</i><br>FIXAT<br>CODIN | RED TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION OF MEMBERS OF THE<br>, <i>TRIM22, TRIM34, TRIM6</i> LOCUS AS A RESULT OF DIFFERENTIAL<br>ION OF ENDOGENOUS RETROVIRAL ELEMENTS IN THE NON-<br>IG REGIONS OF THESE GENES |      |
| Figure                                  |  | Page |
| 1.                                      | Primate TRIM6/34/5/22 gene locus   | 88   |
| 2.                                      | <i>TRIM</i> genes are variably conserved as a result of differential rates of indel turnover   | 96   |
| 3.                                      | <i>TRIM5</i> and <i>TRIM22</i> contain more transposable elements than <i>TRIM6</i> or <i>TRIM34</i>   | 98   |
| 4.                                      | Graphical depiction of the genomic structure and location of transposable elements in the analyzed <i>TRIM</i> genes   | 99   |
| 5.                                      | Transcription of <i>TRIM22</i> from different primate species is differentially regulated following p53 induction  | 104  |
| 6.                                      | Reduced binding of p53 to the LTR10D element within the first intron of rhesus macaque <i>TRIM22</i>   | 107  |
| S1.                                     | Amino acid alignment of human and rhesus macaque p53   | 115  |
| S2.                                     | Nucleic acid alignment of the LTR10D element found within the first intron of Old World primate <i>TRIM22</i>  | 116  |

# LIST OF TABLES

| Table                                      |   | Page |
|--|---|------|
| 1.   | Viral restriction by primate TRIM5 a proteins   | 46   |
| IDENTI<br>MONKI                            | FICATION OF POST-ENTRY RESTRICTIONS TO MASON-PFIZER<br>EY VIRUS INFECTION IN NEW WORLD MONKEY CELLS   |      |
| Table                                      |   | Page |
| 1.   | Cells lines used in this study  | 57   |
| 2.   | Correlation of viral infectivity in New World monkey fibroblasts and CRFK cells expressing TRIM5 $\alpha$ from these New World monkeys  | 74   |
| ALTER<br><i>TRIM5</i> ,<br>FIXATI<br>CODIN | ED TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION OF MEMBERS OF THE<br><i>TRIM22, TRIM34, TRIM6</i> LOCUS AS A RESULT OF DIFFERENTIAL<br>ON OF ENDOGENOUS RETROVIRAL ELEMENTS IN THE NON-<br>G REGIONS OF THESE GENES |      |
| Table                                      |   | Page |
| 1.   | Summary of demographic and genetic information for human and non-human subjects   | 106  |
| S1.  | Nucleotide differences seen in the LTR10D elements within rhesus macaque <i>TRIM22</i>  | 115  |

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **Retroviridae**

The retroviridae are a family of viruses that infect vertebrates, mainly birds and mammals. Viral particles are generally between 80 and 120 nanometers in diameter and are surrounded by a membrane that contains a viral envelope (Env) protein, which mediates entry into a target cell. Retroviral virions contain two copies of the viral single-stranded positive sense ribonucleic acid (RNA) genome. The principal characteristics shared by members of this family of viruses are the ability to generate a deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) copy of the viral genome from the encapsidated viral RNA, and to integrate this viral genomic DNA into the cellular chromosomal DNA. Retroviral genomic DNA is called the provirus. The generation of DNA from genomic RNA and subsequent integration are both performed by products of the viral polymerase (pol) gene; reverse transcriptase (RT) and integrase (IN), respectively [239]. Retroviral group-specific antigen (gag) genes give rise to at least three proteins that encircle viral genomic RNA, giving structure to the virus. A feature distinguishing members of the *retroviridae* family from other enveloped viruses is that viral particles undergo a process of maturation following release from the cell, whereby viral precursor proteins, including Gag, are cleaved by a viral protease (Pro). Gag, Pro, Pol, and Env proteins are produced by all retroviruses, and viruses that only produce this group of viral proteins are called 'simple retroviruses'. In addition to producing these required proteins, retroviruses can encode other 'accessory proteins' that assist in viral replication or help in evasion of the immune response. Viruses containing accessory genes are called 'complex retroviruses'.

Retroviruses can be divided into seven distinct genera, based on the nucleotide sequence similarity of their reverse transcriptase genes: Alpharetroviruses, Betaretroviruses, Gammaretroviruses, Deltaretroviruses, Epsilonretroviruses, Lentiviruses, and Spumaviruses. Evolutionary relationships between these groups are shown in Figure 1. Alpharetroviruses are a group of infectious retroviruses that infect birds and include members having both simple and



**Figure 1.** *Retroviral phylogeny.* Phylogenetic analysis of the amino acid residues contained within domains 1–4 and part of domain 5 of the reverse transcriptase. Depicted is an unrooted neighbor-joining phylogenetic tree, constructed using the Phylogeny Inference Package (PHYLIP) package (Felsenstein J. "PHYLIP Version 3.57c.", University of Washington, Seattle 206, USA, 1995). BFV: Bovine foamy virus; BLV: Bovine leukemia virus; EIAV: Equine infectious anemia virus; FeLV: Feline leukemia virus; FIV: Feline immunodeficiency virus; GALV: Gibbon ape leukemia virus; HFV: Human foamy virus; HTLV: Human T-lymphotropic virus; MMTV: Mouse mammary tumor virus; MPMV: Mason-Pfizer monkey virus; SFV: Simian foamy virus; SIV: Simian immunodeficiency virus; SRV: Rous sarcoma virus; SFV: Simian retrovirus; STLV: Simian T-lymphotropic virus; WDSV: Walleye dermal sarcoma virus; WEHV: Walleye epidermal hyperplasia virus.

Adapted with permission from Elsevier Academic Press: E. Hunter et al, Retroviridae, in <u>Virus Taxonomy</u> (seventh edition), p. 369-387, copyright Elsevier (2000).

complex genomes. A prototypic virus of this genus is the Avian Leukosis Virus (ALV), a simple retrovirus that infects chickens and can cause lymphoblatsic and erythroblastic tumors as well as osteopetrosis. Betaretroviruses are a group of both simple and complex retroviruses that infect divergent mammalian species including mice, sheep, and primates. Mason-Pfizer Monkey Virus (M-PMV), a simple retrovirus that is the causative agent of simian acquired immunodeficiency-like syndrome in juvenile macaques is a prototypic member of this genus. Gammaretroviruses are

a group of generally simple retroviruses from divergent vertebrate species including birds, reptiles, mice, cats, and primates. The prototypic member of this genus is Murine Leukemia Virus (MLV), a simple retrovirus that can cause leukemias and lymphomas in mice. Deltaretroviruses are a group of complex retroviruses responsible for B- and T-cell lymphomas and leukemias in primates and cows. The prototypical member of this genus is the Human T-lymphotropic Virus 1 (HTLV-1), which can cause myopathies in addition to T-cell lymphomas and leukemias in humans. Epsilonretroviruses are a genus comprised of complex retroviruses that infect and cause tumor growth in fish. The prototypic member is Walleye Dermal Sarcoma Virus (WDSV). Lentiviruses are a diverse group of complex retroviruses that cause immunodeficiencies, anemia, and neuropathies in primates, cats, cows, horses, and sheep. The prototypic member of this genus Human Immunodeficiency Virus 1 (HIV-1), the causative agent of Acquired is Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS). Lastly, Spumaviruses are a group of complex retroviruses that infect multiple mammalian species including cats, cows, and several primate species. These retroviruses cause abnormal vacuolar cytopathology in tissue culture, but none have been shown to lead to overt disease in their native hosts.

#### **Conserved Retroviral Genetics**

Retroviruses of different genera have differently organized genomic structures, yet all encode a set of four essential gene products: Gag, Pro, Pol, and Env. These proteins perform the necessary structural, enzymatic, and membrane fusion functions essential for viral replication. The other feature common to all retroviruses is the presence in the proviral DNA of identical long terminal repeat (LTR) sequences flanking the coding region of the viral genome. These are formed from the unique 3' (U3), repeat (R), and unique 5' (U5) regions at the ends of the viral RNA (see below) during reverse transcription. The genome and RNA structures as well as coding regions for M-PMV are shown in Figure 2.



**Figure 2.** Schematic representation of the Mason-Pfizer Monkey Virus (M-PMV) genomic RNA and coding structure. Top: Proviral M-PMV genomic DNA. Middle: M-PMV RNA transcripts including the unspliced genomic/gag-pro-pol mRNA and the spliced env mRNA. Bottom: Proteins products of M-PMV with the depiction of their reading frame indicated by vertical offset. Gag: group-specific antigen; Pro: protease; Pol: polymerase; Env: envelope; MA: matrix; CA: capsid; NC: nucleocapsid; DU: dUTPase; PR: protease; RT: reverse transcriptase; IN: integrase; SU: surface subunit of Env; TM: transmembrane subunit of Env; LTR: long terminal repeat; U5; unique 5' sequence; R: repeat sequence; U3: unique 3' sequence; PBS: primer binding site;  $\psi$ : encapsidation signal; CTE: constitutive transport element.

#### LTR

The length of viral LTR sequences varies greatly between viruses, yet all provide transcriptional regulation, polyadenylation signals, and interacting sequences for the viral integrase. Each LTR can be broken into three segments based on their presence in the viral RNA. The U5 region is present only in the 5' end of the viral RNA, the R region is present in both the 5' and 3' ends of the viral RNA, while the U3 region is only present in the 3' end of the viral RNA (Fig. 2). As might be expected based on their locations in the RNA state, transcription initiates at the junction of U3 and R, while polyadenylation occurs at the junction of R and U5. The U3 region contains the majority of the transcriptional regulatory sequences and is where the

complement of host, and sometimes viral, transcription factors assemble. The factors controlling viral transcription differ for each retrovirus, and often between isolates of the same virus. Due to alterations in transcription factor binding, small sequence differences in the viral LTR between isolates can lead to dramatic alterations in viral pathogenicity.

#### <u>gag</u>

The gag gene encodes a polyprotein that forms the structural foundation of retroviral virions. While infectious viral particles require the other genes to be present, in the absence of any other viral proteins Gag molecules can catalyze the assembly of enveloped particles lacking both viral RNA and Env, called virus-like particles (VLPs). In most retroviruses, Gag molecules are produced from an unspliced RNA transcript and once produced, Gag molecules are trafficked to sites of viral assembly and homomultimerize to form thick-walled spherical protein shells of the immature virion. During assembly, viral genomic RNA is specifically packaged into the Gag shells. The specificity of viral RNA packaging being controlled by interactions between the Gag proteins and specific sequences in the viral RNA, called the encapsidation signal sequence or  $\psi$ . Following assembly, the virus particle buds through the plasma membrane where it acquires an envelope and associated Env proteins. Upon release, the viral protease becomes activated and cleaves the immature viral proteins, a process termed maturation. During this, the Gag polyprotein is cleaved into the major structural proteins of the infectious virion: matrix (MA), capsid (CA), and nucleocapsid (NC). A schematic representation of a mature retroviral virion is shown in Figure 3. As seen in this schematic, MA forms a spheroid outer-most shell of the virion located immediately underneath the lipid bylayer. CA forms an inner proteins shell, called the viral core. NC tightly associates with the viral RNA, but viral NC/RNA complexes do not form distinct macromolecular structures visible by electron microscopy. In Figure 3, the viral CA core is shown in a stylized pseudo-icosahedral form. In actuality, retroviral CA proteins assemble into a diverse array of distinct higher-order structures including centrally located round or partially angular cores (MLV and ALV), bar shaped cores (M-PMV), and conical cores (HIV-1) [589].



**Figure 3.** *Schematic of a mature particle from a hypothetical retrovirus.* MA, matrix; CA, capsid; NC, nucleocapsid; RT, reverse transcriptase; IN, integrase; PR, protease; SU, surface sub-unit; TM, transmembrane sub-unit.

Remarkably, unusual CA structures such as multiple CA cores within a single virion and multilayered cores have also been observed [35, 68, 69, 81]. Although, such peculiar CA structures may be artifacts of viral protein over-expression during viral production.

#### <u>pro</u>

In all retroviral genomes, the gene found adjacent to *gag* is the viral protease, *pro*, which is usually produced as a fusion protein in conjunction with Gag. While the location of this gene is conserved throughout the *retroviridae*, individual genera utilize different strategies for the production of Pro. Alpharetroviruses encode *pro* in-frame with *gag* such that Pro is produced with every Gag molecule produced. Betaretroviruses, such as M-PMV, and Deltaretroviruses encode *pro* in the -1 reading frame in relation to *gag* (Fig. 2) and production of Gag-Pro is achieved by -1 frame-shifting of the translating ribosome. Furthermore, in Betaretroviruses, *pro* is encoded separately from *pol*, with *pol* being in the -2 reading frame as compared to *gag*. This organization results in approximately 10-15% Gag-Pro and 1-2% Gag-Pro-Pol being produced as

compared to Gag [248]. Gammaretroviruses and Epsilonretroviruses encode *pro* (and *pol*) in frame with *gag* and utilize translational read-through of the *gag* stop codon to produce the Pro and Pol. Lentiviruses utilize a similar -1 frame-shifting mechanism as Betaretroviruses. However, instead of coding Pro and Pol separately as Betaretroviruses do, Lentiviruses encode Pro and Pol together in the -1 reading frame compared to *gag*. In Spumaviruses pro and pol are found in the +1 reading frame compared to gag. As opposed to other retroviruses, that produce Pro and Pol as a fusion protein with Gag, members of the Spumavirus genus produce a Pro-Pol protein independent of Gag from a spliced messenger RNA (mRNA). Irrespective of how a virus produces Pro, it is packaged into the assembling virus and upon viral release its activity is induced leading to cleavage of itself and other viral proteins during viral maturation. Loss of function of this protein results in accumulation of extracellular immature virions that are non-infectious.

#### <u>pol</u>

The *pol* gene of all retroviruses encodes at least three proteins, reverse transcriptase (RT), Ribonuclease H (RNase H), and integrase (IN). These proteins provide the enzymatic activities responsible for generation of viral genomic DNA as well as the subsequent integration of this DNA into the host chromosome. RT is responsible for generation of the viral genomic DNA using the packaged viral RNA as a starting template. RNase H catalyzes the degradation of the viral genomic RNA in concert with synthesis of the genomic DNA. IN catalyzes the double stranded cleavage of host chromosomal DNA and ligation of the viral genomic DNA into the subsequent DNA break. The series of events leading to the generation of proviral DNA from viral genomic RNA will be discussed in more detail below. As suggested above, all retroviruses encode the *pol* gene separately from *gag*, with most being translated via either ribosomal slippage or ribosomal readthrough of a stop codon. This coding strategy results in a relatively low abundance of Pol in the form of Gag-Pro-Pol molecules that are incorporated into virions via Gag-Gag interactions between Gag-only molecules and Gag-Pro-Pol molecules. The exception to the Gag-Pro-Pol strategy of Pol production is found in Spumaviruses, members of which utilize RNA splicing to generate Pol and rely upon interactions between Gag and the Pro-Pol molecules [308] as well as interactions between Pol and viral RNA [222] for efficient incorporation into assembling virions.

<u>env</u>

Retroviral *env* genes encode type I transmembrane proteins responsible for receptormediated fusion of the viral and cellular membranes. All known retroviruses produce Env from a spliced mRNA (Fig. 2). Translation of these proteins occurs on the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) generating a relatively long N-terminal domain inside the ER lumen, a single transmembrane region, and, for most retroviruses, a relatively short cytoplasmic C-terminal domain. After translation, Env proteins are trafficked through the ER and Golgi apparatus where they are glycosylated and cleaved into two subunits, the surface subunit (SU) and transmembrane subunit (TM), which are typically non-covalently bound. This cleavage process activates the fusion potential of the protein. Following cleavage activation, Env proteins are specifically incorporated into budding virions. Many retroviruses, such as M-PMV, have sequences in the cytoplasmic tail that inhibit the receptor binding and membrane fusion potential of their Env proteins. In viruses that have such a cytoplasmic tail, the inhibitory sequences are cleaved off during viral maturation by the viral protease, resulting in the activation of their full fusion potential [70, 459].

#### **Retroviral Accessory Genes**

In addition to the genes common to all retroviruses discussed above, many retroviruses encode genes that play crucial roles during replication of that virus or assist in the evasion of the host's immune system.

<u>sag</u>

Mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV), a Betaretrovirus, encodes a well-characterized accessory gene in the U3 region of the 3' LTR known as the superantigen (*sag*) [292]. MMTV is transferred to susceptible offspring via maternal milk and following transfer the virus is able to infect B-cells

in the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) [273]. In the GALT, Sag is presented in conjunction with the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II protein and together they stimulate T-cells to proliferate and release cytokines. The production of which generates an expanded pool of target lymphoid cells capable of trafficking to the mammary tissue and seeding it with virus [150, 180, 181, 224, 225, 273]. Demonstrating the importance of this accessory gene, mice infected with viruses lacking Sag are unable to transmit MMTV to their offspring [616]. *nef* 

Lentiviruses encode an accessory protein originally referred to as the "negative factor" (Nef) that in fact provides several important functions, the loss of which results in reduced viral pathogenicity [121, 136, 233]. One function Nef serves is to down regulate the cell surface expression of several crucial immunomodulatory proteins including CD4 [170], CD8 [539], MHC type I [500] and type II [487], and the co-stimulatory molecule CD28 [549]. HIV-1 Nef has also been shown to alter cellular signal transduction pathways including the activation of p21 activated kinase 2 (PAK-2). PAK-2 activation can lead to activation of an infected T-cell [456] and modulation of the CD40L pathway [550]. These changes result in the induction of chemokines and other factors that can recruit resting T-cells and prime them for HIV infection [488]. Nef has also been shown to get packaged into HIV virions and enhance viral infectivity, likely by inducing the reorganization of the cortical actin network in target cells [84, 103].

### vpr and vpx

HIV-1 encodes the viral protein R (*vpr*) accessory gene, which has been shown to possess a variety of viral and cellular functions. HIV-1 and other Lentiviruses have the ability to infect non-dividing cells and Vpr has been shown to facilitate this by assisting in nuclear import of the pre-integration complex (PIC) following reverse transcription [113, 223]. In addition to this, Vpr may indirectly regulate viral transcription. Vpr has been shown to induce  $G_2$  arrest in cells by induction of double stranded breaks in cellular DNA [512] or non-genotoxic activation of the ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3-related protein (ATR), a sensor of replication stress [472]. Transcription from the HIV-1 LTR is upregulated in cells arrested at the  $G_2/M$  checkpoint and this can result in enhanced viral particle production [178, 237, 658]. Furthermore, Vpr is a potent inducer of cell death by apoptosis, which is likely the result of prolonged G2/M arrest [10, 250, 644]. It is possible that Vpr could induce apoptosis in a more direct manner as it has been demonstrated that Vpr can induce permeabilization in purified mitochondria, a key step in apoptosis [249, 584].

An ancestral duplication event has resulted in human immunodeficiency virus type 2 (HIV-2) and simian immunodeficiency virus from sooty mangabeys (SIVsm) encoding two *vpr* paralogs, *vpr* and viral protein x (*vpx*) [506, 569]. Together, these two genes have been shown to play largely similar roles in the viral lifecycle of SIVsm as *vpr* alone does in the HIV-1 viral lifecycle [155, 161, 188, 200, 435, 449, 504, 532, 643].

<u>vpu</u>

Viral protein unique (Vpu) is an accessory protein encoded only by HIV-1 and some lineages of SIV [Reviewed in 350]. This protein has been shown to exist as homo-oligomeric type 1 membrane protein. The Vpu from HIV-1 has been shown to possess two main functions: controlling the trafficking and proteasomal degradation of CD4 from the ER [48, 358], and enhancing the release of virus from the cell surface by inhibiting the retention function of the cellular factor bone marrow stromal antigen 2 (Bst2), also known as Tetherin [285, 410, 540, 556]. Vpu mediates the down regulation of CD4 expression by directly interacting with CD4 molecules in the ER and targeting them for ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation [48, 494]. CD4 is targeted for destruction via direct interactions between a specific recognition motif in Vpu and  $\beta$ -transducin repeat containing protein ( $\beta$ -TRCP), a component of an E3 ubiquitin ligase complex [60, 358]. Vpu exerts its anti-tetherin activity by blocking this protein from becoming incorporated into the viral membrane during budding. This function will be discussed in greater detail below. Vpu can also form ion channels in membranes [496] and this function may enhance the effectiveness of viral release [143, 495]. However, the significance of ion channel formation on HIV-1 pathogenesis or lifecycle is not fully understood.

#### <u>rex</u> and <u>rev</u>

Often divergent viruses encode unique accessory proteins that serve similar roles in the viral lifecycle. The accessory genes 'regulator of viral expression' (*rev*) and 'regulator of expression from x' (*rex*), from Lentiviruses and Deltaretroviruses respectively, use identical strategies to perform similar RNA export functions. All retroviruses need to export unspliced viral mRNA so that it can be packaged as genomic RNA into assembling virions. Simple retroviruses, such as M-PMV, only produce unspliced or singly spliced *env* mRNAs (Fig. 2) and these retroviruses typically utilize RNA-based mechanisms to exploit cellular export mechanisms to get the unspliced viral RNA into the cytoplasm [66]. Complex retroviruses often produce a variety of different singly and multiply spliced mRNAs. Instead of utilizing RNA sequences for export of unspliced RNA, such viruses often encode accessory proteins to serve this function. In Lentiviruses and Deltaretroviruses, *rev* and *rex* encode viral proteins that interact with cis-acting sequences in the viral RNA and mediate the export of unspliced and singly spliced viral RNA from the nucleus [146, 228, 244, 298, 347, 520, 562].

#### tat, bell (also known as taf or tas), tax

Different retroviruses can also encode unique accessory genes that serve analogous functions, but utilize different mechanisms in doing so. A good example of this is the transcriptional activation function performed by the 'trans-activator of transcription' (Tat), Bell (also refered to as Taf or Tas), and 'trans-activator from x' (Tax) proteins from Lentiviruses, Spumaviruses, and Deltaretroviruses, respectively. Tat stimulates lentiviral transcription through its ability to bind the secondary and tertiary RNA structures of the trans-activation response (TAR) element. These structures are present in short initiated, but paused, RNA transcripts. Upon binding this element, Tat recruits positive acting factors that act to modify inhibitory molecules as

well as RNA Polymerase II. Combined, modification of these proteins results in the relief of the block to transcriptional elongation [467].

The Bell accessory protein in Spumaviruses is a DNA binding protein that binds to the viral promoters and, in conjunction with cellular cofactors, stimulates transcription from the viral promoters [22, 220]. In contrast to Tat or Bell, Tax is not a binding protein for either DNA or RNA, it enhances viral transcription by recruiting and modulating the activity of the cellular transcription factors that control expression from the viral promoters (both LTR and internal) [274].

#### vif, bet, dUTPase

In at least one instance, retroviruses have acquired multiple mechanisms in order to achieve a universal objective: protecting against the presence of uracil in their DNA genomes. DNA acquires uracil by two distinct mechanisms misincorporating dUTP instead of dTTP during DNA synthesis or deamination of cytosines. The presence of dUTP instead of dTTP, regardless of mechanism leading to its presence, is an undesirable situation for the virus. However, only the presence of dUTP resulting from cytosine deamination results in viral mutagenesis. Retroviral reverse transcriptases, like most other DNA polymerases, are unable to discriminate dUTP and dTTP. This leads to to incorporation of dUTP during DNA synthesis and results in A–U mismatched pairs. This type of mismatch is recognized by cellular DNA repair enzymes during DNA synthesis and the DNA strand is repaired to the proper A–T pairing. Thus, this type of mismatch is not in and of itself mutagenic. However, presence of A–U mismatches can enhance genomic instability [138, 163] and alter gene expression by preventing binding of transcription factors to their target sites [152, 583].

Most actively dividing cells have relatively low cellular concentrations of dUTP [568]. However, some cell types targeted by retroviruses have elevated levels of dUTP, this includes quiescent T-cells and primary macrophages [15, 118, 235]. It appears that retroviruses have acquired the deoxyuridine triphosphatase (dUTPase) gene on three independent occasions, in the ERV-L lineage of endogenous retroviruses [34, 115], in non-primate Lentiviruses [139, 372, 376], and in Betaretroviruses [39]. In each of these instances dUTPase is expressed as a fusion protein with Gag and is thus packaged into virions where it is proximally located to RT and the viral RNA. The lentiviral dUTPase has been studied in some detail and it has been found that dUTPase is not required for viral replication in actively dividing cells, but is necessary for infectivity in non-dividing natural target cells such as macrophages [299, 535, 559, 574, 593]. HIV-1 infects non-dividing cells, but does not encode a viral dUTPase. Instead, HIV-1 has evolved a mechanism for packaging a cellular uracil-DNA glycosylase (UNG2) potentially through interactions with viral IN [454, 605]. The presence of this packaged UNG2 is required for HIV-1 infectivity in non-dividing cells [453].

In addition to the mechanisms described above, HIV-1 and other primate Lentiviruses have devised a separate strategy for preventing uracil accumulation during reverse transcription, which occurs as a result of cytosine deamination. Mammalian hosts of these viruses express specific cellular apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme (APOBEC) proteins that get incorporated into retroviral virions [507, 593, 604] and cause cytosine deamination of DNA reverse transcriptase products [212, 307, 352, 652]. Cytosine deamination of reverse transcription products can result in decreased infectivity as a result of lethal and sub-lethal mutagenesis [212, 307, 352, 652]. Additionally, it appears that cellular factors recognize deaminated RNA resulting in active degradation by an unknown mechanism [352, 359]. HIV-1 viral infectivity factor (Vif) has been shown to protect from the effects of APOBEC mediated inhibition of viral replication by directly inhibiting its deaminase activity [492], excluding APOBEC from being packaged into virions [359], and depleting APOBEC from infected cells either through proteasomal degradation of APOBEC proteins [100, 183, 379] or inhibition of APOBEC translation [272, 382, 538]. Similarly to Vif, the Bet accessory protein of feline foamy virus (FFV) has been shown to protect FFV from APOBEC's antiviral activity, likely by excluding APOBEC from virions [337].

#### **Retroviral Lifecycle**

The lifecycle of retroviruses is a wholly unique and elegantly complex process. An overview of the steps in the retroviral lifecycle is depicted in Figure 4 and proceeds as follows:

- i. Binding of the viral Env to the cellular receptor and subsequent fusion of the viral and cellular membranes
- ii. Internalization, transport, and uncoating of the viral core
- Reverse transcription of the single stranded viral RNA genome into double stranded
  DNA
- iv. Access of the viral genomic DNA to the nucleus/host chromatin
- v. Integration of the viral genome into the host chromosomal DNA
- vi. Transcription of the viral genome
- vii. Splicing and nuclear export of viral RNA
- viii. Translation and post-translational processing of viral genes
- ix. Assembly of progeny and viral RNA packaging into virions
- x. Budding and release of virions
- xi. Virion maturation through proteolytic processing of viral proteins

#### <u>Entry</u>

The retroviral lifecycle begins when the SU domain of a mature extracellular retroviral particle binds to its cognate receptor, displayed on the surface of a cell. Retroviruses of different lineages utilize distinct cellular receptors. For instance, the cellular receptor for M-PMV and other simian retroviruses (SRV) in the Betaretrovirus genus has been determined to be the RD114 receptor (RDR) a neutral amino acid transporter with multiple membrane spanning domains [457, 522]. HIV-1, however, utilizes CD4 as its primary receptor and either CXCR4 or CCR5 as a correceptor [137, 147, 171, 516]. Upon binding of the SU domain to its receptor, the TM domain



**Figure 4.** *Lifecycle of a typical retrovirus.* Panel A shows the processes from the point of entry through integration. Panel B depicts processes from transcription to viral release and maturation. RTC, reverse transcriptase complex; PIC, pre-integration complex; Gag: group-specific antigen; Gag-Pol: Gag-polymerase poly-protein; Env: envelope.

Adapted with permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: Nature Reviews Microbiology. Stephen P. Goff; Host factors exploited by retroviruses; Nature Reviews Microbiology **5**, 253-263 (April 2007), copyright 2007.

undergoes a series of conformational changes that ultimately results in fusion of the viral membrane with the cellular membrane. For most retroviruses, these steps have been shown to be independent of a change in pH and thus fusion events are likely to occur at the cell surface [362, 373, 536]. Membrane fusion results in the release of the viral RNA-containing CA core into the cytoplasm of the cell.

## Uncoating

The sequence of events that occur following viral entry into the cell are among the poorest understood of any during the viral lifecycle and much of this knowledge is derived from studies on HIV-1 or MLV. The lack of understanding of post-entry events is generally due to the

fact that abortive infection during post-entry steps is the norm. Particles destined for integration are thus a comparatively rare product and difficult to specifically assay.

It is known that for most retroviruses, reverse transcription does not begin until after entry and proceeds concomitantly with uncoating and trafficking. This reaction takes place in a large, 100nm wide and 400 to 700nm long, macromolecular complex called the reverse transcription complex (RTC) that includes NC, RT, and viral RNA, at the very minimum [62]. Viral RTCs also likely contain CA, IN, and Nef, Vif, and Vpr, in the case of HIV-1. CA mutations that affect the stability of the viral cores result in infections that abort at various times during reverse transcription [158]. IN has been implicated in diverse functions during this stage of the viral lifecycle indicative of inclusion in the RTC, including uncoating [306, 368, 402], reverse transcription [129, 141, 341, 368, 573, 619], and nuclear import of viral genomic DNA [165, 243, 573]. Nef deleted virions have been found to abort infection prior to completion of reverse transcription [3, 102, 499] and that inclusion of Nef increases infectivity several-fold [103, 388, 531]. Similarly, Vif appears to protect from the cytosine deaminase activity of APOBEC during reverse transcription [272, 507, 508]. Finally, Vpr has been shown to assist in nuclear import of HIV-1 following reverse transcription [113, 223]. Owing to the fact that this complex is many times larger than the CA cores found in a virion and the activity of RNase H would prevent significant accumulation of nucleic acid content, it is highly likely that many host cell proteins are included in this complex. Indeed many cellular proteins have either been identified as associating with RTC complexes of HIV-1 or have been found to be important in the reverse transcription process [65, 205, 290, 313, 314, 657].

In order for efficient viral infectivity, the RTC needs to properly traffic from the cytoplasmic membrane to the nucleus [73, 119]. The cortical actin network must be traversed by an incoming virus and thus likely represents a significant barrier to successful infection. Accordingly, it has been shown that disruption of this network is an important step for a virus to achieve [84, 637]. Additional indirect evidence of the importance of traversing the cortical actin

network comes from experiments pseudotyping HIV-1 with the vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein (VSV-G) instead of the native Env. The VSV-G protein mediates entry into the cell in a pH-dependent manner from endosomes, and thus bypasses the cortical actin network. Pseudotyping virions with the VSV-G envelope overcomes early blocks to infection seen in viruses either containing specific Gag mutations or lacking Nef [2, 72, 93, 342]. At points beyond the cortical actin network, experiments using fluorescent microscopy have shown that the trafficking of the RTC is dependent upon both actin and microtubules [16, 374] and that the RTC can be attached to microtubules via stalk-like projections [374]. During the concurrent processes of traversing the cytoplasm and undergoing reverse transcription, the RTC undergoes a poorly understood process of 'uncoating' where the CA cores dissociate from the protein–nucleic acid complexes. As alluded to above, the initial steps of infection have been found to be a rather inefficient process, with only a fraction of viral particles completing reverse transcription [245, 558, 599].

#### Reverse transcription

The process of creating a final double stranded viral genomic DNA copy from the starting viral RNA is a complex process requiring multiple distinctly ordered steps. This process results in the duplication of the U3 and U5 regions of the viral LTR. The most important stages during the reverse transcription process are depicted in Figure 5. Reverse transcription is initiated from the free 3'-OH of a transfer RNA (tRNA) primer. This tRNA binds to a primer-binding site (PBS) immediately adjacent to the 5' LTR. From this point, reverse transcription proceeds through the R region in the 5' end of the viral RNA, creating a hybrid RNA-DNA molecule known as the minus-strand strong-stop DNA. In concert with the synthesis of DNA, the activity of the RNase H domain of RT cleaves the template RNA into short oligos.

For reverse transcription to proceed, the strong-stop DNA must anneal to the 3' end of the viral RNA, through the complimentarity of the R region of the LTRs. The strong-stop DNA



**Figure 5.** *Major steps during reverse transcription.* Gray lines represent RNA, Black lines represent DNA. LTR: long terminal repeat; U5; unique 5' sequence; R: repeat sequence; U3: unique 3' sequence; PBS: primer binding site; PPT: polypurine tract; Gag: group-specific antigen; Pro: protease; Pol: polymerase; Env: envelope.

acts as a primer for the initiation of reverse transcription of the long minus-strand DNA, which terminates at the 3' end of the PBS. The primer for synthesis of the positive strand DNA is produced as a result of inhibition of the RNase H activity of the RT. The polypurine tract (PPT) is resistant to the RNase activity, resulting in a short RNA oligo remaining bound to the long minus-strand DNA. The free 3'-OH of the PPT RNA serves as an initiation point for positive strand synthesis, which proceeds into the tRNA primer. The short positive strand then transfers to the 5'

end of the genome through the binding of a DNA extension, derived from the tRNA primer and complimentary to the PBS sequence in the minus-strand. Positive strand synthesis is then able to proceed to completion followed by completion of the minus-strand DNA, including removal of the PPT RNA [174].

#### Nuclear Import

Before integration can take place, it is absolutely necessary for the viral DNA containing PIC to gain access to the cellular DNA. However, the process by which this occurs is poorly understood. Simple retroviruses likely lack a mechanism to directly gain access to the nucleus. These viruses appear to have strict mitotic requirements in order for integration to occur [318, 385, 469, 581]. In scenarios where simple retroviruses enter into a non-dividing cell, creation of linear double-stranded DNA occurs, but this accumulates in the cytoplasm. The RT products remain in the cells and infection can be rescued if the cells undergo mitosis prior to their destruction. However, for the simple retroviruses where this has been assessed, viral DNA has a relatively short half-life in the cytoplasm [12, 385].

In contrast to the simple retroviruses, it has been shown that Lentiviruses and Spumaviruses are capable of infecting non-dividing cells [75, 317, 477, 601]. As the nuclear envelope of cells only breaks down during mitosis, infection of non-dividing cells necessitates an active mechanism for crossing the nuclear membrane. It was originally believed that the ability to cross the nuclear membrane was an additional feature of Lentiviruses and that these viruses retained the ancestral ability to integrate during mitosis [626]. However, several studies have shown that HIV-1 requires that the PIC passes through the nuclear envelope for integration in both dividing and non-dividing cells [245, 275, 468].

Multiple viral proteins and nucleic acid structures have been implicated in the nuclear importation of HIV-1 PICs. The first identified factor was the viral MA protein, which contains two nuclear localization signals (NLS) [74, 134, 203, 401, 591]. This protein is largely thought to dissociate from the CA cores upon entry, but a fraction is found associated with the viral DNA in

PIC preparations [76, 387]. A satisfying mechanism for MA-mediated nuclear import has yet to be elucidated and it has been shown that viruses containing mutations in all sequences implicated in nuclear import are still capable of successful replication, although the efficiency was much reduced [159, 458]. Thus, it is likely that MA is one of multiple factors required for efficient nuclear import, but is a non-essential component of this process. Vpr has also been implicated in nuclear importation of HIV-1 PICs. Several reports have shown that Vpr enhances HIV-1 replication, most significantly in macrophages, and that this enhancement is likely due to the enhancement of nuclear import of the PIC [113, 223, 416]. In contrast to MA, a clear mechanism has been proposed for this activity as it has been demonstrated that Vpr can interact with importin  $\alpha$  [420, 450, 588]. However, similar to MA, Vpr is not an absolute requirement for nuclear import as viruses lacking Vpr are competent for replication in macrophages, albeit at a reduced rate [223]. HIV-1 IN has also been shown to contain at least one NLS [61, 573] and has been implicated in facilitation of nuclear import [165]. Multiple mechanisms may be responsible for this activity, as IN has been shown to interact with importin  $\alpha 1$  [18, 61, 165], importin  $\alpha 3$  [13], importin 7 [14], as well as TNPO3/transportin-SR2 [104]. HIV-1 CA may also play a role in nuclear importation [296, 310, 625], and mutations in HIV-1 CA result in altered utilization of import pathways [310]. The role of CA in nuclear import is however difficult to tease out as such studies are likely obfuscated by perturbations in the reverse transcription and/or uncoating steps of infection.

Finally, the central DNA flap of HIV-1 has been shown to facilitate nuclear import [17]. This structure is formed as a result of the unique reverse transcription strategy of HIV-1, and related Lentiviruses, which use a second PPT located in the central portion of the viral genome. The central flap is proposed to facilitate uncoating of the PIC at the nuclear pore during the importation process [649]. Additional studies are clearly needed in order to better elucidate the contributions each of these factors have on nuclear importation.

The viral IN is responsible for catalyzing the process of inserting the viral genome into the cellular genome [437, 455, 501]. Retroviral integration results in a consistent product with the process always yielding an intact retroviral genome containing intact LTRs. The only loss of information, compared to the unintegrated viral DNA, is a removal of several (usually two) nucleotides at the very termini of the viral LTRs. In the host genome, there is a duplication of several nucleotides, which flank the retroviral genome post-integration. This precision is provided by an ability of IN to bind specifically to short imperfect inverted repeat sequences, termed attachment (att) sites, near the termini of the viral LTRs [79, 108, 111, 586]. These sites are largely conserved throughout retroviridae and many transposable elements, although small changes in nucleotide sequence can be tolerated [112]. Much of what we know about the biochemical process of integration comes from studies performed in vitro [71, 162]. Such studies have demonstrated that integration proceeds in a two-step process. First, nucleotides (usually two) are trimmed from the 3' ends of the blunt-ended double-stranded DNA reverse transcription product, resulting in 5' extensions at both termini of the viral DNA. The second step is a transfer of the viral DNA into the cellular genomic DNA. To do this, the freshly processed 3' hydroxyl groups are directed by IN to undergo a nucleophilic attack on the phosphodiester bonds of the cellular DNA. This results in ligation of the 3' ends of the viral DNA to the cellular DNA [162]. IN does not, however, join the 5' terminal extensions of the viral genome to the cellular DNA. IN activity results in a gap of a small number of nucleotides following these 5' termini and host DNA repair enzymes likely catalyze the repair of this gap.

Many studies have been performed characterizing the integration preferences for individual retroviruses. Human and primate Lentiviruses have a distinct preference for integration in actively transcribed genes [63, 106, 107, 117, 315, 316, 335, 391, 489, 595, 618]. An examination of a reconstituted human endogenous retrovirus K (HERV-K), a gammaretrovirus-like ERV, found a distinct preference for the integration in transcriptional units and gene rich

regions as well as in or near actively transcribed genes and their promoters [64]. MLV tends to integrate near the transcriptional start site of genes and near CpG islands, but not within long interspersed repeat (LINE) elements [4, 316, 391, 595, 618]. A study of foamy virus integration revealed a similar pattern to that of MLV, with a weak preference for integration near CpG islands and against integration within LINE elements. However, this virus also showed a preference against integration within genes and a distinct preference toward integration near previously existing integration sites [570]. ALV and HTLV integrate in a nearly random fashion, with only weak preferences for integration within genes [26, 123, 391, 404, 570]. The integration pattern of MMTV was observed to be even more random than that of ALV and HTLV, but with no detectable preference for integration within genes [145].

In the case of HIV-1, IN has been shown to associate with lens epithelium-derived growth factor/transcriptional co-activator p75 (LEDGF/p75) and this interaction enhances the activity of IN, *in vitro* [80, 97-99, 211, 219, 336, 344, 377, 436, 575, 639]. In cells lacking LEDGF/p75 the integration target site preference of HIV-1 changes to a pattern more similar to that of MLV. In this instance, HIV-1 integration tends to occur around the transcriptional start sites of genes [106, 363, 513]. Thus, it is likely that the target site specificity observed for other retroviruses is a result of interactions between IN and unknown cellular proteins.

#### Transcription and RNA export

Upon integration into the host chromatin, the late stages of the viral lifecycle begin where retroviruses largely rely on normal cellular machinery in performing the steps required for production of progeny viruses. Production of viral RNA is the first step in the late stages of the viral lifecycle. As discussed above, transcription initiates at the U3/R junction of the 5' viral LTR and proceeds to the R/U5 junction of the 3' LTR. For most retroviruses, initiation of the RNA transcript is the major step in RNA production. The exception to this rule comes from Lentiviruses, which display a two-step transcriptional strategy with a near absolute requirement for the viral Tat protein in order for transcriptional elongation. As with most viral promoters, in

most circumstances retroviral LTR promoter activity is exceptionally robust. However, as retroviruses rely upon host cell factors for controlling transcription from their LTRs, their promoter activity can be greatly influenced by the cell type and physiological state of the host cell as well as the location of integration [6, 144].

Like most cellular promoters, retroviral LTR promoters contain a TATA box, a CCAAT box, or both. These DNA elements contain recognition sequences for transcription factor IID (TFIID) and CCAAT enhancer binding protein (CEBP), respectively. TFIID and CEBP are integral members of the multi-protein complex required for activation of the RNA polymerase II (RNAP II) and subsequent initiation of transcription. Along with the TATA and CCAAT boxes, retroviral LTRs contain enhancer sequences; regions with multiple closely spaced, often overlapping, transcription factor recognition sequences. LTR sequence as well as expression levels and activation state of the transcription factors present in the host cell govern the occupancy of the individual TF binding sites of the viral LTR. Distinct patterns of TF binding are observed in cells of different type or physiological state, and the binding of multiple transcription factors is typically the result [174, 185, 189, 400, 463, 528].

The primary transcript produced from viral LTR transcription is utilized as both the viral genomic RNA as well as the source of information for production of the viral structural and catalytic proteins. Eukaryotic cells have redundant mechanisms in place for the specific export of spliced mRNA from the nucleus, while retaining unspliced RNA inside the nucleus [21, 58, 91, 157, 164, 206, 230, 426]. Yet, the primary transcript of all retroviruses contains at least one splice donor and one splice acceptor site [206]. Retroviruses have, therefore, developed strategies to circumvent the nuclear retention of unspliced genomic RNA. Lentiviruses accomplished this by encoding an accessory protein, Rev, with the primary function of facilitating the export of unspliced viral RNA [146]. Rev binds to a secondary/tertiary RNA structure in the viral RNA, the Rev-responsive element (RRE) [355, 646, 647]. It has been shown that this association actively

inhibits splicing of the RNA [91, 207, 284]. Rev contains a canonical nuclear export signal (NES) that provides the ability to shuttle in and out of the nucleus using the chromosome region maintenance 1 (CRM1) – Exportin1 pathway. Through its interaction with viral RNA, Rev exploits the CRM1/Exportin pathway for the export of unspliced viral RNA [151, 156, 281, 332, 349]. Unlike HIV-1, M-PMV does not encode an accessory protein to enhance the export of its unspliced viral RNA. Instead, M-PMV utilizes a short cis-acting RNA sequence, called the constitutive transport element (CTE), in bypassing the splicing requirement [66]. The M-PMV CTE provides this activity by mediating direct interactions with the Tip-associated protein (Tap; also known as nuclear RNA export factor 1 [NXF1]). Tap-mediated export of RNA is believed to be the main cellular export pathway for spliced mRNAs, and the interaction between the M-PMV CTE and Tap allows for the utilization of this pathway by the unspliced M-PMV RNA [194]. Similar RNA-based elements are presumed to exist in other simple retroviruses [282, 424, 571]. However, the binding factors and pathways utilized by these retroviruses have yet to be described.

#### Assembly and Release

Following export of the viral RNA from the nucleus, translation of the viral Gag, Gag-Pro-Pol, and Env, as well as any accessory genes takes place. As described above, retroviruses utilize divergent mechanisms for the production of the Gag-Pro, Gag-Pro-Pol or Gag-Pol precursor proteins. Once produced, Gag-containing proteins are able to auto-assemble into viral particles and Gag alone is sufficient for assembly of these VLPs. Viral assembly occurs at distinct locations within the host cell, the site of which can vary between different retroviruses. Most retroviruses, including MLV and HIV, undergo C-type assembly with formation of retroviral particles occurring at the cytoplasmic membrane. These viruses traffic Gag monomers or Gag oligomers to the plasma membrane where a region in the N-terminus (MA domain) of the Gag precursor protein is able to interact with the cellular membrane [260]. This domain can be composed of hydrophobic or basic residues, and may include a myristic acid modification of the N-terminus [174, 226]. It has been demonstrated that the N-terminal domain of MA interacts with a phosphoinositide,  $PI(4,5)P_2$ , which is preferentially found in the plasma membrane as compared to other cellular membranes [105, 428, 475]. It appears the membrane interaction of these Gag molecules nucleates Gag-Gag assembly [259], following which assembly proceeds via intersubunit interactions [45, 369]. At a point after the initiation of the particle assembly, viral RNA associates with the growing virion through specific interactions between Gag and the  $\psi$ sequence in the viral RNA [262]. Some retroviruses, typically of the Betaretrovirus and Spumavirus genera, assemble viral particles inside of the cell and these intact, but non-enveloped, particles are trafficked to the plasma membrane for envelopment and release [465]. This assembly process is referred to as either B- or D-type assembly and M-PMV is the protypic virus using this mechanism of assembly. As with the C-type retroviruses, viruses that utilize B- or D-type assembly mechanisms RNA packaging occurs during Gag multimerization and is reliant upon interactions between the  $\psi$  sequence and Gag. Also similar to C-type viruses, interactions between the plasma membrane and the N-terminal domain of Gag, including a myristic acid moiety, are responsible for the envelopment of viral particles [533, 534]. Following completion of assembly and envelopment, the viral particle is pinched off from the cellular membrane and released into the extracellular space.

After release, the viral protease becomes activated and catalyzes viral maturation. During and after assembly, the Gag molecules form a hexameric lattice. It has recently been demonstrated that the spacer peptides between CA and NC (SP1) provide the crucial interactions forming the hexameric CA structures of immature HIV-1 virions. In the immature form, the Cterminal domains (CTD) of adjacent CA hexamers governs spacing and structure of the lattice. During maturation, the SP1 sequences are removed following protease cleavage of Gag. This results in the reorganization of the hexameric lattice, with newly formed contacts between CTDs forming the basis of CA hexamer interactions and contacts between the N-terminal domains


**Figure 6.** Model for the hexameric structure of HIV-1 capsid domains in the immature and mature lattices. Top and side views (top and bottom, respectively) of low-pass filtered atomic models of the immature (left) and mature (right) lattices (CA NTD in cyan, CA CTD in yellow, and SP1 in magenta). In the immature lattice, hexamers are held together from below by the SP1 bundle and spaced by CA CTD interactions. The CA NTD is not essential for assembly of the immature lattice. Maturation removes SP1 and causes formation of the CA N-terminal  $\beta$ -hairpin, which induces hexameric ring formation in that domain. Thus in the mature lattice, hexamers are held together instead from above, by CA NTD, but are again spaced by CA CTD interactions. Scale bar 8 nm.

Used with permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: The EMBO Journal. Elizabeth R. Wright, et al.; Electron cryotomography of immature HIV-1 virions reveals the structure of the CA and SP1 Gag shells; The EMBO Journal **26(8)**, 2218-26 (April 18, 2007), copyright 2007.

(NTDs) of CA responsible for forming the lattice structure [615]. A model of the CA interactions

in the immature and mature particles proposed by E.R. Wright et al. is shown in Figure 6.

# **Restriction Factors and Evasion Mechanisms**

In mammals, retroviral infection is a nearly universal phenomenon, with infection resulting in the permanent inclusion of the provirus in the genome of the host cell, be it either somatic or germ line. Infection of somatic cells typically results in the life-long infection of a host and often an accompanying viral induced pathology, while infection of the germ line can result in vertical transmission of the retrovirus to the offspring of a host. Due the negative outcomes associated with retroviral infection, these viruses can impose significant selective evolutionary pressures on affected host species.

The extended time of infection, failure of viral clearance, and vertical transmission of these viruses illustrate the general inability of both the innate and adaptive immune system in countering retroviral infection. As a means of resisting infection by retroviruses, mammalian hosts have evolved a series of germ-line encoded dominant proteins whose expression inhibits retroviral replication at specific stages of the retroviral lifecycle. Such proteins are called restriction factors and this general mechanism for resisting viral infection has been referred to as intrinsic immunity [47]. Restriction factors can be conserved across extended evolutionary lineages or unique to specific sub-populations within a species and can exert their inhibitory effects at virtually any stage of the retroviral lifecycle. Characterized restriction factors as well as dominant blocks to retroviral replication suspected to be mediated by restriction factors will be discussed below. Where known, viral evasion mechanisms employed to escape the effects of these factors will also be addressed.

#### Fv4

Some of the earliest studies examining genetic predisposition to retroviral infection were performed in mice using a Friend murine leukemia virus (Fr-MuLV) challenge. These studies identified a number of distinct blocks to Fr-MuLV infection [328]. Of these, restriction factors were later found to be responsible for two of blocks to Fr-MuLV infection, Friend virus susceptibility 4 (Fv4) and Friend virus susceptibility 1 (Fv1). Characterization of Fv4 revealed that this factor was able to block replication *in vitro* and *in vivo* [264, 423, 547], suggesting either the presence of an inhibitory factor or the lack of a required factor in the resistant mice. Later, endogenous expression of a MLV Env was correlated to susceptibility and a defective proviral genome was cloned from the resistant mice. This genome was found to lack *gag* and much of *pol*, but an intact *env* open reading frame remained, which contained a handful of nucleotide substitutions compared to functional MLV *env* genes [241]. Expression of the Env from this clone was found to interfere with the Fr-MuLV receptor, resulting in a block to viral entry [242,

265]. Transgenic mice expressing this factor were found to be resistant to Fr-MuLV infection, demonstrating that Fv4 is sufficient in mediating the block to Fr-MuLV replication [331]. Fv1

The other restriction factor found to control susceptibility to MLV infection, Fv1 [327, 447, 448], has been the subject of intensive long-term study [reviewed in 173]. This factor was found to be present as two alleles,  $Fv1^n$  and  $Fv1^b$ , based on their identification in NIH/swiss and Balb/c, respectively. Three variants of MLV were identified based on their resistance to the different Fv1 alleles. N-tropic MLV was identified as a variant that could replicate in mice homozygous for the Fv1<sup>n</sup> allele, but was blocked in mice with the Fv1<sup>b</sup> allele. B-tropic MLV variants were identified based on the ability to replicate in the presence of the Fv1<sup>b</sup> allele, but whose replication was blocked by the Fv1<sup>n</sup> allele. Heterozygous Fv1<sup>n</sup>/Fv1<sup>b</sup> mice were found to be resistant to both N- and B-tropic MLV viruses. Finally, an MLV variant was identified with resistance to both the Fv1<sup>n</sup> and Fv1<sup>b</sup> alleles, known as NB-tropic MLV.

Infection of MLV variants sensitive to Fv1 restriction was found to be blocked at an early stage of the viral lifecycle in resistant cells, regardless of the Fv1 allele expressed. Infection of sensitive variants proceeds through reverse transcription, generating full-length viral genomic DNA. However, DNA products indicative of nuclear import, either integrated proviral DNA or circular viral DNA, were not found in restrictive cells circular DNA [Reviewed in 173, and 175].

Genetic studies mapped the determinant of restriction to the CA protein of MLV [124], specifically to amino acid residue 110 [293]. Further, it was demonstrated that the restrictive phenotype could be overcome by pretreatment with excessive levels of a similarly sensitive virus. However, only CA in the context of infecting virions was found capable of abrogating the block imposed by Fv1. Expression of either the Gag precursor or CA molecules of sensitive viruses in the target cells did not relieve the block [28, 135]. This is suggestive of a conformational dependent presentation of the Fv1 CA determinant. Upon cloning, it was found that Fv1 encodes a Gag-like molecule with similarity to the HERV-L and MuERV-L family of endogenous

retroviruses [34, 43]. A detailed mechanism of how this restriction factor exerts its influence is currently unknown. However, it is likely that Fv1 restriction follows a similar mechanism as TRIM5 $\alpha$  when the proteasomal pathway is blocked (discussed below).

## TRIM5

A block to MLV infection similar to that observed for Fv1 was also recognized to exist in human cells. In these, the infection of N-tropic MLV was restricted, while both B- and NB-tropic MLV were found to be insensitive to this block. This restriction observed for MLV in human cells was given the name Ref1, for restriction factor 1. Identical to Fv1, the viral determinant for Refl was mapped to amino acid 110 of the CA protein [567]. However, the block to N-MLV in these cells was observed to occur at an earlier post-entry stage than Fv1. Negative-strand strongstop DNA products could be detected shortly after infection, but little accumulation of full-length RT products was found to occur [42, 567]. A similar post-entry block was identified for different lentiviruses in primate cells of non-native species. HIV-1 infection was found to be inhibited in cells from Old World monkeys and owl monkeys, but not other New World monkey species [41, 116, 231, 398, 511]. In contrast, macaque SIV (SIVmac) was found to be blocked in New World monkey cells, but not in cells from Old world monkeys [41, 116]. As with the Refl block to MLV, it was found that the blocks to lentiviral infection resulted in abortive infection characterized by little accumulation of full-length DNA [231, 232, 511]. This block to lentiviral infection in simian cells came to be known as Lentivirus susceptibility factor 1 (Lv1). The viral determinants of this restriction were localized to the CA protein, although unlike MLV multiple amino acid residues were found to modulate the sensitivity of HIV-1 to Lv1 restriction [116, 216, 433].

The gene responsible for the Lv1 block to HIV-1 in Old World primates was identified as TRIM5 $\alpha$  [541], a member of the <u>tripartite motif</u> (TRIM) family of genes. The unifying feature of this family of genes is the presence of three protein domains in tandem: an N-terminal really interesting new gene (RING) domain, followed by at least one B-box domain, and a coiled-coil

domain [464]. TRIM5 $\alpha$  was quickly thereafter determined to also be responsible for the Refl restriction of MLV in human cells [217, 278, 444, 633]. A novel fusion protein between TRIM5 and cyclophilin A (CypA), TRIM-Cyp, was identified as being responsible for the block to HIV-1 in owl monkey cells [418, 484]. This protein fuses the tripartite motif portion of TRIM5 to the known HIV-1 CA binding protein CypA. Consistent with previous studies of Lv1 and Refl restriction, the early studies of TRIM5-mediated viral restriction identified CA as the viral target for TRIM5 [484, 541]. Biochemical studies of this interaction suggest that functional interaction between TRIM5 $\alpha$  and restriction sensitive virus results in the acceleration of uncoating and/or destruction of CA protein. [92, 542]. Endogenously, TRIM5 $\alpha$  may utilize a proteasome-based mechanism for achieving viral restriction. Instead, the timing of viral inhibition changes to a point following reverse trancrition but prior to nucear import [617]. Together these findings suggest that strong interaction between TRIM5 $\alpha$  and sensitive viral cacelerates this process. A more detailed discussion of TRIM5 $\alpha$ , its antiviral protential, and evolutionary history can be found below.

## Macrophage late post-entry restriction factor

It has been recognized for some time that Vpx is required for the efficient infection of myeloid-derived cells (macrophages, monocytes, and monocyte derived dendritic cells) by HIV-2 and related strains of SIV [172, 187, 188, 277, 346, 354, 481, 577, 613]. Recently, the block to lentiviral infection in these cells was found to occur at a very early post-entry stage, displaying reduced production of negative-sense strong-stop DNA products in the absence of Vpx [37, 161, 188, 276, 532]. The lentiviral restriction in these cells was determined to be a dominant phenotype, as heterokaryons of macrophages and permissive COS cells maintained the restrictive phenotype [504].

Vpx from HIV-2 and SIV have been shown to interact with the Cullin4 (Cul4)/DNA

<u>damage binding protein 1</u> (DDB1) ubiquitin ligase complex via direct interactions with DDB1 and Cul4 associated factor 1 (DCAF1) [37, 236, 504, 532]. Several findings demonstrate the functional importance of this interaction with the Cul4/DDB1 ubiquitin ligase complex. First, either mutation of the DCAF1 interacting region of Vpx or siRNA-mediated knockdown of DCAF1 or DDB1 results in a restrictive, Vpx null-like, phenotype [37, 504, 532]. In contrast, treatment with the proteasome inhibitor MG132 largely relieves the restrictive phenotype for SIVmac lacking Vpx [188]. While the factor responsible for the myeloid block to lentiviral infection has yet to be identified, the mechanism for overcoming this factor appears to involve ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation of the restriction factor using the Cul4/DDB1 complex.

# APOBEC

As noted above, mammalian cells encode a family of proteins that function to deaminate cytosine residues. In humans, this family includes activation-induced cytosine deaminase (AID), APOBEC1, APOBEC2, APOBEC4 and a series of APOBEC3 (A3) genes. The APOBEC3 family of genes is located on chromosome 22 and includes APOBEC3A, APOBEC3B, APOBEC3C, APOBEC3DE, APOBEC3F, APOBEC3G, APOBEC3H [252]. As described above, members of the APOBEC family of proteins possess antiviral activities, with APOBEC3 family members exhibiting the most potent anti-retroviral activity. In searching for the factor responsible for the block infection of to *vif* null HIV-1 virus, APOBEC3G that was identified [507]. This continues to be the best characterized APOBEC3 family member although other APOBEC3 proteins are known to block retroviral infection. In spite of the efforts to characterize APOBEC3-mediated retroviral restriction, there remains much debate about the specific mechanisms governing its antiviral properties.

As noted, while much of the research to date has focused on APOBEC3G, several members of the APOBEC3 family have been shown to possess antiviral activity. APOBEC3B, APOBEC3DE and APOBEC3F are the family members that most consistently display this anti-

retroviral activity. The presence of antiretroviral activity in APOBEC3B, APOBEC3DE, APOBEC3F, and APOBEC3G proteins corresponds to the presence of two catalytic domains in these proteins. The N-terminal catalytic domain is typically catalytically inactive in the antiviral APOBEC3 genes. The exception being APOBEC3B, where both domains have been found to have catalytic activity [Reviewed in 179]. APOBEC3G has an innate binding affinity for nucleic acids, both RNA and DNA, and it has been shown that APOBEC3G will bind single-stranded and double-stranded RNA, single-stranded and double-stranded DNA, as well as RNA/DNA hybrid. It has been shown that the affinity of APOBEC3G for binding to RNA is mediated by the inactive N-terminal catalytic domain, while the active catalytic domain preferentially binds DNA [56, 202, 247, 258, 407, 412, 430].

In contrast to its broad binding affinity, APOBEC3G only demonstrates catalytic activity on single-stranded DNA [247, 252, 280, 295, 546, 596, 641], with preferential deamination of cytosine residues present in C-C dinucleotides being observed for this protein [30, 212, 307, 352, 546, 641, 652]. However, the specificity of APOBEC3G for deaminating C-C dinucleotides deaminase is markedly lower than the exquisite specificity exhibited by APOBEC1 [451, 555]. APOBEC3G deamination activity has been shown to result in a gradient of mutations, with the highest density of deamination found in the 5' end of the genome and the lowest density observed in the 3' end. Furthermore, hotspots of deamination activity are observed in the HIV genome at three locations: in the region corresponding to the negative-strand strong-stop DNA (between the R region of the LTR and the PBS), and in the two PPT regions [545, 620, 641]. These phenotypes correspond to the length of time that different regions of the viral genome remain as singlestranded DNA [545, 641].

Viral death by mutagenesis is a rather conceptually straight-forward result of APOBEC activity. However, viral attenuation by hyper-mutagenesis is unlikely to be solely responsible for the results observed in many studies that were conducted using indicator cell lines based on Tat transactivation of a viral LTR controlling expression an indicator protein. In such systems, it

would not be anticipated that viral integration and expression of *tat* would be significantly inhibited, especially not in as dramatic of a fashion as what is observed. Consistent with the reduction in infectivity, several studies have found that the presence of Vif affects production of full-length reverse transcripts [182, 405, 527, 592]. One explanation for the finding that the loss of Vif results in reduced full-length RT products has been that cellular UNG2, specifically packaged into virions, mediates the degradation of deaminated reverse transcriptase products [95, 356, 493, 605, 628]. However, some reports have questioned the requirement for UNG2 in the process of degradation of deaminated RT products [266, 303]. The different findings of these studies may stem from the reliance on APOBEC over-expression systems. It has been reported that exaggerated amounts of APOBEC3G are packaged into virions produced under such conditions and that this may affect downstream restrictive phenotypes [179]. In spite of the uncertainty regarding mechanism of action, APOBEC3 proteins appear to inhibit viral replication in two distinct ways: crippling the virus as a result of the induced mutations and additionally causing the specific degradation of the deaminated viral reverse transcription products.

Another area of debate regarding the mechanism of action of APOBEC-mediated viral inhibition is the requirement of a functional catalytic domain for the reduction in infectivity. Several reports, each employing over-expression systems, have found that mechanisms exist for APOBEC3G inhibition of infectivity independent of catalytic activity [50, 234, 412]. However, each of these reposts proposed a unique mechanism for such an effect. Additionally, other studies have questioned these findings as a potential artifact of super-physiological expression of APOBEC3G [reviewed in 179, 234, 393]. One such study found that with APOBEC3G expression at or near physiological levels, the catalytic activity of APOBEC is required for viral inactivation [393]. Additional research should help illuminate the mechanism of this important aspect of APOBEC-mediated viral inhibition.

Regardless of the ultimate mechanism of action, APOBEC proteins must be packaged into assembling virions in order to exert their antiviral affect. It has been estimated that, in the absence of Vif, fewer than 10 APOBEC3G molecules are packaged into HIV-1 virions produced in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and that this is sufficient to render the viral particles non-infectious [622]. In addition to HIV, other retroviruses have been found to incorporate APOBEC3 proteins, which results in reduced viral infectivity. Viruses found to be sensitive to APOBEC-mediated restriction include SIV [55, 120, 352, 359, 490, 640], MLV [51, 120, 212, 288, 352], EIAV [352], M-PMV [130], xenotropic murine leukemia virue-like virus (XMRV) [537], and foamy viruses [122]. These studies found that, in general, viruses were able to evade packaging of APOBEC3 proteins from their original host species, whereas viruses were unable to prevent packaging of APOBEC3 proteins from non-native species. It has been demonstrated that evasion of APOBEC3 by MLV and M-PMV occurs via specific exclusion of cognate APOBEC proteins from their virions [130, 131]. In the case of MLV this escape function appears to be dependent upon the glycosylated form of Gag [289]. It is presumed that other simple retroviruses may escape APOBEC-mediated restriction in a similar manner. APOBEC3 proteins are able to incorporate into completely unrelated viruses, indicating a conserved mechanism for packaging. However, the mechanism determining specific packaging of APOBEC3G is not fully understood. APOBEC3G has been shown to interact with both RNA [247, 252, 279, 280, 560, 596, 597, 641] and the NC domain of the Gag precursor protein [7, 77, 90, 279, 352, 359, 485, 648]. Additionally, the RNA binding but catalytically inactive N-terminal catalytic domain appears to be important for packaging into virions [204, 240, 247, 407, 430]. Taken together, it appears likely that a complex of APOBEC3G, RNA and NC is packaged into virions [247]. However, the nature of the RNA requirement is under debate with evidence available for the requirement of genomic viral RNA [279, 280, 548] and other evidence implicating a need for packaging of the cellular 7SL RNA [596, 597], which is normally a component of the signal recognition particle but has been shown to be specifically packaged into virions [280, 427, 596]. Additional studies should lead to a clearer understanding of how APOBEC3G is incorporated into virions.

Lentiviruses encode the Vif protein whose primary function appears to be inhibiting APOBEC-mediated viral inhibition. The reduction in infectivity associated with loss of this function lead to the eventual discovery of APOBEC3G. Similar to the species-specific exclusion of APOBEC3 observed for simple retroviruses, the Vif proteins from different Lentiviruses inhibit APOBEC3G in a species-specific manner [359, 517, 518]. Amino acid 128 of APOBEC3G has been shown to modulate this interaction [55, 353, 490, 623]. It is not entirely clear which regions of Vif interact with APOBEC3G as mutational studies have implicated much of the N-terminal half of the 192 amino acid protein in modulating this interaction [360, 381, 474, 491, 603]. In addition to the direct interaction requirements contained in the N-terminal portion of the protein, Vif oligomerization is likely also required for interactions with APOBEC [386, 629]. Binding of Vif has been shown to result in the ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation of APOBEC proteins [114, 270, 271, 325, 360, 379, 508, 538, 604, 642] by recruiting a Cullin 5 E3 ubiquitin ligase complex that polyubiquitinates the protein [114, 287, 360, 379, 380, 508, 538, 642]. Additionally, there appears to be degradation-independent mechanisms for the exclusion of APOBEC3G from virions as evidenced by the finding that a degradation resistant form of APOBEC3G is also excluded from virions by Vif [429]. However, the specific mechanism for this ubiquitin-independent activity is as yet unknown.

<u>p21</u>

Few cells expressing HIV-1 receptor and co-receptor have been found to be resistant to HIV infection, one of which is CD34+ hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) [509, 590, 600]. These cells express low levels of CD4 receptor and it was shown that this resulted in a primary block to infection that could be largely overcome by pseudotyping the HIV-1 virions with the VSV-G glycoprotein [509]. However, later experimentation with VSV-G pseudotyped HIV vectors demonstrated that siRNA knockdown of a cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitor, p21 (also known as Cip1 and Waf1), resulted in a significant enhancement of viral transduction [653]. This was expanded upon to show that the p21-mediated block increased circular viral DNA in the

nucleus and resulted in fewer integrants [654], suggesting successful nuclear import but a failure of integration. The expression of other known mediators of intracellular viral restriction, such as TRIM5, were shown to be unaffected by p21 knockdown, suggesting that they are not involved in the restrictive phenotype. While it was shown that this effect was specific to HIV-1 infectivity, the effect of p21 was, however, not shown to be as a result of a direct interaction between this protein and HIV-1 PICs. One of the normal physiological roles of p21 is to regulate the cell cycle progression in certain cell lineages, including HSCs [96, 621]. HIV-1 and other Lentiviruses have been shown to more efficiently infect cycling cells than non-dividing [645]. While Zhang et al. demonstrate that division in p21 knockdown cells does not occur until at least 42 hours after siRNA transfection, it is possible that the enhanced viral infectivity results from the role p21 plays in controlling cell cycling [654]. An indirect mechanism of action is supported by recent findings in macrophage cells. It was demonstrated that p21 was involved in inhibiting lentiviral infection of macrophages following cellular activation by ligation of activating immunoglobulin G constant fragment receptors (Fc $\gamma$ R). In this system, it was observed that p21 affects HIV-1 as well as SIVmac and HIV-2 infection, and that this is not due to a direct interaction with viral PICs [38]. Taken together, it is clear that p21 modulates cellular susceptibility to lentiviral infection. However, it is possible that this p21-mediated inhibition of infection is the result of pleiotropic cellular effects and not specific viral restriction, a possibility previously speculated upon [46].

## PBS-mediated transcriptional repression

Some years ago it was observed that, in spite of normal integration of proviral DNA into the cellular DNA, embryonic carcinoma cells were unable to support replication of MLV and that this was the result of a lack of viral transcription in the embryonic carcinoma cells [554]. However, if embryonic carcinoma cells were differentiated from their pluripotent state, the transcriptional block for newly integrated MLV proviruses was lost [554]. A subsequent study demonstrated that MLV proviruses remained transcriptionally inactive following differentiation if they had integrated when cells were in their pluripotent form, and that it took additional treatment with the DNA demethylating agent 5'azacytadine to restore transcription [421]. The differing phenotypes between these two sets of experiments suggests a two step process of initial recognition and inhibition by a factor or factors present in pluripotent cells followed by DNA methylation dependent long-term inactivation of the viral promoter [421].

Subsequent studies in the pluripotent embryonic carcinoma cells found a multifaceted block to MLV transcription, with a combination of reduced binding of transcription factors to the viral LTR enhancer elements [229, 334, 339, 528, 572] and trans-acting negative factors [5, 25, 148, 154, 184, 339, 572] resulting in the final potency of the block. Specific viral recognition was found to be mediated through interactions with the PBS of the proviral DNA [25, 148, 338, 339, 446]. The initial findings were extended to show inhibition of MLV transcription in embryonic stem cells [191] and hematopoietic cells [201]. Additionally, it was observed that alternate viral PBS sequences could be specifically recognized, including the proline tRNA utilizing primer-binding site (PBS<sup>Pro</sup>) [394, 627].

Recently, TRIM28 (also known as Kap-1) was discovered to be a required factor in the transcriptional repression in embryonic cells of retroviruses utilizing PBS<sup>Pro</sup>, PBS<sup>Lys1,2</sup>, and PBS<sup>Phe</sup> [473, 610, 611]. However, this protein has no known DNA binding activity. Rather, studies have found that TRIM28 interacts with DNA bound Krüppel associated box (KRAB) zinc finger DNA-binding proteins (KRAB-ZFP) [160, 609]. Transcriptional repression appears to be mediated through the further recruitment of effector molecules of transcriptional silencing [304, 497, 498, reviewed in 579, 608]. In the case of MLV, the KRAB-ZFP protein, ZFP809, binds to the PBS<sup>Pro</sup> and leads to the recruitment of TRIM28 [609]. This then leads to a further recruitment of heterochromatin-associated protein (HP1) which potentiates long-term silencing of MLV transcription via formation of heterochromatin [608]. Taken together, these results indicate the following general mechanism of PBS-mediated transcriptional inhibition: a KRAB-ZFP acts as a sequence-specific binding protein recognizing a single class of viral PBS, the KRAB-ZFP/DNA

complex is then recognized and bound by TRIM28, which then recruits effector molecules for short-term transcriptional repression and long-term silencing by formation of heterochromatin. <u>ZAP</u>

In a complimentary DNA (cDNA) library screen for factors that inhibit MLV infection of typically permissive cells the zinc-finger antiviral protein (ZAP) was identified as a factor responsible for a decrease in viral RNA production [169]. ZAP is a CCCH-type zinc finger protein shown to bind to AU-rich elements in the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of some mRNAs, causing these RNAs to be targeted for specific degradation [85, 86, 300, 301]. In cells expressing ZAP, the amount of MLV RNA present inside the nucleus was found to be similar to that of the parental (permissive) cells, whereas in the same ZAP-expressing cells viral RNA was found to be greatly diminished in the cytoplasm [169]. ZAP was shown to interact, via its CCCH zinc finger, with the 3'LTR of MLV, in spite of the apparent lack of ZAP-interacting AU-rich elements in the MLV LTR [196]. ZAP has been shown interact with members of the exosome [197], a conserved ribonuclease complex found in both the nucleus and cytoplasm of eukaryotic cells [8, 142, 390]. Knockdown of these ZAP interacting proteins using siRNA was found to resulted in an increase in MLV RNA in the cytoplasm, suggesting that exosomes are involved in the degradation of cytoplasmic MLV RNA [197]. In addition to this antiretroviral activity, ZAP has can inhibit replication of other RNA viruses. It has been shown that ZAP blocks replication by members of the negative stranded *filoviridae* (Ebola virus) and positive stranded *alphaviridae* (Sindbis virus) by specifically binding to, and causing the degradation of, viral RNA [44, 196, 397, 656]. These findings demonstrate a clear role for ZAP-mediated specific degradation of viral RNA prior to nuclear export and suggest that ZAP may represent a universal obstacle for viral replication.

# Tetherin

Tetherin (Bst-2) was discovered as a result of studies examining the replication defects of Vpu-null HIV-1 viruses. Initial reports described a replication defect to Vpu null HIV-1 in HeLa cells that occurred at the stage of viral release. This was characterized by fully assembled, and

typically matured, virus being attached to the surface of the cell. However, this phenotype was not found to be universal, as HIV-1 released normally from COS cells in the absence of Vpu [186, 285, 540, 556]. When heterkaryon fusions were made between HeLa and COS cells it was found that the block to viral release was caused by a dominant factor in the HeLa cells [582]. Later it was found that the block to viral release could be induced in normally permissive cells through treatment with type I interferons (IFN) [409]. The virus attached to the cell surface was found to be fully infectious upon detchment, either by physical shearing or subtilisin treatment [268, 408].

Tetherin was identified, independently by two labs, as being the factor responsible for mediating the block to release in Vpu deficient HIV-1 [410, 580] and later it was demonstrated that this protein forms a physical connection between the viral and cellular membrane [153, 208, 441]. Tetherin is a particularly unusual type II transmembrane protein containing a short cytoplasmic N-terminal domain, followed by a transmembrane domain, and a coiled-coil extracellular domain, which is joined to a C-terminal glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor [297]. This structure creates a protein with two membrane-associated domains where the majority of the protein resides in the extracellular space. This is a seemingly perfectly design for connecting two membrane bound objects together, extracellularly. In order to confirm that it is the unusual protein architecture, and not the primary sequence, that is responsible for the antiviral activity, a Tetherin-like molecule was artificially constructed by replacing the protein domains with like domains from unrelated proteins. It was found that such a synthetic molecule possessed antiviral function, demonstrating the importance of the protein structure of Tetherin for its antiviral function [441]. Following its discovery, it was rapidly realized that Tetherin was able to inhibit the release of other viruses. Indeed it has been demonstrated that Tetherin inhibits viral release of all genera of retroviruses (including endogenous retroviruses) as well as members from other families of enveloped viruses such as *herpesviridae*, *arenaviridae*, and *filoviridae* [19, 186, 193, 261, 268, 357, 370, 410, 478].

As might be expected based on the protein structure of Tetherin and the events leading up to its discovery, Vpu was found to directly interact with Tetherin [133, 246]. This interaction was found to involve the transmembrane domains of both proteins [198, 329, 378, 438, 471, 561, 585]. It was shown that Vpu was unable to interact with non-hominid Tetherin and a single amino acid substitution in the transmembrane domain was found to disrupt this interaction [198, 329, 378, 431].

The mechanism of anti-Tetherin activity is still an area of intense study and little consensus. Initially it was believed that Vpu mediates its anti-Tetherin activity similarly to its down-regulation of CD4 expression, namely by recruiting  $\beta$ -TRCP and targeting it for ubiquitinmediated proteasomal degradation. However, in a series of studies examining this possibility none showed a total reversal of Vpu's anti-Tetherin activity when  $\beta$ -TRCP-mediated proteasomal degradation was blocked [132, 176, 198, 246, 351, 392]. More recent studies have indicated that Vpu redirects Tetherin trafficking in the cytoplasm away from the cell surface and into a perinuclear organelle. This relocalization does not appear to affect Tetherin steady-state protein levels, turnover rate, or internalization from the cell surface [177, 218, 630]. Thus, it appears likely that interaction between Vpu and Tetherin may result in a two-pronged interference mechanism; redistribution of the cellular Tetherin away from sites of viral assembly or release followed by the subsequent targeted degradation of Tetherin.

As described above, Tetherin has a broad ability to impair viral release, yet not all Lentiviruses encode Vpu. Studies in HIV-2 uncovered alternative mechanisms for Tetherin antagonism, in this case mediated by the viral Env [1, 59, 199, 305]. The specificity determinant of this interaction was found to localize in the extracellular region of the TM subunit of Env [305]. Following interaction between HIV-2 Env and Tetherin, a similar outcome to Vpu-Tetherin interaction is observed. This is characterized by an accumulation of Tetherin in the trans-golgi network (a peri-nuclear location). This redistribution was found to be dependent upon the well-characterized adaptor protein 2 (AP-2) binding motif in the cytoplasminc tail of HIV-2



**Figure 7.** Schematic representation of the proposed evolution and transfer of vpu and nef during zoonotic transfer of Lentiviruses in Old World primates. Top: Arrows indicate zoonotic transfer of lentiviral strains or accessory genes during lentiviral evolution. Bottom: Autologous CD4 and Tetherin regulatory functions of Nef and Vpu in these species. Reprinted from Cell Host & Microbe, Vol 6(5), D. Sauter et al., Tetherin-Driven Adaptation of Vpu and Nef Function and the Evolution of Pandemic and Nonpandemic HIV-1 Strains, Pages 409-421, 2009, with permission from Elsevier.

Env [305]. Additional work involving tantalus monkey SIV (SIVtan) has shown that the Env from this virus functions in a similar manner to that of HIV-2. Similar to HIV-2, the TM domain of the SIVtan Env was found to interact with the ectodomain of Tetherin, resulting in the redistribution of Tetherin to the endosome [199].

Finally, in a diverse group of SIV viruses Nef has been shown to mediate Tetherin antagonism [256, 481, 651]. A recent elegant study demonstrated that this anti-Tetherin activity of Nef is present in some lentiviral strains containing Vpu, including chimpanzee SIV (SIVcpz) (Fig. 7). This data supports the conclusion that the Tetherin antagonism functions of Nef are ancestral to that of Vpu and that the anti-Tetherin activity of HIV-1 Vpu evolved in humans, perhaps allowing for broad dissemination of such Tetherin-escape viruses in the human population. Finally, the Tetherin antagonism activity of Vpu appears to have evolved independently in certain strains of SIV, such that the anti-Tetherin functions of Vpu and Nef appears to be mutually exclusive functions of these proteins [481].

#### <u>TRIM5α</u>

## Structure/Function

The human genome encodes approximately 70 unique members of the TRIM family of genes. Members of this family of genes are defined by the presence of three sequential protein domains: a RING finger domain at the N-terminus followed by either a B-Box2 domain or tandem B-Box1/B-Box2 domains followed by a coiled-coil domain. The C-terminal portion of these proteins can consist of one or more of a select group of domains. The majority of the TRIM family members in humans contain either a PRY or a PRY-SPRY (B30.2) domain [480]. TRIM5 $\alpha$  is the longest protein isoform expressed from the TRIM5 gene and consists of a RING finger, a B-Box2, a coiled-coil, and a B30.2 domain (Fig. 8). TRIM5a mRNA is generated from eight exons with exons 2-4 encoding the tripartite motif portion of the protein and exons 7 and 8 encoding the B30.2 domain. Of note, in the genomic configuration the exons encoding the tripartite motif are separated from those encoding the B30.2 domain by an unusually long intron over 10,000 nucleotides in size. TRIM5 $\alpha$  exists in cells as homo-multimers that can organize into higher order multimers [217, 254, 302, 389, 411, 418, 444, 484, 633]. In cells, TRIM5α localizes to the cytoplasm and forms distinct puncta known as cytoplasmic bodies in over-expression studies [83, 523]. The cytoplasmic bodies are highly dynamic structures with TRIM5 $\alpha$  molecules regularly shuttling between the free cytoplasmic pool of TRIM5 $\alpha$  protein and these structures [83]. However, these bodies are not required for viral restriction [523].

The RING and B-Box2 domains each coordinate two zinc ions, and this association aids in proper protein folding as well as function [57, 227, 365, 366]. The N-terminal RING finger domain of several TRIM proteins have been shown to possess ubiquitin ligase activity, with proteins containing this domain shown to catalyze the transfer of ubiquitin to other proteins as



**Figure 8.** *Representation of the TRIM5 coding structure and protein domain architecture.* Top: Genomic and mRNA features of TRIM5 including the proportional representation of exonic structure and lengths of the introns. Light boxes represent untranslated regions and dark boxes represent coding regions. Bottom: TRIM5 $\alpha$  - the longest of four reported protein isoforms produced from the TRIM5 gene. It is composed of a RING finger, B-Box2, and coiled-coil domains common to all tripartite motif (TRIM) genes followed by a B30.2 domain at the C-terminus. Other TRIM5 isoforms are spliced such that they lack the B30.2 domain.

well as themselves [Reviewed in 383]. TRIM5 $\alpha$  has been demonstrated to have a short intracellular half-life due to poly-ubiquination followed by ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation [126, 624]. Mutational studies of TRIM5 $\alpha$  have demonstrated that deletion of the RING domain or point mutants abolishing ubiquitin ligase activity have several effects on TRIM5 biology. First, the ubiquitination status of TRIM5 becomes altered such that poly-ubiquitination of TRIM5 is absent while mono- and di-ubiquinated TRIM5 remains [126]. Second, the intracellular stability of TRIM5 $\alpha$  increases in the absence of a functional RING domain [126, 541]. Together, these findings point to auto-ubiquitination functions of the RING finger domain of TRIM5. Finally, the TRIM5 proteins lacking a functional RING domain are still capable of viral restriction functions, albeit with a reduced efficiency.

B-Box domains have been shown to mediate protein-protein interactions [286, 322, 552] and have been implicated in regulation of protein localization [566]. In spite of this, the biology of these domains remains poorly understood. In TRIM5 $\alpha$ , deletion of the B-Box2 domain or mutation of crucial residues result in reduced binding to viral CA cores and the loss of antiviral

activity [253, 321, 440, 541]. The observed decrease in magnitude of antiviral activity of these B-Box2 mutants often far exceeds the change in CA binding [125, 322]. Changes in this domain have also been shown to affect the higher-order multimerization of TRIM5 $\alpha$ , which correlates with a reduction in CA binding activity. This is especially pronounced where weak interactions exist in the native protein [321, 322].

The coiled-coil domain consists of multiple  $\alpha$ -helical domains that can interact with other coiled-coil domains to form multimeric complexes. Preferentially, but not exclusively, these complexes form homo-multimers [254, 383, 389, 419, 464]. Mutational studies have shown that the coiled-coil domain is absolutely essential for retroviral restriction [254, 440]. Additionally, TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins that contain heterologous multimerization domains instead of the coiled-coil domain are unable to exert antiviral activity [254, 321, 389]. Evolutionary studies [413] and recent biological evidence suggests that this domain influences the specificity of the antiviral activity of the protein [348].

The antiviral specificity determinants of TRIM5 $\alpha$  are contained within the B30.2 domain. The importance of this domain in determining retroviral interactions was recognized in early studies, both as a result of targeted domain swapping experiments [541] as well as the observation that in owl monkey TRIM5 a retrotransposition event has resulted in the natural replacement of the B30.2 domain with Cyclophilin A (CypA), a known CA binding protein [418, 484]. There is now abundant genetic, biochemical, and structural evidence for the direct interaction between the B30.2 domain of TRIM5 $\alpha$  and incoming viral CA, where the CA binding activity is functionally replaced by the CypA domain in TRIM-Cyp proteins [53, 251, 254, 323, 425, 432, 442, 443, 483, 484, 502, 542]. In the fully folded protein, the B30.2 domain has been shown to fold into a structure with two  $\beta$ -sheets lying on top of each another. The central portion of this structure displays high hydrophobicity, with the amino acids involved in these hydrophobic interactions being well conserved both across species and between B30.2 domain-containing proteins [195, 251, 367, 425, 483, 524, 614]. Extending from this hydrophobic core are loops of variable length and composition [251, 524, 614, 631]. The specific features of these loops have been shown to modulate interactions with virus such that restriction can be modulated by a single amino acid substitution [323, 403, 425, 483, 524]. However, TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins with wildly different loop composition can restrict the same virus [Reviewed in 29, 415]. Together, the evidence suggests that these loops form the bulk of the CA binding interface.

#### Specificity of TRIM5-virus interactions

Prior to the identification of TRIM5 $\alpha$ , the antiviral activity of the factor responsible for the Lv1 block was known to act in a species and virus specific manner [116, 216, 231, 232, 433, 511]. Following the discovery of TRIM5 $\alpha$ , multiple groups worked toward characterizing this virus-host interaction [217, 278, 413, 425, 440, 444, 483, 523, 541, 633]. Early studies focused on the ability of various primate TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins to block infection by a variety of Lentiviruses as well as MLV. These viruses were likely chosen as the result of the prior characterization of Lv1 and Ref1 inhibition of these viruses. These studies showed that a primate TRIM5 $\alpha$  protein could be identified with specific antiviral activity against each virus tested (Table 1). However, viruses were found to vary greatly in their sensitivities to the tested TRIM5 $\alpha$  molecules and conversely TRIM5a proteins were found to vary in their ability to protect against the challenge viruses. For example, HIV-1 was found to be sensitive to the actions of TRIM5 $\alpha$  from species outside of the hominoid lineage and MLV was found to be sensitive to most TRIM5 $\alpha$  molecules tested. Whereas, the different strains of SIV tested were largely resistant to hominid and Old World monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  activity, but susceptible to New World monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  activity. On the opposite side of the equation, of the TRIM5 $\alpha$  molecules tested, the hominoid TRIM5 $\alpha$  molecules demonstrated the least breadth of action against the tested viruses, while the TRIM5 $\alpha$  from African green monkeys (AGM) and rhesus macaques displayed the greatest breadth. Finally, it is

|                  | Species                    | HIV-1 | HIV-2 | SIVmac | SIVagm | EIAV | N-MLV |
|------------------|----------------------------|-------|-------|--------|--------|------|-------|
| Hominoid         | Human                      | +     | -     | +/-    | -      | ++   | ++    |
|                  | Chimpanzee                 | +     |       | -      | -      |      | ++    |
|                  | Gorilla                    | ++    |       | ++     |        |      | ++    |
|                  | Orangutan                  | +     |       | -      | -      |      | ++    |
| Old World monkey | Rhesus macaque             | ++    | +     | +      | ++     | ++   | ++    |
|                  | Pigtail macaque            | ++    |       | -      |        |      | ++    |
|                  | Cynomologous monkey        | ++    | ++    | -      |        |      |       |
|                  | African green monkey (AGM) | ++    | ++    | ++     | -      | ++   | ++    |
|                  | AGM tantalus               | ++    |       | ++     | -      |      | ++    |
|                  | AGM pygmaeus               | ++    |       | +      | +      |      | ++    |
|                  | Sooty mangabey             | ++    |       | -      |        |      | ++    |
| New World monkey | Spider monkey              | ++    |       | ++     | ++     |      | ++    |
|                  | Red-chested tamarin        | +     |       | +      |        |      | +     |
|                  | Cotton top tamarin         | ++    |       | ++     |        |      | ++    |
|                  | Emperor tamarin            | ++    |       | ++     |        |      | ++    |
|                  | Squirrel monkey            | -     |       | ++     | +      |      | -     |

**Table 1.** *Viral restriction by primate TRIM5α proteins.* ++: robust restriction; +: weak restriction; -: no restriction; +/-: weak restriction in some reports, no restriction in other reports. Information presented is compiled from Newman, R.M. and Johnson, W.E, 2007 [415] and Bauman, J.G., 2006 [29].

important to note that the viruses tested that were of primate origin were found to be specifically resistant to the antiviral activity of the TRIM5 $\alpha$  protein from their natural host species.

Work that preceded the discovery of TRIM5 [116, 216, 433] as well as subsequent characterization of the TRIM5 $\alpha$ -virus interaction [502, 510, 526, 541, 578, 636] convincingly demonstrated that CA is the viral target of TRIM5 $\alpha$ . However, this poses a dilemma in explaining the restrictive phenotypes observed for TRIM5 $\alpha$ . Namely, how does one TRIM5 $\alpha$  interact with the CA molecules from multiple retroviruses that have low amino acid conservation? In an attempt to explain this question, Mische et al proposed a model where TRIM5 $\alpha$  recognizes a complex epitope present in the tertiary/quaternary structure on the CA core [389]. The CA cores from multiple retroviruses, including HIV-1, MLV, and ALV, have been shown to assemble into hexameric lattice quaternary structures (Figs. 6 and 9) [87, 166, 319, 396]. Thus, retroviruses likely present similar quaternary surface structures for recognition by TRIM5 $\alpha$ . Lending support to this model is the fact that the majority of the CA residues shown to modulate TRIM5 $\alpha$  susceptibility are exterior surface exposed [432]. The implication of such a model is that the incoming viral capsid structure can be considered a pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP), with TRIM5 $\alpha$  being a type of pattern recognition receptor (PRR). Furthermore, as all retroviral CA cores are comprised of similar hexameric CA lattices, TRIM5 $\alpha$  likely has the capability of interacting with a broad array of retroviruses.

Initial studies only examined members of the Lentivirus and Gammaretrovirus families of *retroviridae* for sensitivity to TRIM5. The work presented in Chapter 1 of this dissertation was conducted to address the question of whether other families of retrovirus were similarly sensitive to TRIM5 restriction. In this study, we tested Betaretrovirus sensitivity to primate TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins using M-PMV as a prototypic Betaretrovirus.

## TRIM5 Genomic Structure

The TRIM5 gene is located in the midst of an olfactory receptor gene dense region of the genome on chromosome 11 in humans. In the human genome, TRIM5 is found adjacent to three related TRIM genes; TRIM6, TRIM22, and TRIM34. Based on phylogenetic analyses [480], TRIM6 appears to be the ancestral gene with the rest of the members of this TRIM gene cluster arising as a result of sequential gene duplication events. In primates, these genes are arranged such that TRIM6, TRIM34 and TRIM22 are in the same orientation. TRIM5 is found between TRIM34 and TRIM22, but in the opposite orientation and situated such that TRIM5 and TRIM22 share an approximately 5 kb promoter region (Fig. 10). The genetic architecture described above



**Figure 9.** Stereo model of a mature HIV-1 capsid core. Pentameric defects are shown in red, and a contiguous line of CA hexamers is highlighted in gold to illustrate how the spiral gradually changes diameter and pitch, and eventually reverses helical hand. Figure created by docking molecular models into an idealized fullerene cone of 1,572 CA subunits<sup>6</sup>, and calculating a mask at 8 Å around the C $\alpha$  atoms.

Adapted from [319] with permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: Nature. Su Li et al.; Image reconstructions of helical assemblies of the HIV-1 CA protein; Nature **407**, 409-413 (September 2000), copyright 2000.

and shown in Figure 10 is unique to primates. Most other mammals have TRIM5 oriented in the same direction as the other TRIM family members of this locus [Reviewed in 257].

For any animal, the selective pressure of obtaining food is exceptionally high, which has resulted in the genomic olfactory receptor gene content being highly divergent between species, highly polymorphic within populations, and the olfactory receptor regions of the genome being highly plastic [Reviewed in 213, and 417]. Perhaps as a result of the plasticity of the surrounding olfactory receptor gene rich genomic region, the TRIM6/34/5/22 locus is also highly variable in mammals. Multiple TRIM5 orthologs are found in cows, mice, and rats, but these species lack a TRIM22 ortholog [482, 553]. In contrast, cats and dogs genomes contain both TRIM5 and TRIM22 orthologs, but in both of these species it has been reported that the TRIM5 gene does not



**Figure 10.** *Composition and structure of the of TRIM5 genomic locus.* Top: Graphical representation of the location and orientation of TRIM5, TRIM6, TRIM22 and TRIM34 genomic locus in primates. Bottom: Representation of the hypothetical structure of the ancestral mammalian TRIM5 genomic locus. In both cases, olfactory receptors are found adjacent to TRIM6 and TRIM22 (not shown).

produce a TRIM5 $\alpha$  protein [375, 482]. Furthermore, no TRIM5 ortholog was found in the opossum genome [482], so it is likely that TRIM5 is specific to eutherian mammals and that this gene and its genomic locus have undergone significant diversification since its creation.

## TRIM5 Evolution

TRIM5 has undergone an amazingly complex evolutionary history. The first evidence of this was the discovery of the TRIM-Cyp gene in owl monkeys. This gene arose as the result of the LINE-mediated retrotransposition of a cyclophilin A mRNA transcript between the seventh and eighth exons of TRIM5 $\alpha$  [418, 484]. The resulting chimeric gene subsequently became fixed in all owl monkey species tested to date [466]. This process of generating new exons by utilization of heterologous genetic material contained within the genome is known as 'exon shuffling' [Reviewed in 340]. Illustrating the rarity of this process, at the time of its discovery, owl monkey TRIM-Cyp was the only case of exon shuffling to have been observed in vertebrates. However, since that time other instances of exon shuffling have been described, with one such instance found to have taken place in the TRIM5 gene of Old World primates. In this instance, a CypA mRNA was retrotransposed downstream of TRIM5 in the macaque lineage. The CypA retrotransposition is accompanied by a mutation in the splice acceptor site preceding exon 7 of

what would be TRIM5 $\alpha$ , resulting in the expression of a similar TRIM-Cyp as is found in owl monkeys [67, 324, 414, 587, 607].

Further evidence of the history of strong evolutionary pressures in this gene are evidenced by the exaggerated rates of nonsynonymous changes compared to synonymous changes (dN/dS) in the coding region of TRIM5 [483, 524]. This is generally indicative of evolutionary pressures selecting for altered protein sequences, and is referred to as positive selection. In TRIM5, the nonsynonymous changes are concentrated in the eighth exon, and more specifically in three variable regions of this exon. These variable regions encode the variable loops of the B30.2 domain that form the TRIM5-virus interface, which have been shown to modulate viral restriction patterns [403, 425, 483, 524]. Recently, it was reported that similar selective evolution has also taken place in the virus interface of the macaque TRIM-Cyp [452].

In addition to TRIM5, elevated levels of nonsynonymous change are also found in TRIM22 [482], a gene found to encode a protein possessing antiviral activities [27, 140, 167, 563]. As with TRIM5, the nonsynonymous changes predominate in the variable regions of the B30.2 domain. An interesting interplay between TRIM5 and TRIM22 was observed [482]; primate lineages with elevated TRIM5 dN/dS rates were found to have low dN/dS rates in TRIM22, and the opposite is true – elevated TRIM22 dN/dS rates correlated to low TRIM5 dN/dS rates. In contrast to TRIM5 and TRIM22, the other genes in the TRIM5 genomic locus, TRIM6 and TRIM34, have low dN/dS ratios [320, 482], indicating a pressure to maintain a protein sequence over time, referred to as negative selection.

Relatively short in-frame insertions and deletions of coding sequence have accompanied the elevated rates of nonsynonymous substitutions in the B30.2 domain of TRIM5. In the African green monkey lineage of Old World primates, a 20 amino acid expansion is found in the v1 region of the B30.2 domain, while in the spider monkey lineage of New World primates a 55 amino acid expansion is found in the v3 region of the B30.2 domain [483, 524]. The expansion in African green monkeys has been shown to confer the ability to restrict SIVmac [403].

As a final example of the strong selective forces having been placed on TRIM5, it was found that TRIM5 has been under balancing selection during primate evolution [82, 413]. This is the process of maintaining multiple alleles of a gene in the population of a given species. In the best characterized instance of this phenomenon, it was found that multiple high-frequency TRIM5 alleles exist in both rhesus macaques and sooty mangabeys [413]. In rhesus macaques, these alleles can be separated into three functional alleles, based on their ability to inhibit the replication of HIV-1, HIV-2, EIAV, and FIV [606]. Furthermore, functional differences have been observed between these alleles in how well they are able to inhibit SIVmac replication and pathogenesis in vivo [283, 330, 470]. The other identified case of balancing selection in TRIM5 appears in human and great ape populations where several nucleotide polymorphisms in the first intron are present at high frequencies of the population [82]. These polymorphisms fall in an endogenous retroviral LTR element and are hypothesized to influence transcriptional regulation. In both identified instances of balancing selection, a subset of the identified sites were also found to be polymorphic in related species, indicating that the polymorphism has been under balancing selection since before the two species diverged. It is estimated that divergence of humans from chimpanzees as well as rhesus macaques from sooty mangabeys occurred between 6 and 10 million years ago [82, 413], demonstrating the longevity of such selective forces.

## Transcriptional regulation

Control of transcriptional regulation of TRIM5, and the other TRIM genes of the TRIM5 locus, has not been the subject of intensive investigation. Initially, human TRIM5 expression was described as being "ubiquitous" [464]. This initial assessment was found to be misleading, as TRIM5 (and TRIM22) were shown to be differentially expressed in human tissues [482]. Furthermore, it was discovered that TRIM5 is upregulated in response to IFN treatment and that this responsiveness is controlled by an interferon sensitive responsive element (ISRE) in the TRIM5 core promoter [20]. All four TRIM genes in the TRIM5 locus were subsequently demonstrated to be IFN regulated, although only TRIM5 is predicted to have an ISRE in its core

promoter [88, 89]. Recently, the first exon of TRIM22 has been shown to contain an ISRE that governs IFN responsiveness of this gene [168]. Finally, it is known that TRIM22 is upregulated in response to p53 activation and that the p53 binding site responsible for this regulation is located in the first intron [269, 422, 598].

Three lines of evidence suggest that the mRNA expression levels of the antiviral TRIM genes may impact antiviral activity. First, it has been reported that the TRIM5 mRNA levels in human PBMCs correlate with the risk of becoming infected with HIV-1 [503] and increased TRIM22 expression levels have been correlated with decreased HIV-1 viral load and higher CD4 T-cell counts [519]. Second, TRIM5 $\alpha$  expression is upregulated in vitro following IFN treatment and this results in an enhancement of TRIM5 $\alpha$  antiviral activity [89]. Finally, overexpression of TRIM34 can result in a block to SIVmac infection, while endogenously expressed TRIM34 does not affect SIVmac infectivity [320, 650].

The experiments presented in chapter 2 were conducted in order to gain a better insight into the transcriptional regulation of the antiviral TRIM genes. As primate TRIM5 and TRIM22 genes share a short, largely conserved, core promoter region attention was focused on the noncoding regions of these genes.

# IDENTIFICATION OF POST-ENTRY RESTRICTIONS TO MASON-PFIZER MONKEY VIRUS INFECTION IN NEW WORLD MONKEY CELLS

by

William E. Diehl, Elizabeth Stansell, Shari M. Kaiser, Michael Emerman,

and Eric Hunter

Journal of Virology, November 2008, 82(22): p. 11140-11151

Copyright 2008 by American Society for Microbiology Used with Permission

Format adapted for dissertation

#### **ABSTRACT**

TRIM5a has been shown to be a major post-entry determinant of host range for Gammaretroviruses and Lentiviruses, and more recently Spumaviruses. However, the restrictive potential of TRIM5 $\alpha$  against other retroviruses has been largely unexplored. We sought to determine whether or not Mason-Pfizer Monkey Virus (M-PMV), a prototype Betaretrovirus isolated from rhesus macaques, was sensitive to restriction by TRIM5 $\alpha$ . Cell lines from both Old World and New World primate species were screened for their susceptibility to infection by vesicular stomatitis virus G protein (VSV-G) pseudotyped M-PMV. All of the cell lines tested that were established from Old World primates were found to be susceptible to M-PMV infection. However, fibroblasts established from three New World monkey species specifically resisted infection by this virus. Exogenously expressing TRIM5 $\alpha$  from either tamarin or squirrel monkeys in permissive cell lines resulted in a block to M-PMV infection. Restriction in the resistant cell line of spider monkey origin was determined to occur at a post-entry stage. However, spider monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  expression in permissive cells failed to restrict M-PMV infection and interference with endogenous TRIM5a in the spider monkey fibroblasts failed to relieve the block to infectivity. Our results demonstrate that TRIM5 $\alpha$  specificity extends to Betaretroviruses, and suggest that New World monkeys have evolved additional mechanisms to restrict the infection of at least one primate Betaretrovirus.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Infectious Betaretroviruses have been isolated from a number of diverse mammalian species, including mice [52, 384], cats [371], sheep [505], and a number of primate species from both the Old World [36, 101, 564] and New World [110, 221, 557, 565, 612]. The prototypical members of this retroviral genera are mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV) and Mason-Pfizer Monkey Virus (M-PMV). Both of these viruses have been shown to cause disease in their natural

hosts; MMTV was identified based on its ability to cause mammary carcinoma in mice [52], and M-PMV has been shown to cause an AIDS-like disease in juvenile rhesus macaques [364].

In addition to these infectious Betaretroviruses, a large number of Betaretrovirus-like (type II) endogenous retroviruses have been detected in the genomes of mammals [530]. In fact, the only retroviral sequences that appear to have been added to the human genome since speciation are members of the human mouse mammary tumor virus-like 2 (HML-2) group of the Betaretrovirus-like human endogenous retrovirus K (HERV-K) elements. Some of these HML-2 integrants are polymorphic amongst human populations and, based upon homology of the long terminal repeat (LTR) sequences, several proviruses appear to have been added to the genome less than one million years ago [24, 33, 238, 576]. In contrast to this strong evidence for recently active betaretroviral infection in humans, there is no clear evidence that retroviruses of other genera have been introduced to the human genome since speciation. Among hominids, this bias towards recent addition of betaretroviral-like sequences is unique to humans, as the genomes of both chimpanzees and gorillas contain more than 100 copies of the Gammaretrovirus-like PtERV1, which is completely absent from the human genome [255, 638]. These retroviral relics are of importance because they are clear evidence of previous retroviral infections, and as such likely represent ancestral selective pressures.

TRIM5 $\alpha$  has clearly been shown to be a major factor in determining the host range of both Gammaretroviruses and Lentiviruses in primates [217, 278, 444, 525, 633], and more recently this finding has been extended to Spumaviruses [632]. TRIM5 $\alpha$  has been proposed to interact with capsid (CA) determinants of sensitive viruses and this interaction results in an abortive infection prior to nuclear entry [502, 541]. Recognition of TRIM5 $\alpha$ -sensitive viral cores occurs soon after entry into the cell [116], and restriction results in production of normal to reduced levels of early reverse transcriptase products, but greatly reduced levels of full-length DNA [116, 541]. The actual mechanism of TRIM5 $\alpha$ -mediated restriction and the requirements for cellular cofactors remains incompletely understood. However, restriction appears to cause premature dissociation of viral cores [542], and may involve the degradative functions of the proteasome [11].

Studies have shown that TRIM5 $\alpha$  has been under strong selective pressure over much of the course of primate evolution [483, 543], and that the TRIM5 locus is highly divergent [482]. All of these data suggest TRIM5 $\alpha$  has evolved as an anti-retroviral agent and that cycles of retroviral challenge and subsequent selection for protective TRIM5 $\alpha$  alleles has shaped primate evolution [483, 524]. An example of this type of selection, in response to a gammaretroviral pathogen, may have resulted in the susceptibility of humans to HIV infection [267]. This highlights the importance of studying TRIM5 $\alpha$  and other restriction factors in general.

One of the aspects of TRIM5 $\alpha$  biology that has yet to be fully explored is the breadth of activity of this protein. In the only study, to date, to test a Betaretrovirus for sensitivity to TRIM5 $\alpha$ -mediated restriction, Lee and Bieniasz found that a reconstituted a HERV-K(HML-2) was not restricted by the tested TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins [311]. In the current study, we used M-PMV to more fully explore the possibility that TRIM5 $\alpha$  can mediate post-entry blocks to betaretroviral infections. Cells isolated from 11 different species including human, Old World and New World monkeys, and prosimians were screened for infectivity using M-PMV engineered to be capable of a single round of infection pseudotyped with the VSV-G protein. We found that cells from three New World monkey species (squirrel, tamarin, and spider monkeys) showed a greater than 20-fold reduction in M-PMV infectivity, and time course experiments showed the block to be prior to completion of reverse transcription. When exogenously expressed in permissive cells, TRIM5 $\alpha$  from squirrel and tamarin monkeys were found to restrict M-PMV infection. In squirrel and tamarin monkey fibroblasts small interfering RNA (siRNA) knockdown of TRIM5 $\alpha$  and expression of dominant-negative TRIM5 $\alpha$  in permissive cells failed to block M-PMV

infection and neither siRNA knockdown nor dominant-negative antagonism of TRIM5 $\alpha$  in spider monkey fibroblasts relieved the barrier to M-PMV infectivity. These results demonstrate that New World monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins have the capability of inhibiting betaretroviral infection and that these primates likely have multiple mechanisms for restricting betaretroviral infection.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Cell culture

Information regarding cells used in this study is shown in Table 1. Penicillin (10U/ml) and streptomycin (10µg/ml) were added to all cultures. HeLa cells expressing the TRIM5 $\alpha$  protein from human, rhesus macaque, African green monkey, squirrel monkey, tamarin monkey, and spider monkey [525] (kindly provided by Dr. Byeongwoon Song, Emory University) were cultured in the presence of 1µg/ml of puromycin. All TRIM5 $\alpha$ -expressing Crandell feline kidney (CRFK) cells were maintained under the selection of 5µg/ml of puromycin.

| Name Species |                         | Common name                      | Origin              | Source  | Culture Conditions           |  |
|--------------|-------------------------|----------------------------------|---------------------|---------|------------------------------|--|
| CRFK         | Felis catus             | Feline                           | Renal Fibroblast    | ATCC    | DMEM, 10% FBS                |  |
| HOS          | Homo<br>sapiens         | Human                            | Osteosarcoma        | ATCC    | DMEM, 10% FBS                |  |
| HeLa         | Homo<br>sapiens         | Human                            | Cervical Carcinoma  | ATCC    | DMEM, 10% FBS                |  |
| 293T         | Homo<br>sapiens         | Human                            | Fetal Kidney        | ATCC    | DMEM, 10% FBS                |  |
| CV-1         | Chlorocebus<br>aethiops | African Green<br>Monkey          | Kidney              | ATCC    | DMEM, 10% FBS                |  |
| Cos-1        | Chlorocebus<br>aethiops | African Green<br>Monkey          | Kidney              | ATCC    | DMEM, 10% FBS                |  |
| DBS-FRhL-2   | Macaca<br>mulatta       | Rhesus                           | Foreskin Fibroblast | ATCC    | α-MEM, 10% FBS               |  |
| PR00559      | Papio<br>hamadryas      | Guinea Baboon                    | Skin Fibroblast     | Coriell | α-MEM, 15% FBS               |  |
| AG07100      | Lemur catta             | Ring-tailed Lemur                | Skin Fibroblast     | Coriell | $\alpha$ -MEM, 10% FBS       |  |
| AG06115      | Callicebus<br>moloch    | Dusky Titi Monkey                | Skin Fibroblast     | Coriell | α-MEM, 10% FBS               |  |
| AG05311      | Saimiri<br>sciureus     | Common Squirrel<br>Monkey        | Skin Fibroblast     | Coriell | α-MEM, 15% FBS               |  |
| AG05308      | Saguinus<br>labiatus    | Red-chested<br>Mustached Tamarin | Skin Fibroblast     | Coriell | α-MEM/DMEM (1:1),<br>20% FBS |  |
| AG05356      | Lagothrix<br>lagotricha | Common Woolly<br>Monkey          | Skin Fibroblast     | Coriell | α-MEM, 10% FBS               |  |
| AG05352      | Ateles<br>geoffroyi     | Black-handed Spider<br>Monkey    | Skin Fibroblast     | Coriell | α-MEM, 10% FBS               |  |

**Table 1.** Cells lines used in this study.

# Viral production

Viral stocks were generated by calcium phosphate-mediated transfection of 293T cells [361, 460]. Briefly,  $1 \times 10^7$  293T cells were plated in 150-mm<sup>2</sup> plates and transfected in the presence of 25mM chloroquine the following day. For the production of VSV-G pseudotyped green fluorescent protein (GFP)-expressing M-PMV virus, 21µg pSARM-EGFP [413, 533], an M-PMV proviral vector with the viral env gene replaced by EGFP, and 2µg pLP/VSV-G (Invitrogen) were transfected per 150-mm<sup>2</sup> plate. For the production of VSV-G pseudotyped Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus (MoMLV), 21µg pLXSG (kindly provided by Dr. Paul Lewis, Oregon Health Sciences University), 14µg pCS2+-mGP [625] Moloney gag/pol expression vector, and 7µg pLP/VSV-G were transfected per 150-mm<sup>2</sup> plate. For the production of VSV-G pseudotyped GFP-expressing HIV-1, 21µg pNL-EGFP/CMV-WPREAU3, a vector based on pNL-EGFP/CMV [462] (which features the woodchuck post-transcriptional regulatory element (WPRE) for increased mRNA stability and a deleted U3 region for added safety), 14µg pCD/NL-BH\* $\Delta\Delta\Delta$  [655], and 7ug pLTR-G [461] were transfected per 150-mm<sup>2</sup> plate (all vectors kindly provided by Dr. Jakob Reiser, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center). For the production of VSV-G pseudotyped GFP-expressing SIVmac239, 21µg pSIV/GFPAenv [116] (kindly provided by Dr. Paul Bieniasz, Aaron Diamond AIDS Research Center) and 7µg pLP/VSV-G were transfected per 150-mm<sup>2</sup> plate.

In all cases, the medium was changed 16 hours post-transfection, and virus-containing medium was collected after an additional 48 hours. This virus-containing medium was spun at 500g for 5 minutes, passed through a 0.45-µm pore size filter, and stored at -80°C. During the course of our experiments it was observed that titers of M-PMV decreased around 200-fold after being frozen and thawed. Similar to previous results with other viruses [594], we found that addition of 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) to the virus-containing medium prior to freezing prevented this loss of viral titer (data not shown).

# Viral infectivity assays and transductions

Cells were seeded the day before infection at  $5x10^4$  cells per well of a 6-well plate except in the case of 293T and CV-1, for which  $1x10^5$  cells were plated. The following day, cells were exposed to 500µl total volume of virus-containing growth medium supplemented with 8µg/ml polybrene for a total of 16 hours at 37°C. Following this incubation period, the medium was replaced with fresh growth medium. For analysis by flow cytometry, 60-72 hours after exposure to virus, cells were trypsinized, spun at 500g for 5 minutes, and resuspended in phosphatebuffered saline without Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup> supplemented with 2% FBS. Flow cytometry was conducted using the FACSCalibur system (BD Biosciences); at least 50,000 gated events were collected for each sample. Data analysis was conducted using the FlowJo software, Macintosh version 8.1.1 (Tree Star, Inc.). All viral stocks were titrated on the highly permissive CRFK cells using this method. Based on the CRFK infectivity functional multiplicities of infection (MOI) were determined.

#### TRIM5α cloning and expression

Total RNA was isolated from AG05311 (squirrel monkey), AG05352 (spider monkey), and AG05356 (woolly monkey) cells using TRIzol (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. cDNA was generated using anchored-oligo(dT)<sub>18</sub> primers and the Transcriptor First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Roche). Squirrel monkey TRIM5α was amplified using 'Squirrel F' (5'-

GAGCAGGAATTCGCCACCATGTACCCATACGACGTCCCAGACTACGCTTCCAGAATC R' CTGGGGAGTATAAAGG-3') and 'Squirrel (5'-GAGCAGATCGATGGCTCAAGACCTTGGTGAGCACAGAGTCATGG-3'), spider monkey F' TRIM5a amplified 'Spider (5'was using GAGCAGGAATTCGCCACCATGTACCCATACGACGTCCCAGACTACGCTTCCGAAATC CTGTTGAATATAAAGGAG-3') 'Spider/Woolly R' (5'and

60

amplified 'Woolly F' (5'-TRIM5a was using GAGCAGGAATTCGCCACCATGTACCCATACGACGTCCCAGACTACGCTTCCGAAATC CTGGTGAATATAAAGGA-3') and 'Spider/Woolly R'. All forward primers were designed to include a Kozak consensus sequence [294] and a sequence corresponding to the hemagglutanin (HA) tag [149]. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was conducted using pfu polymerase (Stratagene), and the resulting product was digested with EcoRI and ClaI and cloned into the MLV-based expression vector pLPCX (Clontech) cut with EcoRI and ClaI. Clones were sequenced; the TRIM5 $\alpha$  sequences correspond to the accession numbers AY843517 (squirrel monkey), AY843516 (spider monkey), and AY843520 (woolly monkey) previously reported for these species. VSV-G pseudotyped TRIM5 $\alpha$ -expressing MoMLV stocks were prepared in the same manner as GFP-expressing MoMLV virus described above, replacing pLXSG with a pLPCX-TRIM5a vector.

The generation of CRFK cells expressing the TRIM5 $\alpha$  gene from human, rhesus, sooty mangabey, baboon, titi, and tamarin has been previously described [267, 333, 483]. To generate CRFK cells expressing woolly monkey, spider monkey, or squirrel monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$ , CRFK cells were transduced with TRIM5 $\alpha$ -expressing MLV in 6-well plates as described above. Two days after transduction, these cells were split and placed under selection with 5µg/ml of puromycin. Two weeks later, the puromycin-resistant cells were plated at low density (~200 cells/plate) in 150-mm<sup>2</sup> plates. Clones were picked from well-isolated colonies and expanded. TRIM5 $\alpha$  expression was verified by Western blot analysis using monoclonal antibodies against the HA epitope (Covance) and  $\beta$ -actin (Sigma-Aldrich). Of the clones that express TRIM5 $\alpha$ , two were tested for antiviral activity. In all cases similar results were obtained from both clones (data not shown).

#### Vesicular stomatitis virus infections

A viral stock of VSV $\Delta$ G\*-G [551], a vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) derivative capable of a single-round infection that contains GFP in place of the G protein, was kindly provided by Dr. John Altman (Emory University). Cells were seeded the day before infection at 5x10<sup>5</sup> cells per well of a 6-well plate and 16 hours later were exposed to a total volume of 500µl of viruscontaining DMEM, supplemented with 8µg/ml polybrene and 2% FBS, for a total of 2 hours at 37°C. Following this incubation period the medium was replaced with fresh growth medium. Four hours later cells were trypsinized, fixed with PBS containing 4% paraformaldehyde, washed 3x with PBS supplemented with 2% FBS, and analyzed by flow cytometry.

# Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of reverse transcription products

TaqMan primer/probe sets were developed to selectively amplify regions in either the strong-stop DNA RT product or the gag portion of the full-length RT product. The primers (5'-CCACCATTAAATGAGACTTGATCAG-3'), 'ssDNA F' 'ssDNA R' (5'-GGAGGGAGTGGGAATTGAAG-3'), and 'ssDNA probe' (5'-ACACTGTCTTGTCTCCATTTCTTGTGTCTCTTG-3') were used to quantify the strong-stop DNA product. The primers 'gag F' (5'-GCTTGGAAGATGAGGCAGCGAAAT-3'), 'gag R' (5'and ATTACAGTGGGTGCGGAAGGAGTA-3'), probe' (5'-'gag TAATCCCGATTGGCCTCCCTTCCTAA-3') were used to quantify full-length RT products. The strong-stop DNA probe was tagged at the 5' end with 6-Carboxyfluorescein (6-FAM), and the gag probe was tagged at the 5' end with hexachloro-6-carboxyfluorescein (HEX); both probes contained a 3' Iowa Black FQ non-fluorescent quencher (Integrated DNA Technologies).

One day prior to infection,  $3x10^5$  cells were seeded in 60-mm<sup>2</sup> plates. VSV-G pseudotyped M-PMV-EGFP was DNase treated for 1 hour at 37°C with 1U TURBO DNase (Ambion) per 10µl virus. Cells were incubated in the presence of an approximate MOI of 0.35 of DNase-treated virus at 4°C for 2 hours in a total volume of 500µl CO<sub>2</sub>-independent medium
(Gibco) supplemented with 2% FBS and 8µg/ml polybrene. Following this incubation, viruscontaining medium was replaced with culture medium, and cells were placed at 37°C. At varying times thereafter, cells were harvested; total DNA was isolated using the Qiagen DNeasy kit. Realtime PCR reactions contained 1x FastStart TaqMan Probe Master Mix (Roche) with 400nM ROX passive reference dye, 250ng DNA, 250nM probe, and either 60nM *gag*-specific primers or 80nM strong-stop DNA specific primers. A standard curve was generated by two-fold serial dilutions of pSARM-EGFP. PCR reactions were performed in 384-well plates using the 7900HT Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems) with the following reaction conditions: 5 minutes at 95°C followed by 45 cycles of 30 seconds at 95°C, 30 seconds at 59°C, and 30 seconds at 72°C. DNA harvested from cells incubated with virus lacking glycoprotein was used as a control for these experiments. In this control, quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) analysis of this DNA detected approximately 1000 copies of strong-stop DNA at 0 hours and less than 200 copies at later time points, while less than 30 copies of gag DNA were detected at all times analyzed (data not shown).

#### Generation of TRIM5 dominant-negative expressing cells

Dual-expressing lentiviral vectors, based on the pNL-EGFP/CMV-WPREAU3 vector, were generated in order to express dominant-negative forms of New World monkey TRIM5 proteins, which lack the B30.2 domain. These vectors were designed with the cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter driving expression of a transcript containing the dominant-negative TRIM5, an internal ribosomal entry site (IRES), and yellow fluorescent protein (YFP). The encephalomyocarditis virus (EMCV) IRES was amplified from pIRESneo2 (Clontech) using the F1' (5'primers **'IRES** AAGCC-3') and R' **'IRES** (5'-CTTGCTCACCATGGTGGCGGCGCGCCCTATTATCATCGTGTTTTTCAAAGGAAAACCAC

GTCCCCGT-3'). YFP was amplified from pEYFP-Golgi (Clontech) using the primers 'eYFP F' (5'-GATGATAATAGGCGCGCCGCCACCATGGTGAGCAAGGGCGAGGAGCTGTTCAC-R' (5'-3') and 'eYFP ACCTCACTCGAGCGGCCGCTTACTTGTACAGCTCGTCCATGCCGAGAGTGAT-3'). А second round of PCR was performed utilizing the IRES and YFP PCR products as templates F2' the **'IRES** (5'using primers CGACCGCCC-3') and 'eYFP R'. The vector pNL-CXIYWA was generated by digesting the 1382 nucleotide IRES-YFP PCR fragment with NheI and XhoI and cloning it into pNL-EGFP/CMV-WPREAU3 that was also digested with NheI and XhoI.

To generate the spider monkey TRIM5 dominant-negative vector, a TRIM5 fragment was digested from the pLPCX-based TRIM5α-expression vectors using EcoRI and EcoRV. To generate the dominant-negative tamarin monkey TRIM5 vector, the tamarin TRIM5α gene was amplified from AG05308 cellular RNA using the primers 'Squirrel F' and 'Squirrel R' as described above, followed by digestion with EcoRI and EcoRV. The EcoRI-EcoRV TRIM5 fragments were cloned into pNL-CXIYWA cut with BamHI that was filled in with Klenow, and EcoRI. This cloning strategy results in a truncated TRIM5 with an in-frame stop codon after amino acid 323. Clones were verified by sequencing.

VSV-G pseudotyped virus was generated from these vectors as described for GFPexpressing HIV. The resulting viruses were concentrated by ultracentrifugation for 2.5 hours at 100,000 g and used to stably transduce CRFK, TRIM5-expressing CRFK, or fibroblast cells. Western blotting was used to detect expression of HA-tagged TRIM5 dominant-negative protein,  $\beta$ -actin, as well as YFP (using rabbit polyclonal anti-GFP (Clontech)) in total protein extracts from transduced cells. YFP was found to be efficiently expressed via the IRES in CRFK cells, but was poorly expressed in the New World monkey fibroblasts. TRIM5 dominant-negative expressing cells were infected with GFP-expressing challenge viruses as described previously. Analysis of GFP and YFP expression was performed using an LSRII flow cytometer (BD Biosciences) with the following filter configuration: 505LP - 510/21 for GFP detection and 525LP - 560/40 for YFP detection. This configuration allows for discrimination between YFP and GFP, in spite of their large spectral overlap. For each sample, at least 100,000 gated events were collected.

# **RESULTS**

#### Cell lines from New World monkeys resist infection by M-PMV

In this study we investigated whether species-specific post-entry barriers to M-PMV infection exist by using a VSV-G pseudotyped, GFP-expressing M-PMV (M-PMV-EGFP) to screen a variety of cell lines for infectivity. M-PMV-EGFP expresses GFP instead of the viral envelope glycoprotein [413, 533]. When complemented *in trans* by an appropriate viral envelope glycoprotein the resulting virus is capable of entering a target cell, integrating into the chromosome, and expressing viral proteins, but infectious virus is not produced (data not shown). The use of GFP as a reporter gene, in conjunction with detection using flow cytometry, allows for the discrimination between establishment of infection, as determined by percent GFP-positive cells, and levels of viral gene expression, as determined by the intensity of GFP fluorescence. Viral stocks were pseudotyped with VSV-G in order to identify post-entry restrictions to M-PMV since it has been shown that VSV-G is able to mediate infection in a broad range of species and tissues [40, 78, 210, 332].

This VSV-G pseudotyped M-PMV-EGFP was used to infect cells isolated from humans, four Old World monkey, five New World monkey, and one prosimian species (Table 1 and Figure 1A). The cells were incubated overnight with an approximate MOI of 0.35; this MOI was used in order to minimize multiple integrations and remain within the linear range of flow cytometric analysis. All of the cell lines tested displayed mean fluorescent intensity (MFI) values



**Figure 1.** *M-PMV* infectivity is reduced in New World monkey cell lines.

(A) Phylogenetic tree showing the relationship of primate species, adapted from Bininda-Emonds et al. 2007 [49]. \* indicates that cells from this species were examined in this study. Mya; millions of years ago.

(B) Results of transductions using VSV-G pseudotyped M-PMV-EGFP. Cells from the indicated species were incubated with approximately 0.35 MOI of virus overnight and analyzed for GFP expression by flow cytometry 48 hours later.

(C) Cells from the indicated species were incubated with increasing amounts of VSV-G pseudotyped M-PMV overnight and analyzed for GFP expression by flow cytometry 48 hours later.

between 190 (293T cells) and 725 (squirrel monkey fibroblasts) in GFP-positive cells, indicating comparable levels of viral gene expression in all cells once the virus entered and integrated.

However, the cells varied greatly in the efficiency of infection. The cell lines that were screened were classified into four categories of sensitivity (Figure 1B): those that were as permissive as CRFK, those that were 3- to 5-fold less permissive than CRFK, those that were 25- to 50-fold less permissive than CRFK, and those that were over 1000-fold less permissive than CRFK. All cells from Old World monkeys and one of the human cells lines (HOS) were readily infected with M-PMV. The other human cell line (293T) along with fibroblasts isolated from lemur, titi, and woolly monkeys displayed a slight (3- to 5-fold) decrease in M-PMV susceptibility. In contrast, fibroblasts derived from squirrel and spider monkeys displayed a marked decrease (25- to 50-fold) in M-PMV sensitivity. Finally, fibroblasts from tamarin monkeys were found to be highly resistant to M-PMV infection with greater than 1000-fold reduction in GFP-positive cells.

We also assessed M-PMV infectivity over a broad range of viral inputs in CRFK, HOS, and fibroblasts derived from New World monkeys (Figure 1C). Cells were incubated overnight with between 0.01 and 2.75 MOI of VSV-G pseudotyped M-PMV-EGFP, and infection was quantified by flow cytometry 48 hours later. The 3- to 5-fold M-PMV infectivity defect observed in titi and woolly fibroblasts and the stronger (25- to 50-fold) block in squirrel and spider monkey cells were observed at every viral input tested. In cells of the last two species, significant M-PMV infection was only observed at the highest virus inputs. In contrast, fibroblasts from tamarin monkeys exhibited infection levels near background (0.01% GFP positive cells) at all viral inputs tested. These results show that cells of New World monkey origin block M-PMV infection to varying degrees.

# The block to M-PMV in squirrel, tamarin, and spider monkey fibroblast cells is virus specific

To determine the extent to which the VSV-G protein mediates entry into cells of different origins, the same panel of fibroblasts was infected with GFP-expressing VSV. Approximately 1 MOI of this virus, which is only capable of a single round of infection, was used to infect these cells (Figure 2A). Infection of CRFK and HOS cells resulted in approximately 62% of cells being GFP positive. However, infections of the primate fibroblast lines resulted in 20% to 27% GFP- positive cells. Therefore, VSV appears to exhibit a 2.5- to 3-fold reduction in infectivity in these New World monkey fibroblasts. Similar results were observed when infections were carried out at an MOI of 0.1 (data not shown). Furthermore, all of the New World monkey fibroblast cells, with the exception of tamarin fibroblasts, produced as much GFP (as measured by MFI) as CRFK or HOS cells. GFP-positive tamarin fibroblasts were found to be 5- to 10-fold less bright than GFP-positive CRFK cells (data not shown), but this expression defect was distinct from establishment of infection. Thus, while there appears to be a small defect in VSV entry in the New World monkey fibroblasts, and for tamarin fibroblasts a second level of VSV restriction at the stage of viral gene expression, these defects do not account for the 25- to 1000-fold defect in M-PMV infectivity observed in squirrel, tamarin, and spider monkey cells.

Refractivity of M-PMV in the resistant New World monkey cells could also reflect a nonspecific insensitivity to retrovirus infection. To control for this, MoMLV infectivity in these cells was therefore assessed by infecting cells with approximately 0.35 MOI of VSV-G pseudotyped GFP-expressing MoMLV (Figure 2B). All of cell types tested show a reduced susceptibility (3- to 11-fold) when compared to the very permissive CRFK. However, the pattern of reduced susceptibility was different from that seen in M-PMV infections.

In order to discern virus-specific differences, a ratio of M-PMV to MoMLV infectivity (designated  $IR_{(M-PMV/MLV)}$ ) was determined for each of these cell lines (Figure 2C). An  $IR_{(M-PMV/MLV)}$  value less than 1 indicates an M-PMV specific block in the cells, an  $IR_{(M-PMV/MLV)}$  value above 1 suggests a MoMLV specific block, and  $IR_{(M-PMV/MLV)}$  values near 1 indicate no specific block could be determined. Squirrel, tamarin, and spider monkey fibroblasts were found to have IR values of 0.5, 0.007, and 0.2, respectively; all of these values were determined to be significantly lower than 1 (p < 0.05) using Tukey's test. This data demonstrates that squirrel,



**Figure 2.** *Observed infectivity differences are specific to M-PMV.* (A) Results of infections using VSV $\Delta$ G\*-G, a vesicular stomatitis virus derivative capable of a single-round infection that contains GFP in place of the G protein. Cells were incubated with approximately 1 MOI of virus for 2 hours and analyzed for GFP expression 5 hours later. (B) Results of transductions using VSV-G pseudotyped, GFP-expressing murine leukemia virus. Cells were incubated overnight in the presence of approximately 0.35 MOI of virus and analyzed for GFP expression 48 hours later. (C) The average infectivity ratio of M-PMV and MLV (IR<sub>M-PMV/MLV</sub>) in selected cell lines. \* denotes cell lines that have IR values that differ, in a statistically significant manner, from 1. Data shown are the means +/-SEM of representative experiments, each with n = 3.

tamarin, and spider monkey fibroblasts are not generically resistant to retroviral infection, but specifically resist M-PMV infection.

#### New World monkey fibroblasts display a post-entry block to M-PMV infection

To determine where the block to M-PMV infection occurred in the three non-permissive cell lines, qPCR was used to detect initial products of reverse transcription (minus-strand strong-stop DNA) as well as those representing complete transcription of the genome (*gag*) at varying times after M-PMV infection in CRFK cells, squirrel, tamarin, and spider monkey fibroblasts. Infections were synchronized by incubating fibroblasts or CRFK cells with approximately 0.35 MOI of DNase-treated VSV-G pseudotyped M-PMV-EGFP at 4°C, which allows the virus to adsorb to the cell surface but not enter or start reverse transcription. After adsorption, the medium was replaced, and the cells were incubated at 37°C for varying times. Total DNA was then harvested and strong-stop DNA or *gag* reverse transcription products were quantified. The results of strong-stop DNA product quantification are shown in Figure 3A. Readily quantifiable amounts of strong-stop DNA products were detected in squirrel, tamarin, and spider monkey fibroblast



**Figure 3.** *Quantitative PCR analysis of reverse transcriptase products in primate fibroblast cells.* 

 $3x10^{\circ}$  cells were incubated with approximately 0.35 MOI of DNase-treated VSV-G pseudotyped M-PMV–EGFP virus for 2 hours at 4°C, after which the cells were returned to 37°C and total DNA was isolated at the indicated times. (A) Early reverse transcriptase products (strong-stop DNA) were detected in CRFK cells (filled triangles), spider monkey fibroblasts (filled squares), squirrel monkey fibroblasts (open squares), or tamarin monkey fibroblasts (filled circles) using quantitative real-time PCR. (B) Fold change in quantified strong-stop DNA products compared to CRFK cells at 2 hours (white), 4 hours (cross-hatched), and 48 hours (black) after start of infection. (C) Late reverse transcriptase products (*gag*) were detected in CRFK cells (filled triangles), spider monkey fibroblasts (filled squares), squirrel monkey fibroblasts (open squares), or tamarin monkey fibroblasts (filled squares), squirrel monkey fibroblasts (open squares), spider monkey fibroblasts (filled squares), squirrel monkey fibroblasts (open squares), or tamarin monkey fibroblasts (filled squares), squirrel monkey fibroblasts (open squares), or tamarin monkey fibroblasts (filled squares), squirrel monkey fibroblasts (open squares), or tamarin monkey fibroblasts (filled squares), squirrel monkey fibroblasts (open squares), or tamarin monkey fibroblasts (filled circles) using quantitative real-time PCR. (D) Fold change in quantified *gag* products compared to CRFK cells at 2 hours (white), 4 hours (cross-hatched), and 48 hours (black) after start of infection. Data are the means +/- SEM from duplicate experiments; total n = 12.

cells early (2–6 hours) after infection. The amounts of strong-stop DNA detected in these fibroblast cells are however significantly reduced compared to that detected in CRFK cells. This decrease in detected strong-stop DNA is seen at all times examined, but the difference between the levels of strong-stop DNA quantified in CRFK cells compared to what is detected in the fibroblast lines increases over the time period examined. Figure 3B shows a 2.5- to 7-fold

reduction in strong-stop DNA levels in fibroblast lines at early times post-infection, and a much greater (13- to 35-fold) reduction in strong-stop DNA levels 48 hours after infection.

The levels of full-length reverse transcriptase products were also quantified, and the results are shown in Figure 3C. Reduced levels of late reverse transcriptase products were observed at all time points in the three New World monkey fibroblast cell lines compared to that of CRFK cells. At 2 hours post-infection there is a 2.1- to 3.4-fold reduction (Figure 3D); this difference increases to between a 7- and 13-fold reduction by 4 hours, and further to a 50- to 75-fold reduction by 48 hours post-infection. Combined, these qPCR data argue for two separate blocks to VSV-G pseudotyped M-PMV infection in these cells: a minor defect to viral entry attributable to VSV-G, and a post-entry block that manifests itself several hours after the initiation of infection. This post-entry block occurs after the initiation of reverse transcription but before reverse transcription can be completed, resulting in production of early reverse transcriptase products, but much reduced levels of late reverse transcriptase products. The timing and phenotype of this post-entry restriction to M-PMV infection of squirrel, tamarin, and spider monkey fibroblasts is reminiscent of the TRIM5 $\alpha$ -mediated restriction of HIV-1 [511, 541].

# TRIM5a from squirrel and tamarin monkeys, but not spider monkeys, restricts M-PMV infection

Due to the TRIM5 $\alpha$ -like characteristics of the post-entry restriction to M-PMV infection in squirrel, tamarin, and spider monkey fibroblast cells, we explored the possibility that TRIM5 $\alpha$ from these species accounts for the restriction to M-PMV infection. CRFK cells stably expressing human, rhesus macaque, sooty mangabey, baboon, titi monkey, or tamarin monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$ from a retroviral vector have been previously described [267, 333, 483]. Additional CRFK clones stably expressing squirrel, woolly, or spider monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  from a pLPCX retroviral vector were generated for this study. Comparable levels of TRIM5 $\alpha$  were expressed in these cells (Figure 4A and data not shown). It should be noted that the mass differences in TRIM5 $\alpha$  detected

![](_page_81_Figure_0.jpeg)

**Figure 4.** Exogenous expression of tamarin and squirrel monkey  $TRIM5\alpha$  inhibit M-PMV infection.

(A)  $30\mu g$  of total protein from CRFK cells (lane 1), or CRFK cells stably expressing HAtagged TRIM5 $\alpha$  from tamarin monkey (lane 2), squirrel monkey (lane 3), woolly monkey (lane 4), or spider monkey (lane 5) were subject to Western blot analysis for either the HA epitope (upper panel) or  $\beta$ -actin (lower panel). (B) CRFK cells expressing TRIM5 $\alpha$  from the indicated species were incubated with approximately 0.25 MOI of VSV-G pseudotyped M-PMV-EGFP overnight and analyzed for GFP expression by flow cytometry 48 hours later. (C) CRFK cells expressing TRIM5 $\alpha$  from the indicated species were exposed to approximately 0.35 MOI of VSV-G pseudotyped SIV/GFP $\Delta$ env overnight and analyzed for GFP expression 48 hours later. (D) HeLa cells stably transduced with TRIM5 $\alpha$  from the indicated species or an empty vector control (LPCX) were exposed to approximately 0.25 MOI of VSV-G pseudotyped M-PMV-EGFP overnight and analyzed for GFP expression 48 hours later. Data show the means +/- SEM of representative experiments, each with n = 3.

in these blots is consistent with sequence data, in that the TRIM5 $\alpha$  genes from woolly and spider monkeys have a tandem triplication in the v3 region of the B30.2 domain compared to the TRIM5 $\alpha$  genes from squirrel and tamarin monkeys [483, 524].

The TRIM5 $\alpha$ -expressing CRFK cells were incubated with VSV-G pseudotyped

M-PMV-EGFP overnight and analyzed for GFP expression 48 hours later. The results of a representative infection are shown in Figure 4B. Similar levels of GFP-positive cells were observed in CRFK cells expressing human, titi, and woolly monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$ , consistent with the results from infection of the fibroblast lines. In contrast, cells expressing squirrel monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  showed a 5-fold reduction and tamarin monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$ -expressing cells showed a 50-fold reduction in M-PMV infectivity. On the other hand, expression of spider monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  in CRFK cells did not inhibit M-PMV infection (this result was consistent in two independently isolated cell clones, data not shown). This data implicates TRIM5 $\alpha$  as the factor responsible for the post-entry restriction to M-PMV in squirrel and tamarin monkey fibroblast cell lines. Based on the potency of the TRIM5 $\alpha$ -mediated restriction of M-PMV in CRFK cells, and the qPCR data in New World monkey fibroblasts, the combination of a weak VSV-G mediated entry defect and a much stronger TRIM5 $\alpha$ -mediated post-entry restriction can account for the bulk of the infectivity decrease observed in tamarin fibroblasts. Similarly, the 25-fold reduction in M-PMV infectivity in squirrel monkey fibroblast cells is the result of a weak defect in VSV-G mediated entry combined with a slightly more potent TRIM5 $\alpha$ -mediated post-entry restriction.

In order to confirm the functionality of the spider monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  protein, CRFK cells expressing the different New World monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins were challenged with 0.35 MOI of SIVmac239-based GFP-expressing virus [116]. SIV is known to be sensitive to restriction by the TRIM5 $\alpha$  protein from many New World monkey species, including squirrel, tamarin, and spider monkeys [425, 523, 525, 636]. Figure 4C shows that CRFK cells expressing TRIM5 $\alpha$ from these New World monkey species exhibit at least a 150-fold reduction in the infectivity of SIVmac239 when compared to the parental CRFK cells, confirming the functionality of the TRIM5 $\alpha$  protein expressed in each of these cell lines.

The specificity of these TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins was further examined in challenges with VSV-G pseudotyped, GFP-expressing HIV-1 and MoMLV; a summary of these results is shown

in Table 2. MoMLV is not blocked by any of the New World TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins tested, whereas HIV-1 is restricted by the TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins from woolly and spider monkeys but appears insensitive to the squirrel or tamarin monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins. The block to M-PMV infection in spider monkey fibroblasts was the only instance where expression of TRIM5 $\alpha$  in CRFK cells did not reproduce a block to infectivity.

In order to confirm the weak restriction of M-PMV by squirrel monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  and rule out the possibility that spider monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  was inactive against M-PMV because of the cellular context in which it was expressed, HeLa cells expressing the same primate TRIM5 $\alpha$ proteins (kindly provided by Dr. Byeongwoon Song, Emory University) were tested for susceptibility to M-PMV infection (Figure 4D). Expression of squirrel monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  in HeLa cells resulted in a 3.5-fold reduction in M-PMV infectivity, expression of tamarin monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  resulted in a 7-fold reduction in M-PMV infection, and no reduction in M-PMV infectivity was seen in cells expressing the spider monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  (Figure 4D). These results confirm the observations from TRIM5 $\alpha$ -expressing CRFK cells, although the potency of restriction is reduced. This may result from the formation of TRIM5 $\alpha$  heterotrimers in these cells, which also endogenously express the human TRIM5 $\alpha$  protein. Thus it appears that expression of the TRIM5 $\alpha$  protein from squirrel or tamarin monkeys is capable of blocking M-PMV infection, whereas a novel mechanism appears to be responsible for the restriction of M-PMV infection in spider monkey cells.

# TRIM5a restricts M-PMV during early post-entry stages

In order to verify that the phenotype of the restriction observed in TRIM5 $\alpha$ -expressing CRFK cells was similar to that seen in the fibroblast cells, qPCR was used to detect strong-stop DNA and gag reverse transcript products. In CRFK cells and squirrel monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$ -

| Species  | Cell Type  | M-PMV          | HIV | SIV  | MLV |
|----------|------------|----------------|-----|------|-----|
| Human    | HOS        | - <sup>a</sup> | -   | -    | -   |
|          | CRFK-hu    | -              | ND  | ND   | ND  |
| Titi     | Fibroblast | -              | -   | -    | -   |
|          | CRFK-Titi  | -              | ND  | ND   | ND  |
| Squirrel | Fibroblast | ++             | +   | ++++ | +   |
|          | CRFK-SqM   | +              | -   | +++  | -   |
| Tamarin  | Fibroblast | +++            | -   | ++++ | +   |
|          | CRFK-Tam   | ++             | -   | +++  | -   |
| Woolly   | Fibroblast | -              | ++  | ++++ | +   |
|          | CRFK-WM    | -              | +   | ++++ | -   |
| Spider   | Fibroblast | ++             | +++ | ++++ | +   |
|          | CRFK-SpM   | -              | ++  | ++++ | -   |

**Table 2.** Correlation of viral infectivity in New World monkey fibroblasts and CRFK cells expressing TRIM5  $\alpha$  from these New World monkeys.

<sup>a</sup> - indicates less than a 5 fold reduction in infectivity when compared to CRFK infectivity. + indicates between 5-fold and 20-fold reduction in infectivity. ++ indicates between 20- and 100-fold reduction in infectivity. +++ indicates between 100- and 1000-fold reduction in infectivity. ND; not determined.

expressing CRFK cells equivalent levels of early reverse transcriptase products are produced, but these products are mostly lost over the first 24 hours in squirrel monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$ -expressing cells (Figure 5A). By 48 hours post-infection there is 2.5-fold less strong-stop DNA in these cells compared to CRFK cells. In tamarin TRIM5 $\alpha$ -expressing cells there was already a 3- to 4-fold reduction in the amount of strong-stop DNA products between 2 and 6 hours post-infection compared to CRFK cells, indicating that the tamarin TRIM5 $\alpha$  blocks M-PMV at a slightly earlier stage in these cells. The difference in infectivity further increased to a 14-fold by 48 hours after infection.

In contrast, the levels of *gag* products are reduced 3-fold at 4 hours post-infection in cells expressing either squirrel or tamarin monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins (Figure 5B). In tamarin monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$ -expressing cells, the difference in *gag* products increases to 35-fold at 48 hours post-

![](_page_85_Figure_0.jpeg)

**Figure 5.** Quantitative PCR analysis of reverse transcriptase products in TRIM5 $\alpha$  expressing CRFK cells. CRFK (filled triangles) or CRFK cells expressing squirrel monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  (open squares), or tamarin monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  (filled circles) were incubated with approximately 0.35 MOI of DNase-treated VSV-G pseudotyped M-PMV-EGFP virus for 2 hours at 4°C, after which the cells were returned to 37°C. Total DNA was isolated at the indicated times and used to detect early (strong-stop DNA) and late (gag) reverse transcriptase products. Data are the means +/- SEM of a representative experiment with n=6.

infection, whereas the difference in *gag* products only slightly increases over this time in squirrel monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$ -expressing cells. These qPCR results are strikingly similar to those obtained in squirrel and tamarin monkey fibroblasts, in that late reverse transcription is affected more than early.

# Inhibition of TRIM5α in Spider monkey cells does not relieve the observed restriction of M-PMV infection

The data presented above point to a post-entry block to M-PMV infection in spider monkey fibroblasts that occurs at a similar point in the viral lifecycle as TRIM5 $\alpha$ -mediated restriction. The inability of the TRIM5 $\alpha$  from these cells to block M-PMV in permissive cells suggests that either a species-specific cofactor is required for TRIM5 $\alpha$  activity or that a novel restriction factor is functioning in spider monkey fibroblasts. In order to differentiate between these possibilities, we have investigated the effect of inhibiting TRIM5 $\alpha$  activity in these cells.

Initial experiments employing siRNAs targeting spider or tamarin monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  expression, although capable of modestly increasing (17.5-fold and 7.5-fold respectively)

susceptibility to infection by highly sensitive SIV, showed no effect on M-PMV infection of spider monkey cells and only increased M-PMV infection 1.5-fold in tamarin monkey cells (data not shown). We therefore utilized expression of a dominant-negative TRIM5 to more effectively inhibit the function of this protein.

i) Truncated forms of New World monkey TRIM5 can counteract the antiviral activity of TRIM5 $\alpha$  exogenously expressed in CRFK cells.

Bicistronic lentiviral vectors were constructed that express YFP and truncated forms of the spider and tamarin monkey TRIM5 proteins, which lack the B30.2/SPRY domain. Similar truncated proteins have been shown to act as dominant-negative inhibitors of TRIM5 $\alpha$ -mediated anti-HIV activity in cells from several different species of Old World monkeys [343].

To verify that the lentiviral vectors produced both the truncated forms of TRIM5 and YFP, CRFK cells were transduced with empty (NL-CXIYWA) vector or vectors expressing truncated forms of spider or tamarin TRIM5. Western blot analysis of total protein extracts taken from these cells (Figure 6A) show an HA-tagged protein of a size consistent with that predicted for the truncated forms of TRIM5 (~39 kDa). In addition, transduced cells produced detectable levels of YFP, although more YFP is produced from the empty vector than those expressing the mutant versions of TRIM5. Similar results were observed with flow cytometric detection of YFP, where empty vector transduced cells were 5- to 10-fold brighter than TRIM5-expressing vector transduced cells. We believe this difference in expression is due to more efficient IRES-independent initiation of YFP translation in the empty vector.

To evaluate the dominant-negative potential of these truncated forms of TRIM5, CRFK cells stably expressing spider or tamarin monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  (CRFK-SpM and CRFK-Tam respectively) were further transduced with either empty vector or vectors expressing a truncated form of the cognate TRIM5. These cells were then tested for their sensitivity to infection by VSV-G pseudotyped SIV, which is sensitive to TRIM5 $\alpha$  from both of these species. Infectivity

![](_page_87_Figure_0.jpeg)

**Figure 6.** Truncated forms of TRIM5 have dominant-negative activity in TRIM5 $\alpha$  expressing CRFK cells.

(A) Total protein from mock transduced CRFK cells (lane 1), or CRFK cells transduced with NL-CXIYWA (lane 2), HA-tagged dominant-negative TRIM5 $\alpha$  from spider monkey (lane 3), or tamarin monkey (lane 4) was subjected to Western blot analysis for the HA epitope (upper panel), YFP using a polyclonal anti-GFP antibody (middle panel), or β-actin (lower panel). (B and C) CRFK cells stably expressing spider or tamarin monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$ were transduced with either the empty (NL-CXIYWA) vector or a lentiviral vector expressing a truncated form of the cognate TRIM5. (B) The transduced cells were exposed to approximately 0.35 MOI of VSV-G pseudotyped SIV/GFPAenv overnight and analyzed for YFP and GFP expression 60 hours later. Fold difference of SIV infectivity (GFP positive) in TRIM5 dominant-negative transduced (YFP positive) cells compared to infectivity in untransduced (YFP negative) cells. (C) Cells were exposed to approximately 0.5 MOI of VSV-G pseudotyped M-PMV overnight and analyzed for GFP expression 60 hours later. Fold change in M-PMV infectivity (GFP positive) in TRIM5 dominant-negative transduced (YFP positive) cells compared to infectivity in untransduced (YFP negative) cells. All data represents the mean +/- SEM with an n = 3. \* denotes a p value calculated to be less than 0.05 using Tukey's test. D/N; dominant-negative.

was assessed using a two-color flow cytometric assay employed previously by Bock et al. [54, 633]. In this assay, the percentage of TRIM5 dominant-negative/YFP positive cells infected with the GFP-expressing challenge virus was quantified and compared to the percentage of untransduced/YFP negative cells infected with the GFP-expressing challenge virus. As seen in Figure 6B, transduction of CRFK-SpM cells with the vector expressing a truncated form of spider monkey TRIM5 resulted in a 250-fold increase in SIV infection and CRFK-Tam cells expressing the truncated form of tamarin TRIM5 were 30-fold more sensitive to SIV infection, compared to untransduced cells. No difference was observed in SIV sensitivity when cells were transduced with the empty vector. These results clearly demonstrate that expression of the truncated forms of New World monkey TRIM5 can interfere with TRIM5α function.

The cells were also probed for their sensitivity to VSV-G pseudotyped M-PMV infection. As shown in Figure 6C, expression of the dominant-negative form of tamarin monkey TRIM5 resulted in a 7.8-fold increase in M-PMV infectivity, to a level similar to that observed in parental CRFK cells. Expression of the dominant-negative spider monkey TRIM5 did not affect M-PMV infectivity in CRFK-SpM cells, which are as permissive as parental CRFK to M-PMV infection. This is consistent with additional control experiments, where expression of truncated TRIM5 proteins in CRFK cells lacking exogenous TRIM5 $\alpha$  expression had no effect on the infectivity of any virus tested (data not shown). Together this data demonstrates that the TRIM5 dominantnegative proteins function specifically to inhibit TRIM5 $\alpha$  activity.

ii) Expression of dominant-negative TRIM5 in spider monkey fibroblasts does not increase M-PMV infectivity in these cells

Spider and tamarin monkey fibroblast cells were transduced with the lentiviral vectors described above in order to determine whether expression of the dominant-negative proteins could overcome the block to M-PMV infection. Total protein extracts isolated from these cells were subjected to Western blot analysis (Figure 7A), which showed that the truncated form of TRIM5 was expressed in both fibroblast lines. While transduction with the empty vector resulted in detectable levels of YFP expression, it was undetectable in cells transduced with the TRIM5 dominant-negative expressing vectors. Thus, it appears that in these New World monkey cells the EMCV IRES utilized to produce YFP failed to efficiently promote internal ribosomal entry. Due to this, YFP was quantified but not used as a marker of lentiviral transduction in all further experiments with these cells.

Transduced fibroblasts were first challenged with the potently restricted SIV in order to examine TRIM5 dominant-negative efficacy in these cells. As seen in Figure 7B, expression of dominant-negative TRIM5 proteins in spider or tamarin monkey cells results in much greater sensitivity to SIV infection. A 500-fold increase in SIV infectivity was seen when dominant-negative spider monkey TRIM5 was expressed in spider monkey fibroblasts and a 90-fold

![](_page_89_Figure_0.jpeg)

![](_page_89_Figure_1.jpeg)

Spider and tamarin monkey fibroblasts were each transduced with TRIM5 dominantnegative expressing lentiviral vectors, empty (NL-CXIYW $\Delta$ ) vector, or mock transduced. (A) Total protein from these cells was subjected to Western blot analysis for the HA epitope (upper panel), YFP (middle panel), or  $\beta$ -actin (lower panel). (B) These cells were then exposed to approximately 1 MOI of VSV-G pseudotyped SIV/GFP $\Delta$ env overnight and GFP expression was analyzed 60 hours later. Fold change in SIV infectivity was calculated using average infectivity in mock transduced cells as the control. (C) These cells were exposed to approximately 1 MOI of VSV-G pseudotyped M-PMV-EGFP overnight and GFP expression was analyzed 60 hours later. Fold change in M-PMV infectivity was calculated using average infectivity in mock transduced cells as the control. All data represents the mean +/-SEM with an n = 3. \* denotes a *p* value calculated to be less than 0.05 using Tukey's test. D/N; dominant-negative.

increase was noted when tamarin monkey fibroblasts were transduced with dominant-negative tamarin monkey TRIM5. In contrast, no increase in SIV sensitivity was seen when these cells were transduced with the empty vector. Thus, while these are heterogeneous populations of transduced and untransduced cells it is clear that expression of dominant-negative forms of the cognate TRIM5 results in strong suppression of TRIM5 $\alpha$  antiviral activity.

The lentiviral transduced cells were further assessed for their susceptibility to M-PMV infection. When challenged with VSV-G pseudotyped M-PMV, expression of dominant-negative tamarin TRIM5 in tamarin monkey fibroblasts resulted in a 4.2-fold increase in M-PMV infectivity (Figure 7C), which was calculated to be statistically significant (p < 0.05) using Tukey's test. This confirms that TRIM5 $\alpha$  is involved in the post-entry block to M-PMV in tamarin monkey fibroblasts. However, it should be noted that this represents a rather modest increase in infectivity considering the greater than 90-fold increase observed with SIV. Thus it is likely that additional determinants of restriction exist in these cells.

In contrast to the results in tamarin fibroblasts, there was no significant difference in M-PMV infectivity in spider monkey fibroblasts transduced with the TRIM5 dominant-negative expression vector or the empty vector (Figure 7C), even though SIV infection was enhanced 500-fold in the presence of the dominant-negative TRIM5 protein. Thus the results suggest that TRIM5 is not involved in the post-entry restriction observed in spider monkey cells.

#### **DISCUSSION**

Previous reports have shown that TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins from various species can restrict infection by members of the Gammaretrovirus, Lentivirus and Spumavirus genera of retroviruses [217, 278, 444, 525, 541, 632, 633]. Lee and Bieniasz have investigated TRIM5 $\alpha$ -mediated restriction of the human endogenous Betaretrovirus HERV-K(HML-2) [24, 33, 238, 576], but found that this virus was insensitive to human TRIM5 $\alpha$  activity [311]. Here, we demonstrate that the TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins from squirrel and tamarin monkeys are able to inhibit infection of M-PMV, a prototypical Betaretrovirus. In CRFK cells exogenously expressing the TRIM5 $\alpha$  protein encoded by the tamarin monkey we observed a high level of restriction (>50-fold inhibition) and the block was demonstrated to be at an early point in the infection cycle, prior to completion of reverse transcription. This is analogous to the results reported for TRIM5 $\alpha$  inhibition of primate Lentiviruses in Old World monkey cells [116, 541]. Moreover, inhibition of TRIM5 $\alpha$  function in tamarin monkey fibroblast cells significantly enhanced M-PMV infectivity, confirming that endogenous TRIM5 $\alpha$  plays a role in restricting primate Betaretrovirus infection in these cells. Thus, our data provide additional evidence that TRIM5 $\alpha$  has evolved as an anti-retroviral protein [267, 482, 483, 525] with the potential to block infection by a broad range of retroviruses [415].

In order to exert its anti-viral activity, TRIM5 $\alpha$  is hypothesized to target the CA core of an incoming retrovirus since substitutions in this Gag domain of HIV by that of SIV can modulate susceptibility to TRIM5 $\alpha$  [217, 433] and even single amino acid changes can perturb this interaction [432]. Similarly, substitution of one or more amino acids in the SPRY domain of TRIM5 $\alpha$  can alter the viral specificity [543, 634]. The CA proteins from SIVmac239 and M-PMV share less than 20% identity and yet infection by both viruses is restricted by the TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins from both squirrel and tamarin monkeys. Given the exquisite specificity of this interaction, it is remarkable that a single TRIM5 $\alpha$  protein can restrict multiple retroviruses of different genera with such highly divergent CA proteins (Table 2 and [415]). Moreover, the ability to recognize diverse CA molecules lends credence to the hypothesis that TRIM5 $\alpha$  trimers interact with complex topological structures of three-fold pseudosymmetry present on the surface of the retroviral CA cores [389]. Under such a model, similar topological features may be presented on the surface of CA cores irrespective of the primary sequence differences of the CA proteins themselves.

Three retroviruses have been isolated from New World monkey species: an endogenous Betaretrovirus was found in squirrel monkeys [110, 221], an infectious Gammaretrovirus was isolated from woolly monkeys [557, 612], and an endogenous Gammaretrovirus was discovered in owl monkeys [564]. The squirrel monkey retrovirus (SMRV) is believed to be a recent addition to the squirrel monkey genome based on the fact that it is activated following treatment with the DNA damaging agent 5-iododeoxyuridine [221] and viral RNA does not significantly hybridize to DNA isolated from the closely related capuchins (Figure 1A and [110]). The demonstration that TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins of squirrel and tamarin monkeys are able to specifically block M-PMV infection may reflect prior selective pressure imposed by the relatively recent exposure of these species to members of the Betaretrovirus genus. Interestingly, Lee and Bieniasz found that HERV-K(HML-2) showed a greater than 10-fold reduction in infectivity in squirrel monkey cells compared to CRFK cells [311], raising the possibility that squirrel monkey TRIM5 $\alpha$  is also able to restrict HERV-K(HML-2) infection.

The inability of TRIM5α from titi, woolly, and spider monkeys to block M-PMV infection may reflect an evolutionary history shaped by gammaretroviral infection, evidenced by the isolation of

at least one infectious Gammaretrovirus from woolly monkeys [612]. Based on the fixation of a peculiar retrotransposition of cyclophilin A into the owl monkey TRIM5 locus [418, 484], which results in the production of a TRIM5-cyclophilin A fusion protein (TRIM-Cyp), it is clear there have been virus-specific events in New World monkeys that have shaped the evolution of their extant viral resistance genes. This is an unexpected evolutionary adaptation since cyclophilin A has only been shown to bind to lentiviral capsids, and yet to date no members of the lentiviral genus have been isolated from any species of New World monkeys. In this case it is possible that the endogenous retrovirus isolated from owl monkeys may have played a role in selecting for this TRIM-Cyp, although it is equally likely that this virus exploited an inability to be recognized by the owl monkey TRIM-Cyp in order to establish itself in the owl monkey genome. However, given the general dearth of information regarding retroviral infection in New World primates and the possibility that the virus responsible for exerting selective pressure was unable to establish germline transmission, correlating a TRIM5 $\alpha$  activity in these species with specific retroviruses remains a difficult endeavor.

In addition to the TRIM5 $\alpha$ -associated restriction of M-PMV infection seen in squirrel and tamarin monkeys, we show that there is an M-PMV-specific post-entry block to infection in spider monkey fibroblasts. This block could not be relieved by expression of a dominant-negative TRIM5 protein, even though expression of the same protein enhanced susceptibility to SIV infection in these cells more than 500-fold. Based on qPCR data, this block appears to be at a similar stage of infection to that observed in squirrel and tamarin monkey fibroblast cells. However, because the block in spider monkey fibroblasts could not be ascribed to TRIM5 $\alpha$  we believe that these cells express a novel restriction factor capable of resisting M-PMV infection. Further, it is possible that a similar factor may contribute to the high level of resistance observed in tamarin monkey fibroblasts, since expression of dominant-negative TRIM5 $\alpha$  in these cells incompletely reversed the block to M-PMV infection. This TRIM5 $\alpha$ -independent restriction of M-PMV therefore represents an opportunity to identify and more fully understand additional host-virus interactions during the early stages of retrovirus infection.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

We would like to thank John Altman, Paul Bieniasz, Jakob Reiser, and Byeongwoon Song for providing reagents used in this study, Joe Cubells for access to and Kristie Mercer for training in the use of the ABI7900HT real-time machine, Agnieszka Bialkowska for assistance with Western blotting and critical reading of the manuscript, and Cindy Derdeyn for helpful discussion and critical reading of the manuscript.

This work was supported by NIH grant CA27834 to EH. SMK was supported by a National Science Foundation Predoctoral Fellowship. Flow cytometry was performed in the Emory Vaccine Center Flow Cytometry Core, which is supported by the Emory Center for AIDS Research (P30 AI050409) and the Georgia Research Alliance.

# ALTERED TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION OF MEMBERS OF THE *TRIM5*, *TRIM22*, *TRIM34*, *TRIM6* LOCUS AS A RESULT OF DIFFERENTIAL FIXATION OF ENDOGENOUS RETROVIRAL ELEMENTS IN THE NON-CODING REGIONS OF THESE GENES

by

William E. Diehl, Welkin E. Johnson, and Eric Hunter

Submitted to PLoS Pathogens

Format adapted for dissertation

#### **ABSTRACT**

At least two genes in the *TRIM6/TRIM34/TRIM5/TRIM22* locus, *TRIM5* and *TRIM22*, are interferon inducible and have demonstrable antiviral activity. There is compelling evidence that TRIM5 and TRIM22 have evolved under recurrent episodes of positive selection over the course of the last 35 million years of primate evolution. The coding region of TRIM5, which can inhibit the replication of a diverse range of retroviruses, has undergone unusually high rates of nonsynonymous nucleotide replacements, in-frame insertions and deletions, and other more exotic indicators of strong positive selective pressure.

To date, evolutionary studies of the genes in the *TRIM6/TRIM34/TRIM5/TRIM22* locus have largely focused on the coding sequence of these genes. In order to assess the evolutionary contributions that changes in the non-coding regions of these genes, we analyzed the transcribed regions, including introns, of *TRIM5*, *TRIM22*, *TRIM6* and *TRIM34* genes from three divergent primate lineages (human, rhesus macaque, and squirrel monkey). We found that the antiviral *TRIM5* locus displays the highest interspecies variability, much of which is due to the differential insertion and deletion of transposable elements. In particular, fixation of long terminal repeats (LTRs) from multiple, ancient, endogenous retroviruses was found to be concentrated in the first introns of *TRIM5* and *TRIM22*. Using quantitative RT-PCR and chromatin immunoprecipitation, we demonstrate that differential fixation of one such endogenous retroviral LTR results in species-specific differential transcriptional regulation of the gene.

Thus, in addition to the well-established effect amino acid changes have on antiviral activity, our results raise the possibility that retroelement-mediated, species-specific differences in transcriptional regulation may represent another mechanism for cross-species differences in *in vivo* antiviral potency of these genes.

# **AUTHOR SUMMARY**

Numerous studies have demonstrated that TRIM5 and TRIM22 are intracellular inhibitors of viral replication, meaning these genes must be expressed in cells targeted for viral

replication. Viruses shown to be susceptible to the antiviral effects of these genes infect very different target cells, yet both genes have been shown to have distinct tissue expression patterns. Here, we examined the genomic sequences of these genes from representative primate species for evidence of changes that might lead to altered transcription of the genes in these species. We discovered that multiple endogenous retroviral elements containing transcriptional regulatory sequences have become fixed in the non-coding regions of *TRIM5* and *TRIM22* during primate evolution, and that presence of these elements can alter TRIM gene transcription. These findings suggest that *TRIM5* and *TRIM22* have co-opted endogenous retroviral elements to rapidly adapt their expression to new viral pathogens.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Greater than 70 tripartite motif-containing (TRIM) genes are encoded in the human genome, each characterized by the ordered presence of an N-terminal RING domain, followed by one or two B-box domains. One or more of a handful of domains can form the C-termini of these genes, with SPRY or PRY-SPRY (B30.2) domains present in the majority of human TRIM genes [480]. Several TRIM genes have been shown to possess anti-retroviral activity, including the B30.2 domain containing TRIM5 and TRIM22 [473, 541, 563].

The initial report demonstrating *TRIM5* antiviral activity identified the alpha splice variant of rhesus macaque *TRIM5* as responsible for a well-characterized post-entry block to HIV-1 infection in macaque cells [541]. In the time following that report, multiple laboratories have characterized the interactions between TRIM5 $\alpha$  and retroviruses. These efforts have revealed antiretroviral activities for TRIM5 $\alpha$  of many primate species, including members of the hominoid, cercopithecidae (Old World monkey), and platyrrhini (New World monkey) families [128, 215, 278, 291, 476, 483, 525, 543, 632, 633, 636]. This antiviral activity appears to be a general feature of this gene as orthologs from cow and rabbits display a similar ability to block retroviral infection [486, 514, 635].

A further feature of the virus-TRIM5 $\alpha$  interaction that these studies have uncovered is that the TRIM5 $\alpha$  protein from each species displays a very specific pattern of antiviral activity [reviewed in 415]. The specificity of productive interaction appears to be determined, on the TRIM5 $\alpha$  side, largely by the composition of the B30.2 domain. While the viral target of TRIM5 $\alpha$ appears to be a conformation-dependent epitope presented on viral capsid (CA) cores, which are only displayed following viral maturation [127, 253, 254, 403, 432, 440, 442, 443, 484, 502, 542, 543, 634]. As might be expected for a gene in direct competition with pathogenic invaders, TRIM5 $\alpha$  has undergone high levels of positive selection with much of this pressure localized to several variable patches in the B30.2 domain [483, 524]. Furthermore, cDNA retrotransposition has resulted in replacement of the B30.2 domain of TRIM5 $\alpha$  with the known CA interacting protein, cyclophilin A. This has occurred twice during primate evolution, once in owl monkeys and separately in certain macaque lineages [67, 324, 414, 418, 484, 587, 607].

*TRIM5* is found in a cluster of four closely related TRIM genes, including *TRIM6*, *TRIM22* and *TRIM34*, in an olfactory receptor-rich region on chromosome 11 of the human genome (Figure 1). Phylogenetic analyses of the TRIM family suggest that the *TRIM6/34/5/22* cluster evolved by gene duplication from a common ancestral gene [480]. Among these, *TRIM22* has been reported to encode antiviral activity against HIV-1, although the two reports differ on the mechanism by which this is achieved [27, 563]. It has also been reported that TRIM22 expression can block hepatitis B virus and encephalomyocarditis virus replication [140, 167]. Consistent with the antiviral activity observed for this protein, *TRIM22* has been under strong positive selection throughout primate evolution [482]. The same study also suggests that evolutionary constraints have been placed on this locus whereby at any given time only one of these two antiviral genes (*TRIM5* or *TRIM22*) has been under positive selection. In contrast, during this time the neighboring genes, *TRIM6* and *TRIM34*, have been under consistent purifying selection.

![](_page_98_Figure_0.jpeg)

**Figure 1.** *Primate TRIM6/34/5/22 gene locus.* Graphical depiction of the *TRIM6*, *TRIM34*, *TRIM5*, and *TRIM22* genomic locus of primates in the context of neighboring olfactory receptor genes.

A large proportion of the human genome is comprised of repetitive elements. Retrotransposons account for approximately 43% of the entire human genome, in the form of long interspersed <u>n</u>uclear <u>e</u>lements (LINEs), <u>s</u>hort <u>interspersed <u>n</u>uclear <u>e</u>lements (SINEs) and endogenous retroviral (ERV) elements, while DNA transposons account for approximately another 2% of the genome. Many of these elements have been found to possess the potential to alter transcriptional regulation. The LINE family of autonomous retrotransposons have been found to affect transcriptional regulation by modulating normal splicing [31, 32], altering polyadenylation [439], interfering with transcriptional elongation [209], and providing novel promoter activity for neighboring genes [529]. Members of the SINE family of non-autonomous retrotranspons have been shown to affect polyadenylation [94, 309, 399], alternate splicing patterns [399], and translation efficiency [reviewed in 214]. ERV sequences in the genome are primarily represented by their long terminal repeats (LTRs) [312], which when active provided promoter and other transcriptional regulatory activity for the viruses. As such, examples have been described of ERV LTRs providing primary or alternate promoters, enhancer elements [479, 598], protein-binding sites, and polyadenylation signals [reviewed in 326].</u>

*TRIM5* and *TRIM22* produce intracellular proteins and exert their antiviral activity within the cell. However, these genes lie adjacently and in opposing orientations in the genomes of primates such that their core promoters reside in a shared ~5-kb intergenic region, which is largely conserved between humans and rhesus macaques (Fig 1 and Diehl W.E., et al. unpublished data). Thus, we analyzed the entire transcribed sequence of *TRIM5* and *TRIM22*, including intronic sequences, in search of differences with the potential for governing differential transcriptional regulation the transcription of these genes. For comparison, similar analyses were performed on the related, but conserved, genes *TRIM6* and *TRIM34* that lie adjacent to *TRIM5* and *TRIM22*. It was observed that *TRIM5* and to a lesser extent *TRIM22* displayed an elevated rate of intronic diversity when compared to *TRIM34* or *TRIM6*. Part of his diversity arose from multiple ERV elements differentially fixed in the first introns of *TRIM5* and *TRIM22*. One of the ERV elements identified in TRIM22, LTR10D, has previously been shown to provide p53 responsive transcription in humans [422, 598]. As this element is differentially fixed in the three primate species studied, it represented a tractable model for examining of the ability of the ERV elements to modulate transcriptional regulation. Using quantitative RT-PCR on RNA from PBMCs, it was observed that TRIM22 was upregulated in response to p53 stimulation only in Old World primates, which contain the LTR10D. Based on this, we speculate that this and the multitude of other ERV sequences may provide as yet uncharacterized transcriptional regulatory properties.

# **METHODS**

#### Gene identification

Genes of the TRIM5/6/22/34 cluster from humans and rhesus macaques were retrieved from the respective genomic sequence databases at the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI). Genome assemblies used for these analyses are as follows: *Homo sapiens*, NCBI Build 36.3 (March 2009); *Macaca mulatta*, NCBI Build 1.1 (February 2006).

TRIM genes from squirrel monkey were identified using NCBI's <u>Basic Local Alignment</u> <u>Search Tool (BLAST) [9]</u>, using the human TRIM genes as "bait" and searching the *Saimiri boliviensis boliviensis* Trace Archives. This BLAST function allows searching of sequencing information compiled as part of whole genome sequencing efforts, and other large-scale sequencing projects, as the data is being compiled but prior to the data being released in a fully annotated form. This search yielded sequencing data from BAC clone AC192681 that was created, sequenced, and assembled as part of the NIH Intramural Sequencing Center's (www.nisc.nih.gov) Comparative Vertebrate Sequencing Initiative.

#### Sequence Analysis

Transcribed sequences in the TRIM5, TRIM6, TRIM22, TRIM34 cluster corresponding to the human alpha splice variant of TRIM5, isoform 2 of TRIM6, isoform 4 of TRIM34, and the sole annotated TRIM22 transcript were compiled for further examination. These correspond to Genbank mRNA accession numbers NM\_033034.1, NM\_058166.3, NM\_021616.4, and NM\_006074.3, respectively. With the exception of TRIM6, these sequences represent the longest identified transcripts. Multiple sequence alignments of these sequences were generated by hand alignment in MacClade 4.06. Repetitive elements were identified for each sequence using RepeatMasker [521] open-source version 3.2.6. RepeatMasker options used were 'default' speed/sensitivity and 'other mammal' as DNA source, except in the case of human sequences, where 'human' was selected as the DNA source.

# Calculating Genetic Diversity

For pairwise comparisons, the multiple sequence alignments for each TRIM gene were broken up into pairwise alignments, and extraneous gaps were removed using the Gapstreeze program (www.hiv.lanl.gov/content/sequence/GAPSTREEZE/gap.html). Unsequenced regions in the source sequence were dealt with by assuming that the missing region exactly matched that of the second species in the comparison, this being the most conservative assumption.

In order to assess the amount and type of genetic diversity observed in the various TRIM genes, we utilized the following calculations. The percent nucleotide identity was calculated using the following formula:

 $\left(\frac{2 * \# \text{ of conserved nucleotides}}{\text{total } \# \text{ of nucleotides } [\text{taxa } 1 + \text{ taxa } 2]}\right) * 100$ 

The nucleotide substitution rate was calculated using the following formula:

| (# | of nucleotide substitutions (Ts+Tv) [Taxa1 + Taxa2] | *100 |
|----|---|------|
|    | # of shared nucleotides (not in indels)             |      |

millions of years since last common ancestor

with 'percentage of sequence per million years' being the unit of measurement. The rate of indel change was calculated using the following formula:

$$\left(\frac{\# \text{ of nucleotides in indels}}{\text{total }\# \text{ of nucleotides }[\text{taxa }1 + \text{taxa }2]}\right) *100$$

millions of years since last common ancestor

where 'percentage of sequence per million years' is the unit of measurement. The rate of transposable element fixation was calculated by dividing the number of unique transposable elements in a pairwise comparison by the time since last common ancestor. In all cases, the dates used for estimation of last common ancestor are the revised dates published in Bininda-Emonds et al. 2007 [49]. Statistical significance was assessed using the Friedman test, a one-way nonparametric repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a Dunn's post-test to compare all genes against one another.

# Human and Non-human Primate Samples

Human blood samples were obtained from volunteers enrolled in the Emory University Institutional Review Board approved "Emory Vaccine Center's Healthy Adults Study" (Protocol #555-2000). Volunteers in this study were healthy adults, aged from 23 to 62, who had signed a written informed consent form.

Non-human primate blood samples were obtained in accordance with NIH guidelines from animals housed at the Yerkes National Primate Research Center. Blood was isolated as part of an Emory University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee approved protocol. All animals included in this study were unrelated adult males with no obvious chronic illnesses. All of the rhesus macaques included in the study were of Indian origin and SIV negative.

# Isolation and Culture of Blood Cells

Blood samples were collected in sodium heparin Vacutainer tubes (BD Biosciences; San Jose, CA). PBMCs were isolated following centrifugation of whole blood over a Ficoll cushion. For all experiments, freshly isolated PBMCs were plated at approximately  $2x10^6$  cells per well in 6-well plates and cultured for 3 days in RPMI medium containing 15% fetal bovine serum, 10U/ml penicillin, 10µg/ml streptomycin, and 3µg/ml phytohemagglutinin (PHA). Following this stimulation, induction of p53 was accomplished by addition of either 375nM 5-fluorouracil or 0.6µg/ml doxorubicin to the culture medium. Culture of PBMCs in the presence of 0.1% DMSO served as a control since DMSO was used as the solvent for both 5-fluorouracil and doxorubicin.

# Transcriptional Profiling

At various times following induction of p53, cells were harvested and RNA was isolated using TRIzol (Invitrogen; Carlsbad, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. A onestep, SYBR green-based quantitative RT-PCR was then performed on 50ng of input RNA. Primer sets targeting TRIM22, TRIM5, murine double minute 2 (MDM2), and  $\beta$ -actin were designed and validated to be gene specific, while also targeting regions conserved between all primate species included in this study. The sequences of the primers are as follows: 'TRIM22 qPCR F' (5'-ACTGTCTCAGGAACACCAAGGTCA-3'), 'TRIM22 qPCR R' (5'-CCAGGTTATCCAGCACATTCACCTCA-3'), 'TRIM5 F' (5'qPCR TGAGGCAGAAGCAGCAGG-3'), R' **'TRIM5** qPCR (5'-AGTCCAGGATGTCTCTCAGTTGC-3'), 'rhTRIM5 qPCR R' (5'-AGTCCAGGATCTCTCTCAGTTGC-3'), 'MDM2 qPCR F' (5'-TGAACGACAAAGAAAACGCCA-3'), 'MDM2 qPCR R' (5'-CCTGATCCAACCAATCACCTG-3'), 'β-actin qPCR F' (5'-TCGACAACGGCTCCG-3'), 'βactin qPCR R' (5'-TTCTGACCCATGCCCA-3'). All qPCR reactions were performed with 125nM forward primer and 250nM reverse primer concentrations with the following conditions: 55°C for 10 minutes (RT step) and 95°C for 5 minutes followed by 45 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, gene-specific annealing temperature for 30 seconds, 72°C for 30 seconds followed by melting curve analysis. The annealing temperatures were as follows: 64°C for TRIM22, 56.5°C for TRIM5, 61°C for MDM2, 57°C for β-actin. Relative fold change in gene transcription was calculated via the  $\Delta\Delta$ C(t) method using DMSO treatment values as the baseline.

# Genotyping

Human and rhesus macaque subjects had their p53 coding sequence and TRIM22 LTR10D genotyped. The full p53 coding sequence was PCR amplified from unstimulated PBMC RNA following cDNA generation using an oligo d(T) primer. PCR amplification of p53 was performed using the following primers at 200nM concentrations: 'p53 F' (5'-GGCTGGGAGCGTGCTTTC-3') and 'p53 R' (5'-CACAACAAAACACCAGTGCAGGC-3'). Reactions were carried out with the high-fidelity Phusion enzyme (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA) with the following thermocycler conditions: 95°C for 2 minutes followed by 35 cycles of 95°C for 15 sec, 62.5°C for 15 seconds, and 72°C for 1 minute 30 seconds and a final 7minute extension at 72°C. Direct sequencing of this p53 PCR product was performed using the original PCR primers as well as the following primers: 'p53 480-500 seq F' (5'-CCTCAACAAGATGTTTTGCCA-3'), R' °p53 576-598 seq (5'-TGTGCTGTGACTGCTTGTAGATG-3'), °p53 1021-1039 seq F' (5'-AACAACACCAGCTCCTCTC-3'), R' (5'and °p53 1081-1099 seq CACGCCCACGGATCTGAAG-3').

For the genotyping of the intronic LTR10D, unstimulated human and rhesus PCMCs were used as a source of genomic DNA, which was isolated using the DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) according to the manufacturer's protocols. This was used as source material for PCR amplification of the LTR element using 'TRIM22 LTR10D F' (5'-GACCATTCATTCTTCAATCTAGGTAC-3') and the previously described 'TRIM22 ChIP R'

primer. PCR was performed with the Phusion enzyme with the following thermocycler conditions: 95°C for 2 minutes followed by 35 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds, 56°C for 15 seconds, and 72°C for 1 minute 30 seconds and a final 7-minute extension at 72°C. Direct sequencing of the PCR product was performed using the PCR primers as well as 'TRIM22 ChIP F'.

Rhesus macaques also had their TRIM5 coding sequences genotyped using previously described methods [414, 607].

#### Sequence Information

Sequences corresponding to the different rhesus macaque LTR10D alleles reported here have been deposited to GenBank with the following (temporary) accession numbers: allele 1, HM104186; allele 2, HM104187; allele 3, HM104188; allele 4, HM104189.

Human and rhesus macaque p53 nucleotide sequences were *in silico* translated and hand aligned. Amino acid sequences generated in this study correspond to the previously described human p53 72P and 72R alleles and rhesus macaque sequence (GenBank accession numbers NP\_000537, AAD28628, and NP\_001040616, respectively). While only one predicted amino acid sequence was observed, three rhesus macaque p53 alleles were identified. The allele 1 sequence corresponds to that of the rhesus genome sequence (GenBank accession #NM\_001047151), and the other two alleles only differ by synonymous polymorphisms. The sequences corresponding to alleles 2 and 3 have been deposited to GenBank with the accession numbers HM104190 and HM104191, respectively.

#### Assessing p53 binding to chromatin

A total of  $1.2 \times 10^7$  PBMCs were treated with 375nM 5-fluorouracil or 0.1% DMSO for 9 hours. Following this, protein and chromatin were cross-linked by treatment with 0.5% formaldehyde for 10 minutes at 37°C. Following cell lysis, the chromatin was sheared to fragments with average sizes between 250 and 500 nucleotides by sonication. Lysates were subjected to three 10-second pulses with a power setting of 30% using a 550 Sonic Dismembrator (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA). Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) was performed using a commercial ChIP kit (Millipore, Billerica, MA) according to the manufacturer's recommendations. Chromatin specifically bound to p53 or Histone H3 was enriched using either a monoclonal anti-p53 antibody, clone DO-1 (Active Motif, Carlsbad, CA), or a rabbit purified polyclonal anti-Histone H3 Immunoglobulin G (IgG) (Millipore, Billerica, MA) according to manufacturers' suggestions. Efficiency of chromatin capture was assessed by qPCR via the using the following primers: 'TRIM22 ChIP F' (5'-SYBR green method CAAAATAAGGAAAGGAATGTGAGTTGGTAC-3') **TRIM22** ChIP R' (5'and ATCAAAATGACAGAATAGGAATGTGGG-3'). All reactions were performed using 10% of the immunoprecipitated DNA with 100nM primer concentrations and the following thermocycler conditions: 95°C for 5 minutes followed by 45 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, 56°C for 30 seconds, 72°C for 30 seconds, followed by melting curve analysis. Relative binding was calculated via the  $\Delta\Delta C(t)$  method using the following formula:  $(2^{(p53\Delta C(t) - Histone H3\Delta C(t))})*100$ .

# **RESULTS**

<u>TRIM5 displays an increased genetic diversity compared to related TRIM genes, resulting from</u> sequence insertions or deletions in introns

*TRIM5*, and to a lesser extent *TRIM22*, encode proteins with antiviral activities [27, 128, 140, 167, 215, 278, 291, 476, 483, 525, 543, 563, 632, 633, 636]. The coding sequences of both genes also display the hallmarks of recurrent episodes of positive selection, such as elevated rates of fixation of nonsynonymous nucleotide substitutions [482, 483, 524]. Given the unusual evolutionary history of *TRIM5* and *TRIM22*, we sought to extend these analyses to the non-coding regions of the genes. The findings for these two genes were compared to that for the analogous regions of the related *TRIM6* and *TRIM34* loci, which have been under purifying selection during primate evolution. In order to do this, orthologous primate *TRIM5*, *TRIM6*, *TRIM22*, and *TRIM34* genomic sequences were retrieved from the human and rhesus macaque

![](_page_106_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 2. TRIM genes are variably conserved as a result of differential rates of indel turnover.

Transcribed genomic sequences of the *TRIM5*, *TRIM6*, *TRIM22*, and *TRIM34* genes were hand aligned. Using the formulas presented in the Methods section, the nucleotide alignments were used to calculate the following statistics for each pair of nucleotide sequences: the percent nucleotide identity (A), the nucleotide substitution rate (B), and the rate of indel change (C). The rate of change depicted in panels B and C is calculated as percent per million years. Black circles indicate separate pairwise sequence comparisons, and the bars represent mean values. Statistical significance was calculated using the Friedman test, followed by Dunn's post-test to compare all genes against one another. A p value of less than 0.05 is denoted by \*.

genome sequencing databases as described in the Methods section. In order to identify squirrel monkey *TRIM* gene sequences, the longest transcribed regions of human *TRIM5*, *TRIM6*, and *TRIM22* were used as bait in BLAST searches of the *Saimiri sciureus sciureus* trace archive database. For *TRIM34*, the same *Saimiri* database was queried using the *TRIM34* "middle transcript", as annotated in the NCBI human genome build 36.3, as bait.

Following identification and trimming, a multiple sequence alignment was generated for the transcribed genomic region of each *TRIM* gene, including all introns (Supplemental files 1-4). These alignments were then used to calculate the percent nucleotide identity between orthologous sequences of each *TRIM* gene. As can be seen in Figure 2A, *TRIM5* is clearly less conserved than the other *TRIM* genes in this analysis, with on average only 55% nucleotide identity between species. In contrast, on average 93% of the nucleotides in *TRIM6* and approximately 82% of the nucleotides in both *TRIM34* and *TRIM22* are conserved across species. As might be expected due to relative size differences and limited evolutionary constraints, most of the variability observed in all of these genes lies within introns (data not shown). To determine the major source of increased genomic variability in *TRIM5*, we separated the observed variability into differences

resulting from nucleotide substitutions and those derived as a result of insertions or deletions (indels). We found that over the course of primate evolution, all four *TRIM* genomic regions have undergone similar rates of divergence due to nucleotide substitutions (Fig. 2B). In contrast, indel accumulation accounts for the majority of the interspecies divergence between these sequences (Fig. 2C).

#### Elevated rate of transposable element fixation in TRIM5

The elevated rate of indel accumulation in the most genetically diverse genes suggested an involvement of transposable elements. To test this possibility, transposable elements present in each sequence were identified using RepeatMasker [521] and quantified (Fig. 3). This analysis revealed similar numbers of transposable elements present in the TRIM5 and TRIM22 genes studied, and that both of these genes harbor more transposable elements than either TRIM6 or TRIM34 (Fig. 3A). The differences seen in the number of transposable elements found in these genes could represent fixation events that occurred either prior to or following divergence of these species. In order to assess this, pairwise comparison of genomic sequences was performed to identify lineage-specific transposable elements. The number of unique transposable elements identified in the pairwise comparisons of each gene are shown in Figure 3B. This analysis revealed that the number of lineage-specific transposable elements largely corresponds to the relative conservation of the coding sequence, such that increasing numbers of transposable elements were found proceeding from the TRIM gene with the most conserved coding sequence (TRIM6) to that with the most divergent coding sequence (TRIM5) [320, 482]. Similar to the absolute number of transposable elements, on average TRIM5 contains the greatest number of lineage-specific transposable elements. TRIM22 was not observed to have a significantly elevated number of lineage-specific transposable elements when compared to TRIM34 or TRIM6. To correct for the fact that the three species under study diverged from one another at different times, the number of unique transposable elements in a pairwise comparison was divided by the number of years (in millions) since the last common ancestor. This provides an estimate of the rate of


**Figure 3.** *TRIM5 and TRIM22 contain more transposable elements than TRIM6 or TRIM34.* The absolute number of transposable elements present in the *TRIM* genes was counted for each species, and the results are depicted in panel A. Black dots represent the number of transposable elements found in a given primate species. The quantitation shown in (A) was performed without regard for identity or conservation of the elements present; therefore, the number of novel transposable elements was considered. In panel B, the number of unique transposable elements present in pairwise sequence comparisons is shown for each *TRIM* gene. In order to correct for the time of divergence of these species, the rate of transposable elements in each pairwise comparison by the number of years (in millions) since the last common ancestor [49]. In panels B and C, black dots indicate one pairwise comparison number of elements in one comparison, and in all panels the black bar represents the mean value. Statistical significance was calculated using the Friedman test, followed by Dunn's post-test to compare all genes against one another. A p value of less than 0.05 is denoted by \*.

transposable element fixation in each of these genes. The results (Fig 3C) largely mirror the uncompensated quantification of lineage-specific elements. Thus, while *TRIM5* and *TRIM22* harbor similar absolute numbers of transposable elements in the species studied (Fig. 3A), *TRIM22* appears to have maintained a greater percentage of transposable elements fixed prior to divergence of the catarrhini and platyrrhini lineages. Conversely, a higher percentage of the transposable elements harbored within *TRIM5* were found to be unique to a given species.

### Lineage-specific fixation and loss of LTRs in TRIM5 and TRIM22

The transposable elements identified by RepeatMasker were then mapped back onto the multiple sequence alignments. The position and orientation of these transposable elements in relation to the exon/intron structure of the four *TRIM* genes are depicted in Figure 4. This analysis makes starkly clear the difference in genetic variability between these genes and highlights the source of this variability.

# Figure 4



| Symbols Used in All Panels |                |         |      |     |
|----------------------------|----------------|---------|------|-----|
| UTR                        | +…⊢ Indel      | LINE L1 | MIR  | Alu |
| Coding Region              | Sequencing Gap | LINE L2 | MIRc |     |

Figure 4. (Previous page) <u>Graphical depiction of the genomic structure and location of</u> <u>transposable elements in the analyzed TRIM genes.</u>

RepeatMasker was used to identify repetitive elements present in the genomic *TRIM* gene sequences, and these elements were mapped onto the multiple sequence alignments. Graphical representations of the various transposable elements found in *TRIM5* (A), *TRIM22* (B), *TRIM34* (C), or *TRIM6* (D) are shown in relation to the exon/intron structure, with the appropriate scale shown in each panel. In all panels, the topmost structure represents the exon/intron structure of the gene, and all subsequent structures superimpose the unique transposable elements or deletions specific to the indicated primate species. Symbols representing transposable elements only found in a given gene are presented immediately below that panel, while symbols common to all genes analyzed are shown at the bottom of the figure.

#### Transposable element composition

We found that the non-coding regions of the genes in the *TRIM6/34/5/22* cluster harbor representatives of each major class of transposable element, including LINEs, SINEs, and ERV retrotransposable elements as well as DNA transposons. Our analysis identified numerous LINE L1-derived sequences in *TRIM5*, *TRIM22* and *TRIM34*, largely localized to the fourth intron of these genes. Each of these LINE L1 sequences exists as 5' truncation fragments, generated as a result of premature termination during reverse transcription. LINE L1 elements appear in the fourth intron of *TRIM34*, prior to the gene duplication events that gave rise to *TRIM5* and *TRIM22*. Furthermore, *TRIM5* and *TRIM22* show an increase in the LINE L1 content of the fourth intron, with this increase proportional to the amount of selective pressure placed upon these genes [320, 482]. The expanded LINE L1 content in these antiviral genes is somewhat surprising as LINE L1 elements have been shown to have a negative effect on gene transcription levels [209, 439], and their presence inside transcribed genes is generally selected against [345].

Strikingly, the four *TRIM* genes display marked differences in the number of ERV LTR elements. We found that the number and diversity of the LTR content of each gene is proportional to the reported strength of the positive selective pressures placed on the gene over primate evolution, as assesses by the non-synonymous-to-synonymous (dN/dS) rate ratio calculated for the coding region of each gene [320, 482]. Thus, LTRs were identified found in

any of the orthologous TRIM6 sequences, four LTR elements were found in TRIM34, and six LTR elements are present in TRIM22. Finally, orthologous TRIM5 sequences were found to contain ten sequences of ERV origin, including nine solitary LTRs and the internal sequence from one non-autonomous ERV that contains a central LTR element in addition to the terminal LTRs (Fig. 4A-D). The LTR elements in TRIM34 are largely conserved across the primate species included in this study, with the only difference in content resulting from a large deletion event that occurred in the fourth intron (Fig. 4C). In TRIM22, three MLT1C, class III LTR elements are shared across species, although a deletion in the fourth intron of squirrel monkeys removes one of the elements. Additionally, one LTR element (LTR10D) is shared by Old World primates, while humans and squirrel monkeys each encode one additional unique element (Fig. 4B). The various TRIM5 genes examined here contain a total of ten LTR elements. Of these, only two (LTR75 and PABL A) are found in more than one species, and neither element is strictly conserved (Fig. 4A). With the exception of the HUERS-P3b, all of these elements represent solitary LTR elements formed from homologous recombination-mediated removal of the internal retroelement sequence. HUERS-P3b elements are non-traditional, replication-defective endogenous retroviral-like element comprised of various fragments from replication-competent ERVs and containing a central LTR8A element. The HUERS-P3b sequence present in squirrel monkey TRIM5 is in the negative orientation with respect to the TRIM5 gene and is highly divergent relative to the described consensus. This element lacks a 5' LTR, has a central deletion that removes most of the LTR8A element, and is missing  $\sim 2.5$  kb of the 3' terminus. Because LTRs play a transcriptional regulatory role in the retroviral life cycle, it is possible that each LTR element retains promoter or enhancer functions that could modulate the expression of the associated gene.

### Genetic diversity

This analysis serves to highlight the extraordinary evolution of complexity in the *TRIM* genes. The genetic diversity, largely represented by the numbers of lineage specific transposable

elements, observed in the entire genomic sequence correlates with the presence and strength of diversifying pressure deduced from the coding region of these genes [320, 482]. Previous work has described the strong positive selective pressures placed upon the *TRIM5* coding region; from the current genomic analysis it is also clear that much of the sequence making up the first and fourth introns of this gene has been replaced over the course of primate evolution. In the first intron, only two regions of clear homology between all three primate species exist: a ~185-nucleotide region immediately following the first exon and ~730 nucleotides immediately adjacent to the second exon that includes sequence of LINE L2 origin. The fourth intron of *TRIM5* has undergone extensive gain and loss of LINE L1 content during primate evolution, with only a small region approximately 1 kb in size conserved between humans and squirrel monkeys.

In stark contrast to the extreme diversity in *TRIM5* is the high degree of conservation observed in the *TRIM6* genomic sequences, where only eight Alu elements and one relatively small deletion have arisen in the different primate lineages. This conservation of genomic sequence mirrors the previously described conserved nature of the coding sequence for this gene [320, 482]. *TRIM22* and *TRIM34* have undergone intermediate levels of intronic genetic turnover. In each case a considerable portion of this turnover can be attributed to a large deletion event occurring in the fourth intron of the gene. These deletion events result in the loss of LINE L1 content, and it is possible that these deletion events became fixed in New World monkeys because the loss of this LINE L1 content led to an increase in transcript levels. A feature distinguishing *TRIM22* from *TRIM34* is the presence of lineage-specific LTR element insertions into the first and second intron of the former, while the LTR elements present in the latter became fixed prior to Old and New World primate divergence.

#### Differential transcriptional regulation of TRIM22 mediated by an LTR10D insertion

Transcriptional regulation of the *TRIM* genes involved in this study has not been the subject of detailed investigation. Of these genes, the regulation of *TRIM22* transcription has been the best characterized; we have therefore focused functional studies on this gene. It has been

reported that expression of human *TRIM22* is upregulated upon p53 induction, that a p53-binding site is located in the first intron of this gene, and that mutations abolishing p53 binding to this site result in the loss of p53 responsiveness [422]. Following this, the p53-binding site was found to be located in an LTR10D element, and that a network of p53-regulated genes exists as the result of fixation events involving either the LTR10 or MER61 families of ERV elements [598]. While these elements can be found in both Old and New World primate genomes, an LTR10D is only present in TRIM22 of Old World primate lineages (Fig. 4B). Based on the previous reports and our results demonstrating the presence of this element in Old World primates and absence of this element in New World primates, we hypothesized that the TRIM22 from Old World primates would respond to p53 induction by upregulating transcriptional levels, while TRIM22 in New World monkeys would be refractory to p53 stimulation. In order to test this hypothesis, TRIM22 expression changes were assessed following induction of DNA damage in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from healthy humans, uninfected rhesus macaques, and uninfected squirrel monkeys.

Following isolation from whole blood, PBMCs from humans and non-human primates were PHA stimulated for 72 hours and then treated for 24 hours with DNA-damaging agents 5-fluorouracil or doxorubicin, to induce p53 activation, or with vehicle (DMSO) as a control. RNA was harvested from these cells, and a quantitative one-step RT-PCR designed to function equivalently in all three of these species was used to detect changes in TRIM22 mRNA expression (Fig. 5A). In accordance with previous work [269, 422, 598], TRIM22 expression levels in human PBMCs displayed a significant increase in expression of either 2.4- or 4.09-fold following DNA damage induced by 5-fluorouracil and doxorubicin, respectively. Similar results were observed in rhesus macaque PBMCs, where TRIM22 expression was found to significantly increase 1.36- and 2.64-fold, respectively. No significant change in TRIM22 RNA levels was observed in squirrel monkey PBMCs, although treatment with 5-fluorouracil tended to reduce TRIM22 expression. Thus, the general pattern of TRIM22 expression level changes following



**Figure 5.** Transcription of TRIM22 from different primate species is differentially regulated following p53 induction. Following a 3-day stimulation with PHA, PBMCs from humans, rhesus macaques, or squirrel monkeys were treated with DMSO, 5-fluorouracil, or doxorubicin for 24 hours. Total RNA was harvested and levels of TRIM22 (A), MDM2 (B), TRIM5 (C), and  $\beta$ -actin (D) mRNA were assessed using SYBR green-based qPCR with 50ng per reaction input RNA. Shown are the fold changes measured following drug treatment compared to DMSO controls, as calculated using the  $\Delta\Delta C(t)$  method. Error bars represent  $\pm$  SEM with n = 7 human subjects, n = 6 rhesus subjects, and n = 4 squirrel monkeys subjects.

p53 induction was consistent with the presence or absence of the p53-binding site containing LTR10D element in a given species.

In order to verify that the changes to TRIM22 expression were specific for this gene, RNA levels were measured for the control genes MDM2, TRIM5, and  $\beta$ -actin. MDM2 is a wellstudied inhibitor of p53 activity whose expression is directly controlled by p53 activation [23, 263, 445], while transcription of TRIM5 and  $\beta$ -actin have been shown to be largely unaffected by DNA damage [269]. Thus, MDM2 expression serves as a positive control for p53 induction, while TRIM5 and  $\beta$ -actin serve as indicators of global transcriptional changes. When MDM2 expression levels were assessed, it was observed that this gene was upregulated in the PBMCs of all three species (Fig. 5B), demonstrating that the differential transcriptional regulation seen for TRIM22 was not due to a failure in inducing p53 using the DNA-damaging agents. In contrast, TRIM5 and  $\beta$ -actin expression levels remained largely unchanged in PBMCs following DNA damage (Fig. 5C-D). These results clearly demonstrate that TRIM22 is specifically upregulated in human and rhesus PBMCs following p53 induction, and that the p53-binding site in the first intron does not mediate transcriptional regulation of neighboring genes.

Unexpectedly, the increase in rhesus macaque TRIM22 transcription was not as robust as that observed in human PBMCs. The reduced upregulation of TRIM22 coincides with reduced *MDM2* upregulation in rhesus macaques compared to humans. In order to elucidate the potential role of unrecognized genetic variability on this observation, both the p53 cDNA and the intronic LTR10D were sequenced from all human and macaque subjects (Table 1). This revealed that the human study participants had identical LTR10D sequences, while p53 alleles encoding variants that differ at amino acid 72 were identified in these individuals. The 72P and 72R allelic variants of human p53 (Fig. S1) have been shown to function differently in a variety of assays [reviewed in 192, 602], including differences in the ability to upregulate transcription of a group of known p53-responsive genes [544]. In this study, however, the p53 genotype of the participants did not appear to correspond to any variation observed (data not shown), although the number of individuals in each group prevented rigorous statistical analysis. Previous sequencing results have shown that the p53 amino acid sequence of rhesus macaques differs by 17 or 18 amino acid residues from that of humans (Fig. S1). In addition to this, three p53 genotypes were observed among macaques involved in this study, all of which encode the same amino acid sequences. The macaque LTR10D sequence differs from the human element at 36 nucleotides, including two within the p53-binding domain (Fig. S1). These two nucleotide differences both represent G-to-A transitions, which have arisen in ape species. The G-to-A change at position 379 is present in both chimpanzee and human sequences, while the change at position 387 is human specific (data not shown). On top of these differences, four genotypes were found to exist in the rhesus macaque

| Species  | ID   | Sex | Age | Ancestry    | <i>p53</i> genotype    | LTR10D<br>genotype | <i>TRIM5</i> genotype    |
|----------|------|-----|-----|-------------|------------------------|--------------------|--------------------------|
| Human    | 210  | М   | 61  | Europe      | 72P / 72P <sup>a</sup> | WT                 | Not Tested               |
|          | 335  | F   | 27  | Africa      | 72P / 72P              | WT                 | Not Tested               |
|          | 10   | М   | 52  | Africa      | 72P / 72R              | WT                 | Not Tested               |
|          | 206  | М   | 30  | Europe      | 72P / 72R              | WT                 | Not Tested               |
|          | 318  | М   | 23  | Europe      | 72P / 72R              | WT                 | Not Tested               |
|          | 243  | М   | 42  | Africa      | 72R / 72R              | WT                 | Not Tested               |
|          | 253  | М   | 49  | Europe      | 72R / 72R              | WT                 | Not Tested               |
| Rhesus   | RHg7 | М   | 10  | Indian      | 1 / 3 <sup>b</sup>     | 1 / 2 <sup>c</sup> | TFP / $\Delta\Delta Q^d$ |
|          | RMj2 | М   | 20  | Indian      | 1 / 2                  | 1 / 1              | TFP / TFP                |
|          | RSt4 | М   | 15  | Indian      | 1 / 2                  | 1 / 4              | TFP / CypA               |
|          | RNq3 | М   | 17  | Indian      | 1 / 2                  | 1 / 1              | TFP / TFP                |
|          | RQn5 | М   | 13  | Indian      | 1 / 1                  | 1 / 3              | TFP / CypA               |
|          | RVe7 | Μ   | 10  | Indian      | 1 / 3                  | 2/3                | $\Delta\Delta Q$ / CypA  |
| Squirrel | 2878 | М   | 11  | S. sciureus | Not Tested             | N/A <sup>e</sup>   | Not Tested               |
| monkey   | 2903 | М   | 11  | S. sciureus | Not Tested             | N/A                | Not Tested               |
|          | 3075 | М   | 10  | S. sciureus | Not Tested             | N/A                | Not Tested               |
|          | 3102 | М   | 10  | S. sciureus | Not Tested             | N/A                | Not Tested               |

**Table 1.** Summary of demographic and genetic information for human and non-human subjects.

<sup>a</sup> 72P and 72R refer to the amino acid residue predicted based on nucleotide sequencing to be found at position 72 of the  $\alpha$  isoform of p53.

<sup>b</sup> Allele 1 is represented by the rhesus macaque genome sequencing. Alleles 2 (GenBank HM104190) and 3 (HM104191) are characterized by the presence of synonymous mutations in the coding sequence. Thus, all alleles encode identical primary amino acid sequences. <sup>c</sup> LTR10D alleles are shown in Supplemental Table 1.

LTR10D region, with at least two nucleotide substitutions distinguishing one allele from another (Fig. S2 and Table S1). None of the polymorphic sites were located in the p53-binding site, and allelic variation in the LTR10D did not appear to be responsible for the difference in *TRIM22* upregulation between rhesus macaques and humans.

As this difference in magnitude of TRIM22 upregulation was not specific to a particular p53 or LTR10D genotype, we tested the ability of p53 to bind to the TRIM22 intronic LTR10D in human and rhesus PBMCs. A p53-specific chromatin immunoprecipitation was performed on DNA from human or rhesus PBMCs stimulated for 9 hours with either DMSO or 5-fluorouracil (Fig. 6). In human PBMCs, treatment with 5-fluorouracil resulted in approximately a 10-fold



**Figure 6.** Reduced binding of p53 to the LTR10D element within the first intron of rhesus macaque TRIM22.

Following a 3-day stimulation with PHA, PBMCs from humans or rhesus macaques were treated with DMSO or 5-fluorouracil for 9 hours. Chromatin immunoprecipitation was performed on fixed, sheared DNA from these cells using an anti-p53 monoclonal antibody and a purified anti-Histone H3 antisera. The relative amount of *TRIM22* intronic LTR10D capture was assessed using 10% of the captured DNA by SYBR green-based qPCR via the  $\Delta\Delta C(t)$  method and the following formula:  $(2^{(anti-p53\Delta C(t)) - (anti-histone H3 \Delta C(t))})*100$ . Bars represent the fold difference of intronic LTR10D bound by p53 following 5-fluorouracil treatment compared to DMSO treatment. Error bars represent  $\pm$  SEM of n = 3 replicates from a representative experiment.

increase in p53 binding to the LTR10D element. However, a similar treatment in rhesus PBMCs resulted in only a 3-fold increase in p53 binding. These results emulate the difference in *TRIM22* upregulation shown in Figure 5A, leading us to believe that it is a combination of differences in primary amino acid sequence in p53 in addition to the two nucleotide differences in the p53-binding site of the LTR10D that are responsible for the difference in *TRIM22* upregulation between human and rhesus.

#### **DISCUSSION**

#### Lineage-specific gain and loss of ERV LTR elements in TRIM5 and TRIM22

Pathogenic invaders can impose major selective pressures on genes involved in the antimicrobial response. *TRIM5* and the genomic locus in which it resides stand as examples of the results of such selective pressures. Evidence of this is embodied by: the variation in copy number

of *TRIM5*, *TRIM22*, and *TRIM34* between species [483, 514, 553], elevated rates of change in the coding sequence of *TRIM5* and *TRIM22* [482, 483, 524], maintenance of balanced polymorphisms as well as cross-species sharing of polymorphisms in *TRIM5* [82, 413], and convergent evolution of exon replacement via cDNA retrotransposition [67, 324, 414, 418, 484, 587, 607]. These genetic signatures bear witness to the strength of the pressures placed upon *TRIM5* and the surrounding genomic locus during mammalian evolution.

In the *TRIM* genes examined, it was observed that the amount of nucleotide divergence observed in the intronic sequences generally corresponds to the dN/dS rate ratio previously reported for these genes [320, 482]. *TRIM6*, the most ancestral *TRIM* gene in this locus and the gene with the lowest dN/dS rate ratio, was observed to have on average 93% nucleotide identity between humans, macaques, and squirrel monkeys. *TRIM5* genomic sequences had dramatically lower conservation, with only 55% nucleotide identity between the species included in this study, and this gene has been shown to have the highest dN/dS rate ratio. This high level of diversity correlated with elevated rates of transposable element turnover, much of which was due to alterations in either ERV LTR content in the first intron or LINE L1 content in the fourth intron. In between these extremes, *TRIM22* and *TRIM34* were both found to have around 82% nucleotide identity in these species. Both of these genes feature a large deletion removing much of the LINE L1 content in the fourth intron. However, of these genes only *TRIM22* contains lineage-specific LTR insertions in the first intron.

It may be argued that positive selection on the coding regions of *TRIM5* and *TRIM22* has indirectly lead to the differences in fixation of transposable elements observed. At least in regards to the LTR elements differentially fixed in the first intron of these genes several lines of evidence argue against this. First, the entireties of *TRIM5* and *TRIM22* have not under positive selection. Rather, it is the B30.2 domain that has been under strong selection, while the tripartite motif portion undergone more of a neutral selective pressure[483, 524]. The LTR elements in the first intron are spatially separated from the regions facing the strongest selective pressures generally

by over 10 kb. Additionally, the LTR elements are buffered from the selective pressure on the B30.2 domain by the exons encoding the tripartite motif domains, which have been under neutral selective pressure during primate evolution. Finally, *TRIM6* and *TRIM34* possess similar gene structures, but have not undergone the same turnover of transposable elements, arguing for specificity of this phenotype for the antiviral *TRIM* genes. Thus, we interpret the differential fixation of LTR elements in the first intron of *TRIM5* and *TRIM22*, to represent cellular exaptation of the transcriptional regulatory potential of these elements in response to evolutionary pressures on the transcriptional regulation of these genes.

#### LTR-mediated alteration of transcriptional regulation

The genes of the TRIM6/34/5/22 locus lie adjacent to one another on primate chromosomes in the following order: TRIM6, TRIM34, TRIM5, TRIM22. Three of these genes, TRIM6, TRIM34, and TRIM22, are oriented such that transcription proceeds in the same direction, while transcription of *TRIM5* occurs in the opposite direction. As a result, in primates *TRIM5* and TRIM22 are situated in such a manner that only ~5 kb separates the transcriptional start sites of these genes. While extensive promoter mapping studies for these genes has not been conducted, this  $\sim 5$  kb region must contain the core promoters of both genes. Both of these antiviral genes function intracellularly and over the course of primate evolution likely faced multiple rounds of viral challenge from viruses with divergent tissue tropisms. TRIM5 and TRIM22 therefore likely faced strong evolutionary pressures to match cellular gene expression with the tissue tropism of a target virus. The relatively short intergenic region providing core promoter function for both of these genes has likely limited the evolutionary flexibility surrounding the core promoter. The fixation of LTR elements proximally to the core promoter in TRIM5 and TRIM22 is suggestive of adaptive evolution in response to a transcriptional regulatory pressure imposed upon these genes. A recent report has demonstrated such an adaptation for the antiviral gene APOBEC3 in specific strains of mice. In these strains, a xenotropic murine leukemia virus insertion into the second intron has resulted in a greater than 4-fold increase in expression in the spleens of mice, and in

conjunction with other changes, this has resulted in an enhanced antiviral phenotype in these mice [479]. Additionally, a recent report has demonstrated that LTR elements in the first intron of *TRIM5* contain polymorphisms under trans-species balancing selection in humans and chimpanzees [82]. These findings strongly argue for an evolutionary benefit of maintaining such polymorphisms. Although it was not tested, these polymorphisms are presumed to act at the level of transcriptional regulation.

We focused on TRIM22 in order to explore the potential transcriptional regulatory influence of differentially fixed ERV LTRs on the antiviral TRIM genes. TRIM22 provided a particularly tractable model as previous studies have demonstrated that a p53-binding site found in the LTR10D element in the first intron is necessary and sufficient for providing p53 responsiveness to this gene in human cells [269, 422, 598]. Because this element is present in Old World primates but absent from New World primates, we induced p53 in PBMCs from humans, rhesus macaques, and squirrel monkeys and directly tested its role in regulating *TRIM22*. These experiments showed that TRIM22 transcription is regulated by p53 in Old World primates, while New World primates lacking this element were insensitive to p53 activation. Thus, it does not appear that New World monkeys have acquired p53 responsiveness for TRIM22 via some other mechanism. In our studies, it was also found that TRIM5 from all species tested were p53 nonresponsive. While the TRIM5 genes from each primate species contain a unique complement of multiple different ERV insertions in the first intron, all lack an LTR10D element. Together, these findings clearly demonstrate a lineage-specific, differential regulation of transcription resulting from fixation of an ERV LTR element fixed within an antiviral TRIM gene. By extension, all of the LTR elements fixed in TRIM5 and TRIM22 have the potential to alter transcriptional regulation of these genes in response to specific stimuli, such as p53 stimulation demonstrated here, or in a tissue- or lineage-specific manner as demonstrated for murine APOBEC3 [479]. The lineage-specific involvement of intronic LTRs in transcriptional regulation represents a

previously unrecognized resultant characteristic of the evolutionary pressures placed on these *TRIM* genes.

#### Evidence of post-fixation adaptive changes to the intronic LTRs of TRIM5 and TRIM22

An apparent example of continuing selective pressures being placed upon intronic LTR elements has recently been reported for LTR12D and PABL A elements present in the first intron of hominoid *TRIM5* genes. These elements were shown to harbor polymorphisms shared between humans and chimpanzees, demonstrating millions of years of balancing evolution involving these sites [82]. While our results show a clear difference in p53 regulatory potential for TRIM22 of Old or New World primate origin, a difference in magnitude of p53-mediated induction of TRIM22 was also observed between Old World primates: Human TRIM22 was found to be more robustly upregulated in response to p53 activation via DNA damage compared to what was observed in macaques. This observation correlated with a greater increase in p53 binding to the intronic LTR10D element upon p53 activation. The differences in p53 binding and transcriptional activity may be result of a combination of differences in the primary amino acid sequence of p53 as well as two nucleotide differences in the p53-binding region of the LTR10D element. The two nucleotide substitutions in the p53-binding region were sequentially fixed in the humanchimpanzee lineage. While it is unknown to what extent these substitutions have on the differences observed in p53 binding, this could represent a selection for increased p53 responsiveness of TRIM22 in humans. Regardless, these observations are suggestive of continuing evolution in the p53-LTR10D interaction in Old World primates that has occurred after fixation of this LTR. However, at this time we are unable to rule out the possibility that the difference in magnitude of TRIM22 upregulation following p53 activation observed between humans and rhesus macaques results from a generally reduced level of p53-mediated transcriptional activation specific to rhesus macaques.

An increase in mRNA levels following type I interferon (IFN) treatment has been demonstrated for all four TRIM genes included in this study [20, 88, 89]. An interferon-sensitive responsive element (ISRE) has been identified in the core promoter region of TRIM5, and signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1) has been shown to bind this element following type I IFN treatment [20]. A similar binding site has also been characterized in the first exon of human TRIM22, immediately adjacent to the core promoter [168]. Yet, neither TRIM6 nor TRIM34 are predicted to have such an element in their core promoter, and their expression is still regulated by IFN treatment [88]. Another study identified the relative expression patterns of TRIM5 and TRIM22 in human tissues [482]. Apart from these findings, transcriptional control of the TRIM genes involved this study is poorly understood. The genomic sequence of TRIM5 contains six LTR elements differentially present in humans versus macaque. None of the LTRs present in Old World primate TRIM5 sequences are also present in squirrel monkey, which possesses its own compliment of ERV-derived sequences. In comparison to TRIM5, TRIM22 represents a relatively less-complex target of study, since there are only four LTR elements differentially present in Old and New World primates. Yet, each of these LTRs represents a probable transcriptional regulatory unit with multiple transcription factor-binding sites. Predicted STAT- and interferon regulatory factor (IRF)-binding sites are common among the LTR elements present in TRIM22 and TRIM5. In addition to the sites in the promoter region, LTR-based binding sites may play a secondary role in regulation of transcription of these genes following IFN treatment. Predicting such complex regulatory interactions based solely on sequence gazing is fraught with hazards as transcription factor-binding sites may or may not be conserved between species and may differ functionally based on the context that the surrounding nucleotide sequence provides or based on the cell type in question. Such a situation of multiple lineage-specific ERV insertions independently evolving following fixation has the potential for the generation of extremely complex interactions governing expression of these genes.

A potential example of such complexity comes from *in silico* predictive analysis of transcription factor-binding sites in the conserved MLT1C element from the first intron of *TRIM22* (data not shown). Such analysis identifies a near-consensus STAT-binding site in this LTR with 100% conservation between humans, macaques, and squirrel monkeys. In contrast to this conservation, the same LTR contains multiple probable transcription factor-binding sites poorly conserved between species. For instance, the MLT1C of humans and macaques contains a near-consensus binding site for the myelocytomatosis viral oncogene homolog (Myc) – Myc-associated factor X (Max) heterodimer. This Myc-Max binding site overlaps with a perfect consensus androgen receptor-binding site. In squirrel monkey MLT1C, nucleotide substitutions have resulted in a Myc-Max-binding site that is a poor match to consensus and a loss of the putative androgen receptor-binding site. This loss of an androgen receptor-binding site is accompanied by the gain of a putative estrogen receptor-binding site at the same location. While none of these putative binding sites have been shown to be functional in any context and such predictive exercises have many caveats and limitations, such analyses can serve as informative starting points for further analysis.

It has been reported that an increase in *TRIM5* transcription correlates with a decrease in HIV-1 infection risk [503]. In *in vitro* experiments, induction of *TRIM5* expression using IFN- $\beta$  results in an enhanced antiviral phenotype [89]. Additionally, overexpression of *TRIM34* can result in restriction of SIV<sub>Mac</sub> infection, while endogenous expression of *TRIM34* does not appear to mediate a similar block [320, 650]. These findings suggest a critical role for transcription levels of these antiviral genes in protecting against viral pathogens. Our findings of differential transcription regulated in part by LTR elements in conjunction with the discovery of shared polymorphisms in two LTR elements strongly argue for a transcriptional regulatory role for LTR elements present in *TRIM5* and *TRIM22*. We speculate that this may have arisen as a result of the strong selective pressures placed on these genes by ancient waves of viral challenge and limited evolutionary flexibility that the shared ~5-kb promoter region has afforded these genes. The

regulatory control exerted by intronic LTR elements present in *TRIM5* and *TRIM22* provide the opportunity for a complex interaction between the core promoter and the various LTR elements present in a specific gene. A better understanding of the transcriptional control of these genes will assist in understanding how *TRIM5* and TRIM22 exert their antiviral effects *in vivo*.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Drs. Vincent Yang and Bert Vogelstein for providing reagents used as part of this study, Drs. Agnieszka Bialkowska and Amr Ghaleb for technical assistance and access to instruments, Jane Lawson for coordination of human subjects, and Kay Lee Summerville, Dr. Francois Villinger, Stephanie Ehnert, and the Yerkes Pathology Lab for coordinating and obtaining non-human primate samples.

| н.<br>н.<br>м. | sapiens<br>sapiens<br>mulatta | 72R<br>72P | α-p53 clone DO-1  80    MEEPQSDPSVEPPLSQETFS  DLWKLLPENNVLSPLPSQAM  DDLMLSPDDIEQWFTEDPGP  DEAPRMPEAAPRVAPAPAAP |
|----------------|-------------------------------|------------|--|
|                |                               |            | transactivation domain   |
|                |                               |            | 16   |
| н.             | sapiens                       | 72R        | TPAAPAPAPSWPLSSSVPSQ KTYQGSYGFRLGFLHSGTAK SVTCTYSPALNKMFCQLAKT CPVQLWVDSTPPPGTRVRAM                            |
| н.<br>М.       | mulatta                       | 129        | D  |
|                |                               |            |  |
|                |                               |            | 24   |
| н.             | sapiens                       | 72R        | AIYKQSQHMTEVVRRCPHHE RCSDSDGLAPPQHLIRVEGN LRVEYLDDRNTFRHSVVVPY EPPEVGSDCTTIHYNYMCNS                            |
| н.<br>м.       | sapiens<br>mulatta            | 72P        | S  |
|                |                               |            | DNA binding domain   |
|                |                               |            | 32   |
| н.             | sapiens                       | 72R        | SCMGGMNRRPILTIITLEDS SGNLLGRNSFEVRVCACPGR DRRTEEENLRKKGEPHHELP PGSTKRALPNNTSSSPQPKK                            |
| н.             | sapiens                       | 72P        |  |
| H •            | Illuracca                     |            |  |
|                |                               |            | 202  |
| н.             | sapiens                       | 72R        | KPLDGEYFTLQIRGRERFEM FRELNEALELKDAQAGKEPG GSRAHSSHLKSKKGQSTSRH KKLMFKTEGPDSD                                   |
| н.             | sapiens                       | 72P        |  |
| м.             | mu⊥atta                       |            | A  |
|                |                               |            | multimerization domain   |

**Figure S1.** *Amino acid alignment of human and rhesus macaque p53.* Amino acid residues corresponding to the transactivation domain, DNA-binding domain, and multimerization domain of p53 are highlighted in separated gray boxes. The bracketed region indicates the epitope that monoclonal anti-p53 antibody DO-1 recognizes.

| Genotype  | nt –6 <sup>a</sup> | nt 9 | nt 173 | nt 287 | nt 297 | nt 429 | nt 479 |
|-----------|--------------------|------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|
| Allele #1 | С                  | А    | С      | G      | Т      | С      | G      |
| Allele #2 | С                  | G    | С      | Т      | С      | С      | G      |
| Allele #3 | Т                  | А    | С      | G      | Т      | Т      | G      |
| Allele #4 | С                  | А    | Т      | G      | Т      | С      | Т      |

Table S2. Nucleotide differences seen in the LTR10D elements within rhesus macaque

<sup>a</sup> Nucleotide positions correspond to those shown in Figure 3.

-111 73 H. sapiens M. mulatta Allele #1 M. mulatta Allele #2 M. mulatta Allele #3 TT...... M. mulatta Allele #4 . . . . T. ------\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_\_ S. sciureus 153 TTTCTGTGCAGAGGGGTGCT TCTTCTTTGCCAGTCGCCAT GAGAGCACACTAGAACAAAG GAGGAAGAAAGTTTTTATTC H. sapiens M. mulatta Allele #1 M. mulatta Allele #2 C....C.T...C......G.....A... M. mulatta Allele #3 C.....C.T...C......G......A.....A.... 233 H. sapiens CTGACGCAAATCCTACCCCT TTGCCCTTTCCCCATTGGCT GGAGTCGGCCACACAATCTA AACTAGACTCAGTTGGCTAA M. mulatta Allele #2 ....T......T.G..... G..T.A......A.....A.....A.....A...... M. mulatta Allele #3 M. mulatta Allele #4 ----- -----S. sciureus 313 H. sapiens M. mulatta Allele #3 M. mulatta Allele #4 S. sciureus 393 TAACTAATCTTCCTACCAAAA TAAGGAAAGGAATGTGAGTT GGTACTGATAACGCCTGGTA CTGTGACATGTCTAGGCATG H. sapiens M. mulatta Allele #1 G.....C. ....G..... G.....C... M. mulatta Allele #2 ....G.....G..... M. mulatta Allele #3 G.....C.. ....G.....G.... M. mulatta Allele #4 G.....C.. S. sciureus p53 binding region 473 TAGCAAAAGCAGAAAGGAAA GAGAAGAAGAAAAAAGTGAA GTGGGG-----AGGGG-CA CTGTGAATTAAAGAATAAAG H. sapiens A....C.G.A...GGCGGG.G. A...C.G.A..GGCGGG.G. A...C.G.A..GGCGGG.G. M. mulatta Allele #1 M. mulatta Allele #2 M. mulatta Allele #3 M. mulatta Allele #4 S. sciureus 516 +1 GATTGATCAGGCTATTTGAA GAGAAACCTTATCATACCCC ACATTCCTAT H. sapiens S. sciureus -----C.

**Figure S3.** Nucleic acid alignment of the LTR10D element found within the first intron of Old World primate TRIM22.

Nucleotide sequences comprising and flanking the Old World-specific LTR10D element were trimmed from the greater *TRIM22* nucleotide alignment. The sequence corresponding to the LTR10D element is numbered from 1 to 516; sequences upstream and downstream are numbered in reference to this element using – and + symbols, respectively. The red highlighted nucleotides correspond to the target site duplication that occurred during ERV integration. The nucleotides highlighted in green correspond to the p53-binding region. Nucleotides highlighted in blue correspond to the nucleotides found to be polymorphic in rhesus macaques.

#### DISCUSSION

Retroviruses are known to infect a broad range of vertebrate species, from fish to humans. In spite of eliciting both cellular and humoral immune responses against them, retroviral infections persist for the lifetime of their host. This longevity is almost certainly aided by (if it is not a result of) their integration into the host's cellular DNA. In their natural host species, retroviral infections are typically characterized by prolonged latency periods. This is often followed by the development of chronic pathologies, which include induction of tumor formation, immunodeficiency, neuropathy, anemia, arthritis, osteopetrosis, and chronic wasting syndrome. However, there is not typically an increase in the transmission of virus during the pathogenic phase of disesase [109].

Such mildly pathogenic symptoms are characteristic of an extended period of coevolution between virus and host that has resulted the selection in both the host and virus for an evolutionarily "tolerable" interaction. On the viral side, this means that virus induced pathology should not be so severe as to kill one host prior to transmission to a new host. For viruses with low transmission frequencies, such as retroviruses [109, 190], it would therefore be advantageous to establish a chronic infection with minimal pathogenicity, a scenario which would allow for enough time to ensure that transmission occurred. On the host side, if the immune system were incapable of viral clearance, there would be selection against infections with significant pathologies that would significantly limit the reproductive fitness of infected individuals. Evolutionarily speaking, selective forces in the host largely cease to exist after reproductive age thus late-stage pathologies resulting from retroviral infections would impose minimal selective forces. As alluded to above, most retroviral infections follow the following course of infection in their natural host; minimal or no pathology during reproductive age followed by some disease state late in life. The exception to this rule are foamy viruses where infection rates can approach 100% of breeding age individuals [395], but no major pathologies have been found to develop as a result of infection. We currently have not identified a natural host that displayed severe illness and rapid death as the typical outcome of a retroviral infection.

The clinical course of retroviral infection in non-native hosts follows a distinctly different progression. Typically, initial infection of a non-native species results in poor viral replication and perhaps even viral clearance. That there is a high genetic barrier to cross in order to establish infection in heterologous species is evidenced by the fact that the only other species that HIV-1 is known to replicate well in is chimpanzees [reviewed in 406]. Once established (ie following adaptation to growth in the new species), the lack of prior co-evolution tends to result in more severe viral pathogenesis. The differing courses of infection between native and non-native retroviral host species is typified by the difference in outcomes following infection of sooty mangabeys or macaques with sooty mangabey-derived SIV. Under such conditions, sooty mangabeys are resistant to developing clinical symptoms whereas rhesus macaques typically progress relatively quickly to disease, in spite of similar viral load levels in both species [515].

One barrier to HIV-1 and SIV infection was identified by attempts to infect cells from non-host species in vitro [231, 232, 511], and was typified by a block to infection prior to completion of reverse transcription [116, 216, 433]. The factor responsible for this block to infection was later identified as TRIM5 $\alpha$  [541]. Shortly after this identification, it was realized that TRIM5 $\alpha$  was also responsible for the resistance of human cells to N-tropic MLV infection [217, 278, 444, 633]. As opposed to other factors known at that time to restrict retroviral infection (eg. Fv1 and Fv4), TRIM5 $\alpha$  activity appeared to possess antiviral activity against spectrum of diverse retroviruses. At the outset of the research presented in Chapter 1, it had been demonstrated that TRIM5 $\alpha$  variants possessed antiviral activity against the Gammaretrovirus MLV as well as many species of Lentivirus, including HIV-1, SIVs of multiple origins, EIAV, and FIV. The observed restrictive pattern was dependent upon both species-specific determinants in the TRIM5 $\alpha$  as well as determinants in the challenge virus [Reviewed in 29, 415]. From these initial studies it appeared that retroviral Gag molecules had evolved to escape from the block imposed by TRIM5 $\alpha$  in their native hosts, but remained susceptible to attack by heterologous TRIM5 $\alpha$  proteins. From this it was proposed that TRIM5 $\alpha$  was a general anti-retroviral factor that interacted with complex tertiary/quaternary structure determinants presented on the surface of CA cores upon retroviral entry into a target cell [389].

As retroviral CA core structure is largely conserved between retroviral species, and families, we hypothesized that TRIM5 $\alpha$  from a subset of non-native species should possess antiviral activities against the Betaretrovirus Mason-Pfizer monkey virus (M-PMV). To test this hypothesis, we constructed a replication defective indicator virus that expresses GFP in place of the viral Env. VSV-G pseudotyped indicator virus was then used to infect a panel of fibroblast cells from primate species of New World, Old World, and Hominid lineage. It was observed that the cells from three New World primate species specifically inhibit M-PMV infection. These M-PMV resistant species are tamarin monkey, squirrel monkey, and spider monkey. Time course experiments demonstrated that this block to infection occurred early post-entry; a stage similar to previous reports describing TRIM5 $\alpha$  activity [232, 541]. Exogenous expression of TRIM5 $\alpha$  from these species as well as inhibition of endogenous TRIM5 $\alpha$  activity demonstrated that TRIM5 $\alpha$ was responsible for the post-entry block to M-PMV infection in tamarin monkey and squirrel monkey cells. Thus, the data presented in this dissertation support the hypothesis that TRIM5 $\alpha$  is a novel type of pathogen recognition receptor (PRR) responsible for detecting the presence of retroviral capsid (CA) cores shortly after their appearance in uninfected cells. In the time since embarking on the studies presented in Chapter 1, two reports have demonstrated TRIM5 $\alpha$ mediated restriction of foamy virus infection [434, 632]. This is further evidence of TRIM5 $\alpha$ functioning as a PRR with broad anti-retroviral activities. In fact, to date the only mammalian (TRIM5 appears to have arisen in eutherian mammals) retrovirus genera with no reported

sensitivity to TRIM5 $\alpha$  activity is the Deltaretroviruses, and this likely reflects a lack of studies looking for any such activities.

While it was found that spider monkey cells imposed a block to the infection of M-PMV at the early post-entry stage of infection, it was determined that TRIM5 $\alpha$  was not the factor responsible for this restriction. Thus, an as yet unknown mechanism accounts for the block to infectivity in spider monkey cells. It is likely that a specific factor accounts for this anti-M-PMV activity in spider monkey cells, but further studies will be required in order to address this possibility. Identification of the factor responsible for the M-PMV block, be it a inhibitory factor or the lack of a positive-acting factor, would help to shed additional light on the events in the early stages of retroviral infection of cells.

As a cytoplasmic retroviral-specific PRR possessing activity against a diverse collection of retroviruses, TRIM5 $\alpha$  comes in direct contact with viral invaders, and has faced multiple episodes of positive selective during primate evolution [483, 524]. These episodes have alternated with episodes of positive selection on the antiviral gene TRIM22 [482], which lies in close proximity to TRIM5 and thus would be closely linked evolutionarily. Being intracellular proteins, both TRIM5 and TRIM22 exert their antiviral effects in the context of an infected cell. In the case of TRIM5 $\alpha$ , expression levels have been correlated with likelihood of retroviral infection [503]. As both of these genes display a broad spectrum of antiviral activity, one would expect that either these genes are expressed ubiquitously or that there has been a series of selective events molding promoter activity to match gene expression with the target cell type of the virus du jour. Initial experiments suggested that these genes were expressed ubiquitously [464]. However, subsequent experiments demonstrated both tissue-restricted expression of TRIM5 and TRIM22 [482] as well as specific regulation in response to IFN (TRIM5 and TRIM22) and p53 (TRIM22) stimulation [20, 88, 89, 269, 422, 598]. Thus, we hypothesized that expression of these two genes is likely spatially and temporally regulated, and that this regulation has evolved in response to successive waves of viral challenge.

TRIM5 and TRIM22 are situated in opposite orientations on the chromosome with only  $\sim$ 5 kb separating the two, such that they share a short intergenic region containing the core promoters of both genes. Upon examination, this promoter-containing region was found to largely be conserved between the primate species studied (data not shown). This suggests that changes outside of the core promoter region likely account for species-specific transcriptional regulation differences, if any exist. In order to identify such potential transcriptional regulatory sequences, the entire transcribed regions of primate TRIM5 and TRIM22 were examined, both for sequence divergence as well as differences in transposable element content. The transcribed regions of TRIM6 and TRIM34 were also examined in such fashion. These genes serve as ideal controls, as they are of similar size, have similar exon/intron structure, and are located in the same genomic lcus, but in contrast to TRIM5 and TRIM22 they have been under purifying selection during primate evolution. This analysis is, to my knowledge, the first of its kind. Here we performed multiple species comparisons of genomic sequences with the primary intent of comparing the non-coding regions and transposable element content. Others have performed multiple species comparisons of genomic DNA, but RepeatMasker was used to eliminate the complexity resulting from the presence of repetitive elements. Furthermore, typical studies of repetitive elements focus attention on one species, or compare two species. The study presented in Chapter 2 shows a three species subset of a 10 species genomic comparison that we performed. Additional novel evolutionary insights were gleaned from the larger study (manuscript in preparation).

The study presented in Chapter 2 revealed that the transcribed region of TRIM5 is very poorly conserved, with nucleotide similarity lower than 50% in comparisons between Old World and New World primates. The vast majority of this sequence divergence was observed to result from insertions and deletions in the first and fourth introns of the gene. These represent the region adjoining the promoter as well as the large intron separating the tripartite motif-encoding exons

from the virus interfacing B30.2 domain. TRIM22 and TRIM34 were observed to have similar levels of nucleotide divergence. These genes had lower divergence rates than TRIM5. However, similar to observations in TRIM5, the observed sequence divergence was largely the result of insertions and deletions in the first and fourth introns. In contrast to the other genes examined, the entire TRIM6 transcribed region was found to be well conserved between the species included in this study. Of great interest, lineage-specific endogenous retroviral LTR sequences were identified exclusively in TRIM5 and TRIM22, with the majority of these found in the first introns of these genes. Primate TRIM5s were found to contain eight unique LTR elements in their first intron, with none of these LTR elements being evolutionarily conserved from hominoids to New World primates. TRIM22 was found to have two differentially fixed LTR elements in the first intron. One of these is specific to Old World primates and the other specific only to hominoids. As LTRs serve as the viral promoters, we theorized that these ERV LTR elements play a transcriptional regulatory role for TRIM5 and TRIM22.

As a proof of concept for this hypothesis, we explored the transcriptional regulatory potential of a LTR10D element, which is present in the first intron Old World primate TRIM22 genes but is absent from New World primate TRIM22. This element had previously been shown to contain a p53-binding site that provides p53 responsiveness to the human TRIM22 gene. We demonstrated that this LTR10D element provides for lineage specific TRIM22 responsiveness to p53 activation. From this observation, we extrapolate that most or all of the LTR elements fixed in the first intron of these genes have the potential to play a role in the transcriptional regulation of the gene in which they are present. However, the number of LTR elements to be tested alone and in combination poses a daunting task in unraveling the function that each of these elements play in the regulation of gene expression. Based on the elevated sequence divergence and multiple LTR elements immediately adjacent the core promoters of TRIM5 and TRIM22, we believe that these genes are likely to be differentially expressed between humans and the non-human primate models of disease. For that reason it is important that we gain a better

understanding of the transcriptional regulatory network responsible for controlling expression of these antiviral genes and the role that lineage specific LTR elements play in this process. Future experiments should be conducted to further this aim.

From the work presented here and conducted by others, TRIM5 $\alpha$  appears to be a PRR specific for retroviral CA cores, whose evolutionary history has been shaped by the requirement to match specificity and expression profile to match successive waves of viral challenge. Furthermore, TRIM5 $\alpha$  is one of a growing number of germ-line encoded host factors that impose intrinsic blocks to retroviral infection and that act at the level of an individual cell, largely independent of the greater immune system. Together, these factors serve as innate barriers to retroviral infection that result in a low frequency of cross-species transmission of these viruses and a typically poor replicative potential of newly introduced retroviruses in new host species. However, retroviruses are highly plastic organisms that can evolve away from such pressures. After viral adaptation to a new host, the prevalence of allelic variants of the intrinsic immunity factors likely serve a role in limiting viral pathogenesis and evolution on a population level. Thus these factors potentially serve to hem in the emergent virus until an evolutionarily stable virus-host interaction evolves.

# **LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS**

| ψ                   | Encapsidation signal sequence                                 |
|---------------------|---|
| $\Delta\Delta C(t)$ | Difference in the number of PCR cycles to cross the threshold |
| β-TRCP              | β-transducin repeat containing protein                        |
| 293T                | Human fetal kidney cells expressing the SV40 T-antigen        |
| 6-FAM               | 6-Carboxyfluorescein  |
| AGM                 | African green monkey  |
| AIDS                | Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome                            |
| ALV                 | Avian Leukosis Virus  |
| ANOVA               | Analysis of variance  |
| AP-2                | Adaptor protein 2   |
| APOBEC              | Apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme                          |
| ATR                 | Ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3-related protein                |
| att                 | Attachment sites  |
| BFV                 | Bovine foamy virus  |
| BLAST               | Basic local alignment search tool                             |
| Bst2                | Bone marrow stromal antigen 2 protein                         |
| СА                  | Capsid domain or capsid protein                               |
| cDNA                | Complimentary DNA   |
| CEBP                | CCAAT enhancer binding protein                                |
| ChIP                | Chromatin immunoprecipitation                                 |
| CMV                 | Cytomegalovirus   |
| CRFK                | Crandell feline kidney cells                                  |
| CRM1                | Chromosome region maintenance 1                               |
| CTD                 | C-terminal domain of CA                                       |

| CTE     | Constitutive transport element                                       |
|---------|--|
| Cul4    | Cullin 4 protein   |
| СурА    | Cyclophilin A  |
| D/N     | Dominant negative  |
| DCAF1   | DNA damage binding protein 1 and Cullin4 associated factor 1 protein |
| DDB1    | DNA damage binding protein 1   |
| DMSO    | Dimethyl sufloxide   |
| dN/dS   | Rate of nonsynonymous to synonymous nucleotide change                |
| DNA     | Deoxyribonucleic acid  |
| dUTPase | Deoxyuridine triphosphatase  |
| ECMV    | encephalomyocarditis virus   |
| EGFP    | Enhanced green fluorescent protein                                   |
| EIAV    | Equine infectious anemia virus                                       |
| env     | Envelope gene  |
| Env     | Envelope glycoprotein  |
| ER      | Endoplasmic reticulum  |
| FcγR    | Immunoglobulin G constant fragment receptors                         |
| FeLV    | Feline leukemia virus  |
| FFV     | Feline foamy virus   |
| FIV     | Feline immunodeficiency virus  |
| Fr-MuLV | Friend murine leukemia virus   |
| FV-1    | Friend virus susceptibility factor 1                                 |
| FV-4    | Friend virus susceptibility factor 4                                 |
| gag     | Group specific antigen gene  |
| Gag     | Group specific antigen protein domain                                |
| GALT    | Gut-associated lymphoid tissue                                       |

| GALV                      | Gibbon ape leukemia virus               |
|---------------------------|---|
| GFP                       | Green fluorescent protein               |
| НА                        | Hemagglutanin protein                   |
| hAT                       | hobo/Ac/Tam3 DNA transposon superfamily |
| HERV-K                    | Human endogenous retrovirus K           |
| HERV-L                    | Human endogenous retrovirus L           |
| HEX                       | hexachloro-6-carboxyfluorescein         |
| HFV                       | Human foamy virus                       |
| HIV                       | Human immunodeficiency virus            |
| HIV-1                     | Human immunodeficiency virus type 1     |
| HIV-2                     | Human immunodeficiency virus type 2     |
| HML-2                     | Human mouse mammary tumor virus-like 2  |
| HOS                       | Human osteosarcoma cells                |
| HP1                       | Heterochromatin-associated protein 1    |
| HSC                       | Hematopoietic stem cell                 |
| HTLV                      | Human T-lymphotropic virus              |
| IFN                       | Type I interferon                       |
| IgG                       | Immunoglobulin G                        |
| IN                        | Integrase domain or integrase protein   |
| Indel                     | Insertion or deletion of DNA sequence   |
| IR                        | Infectivity ratio                       |
| IR <sub>(M-PMV/MLV)</sub> | Infectivity ratio of M-PMV to MLV       |
| IRES                      | Internal ribosomal entry site           |
| IRF                       | Interferon regulatory factor protein    |
| ISRE                      | Interferon sensitive response element   |
| Kap-1                     | KRAB-ZFP-associated protein 1           |

| kb         | kilobase; 1000 nucleotides   |
|------------|--|
| kDa        | Kilo-Dalton  |
| LEDGF/p75  | Lens epithelium-derived growth factor/transcriptional co-activator p75 |
| LINE       | Long interspersed nuclear element                                      |
| LTR        | Long terminal repeat   |
| Lv1        | Lentiviral susceptibility factor 1                                     |
| Lv2        | Lentiviral susceptibility factor 2                                     |
| MA         | Matrix domain or matrix protein  |
| Max        | Myc-associated factor X protein  |
| MDM2       | Murine double minute 2 protein   |
| MFI        | Mean fluorescence intensity  |
| МНС        | Major histocompatibility complex                                       |
| MIR        | Mammalian interspersed repeat  |
| MLV        | Murine Leukemia Virus  |
| MMTV       | Mouse Mammary Tumor Virus  |
| MOI        | Multiplicity of infection  |
| MoMLV      | Moloney murine leukemia virus  |
| M-PMV      | Mason-Pfizer Monkey Virus  |
| M-PMV-EGFP | Green fluorescent protein expressing Mason-Pfizer monkey virus         |
| mRNA       | Messenger RNA  |
| MuERV-L    | Murine endogenous retrovirus L   |
| MuLV       | Murine leukemia virus  |
| Мус        | Myelocytomatosis viral oncogene homolog protein                        |
| NC         | Nucleocapsid domain or nucleocapsid protein                            |
| NCBI       | National Center for Biotechnology Information                          |
| nef        | Negative factor gene   |

| Nef    | Negative factor protein                 |
|--------|---|
| NES    | Nuclear export signal                   |
| NLS    | Nuclear localization signal             |
| nt     | Nucleotide                              |
| NTD    | N-terminal domain of CA                 |
| NXF1   | Nuclear RNA export factor 1; Tap        |
| ORF    | Open reading frame                      |
| PAK-2  | p21 activated kinase 2 protein          |
| РАМР   | Pathogen associated molecular pattern   |
| РВМС   | Peripheral blood mononuclear cells      |
| PBS    | Primer binding site                     |
| PCR    | Polymerase chain reaction               |
| РНА    | Phytohemagglutinin                      |
| PHV    | Perch hyperplasia virus                 |
| PIC    | Preintegration complex                  |
| pol    | Polymerase gene                         |
| Pol    | Polymerase protein domain               |
| PPT    | Polypurine tract                        |
| PR     | Protease protein                        |
| pro    | Protease gene                           |
| Pro    | Protease protein domain                 |
| PRR    | Pattern recognition receptor            |
| PtERV1 | Pan troglodytes endogenous retrovirus 1 |
| qPCR   | Quantitative real-time PCR              |
| R      | Repeat region of retroviral LTR         |
| RDR    | RD114 receptor                          |

| Refl      | Restriction factor 1  |
|-----------|---|
| rev       | Regulator of viral expression gene                            |
| Rev       | Regulator of viral expression protein                         |
| rex       | Regulator of expression from x gene                           |
| Rex       | Regulator of expression from x protein                        |
| RING      | Really interesting new gene protein domain                    |
| RNA       | Ribonucleic acid  |
| RNAP II   | RNA polymerase II protein                                     |
| RNase H   | Ribonuclease H protein  |
| RRE       | Rev-responsive element  |
| RSV       | Rous sarcoma virus  |
| RT        | Reverse transcriptase domain or reverse transcriptase protein |
| RTC       | Reverse transcriptase complex                                 |
| sag       | Superantigen gene of mouse mammary tumor virus                |
| Sag       | Superantigen protein of mouse mammary tumor virus             |
| SEM       | Standard error of the mean                                    |
| SFV       | Simian foamy virus  |
| SINE      | Short interspersed repeat                                     |
| siRNA     | Small interfering RNA   |
| SIV       | Simian immunodeficiency virus                                 |
| SIVcpz    | Chimpanzee simian immunodeficiency virus                      |
| SIVmac    | Macaque simian immunodeficiency virus                         |
| SIVmac239 | Macaque simian immunodeficiency virus molecular clone 239     |
| SIVsm     | Sooty mangabey simian immunodeficiency virus                  |
| SIVtan    | Tantalus monkey simian immunodeficiency virus                 |
| SMRV      | Squirrel monkey retrovirus                                    |

| SnRV     | Snakehead retrovirus  |
|----------|---|
| SP1      | Spacer region 1; the peptides between HIV-1 MA and CA       |
| SRV      | Simian retrovirus   |
| STAT1    | Signal transducer and activation of transcription 1 protein |
| STLV     | Simian T-lymphotropic virus                                 |
| SU       | Surface subunit of retroviral envelope protein              |
| SV40     | Simian virus 40   |
| Тар      | Tip-associated protein; NXF1                                |
| tat      | Trans-activator of transcription gene                       |
| Tat      | Trans-activator of transcription protein                    |
| tax      | Trans-activator from x gene                                 |
| Tax      | Trans-activator from x protein                              |
| TF       | Transcription factor  |
| TFIIB    | Transcription factor IIB protein                            |
| ТМ       | Transmembrane subunit of retroviral envelope protein        |
| TRIM     | Tripartite motif-containing gene                            |
| TRIM-Cyp | TRIM5 cyclophilin A fusion protein                          |
| tRNA     | Transfer RNA  |
| U3       | Unique 3' region of retroviral LTR                          |
| U5       | Unique 5' region of retroviral LTR                          |
| UNG2     | Uracil-DNA glycosylase 2 protein                            |
| UTR      | Untranslated region   |
| vif      | Viral infectivity factor gene                               |
| Vif      | Viral infectivity factor protein                            |
| VLP      | Virus-like particle   |
| vpr      | Viral protein R gene  |

| Vpr   | Viral protein R protein                           |
|-------|---|
| vpu   | Viral protein unique gene                         |
| Vpu   | Viral protein unique protein                      |
| vpx   | Viral protein X gene                              |
| Vpx   | Viral protein X protein                           |
| VSV   | Vesicular stomatitus virus                        |
| VSV-G | Vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein           |
| WDSV  | Walleye Dermal Sarcoma Virus                      |
| WPRE  | Woodchuck post-transcriptional regulatory element |
| XMRV  | Xenotropic murine leukemia virus-like virus       |
| YFP   | Yellow fluorescent protein                        |
| ZAP   | Zinc-finger antiviral protein                     |

## **REFERENCES**

- 1. **Abada, P., B. Noble, and P. M. Cannon.** 2005. Functional domains within the human immunodeficiency virus type 2 envelope protein required to enhance virus production. J Virol **79:**3627-3638.
- 2. Aiken, C. 1997. Pseudotyping human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) by the glycoprotein of vesicular stomatitis virus targets HIV-1 entry to an endocytic pathway and suppresses both the requirement for Nef and the sensitivity to cyclosporin A. J Virol 71:5871-5877.
- 3. Aiken, C., and D. Trono. 1995. Nef stimulates human immunodeficiency virus type 1 proviral DNA synthesis. J Virol **69**:5048-5056.
- Aiuti, A., B. Cassani, G. Andolfi, M. Mirolo, L. Biasco, A. Recchia, F. Urbinati, C. Valacca, S. Scaramuzza, M. Aker, S. Slavin, M. Cazzola, D. Sartori, A. Ambrosi, C. Di Serio, M. G. Roncarolo, F. Mavilio, and C. Bordignon. 2007. Multilineage hematopoietic reconstitution without clonal selection in ADA-SCID patients treated with stem cell gene therapy. J Clin Invest 117:2233-2240.
- 5. Akgun, E., M. Ziegler, and M. Grez. 1991. Determinants of retrovirus gene expression in embryonal carcinoma cells. J Virol 65:382-388.
- Akroyd, J., V. J. Fincham, A. R. Green, P. Levantis, S. Searle, and J. A. Wyke. 1987. Transcription of Rous sarcoma proviruses in rat cells is determined by chromosomal position effects that fluctuate and can operate over long distances. Oncogene 1:347-354.
- 7. Alce, T., and W. Popik. 2004. APOBEC3G is incorporated into virus-like particles by a direct interaction with HIV-1 Gag nucleocapsid protein. J Biol Chem 279:34083 34086.
- Allmang, C., E. Petfalski, A. Podtelejnikov, M. Mann, D. Tollervey, and P. Mitchell. 1999. The yeast exosome and human PM-Scl are related complexes of 3' --> 5' exonucleases. Genes Dev 13:2148-2158.
- 9. Altschul, S. F., W. Gish, W. Miller, E. W. Myers, and D. J. Lipman. 1990. Basic local alignment search tool. J Mol Biol 215:403-410.
- 10. Andersen, J. L., J. L. DeHart, E. S. Zimmerman, O. Ardon, B. Kim, G. Jacquot, S. Benichou, and V. Planelles. 2006. HIV-1 Vpr-induced apoptosis is cell cycle dependent and requires Bax but not ANT. PLoS Pathog 2:e127.
- Anderson, J. L., E. M. Campbell, X. Wu, N. Vandegraaff, A. Engelman, and T. J. Hope. 2006. Proteasome inhibition reveals that a functional preintegration complex intermediate can be generated during restriction by diverse TRIM5 proteins. J Virol 80:9754-9760.
- 12. Andreadis, S. T., D. Brott, A. O. Fuller, and B. O. Palsson. 1997. Moloney murine leukemia virus-derived retroviral vectors decay intracellularly with a half-life in the range of 5.5 to 7.5 hours. J Virol **71:**7541-7548.
- Ao, Z., K. Danappa Jayappa, B. Wang, Y. Zheng, S. Kung, E. Rassart, R. Depping, M. Kohler, E. A. Cohen, and X. Yao. 2010. Importin alpha3 interacts with HIV-1 integrase and contributes to HIV-1 nuclear import and replication. J Virol 84:8650-8663.

- Ao, Z., G. Huang, H. Yao, Z. Xu, M. Labine, A. W. Cochrane, and X. Yao. 2007. Interaction of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase with cellular nuclear import receptor importin 7 and its impact on viral replication. J Biol Chem 282:13456-13467.
- 15. Aquaro, S., R. Calio, J. Balzarini, M. C. Bellocchi, E. Garaci, and C. F. Perno. 2002. Macrophages and HIV infection: therapeutical approaches toward this strategic virus reservoir. Antiviral Res 55:209-225.
- Arhel, N., A. Genovesio, K. A. Kim, S. Miko, E. Perret, J. C. Olivo-Marin, S. Shorte, and P. Charneau. 2006. Quantitative four-dimensional tracking of cytoplasmic and nuclear HIV-1 complexes. Nat Methods 3:817-824.
- Arhel, N. J., S. Souquere-Besse, S. Munier, P. Souque, S. Guadagnini, S. Rutherford, M. C. Prevost, T. D. Allen, and P. Charneau. 2007. HIV-1 DNA Flap formation promotes uncoating of the pre-integration complex at the nuclear pore. EMBO J 26:3025-3037.
- 18. Armon-Omer, A., A. Graessmann, and A. Loyter. 2004. A synthetic peptide bearing the HIV-1 integrase 161-173 amino acid residues mediates active nuclear import and binding to importin alpha: characterization of a functional nuclear localization signal. J Mol Biol **336**:1117-1128.
- 19. Arnaud, F., S. G. Black, L. Murphy, D. J. Griffiths, S. J. Neil, T. E. Spencer, and M. Palmarini. 2010. Interplay between ovine bone marrow stromal cell antigen 2/tetherin and endogenous retroviruses. J Virol 84:4415-4425.
- 20. Asaoka, K., K. Ikeda, T. Hishinuma, K. Horie-Inoue, S. Takeda, and S. Inoue. 2005. A retrovirus restriction factor TRIM5alpha is transcriptionally regulated by interferons. Biochem Biophys Res Commun **338**:1950-1956.
- Azios, N. G., F. J. Romero, M. C. Denton, J. K. Doherty, and G. M. Clinton. 2001. Expression of herstatin, an autoinhibitor of HER-2/neu, inhibits transactivation of HER-3 by HER-2 and blocks EGF activation of the EGF receptor. Oncogene 20:5199-5209.
- 22. **Bannert, H., W. Muranyi, V. V. Ogryzko, Y. Nakatani, and R. M. Flugel.** 2004. Coactivators p300 and PCAF physically and functionally interact with the foamy viral trans-activator. BMC Mol Biol **5**:16.
- 23. Barak, Y., T. Juven, R. Haffner, and M. Oren. 1993. mdm2 expression is induced by wild type p53 activity. EMBO J 12:461-468.
- 24. Barbulescu, M., G. Turner, M. I. Seaman, A. S. Deinard, K. K. Kidd, and J. Lenz. 1999. Many human endogenous retrovirus K (HERV-K) proviruses are unique to humans. Curr Biol 9:861-868.
- Barklis, E., R. C. Mulligan, and R. Jaenisch. 1986. Chromosomal position or virus mutation permits retrovirus expression in embryonal carcinoma cells. Cell 47:391-399.
- 26. **Barr, S. D., J. Leipzig, P. Shinn, J. R. Ecker, and F. D. Bushman.** 2005. Integration targeting by avian sarcoma-leukosis virus and human immunodeficiency virus in the chicken genome. J Virol **79:**12035-12044.
- 27. Barr, S. D., J. R. Smiley, and F. D. Bushman. 2008. The interferon response inhibits HIV particle production by induction of TRIM22. PLoS Pathog 4:e1000007.
- Bassin, R. H., B. I. Gerwin, J. G. Levin, G. Duran-Troise, B. M. Benjers, and A. Rein. 1980. Macromolecular requirements for abrogation of Fv-1 restriction by murine leukemia viruses. J Virol 35:287-297.
- 29. **Baumann, J. G.** 2006. Intracellular restriction factors in mammalian cells--An ancient defense system finds a modern foe. Curr HIV Res **4**:141-168.
- Beale, R. C., S. K. Petersen-Mahrt, I. N. Watt, R. S. Harris, C. Rada, and M. S. Neuberger. 2004. Comparison of the differential context-dependence of DNA deamination by APOBEC enzymes: correlation with mutation spectra in vivo. J Mol Biol 337:585-596.
- 31. Belancio, V. P., D. J. Hedges, and P. Deininger. 2006. LINE-1 RNA splicing and influences on mammalian gene expression. Nucleic Acids Res 34:1512-1521.
- 32. Belancio, V. P., A. M. Roy-Engel, and P. Deininger. 2008. The impact of multiple splice sites in human L1 elements. Gene 411:38-45.
- 33. Belshaw, R., A. L. Dawson, J. Woolven-Allen, J. Redding, A. Burt, and M. Tristem. 2005. Genomewide screening reveals high levels of insertional polymorphism in the human endogenous retrovirus family HERV-K(HML2): implications for present-day activity. Journal of virology 79:12507-12514.
- 34. Benit, L., N. De Parseval, J. F. Casella, I. Callebaut, A. Cordonnier, and T. Heidmann. 1997. Cloning of a new murine endogenous retrovirus, MuERV-L, with strong similarity to the human HERV-L element and with a gag coding sequence closely related to the Fv1 restriction gene. J Virol 71:5652-5657.
- 35. Benjamin, J., B. K. Ganser-Pornillos, W. F. Tivol, W. I. Sundquist, and G. J. Jensen. 2005. Three-dimensional structure of HIV-1 virus-like particles by electron cryotomography. J Mol Biol **346**:577-588.
- 36. Benveniste, R. E., M. M. Lieber, D. M. Livingston, C. J. Sherr, G. J. Todaro, and S. S. Kalter. 1974. Infectious C-type virus isolated from a baboon placenta. Nature 248:17-20.
- 37. Bergamaschi, A., D. Ayinde, A. David, E. Le Rouzic, M. Morel, G. Collin, D. Descamps, F. Damond, F. Brun-Vezinet, S. Nisole, F. Margottin-Goguet, G. Pancino, and C. Transy. 2009. The human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Vpx protein usurps the CUL4A-DDB1 DCAF1 ubiquitin ligase to overcome a postentry block in macrophage infection. J Virol 83:4854-4860.
- 38. Bergamaschi, A., A. David, E. Le Rouzic, S. Nisole, F. Barre-Sinoussi, and G. Pancino. 2009. The CDK inhibitor p21Cip1/WAF1 is induced by FcgammaR activation and restricts the replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and related primate lentiviruses in human macrophages. J Virol 83:12253-12265.
- 39. Bergman, A. C., O. Bjornberg, J. Nord, P. O. Nyman, and A. M. Rosengren. 1994. The protein p30, encoded at the gag-pro junction of mouse mammary tumor virus, is a dUTPase fused with a nucleocapsid protein. Virology **204**:420-424.
- 40. Bergold, G. H., O. M. Suarez, and K. Munz. 1968. Multiplication in and transmission by Aedes aegypti of vesicular stomatitis virus. J Invertebr Pathol 11:406-428.
- 41. Besnier, C., Y. Takeuchi, and G. Towers. 2002. Restriction of lentivirus in monkeys. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:11920-11925.

- Besnier, C., L. Ylinen, B. Strange, A. Lister, Y. Takeuchi, S. P. Goff, and G. J. Towers. 2003. Characterization of murine leukemia virus restriction in mammals. J Virol 77:13403-13406.
- 43. Best, S., P. Le Tissier, G. Towers, and J. P. Stoye. 1996. Positional cloning of the mouse retrovirus restriction gene Fv1. Nature 382:826-829.
- 44. Bick, M. J., J. W. Carroll, G. Gao, S. P. Goff, C. M. Rice, and M. R. MacDonald. 2003. Expression of the zinc-finger antiviral protein inhibits alphavirus replication. J Virol 77:11555-11562.
- 45. **Bieniasz, P. D.** 2009. The cell biology of HIV-1 virion genesis. Cell Host Microbe **5**:550-558.
- 46. **Bieniasz, P. D.** 2007. An intrinsic host defense against HIV-1 integration? J Clin Invest **117:**302-304.
- 47. **Bieniasz, P. D.** 2004. Intrinsic immunity: a front-line defense against viral attack. Nat Immunol **5**:1109-1115.
- 48. Binette, J., M. Dube, J. Mercier, D. Halawani, M. Latterich, and E. A. Cohen. 2007. Requirements for the selective degradation of CD4 receptor molecules by the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein in the endoplasmic reticulum. Retrovirology 4:75.
- 49. Bininda-Emonds, O. R., M. Cardillo, K. E. Jones, R. D. MacPhee, R. M. Beck, R. Grenyer, S. A. Price, R. A. Vos, J. L. Gittleman, and A. Purvis. 2007. The delayed rise of present-day mammals. Nature 446:507-512.
- 50. **Bishop, K., R. Holmes, and M. Malim.** 2006. Antiviral potency of APOBEC proteins does not correlate with cytidine deamination. J Virol **80**:8450 8458.
- Bishop, K., R. Holmes, A. Sheehy, N. Davidson, S. Cho, and M. Malim. 2004. Cytidine deamination of retroviral DNA by diverse APOBEC proteins. Curr Biol 14:1392 - 1396.
- 52. **Bittner, J. J.** 1936. Some Possible Effects of Nursing on the Mammary Gland Tumor Incidence in Mice. Science **84:**162.
- 53. Black, L. R., and C. Aiken. 2010. TRIM5alpha disrupts the structure of assembled HIV-1 capsid complexes in vitro. J Virol 84:6564-6569.
- 54. Bock, M., K. N. Bishop, G. Towers, and J. P. Stoye. 2000. Use of a transient assay for studying the genetic determinants of Fv1 restriction. Journal of virology 74:7422-7430.
- 55. **Bogerd, H., B. Doehle, H. Wiegand, and B. Cullen.** 2004. A single amino acid difference in the host APOBEC3G protein controls the primate species specificity of HIV type 1 virion infectivity factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA **101:**3770 3774.
- 56. **Bogerd, H. P., H. L. Wiegand, B. P. Doehle, and B. R. Cullen.** 2007. The intrinsic antiretroviral factor APOBEC3B contains two enzymatically active cytidine deaminase domains. Virology **364:**486-493.
- 57. **Borden, K. L.** 1998. RING fingers and B-boxes: zinc-binding protein-protein interaction domains. Biochem Cell Biol **76:**351-358.
- Bouillet, P., L. C. Zhang, D. C. Huang, G. C. Webb, C. D. Bottema, P. Shore, H. J. Eyre, G. R. Sutherland, and J. M. Adams. 2001. Gene structure alternative splicing, and chromosomal localization of pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 relative Bim. Mamm Genome 12:163-168.

- 59. **Bour, S., U. Schubert, K. Peden, and K. Strebel.** 1996. The envelope glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus type 2 enhances viral particle release: a Vpu-like factor? J Virol **70**:820-829.
- 60. **Bour, S., U. Schubert, and K. Strebel.** 1995. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein specifically binds to the cytoplasmic domain of CD4: implications for the mechanism of degradation. J Virol **69:**1510-1520.
- Bouyac-Bertoia, M., J. D. Dvorin, R. A. Fouchier, Y. Jenkins, B. E. Meyer, L. I. Wu, M. Emerman, and M. H. Malim. 2001. HIV-1 infection requires a functional integrase NLS. Mol Cell 7:1025-1035.
- 62. Bowerman, B., P. O. Brown, J. M. Bishop, and H. E. Varmus. 1989. A nucleoprotein complex mediates the integration of retroviral DNA. Genes Dev 3:469-478.
- 63. Brady, T., L. M. Agosto, N. Malani, C. C. Berry, U. O'Doherty, and F. Bushman. 2009. HIV integration site distributions in resting and activated CD4+ T cells infected in culture. AIDS 23:1461-1471.
- Brady, T., Y. N. Lee, K. Ronen, N. Malani, C. C. Berry, P. D. Bieniasz, and F. D. Bushman. 2009. Integration target site selection by a resurrected human endogenous retrovirus. Genes Dev 23:633-642.
- Brass, A. L., D. M. Dykxhoorn, Y. Benita, N. Yan, A. Engelman, R. J. Xavier, J. Lieberman, and S. J. Elledge. 2008. Identification of host proteins required for HIV infection through a functional genomic screen. Science 319:921-926.
- 66. Bray, M., S. Prasad, J. W. Dubay, E. Hunter, K. T. Jeang, D. Rekosh, and M. L. Hammarskjold. 1994. A small element from the Mason-Pfizer monkey virus genome makes human immunodeficiency virus type 1 expression and replication Rev-independent. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:1256-1260.
- 67. Brennan, G., Y. Kozyrev, and S. L. Hu. 2008. TRIMCyp expression in Old World primates Macaca nemestrina and Macaca fascicularis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:3569-3574.
- 68. Briggs, J. A., K. Grunewald, B. Glass, F. Forster, H. G. Krausslich, and S. D. Fuller. 2006. The mechanism of HIV-1 core assembly: insights from threedimensional reconstructions of authentic virions. Structure 14:15-20.
- Briggs, J. A., T. Wilk, R. Welker, H. G. Krausslich, and S. D. Fuller. 2003. Structural organization of authentic, mature HIV-1 virions and cores. EMBO J 22:1707-1715.
- 70. **Brody, B. A., S. S. Rhee, M. A. Sommerfelt, and E. Hunter.** 1992. A viral protease-mediated cleavage of the transmembrane glycoprotein of Mason-Pfizer monkey virus can be suppressed by mutations within the matrix protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **89**:3443-3447.
- 71. Brown, P. O., B. Bowerman, H. E. Varmus, and J. M. Bishop. 1987. Correct integration of retroviral DNA in vitro. Cell **49:**347-356.
- Brun, S., M. Solignat, B. Gay, E. Bernard, L. Chaloin, D. Fenard, C. Devaux, N. Chazal, and L. Briant. 2008. VSV-G pseudotyping rescues HIV-1 CA mutations that impair core assembly or stability. Retrovirology 5:57.
- 73. Bukrinskaya, A., B. Brichacek, A. Mann, and M. Stevenson. 1998. Establishment of a functional human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)

reverse transcription complex involves the cytoskeleton. J Exp Med **188:**2113-2125.

- 74. Bukrinsky, M. I., S. Haggerty, M. P. Dempsey, N. Sharova, A. Adzhubel, L. Spitz, P. Lewis, D. Goldfarb, M. Emerman, and M. Stevenson. 1993. A nuclear localization signal within HIV-1 matrix protein that governs infection of non-dividing cells. Nature 365:666-669.
- 75. Bukrinsky, M. I., N. Sharova, M. P. Dempsey, T. L. Stanwick, A. G. Bukrinskaya, S. Haggerty, and M. Stevenson. 1992. Active nuclear import of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preintegration complexes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89:6580-6584.
- 76. Bukrinsky, M. I., N. Sharova, T. L. McDonald, T. Pushkarskaya, W. G. Tarpley, and M. Stevenson. 1993. Association of integrase, matrix, and reverse transcriptase antigens of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with viral nucleic acids following acute infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **90**:6125-6129.
- 77. **Burnett, A., and P. Spearman.** 2007. APOBEC3G Multimers Are Recruited to the Plasma Membrane for Packaging into Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Virus-Like Particles in an RNA-Dependent Process Requiring the NC Basic Linker. J Virol **81:**5000 5013.
- 78. **Burns, J. C., T. Friedmann, W. Driever, M. Burrascano, and J. K. Yee.** 1993. Vesicular stomatitis virus G glycoprotein pseudotyped retroviral vectors: concentration to very high titer and efficient gene transfer into mammalian and nonmammalian cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **90**:8033-8037.
- 79. **Bushman, F. D., and R. Craigie.** 1990. Sequence requirements for integration of Moloney murine leukemia virus DNA in vitro. J Virol **64:**5645-5648.
- 80. Busschots, K., J. Vercammen, S. Emiliani, R. Benarous, Y. Engelborghs, F. Christ, and Z. Debyser. 2005. The interaction of LEDGF/p75 with integrase is lentivirus-specific and promotes DNA binding. J Biol Chem 280:17841-17847.
- 81. **Butan, C., D. C. Winkler, J. B. Heymann, R. C. Craven, and A. C. Steven.** 2008. RSV capsid polymorphism correlates with polymerization efficiency and envelope glycoprotein content: implications that nucleation controls morphogenesis. J Mol Biol **376:**1168-1181.
- Cagliani, R., M. Fumagalli, M. Biasin, L. Piacentini, S. Riva, U. Pozzoli, M. C. Bonaglia, N. Bresolin, M. Clerici, and M. Sironi. 2010. Long-term balancing selection maintains trans-specific polymorphisms in the human TRIM5 gene. Hum Genet.
- Campbell, E. M., M. P. Dodding, M. W. Yap, X. Wu, S. Gallois-Montbrun, M. H. Malim, J. P. Stoye, and T. J. Hope. 2007. TRIM5 alpha cytoplasmic bodies are highly dynamic structures. Mol Biol Cell 18:2102-2111.
- 84. **Campbell, E. M., R. Nunez, and T. J. Hope.** 2004. Disruption of the actin cytoskeleton can complement the ability of Nef to enhance human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infectivity. J Virol **78:**5745-5755.
- 85. **Carballo, E., W. S. Lai, and P. J. Blackshear.** 2000. Evidence that tristetraprolin is a physiological regulator of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor messenger RNA deadenylation and stability. Blood **95:**1891-1899.

- Carballo, E., W. S. Lai, and P. J. Blackshear. 1998. Feedback inhibition of macrophage tumor necrosis factor-alpha production by tristetraprolin. Science 281:1001-1005.
- Cardone, G., J. G. Purdy, N. Cheng, R. C. Craven, and A. C. Steven. 2009. Visualization of a missing link in retrovirus capsid assembly. Nature 457:694-698.
- Carthagena, L., A. Bergamaschi, J. M. Luna, A. David, P. D. Uchil, F. Margottin-Goguet, W. Mothes, U. Hazan, C. Transy, G. Pancino, and S. Nisole. 2009. Human TRIM gene expression in response to interferons. PLoS One 4:e4894.
- 89. Carthagena, L., M. C. Parise, M. Ringeard, M. K. Chelbi-Alix, U. Hazan, and S. Nisole. 2008. Implication of TRIM alpha and TRIMCyp in interferoninduced anti-retroviral restriction activities. Retrovirology 5:59.
- 90. Cen, S., F. Guo, M. Niu, J. Saadatmand, J. Deflassieux, and L. Kleiman. 2004. The interaction between HIV-1 Gag and APOBEC3G. J Biol Chem 279:33177 - 33184.
- 91. Chang, D. D., and P. A. Sharp. 1989. Regulation by HIV Rev depends upon recognition of splice sites. Cell **59**:789-795.
- 92. Chatterji, U., M. D. Bobardt, P. Gaskill, D. Sheeter, H. Fox, and P. A. Gallay. 2006. Trim5alpha accelerates degradation of cytosolic capsid associated with productive HIV-1 entry. J Biol Chem 281:37025-37033.
- 93. Chazal, N., G. Singer, C. Aiken, M. L. Hammarskjold, and D. Rekosh. 2001. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 particles pseudotyped with envelope proteins that fuse at low pH no longer require Nef for optimal infectivity. J Virol 75:4014-4018.
- 94. Chen, C., T. Ara, and D. Gautheret. 2009. Using Alu elements as polyadenylation sites: A case of retroposon exaptation. Mol Biol Evol 26:327-334.
- 95. Chen, R., E. Le Rouzic, J. Kearney, L. Mansky, and S. Benichou. 2004. Vprmediated incorporation of UNG2 into HIV-1 particles is required to modulate the virus mutation rate and for replication in macrophages. J Biol Chem **279:**28419 -28425.
- 96. Cheng, T., N. Rodrigues, H. Shen, Y. Yang, D. Dombkowski, M. Sykes, and D. T. Scadden. 2000. Hematopoietic stem cell quiescence maintained by p21cip1/waf1. Science 287:1804-1808.
- 97. Cherepanov, P. 2007. LEDGF/p75 interacts with divergent lentiviral integrases and modulates their enzymatic activity in vitro. Nucleic Acids Res **35**:113-124.
- 98. Cherepanov, P., E. Devroe, P. A. Silver, and A. Engelman. 2004. Identification of an evolutionarily conserved domain in human lens epithelium-derived growth factor/transcriptional co-activator p75 (LEDGF/p75) that binds HIV-1 integrase. J Biol Chem 279:48883-48892.
- 99. Cherepanov, P., G. Maertens, P. Proost, B. Devreese, J. Van Beeumen, Y. Engelborghs, E. De Clercq, and Z. Debyser. 2003. HIV-1 integrase forms stable tetramers and associates with LEDGF/p75 protein in human cells. J Biol Chem 278:372-381.

- 100. Chiu, Y. L., V. B. Soros, J. F. Kreisberg, K. Stopak, W. Yonemoto, and W. C. Greene. 2005. Cellular APOBEC3G restricts HIV-1 infection in resting CD4+ T cells. Nature 435:108-114.
- 101. Chopra, H. C., and M. M. Mason. 1970. A new virus in a spontaneous mammary tumor of a rhesus monkey. Cancer Res **30**:2081-2086.
- 102. Chowers, M. Y., M. W. Pandori, C. A. Spina, D. D. Richman, and J. C. Guatelli. 1995. The growth advantage conferred by HIV-1 nef is determined at the level of viral DNA formation and is independent of CD4 downregulation. Virology 212:451-457.
- Chowers, M. Y., C. A. Spina, T. J. Kwoh, N. J. Fitch, D. D. Richman, and J. C. Guatelli. 1994. Optimal infectivity in vitro of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 requires an intact nef gene. J Virol 68:2906-2914.
- 104. Christ, F., W. Thys, J. De Rijck, R. Gijsbers, A. Albanese, D. Arosio, S. Emiliani, J. C. Rain, R. Benarous, A. Cereseto, and Z. Debyser. 2008. Transportin-SR2 imports HIV into the nucleus. Curr Biol 18:1192-1202.
- 105. Chukkapalli, V., I. B. Hogue, V. Boyko, W. S. Hu, and A. Ono. 2008. Interaction between the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag matrix domain and phosphatidylinositol-(4,5)-bisphosphate is essential for efficient gag membrane binding. J Virol 82:2405-2417.
- 106. Ciuffi, A., M. Llano, E. Poeschla, C. Hoffmann, J. Leipzig, P. Shinn, J. R. Ecker, and F. Bushman. 2005. A role for LEDGF/p75 in targeting HIV DNA integration. Nat Med 11:1287-1289.
- 107. Ciuffi, A., R. S. Mitchell, C. Hoffmann, J. Leipzig, P. Shinn, J. R. Ecker, and F. D. Bushman. 2006. Integration site selection by HIV-based vectors in dividing and growth-arrested IMR-90 lung fibroblasts. Mol Ther 13:366-373.
- 108. Cobrinik, D., R. Katz, R. Terry, A. M. Skalka, and J. Leis. 1987. Avian sarcoma and leukosis virus pol-endonuclease recognition of the tandem long terminal repeat junction: minimum site required for cleavage is also required for viral growth. J Virol 61:1999-2008.
- 109. Coffin, J. M., S. H. Hughes, and H. E. Varmus. 1997. The Interactions of Retroviruses and Their Hosts, p. 335-342. *In* J. M. Coffin, S. H. Hughes, and H. E. Varmus (ed.), Retroviruses. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratories Press, Cold Spring Harbor (NY).
- 110. Colcher, D., R. L. Heberling, S. S. Kalter, and J. Schlom. 1977. Squirrel monkey retrovirus: an endogenous virus of a new world primate. Journal of virology 23:294-301.
- 111. Colicelli, J., and S. P. Goff. 1985. Mutants and pseudorevertants of Moloney murine leukemia virus with alterations at the integration site. Cell **42**:573-580.
- 112. Colicelli, J., and S. P. Goff. 1988. Sequence and spacing requirements of a retrovirus integration site. J Mol Biol 199:47-59.
- Connor, R. I., B. K. Chen, S. Choe, and N. R. Landau. 1995. Vpr is required for efficient replication of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 in mononuclear phagocytes. Virology 206:935-944.
- 114. **Conticello, S., R. Harris, and M. Neuberger.** 2003. The Vif protein of HIV triggers degradation of the human antiretroviral DNA deaminase APOBEC3G. Curr Biol **13**:2009 2013.

- 115. Cordonnier, A., J. F. Casella, and T. Heidmann. 1995. Isolation of novel human endogenous retrovirus-like elements with foamy virus-related pol sequence. J Virol 69:5890-5897.
- 116. Cowan, S., T. Hatziioannou, T. Cunningham, M. A. Muesing, H. G. Gottlinger, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2002. Cellular inhibitors with Fv1-like activity restrict human and simian immunodeficiency virus tropism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:11914-11919.
- 117. Crise, B., Y. Li, C. Yuan, D. R. Morcock, D. Whitby, D. J. Munroe, L. O. Arthur, and X. Wu. 2005. Simian immunodeficiency virus integration preference is similar to that of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 79:12199-12204.
- 118. Cross, D. R., B. J. Miller, and S. J. James. 1993. A simplified HPLC method for simultaneously quantifying ribonucleotides and deoxyribonucleotides in cell extracts or frozen tissues. Cell Prolif **26**:327-336.
- 119. Cutino-Moguel, T., and A. Fassati. 2006. A phenotypic recessive, post-entry block in rabbit cells that results in aberrant trafficking of HIV-1. Traffic 7:978-992.
- Dang, Y., X. Wang, W. Esselman, and Y. Zheng. 2006. Identification of APOBEC3DE as Another Antiretroviral Factor from the Human APOBEC Family. J Virol 80:10522 - 10533.
- 121. Daniel, M. D., F. Kirchhoff, S. C. Czajak, P. K. Sehgal, and R. C. Desrosiers. 1992. Protective effects of a live attenuated SIV vaccine with a deletion in the nef gene. Science 258:1938-1941.
- 122. Delebecque, F., R. Suspene, S. Calattini, N. Casartelli, A. Saib, A. Froment, S. Wain-Hobson, A. Gessain, J. P. Vartanian, and O. Schwartz. 2006. Restriction of foamy viruses by APOBEC cytidine deaminases. J Virol 80:605-614.
- 123. Derse, D., B. Crise, Y. Li, G. Princler, N. Lum, C. Stewart, C. F. McGrath, S. H. Hughes, D. J. Munroe, and X. Wu. 2007. Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 integration target sites in the human genome: comparison with those of other retroviruses. J Virol 81:6731-6741.
- 124. **DesGroseillers, L., and P. Jolicoeur.** 1983. Physical mapping of the Fv-1 tropism host range determinant of BALB/c murine leukemia viruses. J Virol **48**:685-696.
- 125. Diaz-Griffero, F., A. Kar, M. Perron, S. H. Xiang, H. Javanbakht, X. Li, and J. Sodroski. 2007. Modulation of retroviral restriction and proteasome inhibitorresistant turnover by changes in the TRIM5alpha B-box 2 domain. J Virol 81:10362-10378.
- 126. Diaz-Griffero, F., X. Li, H. Javanbakht, B. Song, S. Welikala, M. Stremlau, and J. Sodroski. 2006. Rapid turnover and polyubiquitylation of the retroviral restriction factor TRIM5. Virology **349**:300-315.
- 127. Diaz-Griffero, F., M. Perron, K. McGee-Estrada, R. Hanna, P. V. Maillard, D. Trono, and J. Sodroski. 2008. A human TRIM5alpha B30.2/SPRY domain mutant gains the ability to restrict and prematurely uncoat B-tropic murine leukemia virus. Virology 378:233-242.

- 128. Diehl, W. E., E. Stansell, S. M. Kaiser, M. Emerman, and E. Hunter. 2008. Identification of postentry restrictions to Mason-Pfizer monkey virus infection in New World monkey cells. J Virol 82:11140-11151.
- 129. **Dobard, C. W., M. S. Briones, and S. A. Chow.** 2007. Molecular mechanisms by which human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase stimulates the early steps of reverse transcription. J Virol **81**:10037-10046.
- 130. Doehle, B. P., H. P. Bogerd, H. L. Wiegand, N. Jouvenet, P. D. Bieniasz, E. Hunter, and B. R. Cullen. 2006. The betaretrovirus Mason-Pfizer monkey virus selectively excludes simian APOBEC3G from virion particles. J Virol 80:12102-12108.
- 131. **Doehle, B. P., A. Schafer, H. L. Wiegand, H. P. Bogerd, and B. R. Cullen.** 2005. Differential sensitivity of murine leukemia virus to APOBEC3-mediated inhibition is governed by virion exclusion. J Virol **79:8**201-8207.
- 132. Douglas, J. L., K. Viswanathan, M. N. McCarroll, J. K. Gustin, K. Fruh, and A. V. Moses. 2009. Vpu directs the degradation of the human immunodeficiency virus restriction factor BST-2/Tetherin via a {beta} TrCP-dependent mechanism. J Virol 83:7931-7947.
- 133. Dube, M., B. B. Roy, P. Guiot-Guillain, J. Binette, J. Mercier, A. Chiasson, and E. A. Cohen. 2010. Antagonism of tetherin restriction of HIV-1 release by Vpu involves binding and sequestration of the restriction factor in a perinuclear compartment. PLoS Pathog 6:e1000856.
- 134. Dupont, S., N. Sharova, C. DeHoratius, C. M. Virbasius, X. Zhu, A. G. Bukrinskaya, M. Stevenson, and M. R. Green. 1999. A novel nuclear export activity in HIV-1 matrix protein required for viral replication. Nature 402:681-685.
- 135. **Duran-Troise, G., R. H. Bassin, B. F. Wallace, and A. Rein.** 1981. Balb/3T3 cells chronically infected with N-tropic murine leukemia virus continue to express Fv-1b restriction. Virology **112:**795-799.
- 136. Dyer, W. B., A. F. Geczy, S. J. Kent, L. B. McIntyre, S. A. Blasdall, J. C. Learmont, and J. S. Sullivan. 1997. Lymphoproliferative immune function in the Sydney Blood Bank Cohort, infected with natural nef/long terminal repeat mutants, and in other long-term survivors of transfusion-acquired HIV-1 infection. AIDS 11:1565-1574.
- 137. Edinger, A. L., T. L. Hoffman, M. Sharron, B. Lee, Y. Yi, W. Choe, D. L. Kolson, B. Mitrovic, Y. Zhou, D. Faulds, R. G. Collman, J. Hesselgesser, R. Horuk, and R. W. Doms. 1998. An orphan seven-transmembrane domain receptor expressed widely in the brain functions as a coreceptor for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and simian immunodeficiency virus. J Virol 72:7934-7940.
- 138. el-Hajj, H. H., H. Zhang, and B. Weiss. 1988. Lethality of a dut (deoxyuridine triphosphatase) mutation in Escherichia coli. J Bacteriol 170:1069-1075.
- 139. Elder, J. H., D. L. Lerner, C. S. Hasselkus-Light, D. J. Fontenot, E. Hunter, P. A. Luciw, R. C. Montelaro, and T. R. Phillips. 1992. Distinct subsets of retroviruses encode dUTPase. J Virol 66:1791-1794.

- 140. Eldin, P., L. Papon, A. Oteiza, E. Brocchi, T. G. Lawson, and N. Mechti. 2009. TRIM22 E3 ubiquitin ligase activity is required to mediate antiviral activity against encephalomyocarditis virus. J Gen Virol 90:536-545.
- 141. Engelman, A., G. Englund, J. M. Orenstein, M. A. Martin, and R. Craigie. 1995. Multiple effects of mutations in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase on viral replication. J Virol 69:2729-2736.
- 142. Estevez, A. M., T. Kempf, and C. Clayton. 2001. The exosome of Trypanosoma brucei. EMBO J 20:3831-3839.
- 143. Ewart, G. D., K. Mills, G. B. Cox, and P. W. Gage. 2002. Amiloride derivatives block ion channel activity and enhancement of virus-like particle budding caused by HIV-1 protein Vpu. Eur Biophys J 31:26-35.
- 144. Fan, H., H. Chute, E. Chao, and P. K. Pattengale. 1988. Leukemogenicity of Moloney murine leukemia viruses carrying polyoma enhancer sequences in the long terminal repeat is dependent on the nature of the inserted polyoma sequences. Virology 166:58-65.
- 145. Faschinger, A., F. Rouault, J. Sollner, A. Lukas, B. Salmons, W. H. Gunzburg, and S. Indik. 2008. Mouse mammary tumor virus integration site selection in human and mouse genomes. J Virol 82:1360-1367.
- 146. Felber, B. K., M. Hadzopoulou-Cladaras, C. Cladaras, T. Copeland, and G. N. Pavlakis. 1989. rev protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 affects the stability and transport of the viral mRNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86:1495-1499.
- 147. Feng, Y., C. C. Broder, P. E. Kennedy, and E. A. Berger. 1996. HIV-1 entry cofactor: functional cDNA cloning of a seven-transmembrane, G protein-coupled receptor. Science 272:872-877.
- 148. Feuer, G., M. Taketo, R. C. Hanecak, and H. Fan. 1989. Two blocks in Moloney murine leukemia virus expression in undifferentiated F9 embryonal carcinoma cells as determined by transient expression assays. J Virol 63:2317-2324.
- 149. Field, J., J. Nikawa, D. Broek, B. MacDonald, L. Rodgers, I. A. Wilson, R. A. Lerner, and M. Wigler. 1988. Purification of a RAS-responsive adenylyl cyclase complex from Saccharomyces cerevisiae by use of an epitope addition method. Mol Cell Biol 8:2159-2165.
- 150. Finke, D., and H. Acha-Orbea. 2001. Differential migration of in vivo primed B and T lymphocytes to lymphoid and non-lymphoid organs. Eur J Immunol **31**:2603-2611.
- 151. **Fischer, U., J. Huber, W. C. Boelens, I. W. Mattaj, and R. Luhrmann.** 1995. The HIV-1 Rev activation domain is a nuclear export signal that accesses an export pathway used by specific cellular RNAs. Cell **82:**475-483.
- 152. **Fisher, E. F., and M. H. Caruthers.** 1979. Studies on gene control regions XII. The functional significance of a lac operator constitutive mutation. Nucleic Acids Res **7:**401-416.
- 153. Fitzpatrick, K., M. Skasko, T. J. Deerinck, J. Crum, M. H. Ellisman, and J. Guatelli. 2010. Direct restriction of virus release and incorporation of the interferon-induced protein BST-2 into HIV-1 particles. PLoS Pathog 6:e1000701.

- 154. Flanagan, J. R., A. M. Krieg, E. E. Max, and A. S. Khan. 1989. Negative control region at the 5' end of murine leukemia virus long terminal repeats. Mol Cell Biol 9:739-746.
- 155. Fletcher, T. M., 3rd, B. Brichacek, N. Sharova, M. A. Newman, G. Stivahtis, P. M. Sharp, M. Emerman, B. H. Hahn, and M. Stevenson. 1996. Nuclear import and cell cycle arrest functions of the HIV-1 Vpr protein are encoded by two separate genes in HIV-2/SIV(SM). EMBO J 15:6155-6165.
- 156. Fornerod, M., M. Ohno, M. Yoshida, and I. W. Mattaj. 1997. CRM1 is an export receptor for leucine-rich nuclear export signals. Cell **90**:1051-1060.
- Forrest, S. T., K. G. Barringhaus, D. Perlegas, M. L. Hammarskjold, and C. A. McNamara. 2004. Intron retention generates a novel Id3 isoform that inhibits vascular lesion formation. J Biol Chem 279:32897-32903.
- 158. Forshey, B. M., U. von Schwedler, W. I. Sundquist, and C. Aiken. 2002. Formation of a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 core of optimal stability is crucial for viral replication. J Virol **76**:5667-5677.
- 159. Fouchier, R. A., B. E. Meyer, J. H. Simon, U. Fischer, and M. H. Malim. 1997. HIV-1 infection of non-dividing cells: evidence that the amino-terminal basic region of the viral matrix protein is important for Gag processing but not for post-entry nuclear import. EMBO J 16:4531-4539.
- 160. Friedman, J. R., W. J. Fredericks, D. E. Jensen, D. W. Speicher, X. P. Huang, E. G. Neilson, and F. J. Rauscher, 3rd. 1996. KAP-1, a novel corepressor for the highly conserved KRAB repression domain. Genes Dev 10:2067-2078.
- 161. **Fujita, M., M. Otsuka, M. Miyoshi, B. Khamsri, M. Nomaguchi, and A. Adachi.** 2008. Vpx is critical for reverse transcription of the human immunodeficiency virus type 2 genome in macrophages. J Virol **82:**7752-7756.
- 162. **Fujiwara, T., and K. Mizuuchi.** 1988. Retroviral DNA integration: structure of an integration intermediate. Cell **54:**497-504.
- 163. Gadsden, M. H., E. M. McIntosh, J. C. Game, P. J. Wilson, and R. H. Haynes. 1993. dUTP pyrophosphatase is an essential enzyme in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. EMBO J 12:4425-4431.
- 164. Galante, P. A., N. J. Sakabe, N. Kirschbaum-Slager, and S. J. de Souza. 2004. Detection and evaluation of intron retention events in the human transcriptome. RNA 10:757-765.
- 165. Gallay, P., T. Hope, D. Chin, and D. Trono. 1997. HIV-1 infection of nondividing cells through the recognition of integrase by the importin/karyopherin pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:9825-9830.
- 166. Ganser, B. K., A. Cheng, W. I. Sundquist, and M. Yeager. 2003. Threedimensional structure of the M-MuLV CA protein on a lipid monolayer: a general model for retroviral capsid assembly. EMBO J 22:2886-2892.
- 167. Gao, B., Z. Duan, W. Xu, and S. Xiong. 2009. Tripartite motif-containing 22 inhibits the activity of hepatitis B virus core promoter, which is dependent on nuclear-located RING domain. Hepatology **50**:424-433.
- 168. Gao, B., Y. Wang, W. Xu, Z. Duan, and S. Xiong. 2010. A 5' extended IFNstimulating response element is crucial for IFN-gamma-induced tripartite motif 22 expression via interaction with IFN regulatory factor-1. J Immunol 185:2314-2323.

- 169. Gao, G., X. Guo, and S. P. Goff. 2002. Inhibition of retroviral RNA production by ZAP, a CCCH-type zinc finger protein. Science **297**:1703-1706.
- 170. Garcia, J. V., and A. D. Miller. 1991. Serine phosphorylation-independent downregulation of cell-surface CD4 by nef. Nature **350**:508-511.
- 171. Genoud, S., F. Kajumo, Y. Guo, D. Thompson, and T. Dragic. 1999. CCR5-Mediated human immunodeficiency virus entry depends on an amino-terminal gp120-binding site and on the conformational integrity of all four extracellular domains. J Virol **73**:1645-1648.
- 172. Gibbs, J. S., D. A. Regier, and R. C. Desrosiers. 1994. Construction and in vitro properties of SIVmac mutants with deletions in "nonessential" genes. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 10:607-616.
- 173. **Goff, S. P.** 1996. Operating under a Gag order: a block against incoming virus by the Fv1 gene. Cell **86**:691-693.
- 174. **Goff, S. P.** 2001. *Retroviridae*: The Retroviruses and Their Replication. *In* D. M. Knipe and P. M. Howley (ed.), Fields' Virology, vol. 2. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, Philadelphia.
- 175. Goff, S. P. 2004. Retrovirus restriction factors. Mol Cell 16:849-859.
- 176. Goffinet, C., I. Allespach, S. Homann, H. M. Tervo, A. Habermann, D. Rupp, L. Oberbremer, C. Kern, N. Tibroni, S. Welsch, J. Krijnse-Locker, G. Banting, H. G. Krausslich, O. T. Fackler, and O. T. Keppler. 2009. HIV-1 antagonism of CD317 is species specific and involves Vpu-mediated proteasomal degradation of the restriction factor. Cell Host Microbe 5:285-297.
- 177. Goffinet, C., S. Homann, I. Ambiel, N. Tibroni, D. Rupp, O. T. Keppler, and O. T. Fackler. 2010. Antagonism of CD317 restriction of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) particle release and depletion of CD317 are separable activities of HIV-1 Vpu. J Virol 84:4089-4094.
- 178. Goh, W. C., M. E. Rogel, C. M. Kinsey, S. F. Michael, P. N. Fultz, M. A. Nowak, B. H. Hahn, and M. Emerman. 1998. HIV-1 Vpr increases viral expression by manipulation of the cell cycle: a mechanism for selection of Vpr in vivo. Nat Med 4:65-71.
- 179. Goila-Gaur, R., and K. Strebel. 2008. HIV-1 Vif, APOBEC, and intrinsic immunity. Retrovirology 5:51.
- 180. Golovkina, T. V., A. Chervonsky, J. P. Dudley, and S. R. Ross. 1992. Transgenic mouse mammary tumor virus superantigen expression prevents viral infection. Cell 69:637-645.
- 181. Golovkina, T. V., J. P. Dudley, and S. R. Ross. 1998. B and T cells are required for mouse mammary tumor virus spread within the mammary gland. J Immunol 161:2375-2382.
- 182. Goncalves, J., Y. Korin, J. Zack, and D. Gabuzda. 1996. Role of Vif in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcription. J Virol **70**:8701 8709.
- 183. Goncalves, J., and M. Santa-Marta. 2004. HIV-1 Vif and APOBEC3G: multiple roads to one goal. Retrovirology 1:28.
- 184. Gorman, C. M., P. W. Rigby, and D. P. Lane. 1985. Negative regulation of viral enhancers in undifferentiated embryonic stem cells. Cell 42:519-526.
- 185. Gorska-Flipot, I., and P. Jolicoeur. 1990. DNA-binding proteins that interact with the long terminal repeat of radiation leukemia virus. J Virol 64:1566-1572.

- 186. Gottlinger, H. G., T. Dorfman, E. A. Cohen, and W. A. Haseltine. 1993. Vpu protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 enhances the release of capsids produced by gag gene constructs of widely divergent retroviruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:7381-7385.
- 187. Goujon, C., V. Arfi, T. Pertel, J. Luban, J. Lienard, D. Rigal, J. L. Darlix, and A. Cimarelli. 2008. Characterization of simian immunodeficiency virus SIVSM/human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Vpx function in human myeloid cells. J Virol 82:12335-12345.
- 188. Goujon, C., L. Riviere, L. Jarrosson-Wuilleme, J. Bernaud, D. Rigal, J. L. Darlix, and A. Cimarelli. 2007. SIVSM/HIV-2 Vpx proteins promote retroviral escape from a proteasome-dependent restriction pathway present in human dendritic cells. Retrovirology 4:2.
- 189. Granger, S. W., and H. Fan. 1998. In vivo footprinting of the enhancer sequences in the upstream long terminal repeat of Moloney murine leukemia virus: differential binding of nuclear factors in different cell types. J Virol 72:8961-8970.
- 190. Gray, R. H., M. J. Wawer, R. Brookmeyer, N. K. Sewankambo, D. Serwadda, F. Wabwire-Mangen, T. Lutalo, X. Li, T. vanCott, and T. C. Quinn. 2001. Probability of HIV-1 transmission per coital act in monogamous, heterosexual, HIV-1-discordant couples in Rakai, Uganda. Lancet 357:1149-1153.
- 191. Grez, M., E. Akgun, F. Hilberg, and W. Ostertag. 1990. Embryonic stem cell virus, a recombinant murine retrovirus with expression in embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:9202-9206.
- 192. Grochola, L. F., J. Zeron-Medina, S. Meriaux, and G. L. Bond. 2010. Singlenucleotide polymorphisms in the p53 signaling pathway. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2:a001032.
- 193. Groom, H. C., M. W. Yap, R. P. Galao, S. J. Neil, and K. N. Bishop. 2010. Susceptibility of xenotropic murine leukemia virus-related virus (XMRV) to retroviral restriction factors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:5166-5171.
- 194. Gruter, P., C. Tabernero, C. von Kobbe, C. Schmitt, C. Saavedra, A. Bachi, M. Wilm, B. K. Felber, and E. Izaurralde. 1998. TAP, the human homolog of Mex67p, mediates CTE-dependent RNA export from the nucleus. Mol Cell 1:649-659.
- Grutter, C., C. Briand, G. Capitani, P. R. Mittl, S. Papin, J. Tschopp, and M. G. Grutter. 2006. Structure of the PRYSPRY-domain: implications for autoinflammatory diseases. FEBS Lett 580:99-106.
- 196. **Guo, X., J. W. Carroll, M. R. Macdonald, S. P. Goff, and G. Gao.** 2004. The zinc finger antiviral protein directly binds to specific viral mRNAs through the CCCH zinc finger motifs. J Virol **78**:12781-12787.
- 197. Guo, X., J. Ma, J. Sun, and G. Gao. 2007. The zinc-finger antiviral protein recruits the RNA processing exosome to degrade the target mRNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:151-156.
- 198. **Gupta, R. K., S. Hue, T. Schaller, E. Verschoor, D. Pillay, and G. J. Towers.** 2009. Mutation of a single residue renders human tetherin resistant to HIV-1 Vpumediated depletion. PLoS Pathog **5:**e1000443.

- 199. Gupta, R. K., P. Mlcochova, A. Pelchen-Matthews, S. J. Petit, G. Mattiuzzo, D. Pillay, Y. Takeuchi, M. Marsh, and G. J. Towers. 2009. Simian immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein counteracts tetherin/BST-2/CD317 by intracellular sequestration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:20889-20894.
- 200. Guyader, M., M. Emerman, L. Montagnier, and K. Peden. 1989. VPX mutants of HIV-2 are infectious in established cell lines but display a severe defect in peripheral blood lymphocytes. EMBO J 8:1169-1175.
- 201. Haas, D. L., C. Lutzko, A. C. Logan, G. J. Cho, D. Skelton, X. Jin Yu, K. A. Pepper, and D. B. Kohn. 2003. The Moloney murine leukemia virus repressor binding site represses expression in murine and human hematopoietic stem cells. J Virol 77:9439-9450.
- 202. Hache, G., M. T. Liddament, and R. S. Harris. 2005. The retroviral hypermutation specificity of APOBEC3F and APOBEC3G is governed by the C-terminal DNA cytosine deaminase domain. J Biol Chem 280:10920-10924.
- 203. Haffar, O. K., S. Popov, L. Dubrovsky, I. Agostini, H. Tang, T. Pushkarsky, S. G. Nadler, and M. Bukrinsky. 2000. Two nuclear localization signals in the HIV-1 matrix protein regulate nuclear import of the HIV-1 pre-integration complex. J Mol Biol 299:359-368.
- 204. Hakata, Y., and N. Landau. 2006. Reversed functional organization of mouse and human APOBEC3 cytidine deaminase domains. J Biol Chem 281:36624 -36631.
- 205. Hamamoto, S., H. Nishitsuji, T. Amagasa, M. Kannagi, and T. Masuda. 2006. Identification of a novel human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase interactor, Gemin2, that facilitates efficient viral cDNA synthesis in vivo. J Virol 80:5670-5677.
- 206. Hammarskjold, M. L. 2001. Constitutive transport element-mediated nuclear export. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 259:77-93.
- 207. Hammarskjold, M. L., J. Heimer, B. Hammarskjold, I. Sangwan, L. Albert, and D. Rekosh. 1989. Regulation of human immunodeficiency virus env expression by the rev gene product. J Virol 63:1959-1966.
- 208. Hammonds, J., J. J. Wang, H. Yi, and P. Spearman. 2010. Immunoelectron microscopic evidence for Tetherin/BST2 as the physical bridge between HIV-1 virions and the plasma membrane. PLoS Pathog 6:e1000749.
- 209. Han, J. S., S. T. Szak, and J. D. Boeke. 2004. Transcriptional disruption by the L1 retrotransposon and implications for mammalian transcriptomes. Nature 429:268-274.
- 210. Hanson, R. P. 1952. The natural history of vesicular stomatitis. Bacteriol Rev 16:179-204.
- 211. Hare, S., M. C. Shun, S. S. Gupta, E. Valkov, A. Engelman, and P. Cherepanov. 2009. A novel co-crystal structure affords the design of gain-of-function lentiviral integrase mutants in the presence of modified PSIP1/LEDGF/p75. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000259.
- 212. Harris, R. S., K. N. Bishop, A. M. Sheehy, H. M. Craig, S. K. Petersen-Mahrt, I. N. Watt, M. S. Neuberger, and M. H. Malim. 2003. DNA deamination mediates innate immunity to retroviral infection. Cell **113**:803-809.

- 213. Hasin-Brumshtein, Y., D. Lancet, and T. Olender. 2009. Human olfaction: from genomic variation to phenotypic diversity. Trends Genet 25:178-184.
- 214. **Hasler, J., and K. Strub.** 2006. Alu elements as regulators of gene expression. Nucleic Acids Res **34**:5491-5497.
- Hatziioannou, T., S. Cowan, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2004. Capsid-dependent and independent postentry restriction of primate lentivirus tropism in rodent cells. J Virol 78:1006-1011.
- Hatziioannou, T., S. Cowan, S. P. Goff, P. D. Bieniasz, and G. J. Towers. 2003. Restriction of multiple divergent retroviruses by Lv1 and Ref1. EMBO J 22:385-394.
- Hatziioannou, T., D. Perez-Caballero, A. Yang, S. Cowan, and P. D. Bieniasz.
  2004. Retrovirus resistance factors Ref1 and Lv1 are species-specific variants of TRIM5alpha. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:10774-10779.
- 218. Hauser, H., L. A. Lopez, S. J. Yang, J. E. Oldenburg, C. M. Exline, J. C. Guatelli, and P. M. Cannon. 2010. HIV-1 Vpu and HIV-2 Env counteract BST-2/tetherin by sequestration in a perinuclear compartment. Retrovirology 7:51.
- 219. Hayouka, Z., J. Rosenbluh, A. Levin, S. Loya, M. Lebendiker, D. Veprintsev, M. Kotler, A. Hizi, A. Loyter, and A. Friedler. 2007. Inhibiting HIV-1 integrase by shifting its oligomerization equilibrium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:8316-8321.
- 220. He, F., W. S. Blair, J. Fukushima, and B. R. Cullen. 1996. The human foamy virus Bel-1 transcription factor is a sequence-specific DNA binding protein. J Virol 70:3902-3908.
- 221. Heberling, R. L., S. T. Barker, S. S. Kalter, G. C. Smith, and R. J. Helmke. 1977. Oncornavirus: isolation from a squirrel monkey (Saimiri sciureus) lung culture. Science **195**:289-292.
- 222. Heinkelein, M., C. Leurs, M. Rammling, K. Peters, H. Hanenberg, and A. Rethwilm. 2002. Pregenomic RNA is required for efficient incorporation of pol polyprotein into foamy virus capsids. J Virol **76:**10069-10073.
- 223. Heinzinger, N. K., M. I. Bukinsky, S. A. Haggerty, A. M. Ragland, V. Kewalramani, M. A. Lee, H. E. Gendelman, L. Ratner, M. Stevenson, and M. Emerman. 1994. The Vpr protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 influences nuclear localization of viral nucleic acids in nondividing host cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:7311-7315.
- 224. Held, W., H. Acha-Orbea, H. R. MacDonald, and G. A. Waanders. 1994. Superantigens and retroviral infection: insights from mouse mammary tumor virus. Immunol Today 15:184-190.
- 225. Held, W., G. A. Waanders, A. N. Shakhov, L. Scarpellino, H. Acha-Orbea, and H. R. MacDonald. 1993. Superantigen-induced immune stimulation amplifies mouse mammary tumor virus infection and allows virus transmission. Cell 74:529-540.
- 226. Henderson, L. E., H. C. Krutzsch, and S. Oroszlan. 1983. Myristyl aminoterminal acylation of murine retrovirus proteins: an unusual post-translational proteins modification. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **80**:339-343.
- 227. Hennig, J., A. Bresell, M. Sandberg, K. D. Hennig, M. Wahren-Herlenius, B. Persson, and M. Sunnerhagen. 2008. The fellowship of the RING: the RING-B-

box linker region interacts with the RING in TRIM21/Ro52, contains a native autoantigenic epitope in Sjogren syndrome, and is an integral and conserved region in TRIM proteins. J Mol Biol **377:**431-449.

- 228. Hidaka, M., J. Inoue, M. Yoshida, and M. Seiki. 1988. Post-transcriptional regulator (rex) of HTLV-1 initiates expression of viral structural proteins but suppresses expression of regulatory proteins. EMBO J 7:519-523.
- 229. Hilberg, F., C. Stocking, W. Ostertag, and M. Grez. 1987. Functional analysis of a retroviral host-range mutant: altered long terminal repeat sequences allow expression in embryonal carcinoma cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84:5232-5236.
- 230. Hiller, M., K. Huse, M. Platzer, and R. Backofen. 2005. Non-EST based prediction of exon skipping and intron retention events using Pfam information. Nucleic Acids Res 33:5611-5621.
- 231. Himathongkham, S., and P. A. Luciw. 1996. Restriction of HIV-1 (subtype B) replication at the entry step in rhesus macaque cells. Virology **219**:485-488.
- Hofmann, W., D. Schubert, J. LaBonte, L. Munson, S. Gibson, J. Scammell, P. Ferrigno, and J. Sodroski. 1999. Species-specific, postentry barriers to primate immunodeficiency virus infection. J Virol 73:10020-10028.
- 233. Hofmann-Lehmann, R., J. Vlasak, A. L. Williams, A. L. Chenine, H. M. McClure, D. C. Anderson, S. O'Neil, and R. M. Ruprecht. 2003. Live attenuated, nef-deleted SIV is pathogenic in most adult macaques after prolonged observation. AIDS 17:157-166.
- 234. Holmes, R., F. Koning, K. Bishop, and M. Malim. 2007. APOBEC3F can inhibit the accumulation of HIV-1 reverse transcription products in the absence of hypermutation. Comparisons with APOBEC3G. J Biol Chem 282:2587 2595.
- 235. Horowitz, R. W., H. Zhang, E. L. Schwartz, R. D. Ladner, and S. Wadler. 1997. Measurement of deoxyuridine triphosphate and thymidine triphosphate in the extracts of thymidylate synthase-inhibited cells using a modified DNA polymerase assay. Biochem Pharmacol 54:635-638.
- 236. Hrecka, K., M. Gierszewska, S. Srivastava, L. Kozaczkiewicz, S. K. Swanson, L. Florens, M. P. Washburn, and J. Skowronski. 2007. Lentiviral Vpr usurps Cul4-DDB1[VprBP] E3 ubiquitin ligase to modulate cell cycle. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:11778-11783.
- 237. Hrimech, M., X. J. Yao, F. Bachand, N. Rougeau, and E. A. Cohen. 1999. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) Vpr functions as an immediateearly protein during HIV-1 infection. J Virol **73**:4101-4109.
- 238. **Hughes, J. F., and J. M. Coffin.** 2004. Human endogenous retrovirus K solo-LTR formation and insertional polymorphisms: implications for human and viral evolution. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **101**:1668-1672.
- Hunter, E., J. Casey, B. Hahn, M. Hayami, B. Korber, R. Kurth, J. Neil, A. Rethwilm, P. Sonigo, and J. Stoye. 2000. Retroviridae, p. 369-387. *In* M. H. V. van Regenmortel, C. M. Fauquet, D. H. L. Bishop, E. B. Carstens, M. K. Estes, S. M. Lemon, J. Maniloff, M. A. Mayo, D. J. McGeoch, C. R. Pringle, and R. B. Wickner (ed.), Virus Taxonomy Seventh ed. Academic Press, San Diego.

- 240. **Huthoff, H., and M. Malim.** 2007. Identification of Amino Acid Residues in APOBEC3G Required for Regulation by Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Vif and Virion Encapsidation. J Virol **81:**3807 3815.
- 241. Ikeda, H., F. Laigret, M. A. Martin, and R. Repaske. 1985. Characterization of a molecularly cloned retroviral sequence associated with Fv-4 resistance. J Virol 55:768-777.
- 242. Ikeda, H., and H. Sugimura. 1989. Fv-4 resistance gene: a truncated endogenous murine leukemia virus with ecotropic interference properties. J Virol 63:5405-5412.
- 243. Ikeda, T., H. Nishitsuji, X. Zhou, N. Nara, T. Ohashi, M. Kannagi, and T. Masuda. 2004. Evaluation of the functional involvement of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase in nuclear import of viral cDNA during acute infection. J Virol 78:11563-11573.
- 244. Inoue, J., M. Itoh, T. Akizawa, H. Toyoshima, and M. Yoshida. 1991. HTLV-1 Rex protein accumulates unspliced RNA in the nucleus as well as in cytoplasm. Oncogene 6:1753-1757.
- 245. **Iordanskiy, S., R. Berro, M. Altieri, F. Kashanchi, and M. Bukrinsky.** 2006. Intracytoplasmic maturation of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcription complexes determines their capacity to integrate into chromatin. Retrovirology **3**:4.
- 246. Iwabu, Y., H. Fujita, M. Kinomoto, K. Kaneko, Y. Ishizaka, Y. Tanaka, T. Sata, and K. Tokunaga. 2009. HIV-1 accessory protein Vpu internalizes cell-surface BST-2/tetherin through transmembrane interactions leading to lysosomes. J Biol Chem 284:35060-35072.
- 247. Iwatani, Y., H. Takeuchi, K. Strebel, and J. G. Levin. 2006. Biochemical activities of highly purified, catalytically active human APOBEC3G: correlation with antiviral effect. J Virol 80:5992-6002.
- 248. Jacks, T., K. Townsley, H. E. Varmus, and J. Majors. 1987. Two efficient ribosomal frameshifting events are required for synthesis of mouse mammary tumor virus gag-related polyproteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84:4298-4302.
- 249. Jacotot, E., L. Ravagnan, M. Loeffler, K. F. Ferri, H. L. Vieira, N. Zamzami, P. Costantini, S. Druillennec, J. Hoebeke, J. P. Briand, T. Irinopoulou, E. Daugas, S. A. Susin, D. Cointe, Z. H. Xie, J. C. Reed, B. P. Roques, and G. Kroemer. 2000. The HIV-1 viral protein R induces apoptosis via a direct effect on the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. J Exp Med 191:33-46.
- 250. Jacquot, G., E. Le Rouzic, A. David, J. Mazzolini, J. Bouchet, S. Bouaziz, F. Niedergang, G. Pancino, and S. Benichou. 2007. Localization of HIV-1 Vpr to the nuclear envelope: impact on Vpr functions and virus replication in macrophages. Retrovirology 4:84.
- 251. James, L. C., A. H. Keeble, Z. Khan, D. A. Rhodes, and J. Trowsdale. 2007. Structural basis for PRYSPRY-mediated tripartite motif (TRIM) protein function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:6200-6205.
- 252. Jarmuz, A., A. Chester, J. Bayliss, J. Gisbourne, I. Dunham, J. Scott, and N. Navaratnam. 2002. An anthropoid-specific locus of orphan C to U RNA-editing enzymes on chromosome 22. Genomics **79**:285-296.

- 253. Javanbakht, H., F. Diaz-Griffero, M. Stremlau, Z. Si, and J. Sodroski. 2005. The contribution of RING and B-box 2 domains to retroviral restriction mediated by monkey TRIM5alpha. J Biol Chem **280**:26933-26940.
- 254. Javanbakht, H., W. Yuan, D. F. Yeung, B. Song, F. Diaz-Griffero, Y. Li, X. Li, M. Stremlau, and J. Sodroski. 2006. Characterization of TRIM5alpha trimerization and its contribution to human immunodeficiency virus capsid binding. Virology 353:234-246.
- 255. Jern, P., G. O. Sperber, and J. Blomberg. 2006. Divergent patterns of recent retroviral integrations in the human and chimpanzee genomes: probable transmissions between other primates and chimpanzees. Journal of virology 80:1367-1375.
- 256. Jia, B., R. Serra-Moreno, W. Neidermyer, A. Rahmberg, J. Mackey, I. B. Fofana, W. E. Johnson, S. Westmoreland, and D. T. Evans. 2009. Speciesspecific activity of SIV Nef and HIV-1 Vpu in overcoming restriction by tetherin/BST2. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000429.
- 257. Johnson, W. E., and S. L. Sawyer. 2009. Molecular evolution of the antiretroviral TRIM5 gene. Immunogenetics 61:163-176.
- 258. Jonsson, S. R., G. Hache, M. D. Stenglein, S. C. Fahrenkrug, V. Andresdottir, and R. S. Harris. 2006. Evolutionarily conserved and nonconserved retrovirus restriction activities of artiodactyl APOBEC3F proteins. Nucleic Acids Res 34:5683-5694.
- 259. Jouvenet, N., P. D. Bieniasz, and S. M. Simon. 2008. Imaging the biogenesis of individual HIV-1 virions in live cells. Nature 454:236-240.
- 260. Jouvenet, N., S. J. Neil, C. Bess, M. C. Johnson, C. A. Virgen, S. M. Simon, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2006. Plasma membrane is the site of productive HIV-1 particle assembly. PLoS Biol 4:e435.
- 261. Jouvenet, N., S. J. Neil, M. Zhadina, T. Zang, Z. Kratovac, Y. Lee, M. McNatt, T. Hatziioannou, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2009. Broad-spectrum inhibition of retroviral and filoviral particle release by tetherin. J Virol 83:1837-1844.
- 262. Jouvenet, N., S. M. Simon, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2009. Imaging the interaction of HIV-1 genomes and Gag during assembly of individual viral particles. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:19114-19119.
- 263. Juven, T., Y. Barak, A. Zauberman, D. L. George, and M. Oren. 1993. Wild type p53 can mediate sequence-specific transactivation of an internal promoter within the mdm2 gene. Oncogene 8:3411-3416.
- 264. Kai, K., H. Ikeda, Y. Yuasa, S. Suzuki, and T. Odaka. 1976. Mouse strain resistant to N-, B-, and NB-tropic murine leukemia viruses. J Virol 20:436-440.
- 265. Kai, K., H. Sato, and T. Odaka. 1986. Relationship between the cellular resistance to Friend murine leukemia virus infection and the expression of murine leukemia virus-gp70-related glycoprotein on cell surface of BALB/c-Fv-4wr mice. Virology 150:509-512.
- 266. Kaiser, S., and M. Emerman. 2006. Uracil DNA Glycosylase Is Dispensable for Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Replication and Does Not Contribute to the Antiviral Effects of the Cytidine Deaminase Apobec3G. J Virol 80:875 - 882.
- 267. Kaiser, S. M., H. S. Malik, and M. Emerman. 2007. Restriction of an extinct retrovirus by the human TRIM5alpha antiviral protein. Science **316**:1756-1758.

- 268. Kaletsky, R. L., J. R. Francica, C. Agrawal-Gamse, and P. Bates. 2009. Tetherin-mediated restriction of filovirus budding is antagonized by the Ebola glycoprotein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:2886-2891.
- 269. Kaneshiro, K., S. Tsutsumi, S. Tsuji, K. Shirahige, and H. Aburatani. 2007. An integrated map of p53-binding sites and histone modification in the human ENCODE regions. Genomics 89:178-188.
- 270. Kao, S., R. Goila-Gaur, E. Miyagi, M. Khan, S. Opi, H. Takeuchi, and K. Strebel. 2007. Production of infectious virus and degradation of APOBEC3G are separable functional properties of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif. Virology 369:329 339.
- 271. Kao, S., M. Khan, E. Miyagi, R. Plishka, A. Buckler-White, and K. Strebel. 2003. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif protein reduces intracellular expression and inhibits packaging of APOBEC3G (CEM15), a cellular inhibitor of virus infectivity. J Virol 77:11398 - 11407.
- 272. Kao, S., E. Miyagi, M. A. Khan, H. Takeuchi, S. Opi, R. Goila-Gaur, and K. Strebel. 2004. Production of infectious human immunodeficiency virus type 1 does not require depletion of APOBEC3G from virus-producing cells. Retrovirology 1:27.
- 273. Karapetian, O., A. N. Shakhov, J. P. Kraehenbuhl, and H. Acha-Orbea. 1994. Retroviral infection of neonatal Peyer's patch lymphocytes: the mouse mammary tumor virus model. J Exp Med 180:1511-1516.
- 274. Kashanchi, F., and J. N. Brady. 2005. Transcriptional and post-transcriptional gene regulation of HTLV-1. Oncogene 24:5938-5951.
- 275. Katz, R. A., J. G. Greger, P. Boimel, and A. M. Skalka. 2003. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 DNA nuclear import and integration are mitosis independent in cycling cells. J Virol 77:13412-13417.
- 276. Kaushik, R., X. Zhu, R. Stranska, Y. Wu, and M. Stevenson. 2009. A cellular restriction dictates the permissivity of nondividing monocytes/macrophages to lentivirus and gammaretrovirus infection. Cell Host Microbe 6:68-80.
- 277. Kawamura, M., H. Sakai, and A. Adachi. 1994. Human immunodeficiency virus Vpx is required for the early phase of replication in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Microbiol Immunol **38**:871-878.
- 278. Keckesova, Z., L. M. Ylinen, and G. J. Towers. 2004. The human and African green monkey TRIM5alpha genes encode Ref1 and Lv1 retroviral restriction factor activities. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101:10780-10785.
- 279. Khan, M., S. Kao, E. Miyagi, H. Takeuchi, R. Goila-Gaur, S. Opi, C. Gipson, T. Parslow, H. Ly, and K. Strebel. 2005. Viral RNA is required for the association of APOBEC3G with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 nucleoprotein complexes. J Virol 79:5870 - 5874.
- 280. Khan, M. A., R. Goila-Gaur, S. Opi, E. Miyagi, H. Takeuchi, S. Kao, and K. Strebel. 2007. Analysis of the contribution of cellular and viral RNA to the packaging of APOBEC3G into HIV-1 virions. Retrovirology **4**:48.
- 281. Kimura, T., I. Hashimoto, A. Yamamoto, M. Nishikawa, and J. I. Fujisawa. 2000. Rev-dependent association of the intron-containing HIV-1 gag mRNA with

the nuclear actin bundles and the inhibition of its nucleocytoplasmic transport by latrunculin-B. Genes Cells **5**:289-307.

- 282. King, J. A., J. M. Bridger, F. Gounari, P. Lichter, T. F. Schulz, V. Schirrmacher, and K. Khazaie. 1998. The extended packaging sequence of MoMLV contains a constitutive mRNA nuclear export function. FEBS Lett 434:367-371.
- 283. Kirmaier, A., F. Wu, R. M. Newman, L. R. Hall, J. S. Morgan, S. O'Connor, P. A. Marx, M. Meythaler, S. Goldstein, A. Buckler-White, A. Kaur, V. M. Hirsch, and W. E. Johnson. 2010. TRIM5 Suppresses Cross-Species Transmission of a Primate Immunodeficiency Virus and Selects for Emergence of Resistant Variants in the New Species. PLoS Biol 8:e1000462.
- 284. Kjems, J., A. D. Frankel, and P. A. Sharp. 1991. Specific regulation of mRNA splicing in vitro by a peptide from HIV-1 Rev. Cell 67:169-178.
- 285. Klimkait, T., K. Strebel, M. D. Hoggan, M. A. Martin, and J. M. Orenstein. 1990. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1-specific protein vpu is required for efficient virus maturation and release. J Virol **64**:621-629.
- Klug, A., and J. W. Schwabe. 1995. Protein motifs 5. Zinc fingers. FASEB J 9:597-604.
- 287. Kobayashi, M., A. Takaori-Kondo, Y. Miyauchi, K. Iwai, and T. Uchiyama. 2005. Ubiquitination of APOBEC3G by an HIV-1 Vif-Cullin5-Elongin B-Elongin C complex is essential for Vif function. J Biol Chem 280:18573 - 18578.
- Kobayashi, M., A. Takaori-Kondo, K. Shindo, A. Abudu, K. Fukunaga, and T. Uchiyama. 2004. APOBEC3G targets specific virus species. J Virol 78:8238 -8244.
- 289. Kolokithas, A., K. Rosenke, F. Malik, D. Hendrick, L. Swanson, M. L. Santiago, J. L. Portis, K. J. Hasenkrug, and L. H. Evans. 2010. The glycosylated Gag protein of a murine leukemia virus inhibits the antiretroviral function of APOBEC3. J Virol 84:10933-10936.
- 290. Konig, R., Y. Zhou, D. Elleder, T. L. Diamond, G. M. Bonamy, J. T. Irelan, C. Y. Chiang, B. P. Tu, P. D. De Jesus, C. E. Lilley, S. Seidel, A. M. Opaluch, J. S. Caldwell, M. D. Weitzman, K. L. Kuhen, S. Bandyopadhyay, T. Ideker, A. P. Orth, L. J. Miraglia, F. D. Bushman, J. A. Young, and S. K. Chanda. 2008. Global analysis of host-pathogen interactions that regulate early-stage HIV-1 replication. Cell 135:49-60.
- 291. Kono, K., H. Song, Y. Shingai, T. Shioda, and E. E. Nakayama. 2008. Comparison of anti-viral activity of rhesus monkey and cynomolgus monkey TRIM5alphas against human immunodeficiency virus type 2 infection. Virology 373:447-456.
- 292. Korman, A. J., P. Bourgarel, T. Meo, and G. E. Rieckhof. 1992. The mouse mammary tumour virus long terminal repeat encodes a type II transmembrane glycoprotein. EMBO J 11:1901-1905.
- 293. Kozak, C. A., and A. Chakraborti. 1996. Single amino acid changes in the murine leukemia virus capsid protein gene define the target of Fv1 resistance. Virology 225:300-305.
- 294. Kozak, M. 1987. An analysis of 5'-noncoding sequences from 699 vertebrate messenger RNAs. Nucleic Acids Res 15:8125-8148.

- 295. Kozak, S. L., M. Marin, K. M. Rose, C. Bystrom, and D. Kabat. 2006. The anti-HIV-1 editing enzyme APOBEC3G binds HIV-1 RNA and messenger RNAs that shuttle between polysomes and stress granules. J Biol Chem 281:29105-29119.
- 296. Krishnan, L., K. A. Matreyek, I. Oztop, K. Lee, C. H. Tipper, X. Li, M. J. Dar, V. N. Kewalramani, and A. Engelman. 2010. The requirement for cellular transportin 3 (TNPO3 or TRN-SR2) during infection maps to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 capsid and not integrase. J Virol 84:397-406.
- 297. Kupzig, S., V. Korolchuk, R. Rollason, A. Sugden, A. Wilde, and G. Banting. 2003. Bst-2/HM1.24 is a raft-associated apical membrane protein with an unusual topology. Traffic 4:694-709.
- 298. Kusuhara, K., M. Anderson, S. M. Pettiford, and P. L. Green. 1999. Human T-cell leukemia virus type 2 Rex protein increases stability and promotes nuclear to cytoplasmic transport of gag/pol and env RNAs. J Virol **73**:8112-8119.
- 299. Ladner, R. D., and S. J. Caradonna. 1997. The human dUTPase gene encodes both nuclear and mitochondrial isoforms. Differential expression of the isoforms and characterization of a cDNA encoding the mitochondrial species. J Biol Chem 272:19072-19080.
- 300. Lai, W. S., E. Carballo, J. R. Strum, E. A. Kennington, R. S. Phillips, and P. J. Blackshear. 1999. Evidence that tristetraprolin binds to AU-rich elements and promotes the deadenylation and destabilization of tumor necrosis factor alpha mRNA. Mol Cell Biol 19:4311-4323.
- 301. Lai, W. S., E. Carballo, J. M. Thorn, E. A. Kennington, and P. J. Blackshear. 2000. Interactions of CCCH zinc finger proteins with mRNA. Binding of tristetraprolin-related zinc finger proteins to Au-rich elements and destabilization of mRNA. J Biol Chem 275:17827-17837.
- 302. Langelier, C. R., V. Sandrin, D. M. Eckert, D. E. Christensen, V. Chandrasekaran, S. L. Alam, C. Aiken, J. C. Olsen, A. K. Kar, J. G. Sodroski, and W. I. Sundquist. 2008. Biochemical characterization of a recombinant TRIM5alpha protein that restricts human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication. J Virol 82:11682-11694.
- 303. Langlois, M., and M. Neuberger. 2008. Human APOBEC3G can restrict retroviral infection in avian cells and acts independently of both UNG and SMUG1. J Virol 82:4660 4664.
- 304. Le Douarin, B., A. L. Nielsen, J. M. Garnier, H. Ichinose, F. Jeanmougin, R. Losson, and P. Chambon. 1996. A possible involvement of TIF1 alpha and TIF1 beta in the epigenetic control of transcription by nuclear receptors. EMBO J 15:6701-6715.
- 305. Le Tortorec, A., and S. J. Neil. 2009. Antagonism to and intracellular sequestration of human tetherin by the human immunodeficiency virus type 2 envelope glycoprotein. J Virol 83:11966-11978.
- 306. Leavitt, A. D., G. Robles, N. Alesandro, and H. E. Varmus. 1996. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase mutants retain in vitro integrase activity yet fail to integrate viral DNA efficiently during infection. J Virol **70**:721-728.
- 307. Lecossier, D., F. Bouchonnet, F. Clavel, and A. J. Hance. 2003. Hypermutation of HIV-1 DNA in the absence of the Vif protein. Science **300**:1112.

- 308. Lee, E. G., and M. L. Linial. 2008. The C terminus of foamy retrovirus Gag contains determinants for encapsidation of Pol protein into virions. J Virol 82:10803-10810.
- 309. Lee, J. Y., Z. Ji, and B. Tian. 2008. Phylogenetic analysis of mRNA polyadenylation sites reveals a role of transposable elements in evolution of the 3'-end of genes. Nucleic Acids Res 36:5581-5590.
- 310. Lee, K., Z. Ambrose, T. D. Martin, I. Oztop, A. Mulky, J. G. Julias, N. Vandegraaff, J. G. Baumann, R. Wang, W. Yuen, T. Takemura, K. Shelton, I. Taniuchi, Y. Li, J. Sodroski, D. R. Littman, J. M. Coffin, S. H. Hughes, D. Unutmaz, A. Engelman, and V. N. KewalRamani. 2010. Flexible use of nuclear import pathways by HIV-1. Cell Host Microbe 7:221-233.
- 311. Lee, Y. N., and P. D. Bieniasz. 2007. Reconstitution of an infectious human endogenous retrovirus. PLoS pathogens 3:e10.
- 312. Leib-Mosch, C., M. Haltmeier, T. Werner, E. M. Geigl, R. Brack-Werner, U. Francke, V. Erfle, and R. Hehlmann. 1993. Genomic distribution and transcription of solitary HERV-K LTRs. Genomics 18:261-269.
- 313. Lemay, J., P. Maidou-Peindara, T. Bader, E. Ennifar, J. C. Rain, R. Benarous, and L. X. Liu. 2008. HuR interacts with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcriptase, and modulates reverse transcription in infected cells. Retrovirology 5:47.
- 314. Lemay, J., P. Maidou-Peindara, R. Cancio, E. Ennifar, G. Coadou, G. Maga, J. C. Rain, R. Benarous, and L. X. Liu. 2008. AKAP149 binds to HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and is involved in the reverse transcription. J Mol Biol 383:783-796.
- 315. Lewinski, M. K., D. Bisgrove, P. Shinn, H. Chen, C. Hoffmann, S. Hannenhalli, E. Verdin, C. C. Berry, J. R. Ecker, and F. D. Bushman. 2005. Genome-wide analysis of chromosomal features repressing human immunodeficiency virus transcription. J Virol 79:6610-6619.
- 316. Lewinski, M. K., M. Yamashita, M. Emerman, A. Ciuffi, H. Marshall, G. Crawford, F. Collins, P. Shinn, J. Leipzig, S. Hannenhalli, C. C. Berry, J. R. Ecker, and F. D. Bushman. 2006. Retroviral DNA integration: viral and cellular determinants of target-site selection. PLoS Pathog 2:e60.
- 317. Lewis, P., M. Hensel, and M. Emerman. 1992. Human immunodeficiency virus infection of cells arrested in the cell cycle. EMBO J 11:3053-3058.
- 318. Lewis, P. F., and M. Emerman. 1994. Passage through mitosis is required for oncoretroviruses but not for the human immunodeficiency virus. J Virol 68:510-516.
- 319. Li, S., C. P. Hill, W. I. Sundquist, and J. T. Finch. 2000. Image reconstructions of helical assemblies of the HIV-1 CA protein. Nature 407:409-413.
- 320. Li, X., B. Gold, C. O'HUigin, F. Diaz-Griffero, B. Song, Z. Si, Y. Li, W. Yuan, M. Stremlau, C. Mische, H. Javanbakht, M. Scally, C. Winkler, M. Dean, and J. Sodroski. 2007. Unique features of TRIM5alpha among closely related human TRIM family members. Virology 360:419-433.
- 321. Li, X., Y. Li, M. Stremlau, W. Yuan, B. Song, M. Perron, and J. Sodroski. 2006. Functional replacement of the RING, B-box 2, and coiled-coil domains of tripartite motif 5alpha (TRIM5alpha) by heterologous TRIM domains. J Virol 80:6198-6206.

- 322. Li, X., and J. Sodroski. 2008. The TRIM5alpha B-box 2 domain promotes cooperative binding to the retroviral capsid by mediating higher-order self-association. J Virol 82:11495-11502.
- 323. Li, Y., X. Li, M. Stremlau, M. Lee, and J. Sodroski. 2006. Removal of arginine 332 allows human TRIM5alpha to bind human immunodeficiency virus capsids and to restrict infection. J Virol **80**:6738-6744.
- 324. Liao, C. H., Y. Q. Kuang, H. L. Liu, Y. T. Zheng, and B. Su. 2007. A novel fusion gene, TRIM5-Cyclophilin A in the pig-tailed macaque determines its susceptibility to HIV-1 infection. AIDS **21 Suppl 8:**S19-26.
- 325. Liddament, M., W. Brown, A. Schumacher, and R. Harris. 2004. APOBEC3F properties and hypermutation preferences indicate activity against HIV-1 in vivo. Curr Biol 14:1385 1391.
- 326. Lieb-Mösch, C., W. Seifarth, and U. Schön. 2005. Influence of Human Endogenous Retroviruses on Cellular Gene Expression, p. 123-143. *In* E. D. Sverdlov (ed.), Retroviruses and Primate Genome Evolution. Landes Bioscience, Georgetown, TX.
- 327. Lilly, F. 1967. Susceptibility to two strains of Friend leukemia virus in mice. Science 155:461-462.
- 328. Lilly, F., and T. Pincus. 1973. Genetic Control Of Murine Viral Leukemogenesis, p. 231-277. *In* S. W. George Kleln and H. Alexander (ed.), Advances in Cancer Research, vol. Volume 17. Academic Press.
- 329. Lim, E. S., H. S. Malik, and M. Emerman. 2010. Ancient adaptive evolution of tetherin shaped the functions of Vpu and Nef in human immunodeficiency virus and primate lentiviruses. J Virol 84:7124-7134.
- 330. Lim, S. Y., T. Rogers, T. Chan, J. B. Whitney, J. Kim, J. Sodroski, and N. L. Letvin. 2010. TRIM5alpha Modulates Immunodeficiency Virus Control in Rhesus Monkeys. PLoS Pathog 6:e1000738.
- 331. Limjoco, T. I., P. Dickie, H. Ikeda, and J. Silver. 1993. Transgenic Fv-4 mice resistant to Friend virus. J Virol 67:4163-4168.
- 332. Lin, S., N. Gaiano, P. Culp, J. C. Burns, T. Friedmann, J. K. Yee, and N. Hopkins. 1994. Integration and germ-line transmission of a pseudotyped retroviral vector in zebrafish. Science 265:666-669.
- 333. Lin, T. Y., and M. Emerman. 2006. Cyclophilin A interacts with diverse lentiviral capsids. Retrovirology 3:70.
- 334. Linney, E., B. Davis, J. Overhauser, E. Chao, and H. Fan. 1984. Non-function of a Moloney murine leukaemia virus regulatory sequence in F9 embryonal carcinoma cells. Nature **308**:470-472.
- 335. Liu, H., E. C. Dow, R. Arora, J. T. Kimata, L. M. Bull, R. C. Arduino, and A. P. Rice. 2006. Integration of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in untreated infection occurs preferentially within genes. J Virol 80:7765-7768.
- 336. Llano, M., M. Vanegas, O. Fregoso, D. Saenz, S. Chung, M. Peretz, and E. M. Poeschla. 2004. LEDGF/p75 determines cellular trafficking of diverse lentiviral but not murine oncoretroviral integrase proteins and is a component of functional lentiviral preintegration complexes. J Virol 78:9524-9537.
- 337. Lochelt, M., F. Romen, P. Bastone, H. Muckenfuss, N. Kirchner, Y. B. Kim, U. Truyen, U. Rosler, M. Battenberg, A. Saib, E. Flory, K. Cichutek, and C.

**Munk.** 2005. The antiretroviral activity of APOBEC3 is inhibited by the foamy virus accessory Bet protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **102**:7982-7987.

- 338. Loh, T. P., L. L. Sievert, and R. W. Scott. 1990. Evidence for a stem cellspecific repressor of Moloney murine leukemia virus expression in embryonal carcinoma cells. Mol Cell Biol 10:4045-4057.
- Loh, T. P., L. L. Sievert, and R. W. Scott. 1987. Proviral sequences that restrict retroviral expression in mouse embryonal carcinoma cells. Mol Cell Biol 7:3775-3784.
- 340. Long, M., E. Betran, K. Thornton, and W. Wang. 2003. The origin of new genes: glimpses from the young and old. Nat Rev Genet 4:865-875.
- 341. Lu, R., H. Z. Ghory, and A. Engelman. 2005. Genetic analyses of conserved residues in the carboxyl-terminal domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase. J Virol **79:**10356-10368.
- 342. Luo, T., J. L. Douglas, R. L. Livingston, and J. V. Garcia. 1998. Infectivity enhancement by HIV-1 Nef is dependent on the pathway of virus entry: implications for HIV-based gene transfer systems. Virology **241**:224-233.
- 343. **Maegawa, H., E. E. Nakayama, A. Kuroishi, and T. Shioda.** 2008. Silencing of tripartite motif protein (TRIM) 5alpha mediated anti-HIV-1 activity by truncated mutant of TRIM5alpha. J Virol Methods **151:**249-256.
- 344. Maertens, G., P. Cherepanov, W. Pluymers, K. Busschots, E. De Clercq, Z. Debyser, and Y. Engelborghs. 2003. LEDGF/p75 is essential for nuclear and chromosomal targeting of HIV-1 integrase in human cells. J Biol Chem 278:33528-33539.
- 345. Mager, D. L., L. N. van de Lagemaat, and P. Medstrand. 2005. Genomic Distributions of Human Retroelements, p. 104-122. *In* E. D. Sverdlov (ed.), Retroviruses and Primate Genome Evolution. Landes Bioscience, Georgetown, TX.
- 346. Mahalingam, S., B. Van Tine, M. L. Santiago, F. Gao, G. M. Shaw, and B. H. Hahn. 2001. Functional analysis of the simian immunodeficiency virus Vpx protein: identification of packaging determinants and a novel nuclear targeting domain. J Virol 75:362-374.
- 347. Mahieux, R., C. Chappey, M. C. Georges-Courbot, G. Dubreuil, P. Mauclere, A. Georges, and A. Gessain. 1998. Simian T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 from Mandrillus sphinx as a simian counterpart of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 subtype D. J Virol 72:10316-10322.
- 348. **Maillard, P. V., G. Ecco, M. Ortiz, and D. Trono.** 2010. The specificity of TRIM5 alpha-mediated restriction is influenced by its coiled-coil domain. J Virol **84:**5790-5801.
- 349. Malim, M. H., S. Bohnlein, J. Hauber, and B. R. Cullen. 1989. Functional dissection of the HIV-1 Rev trans-activator--derivation of a trans-dominant repressor of Rev function. Cell 58:205-214.
- 350. Malim, M. H., and M. Emerman. 2008. HIV-1 accessory proteins--ensuring viral survival in a hostile environment. Cell Host Microbe 3:388-398.
- 351. Mangeat, B., G. Gers-Huber, M. Lehmann, M. Zufferey, J. Luban, and V. Piguet. 2009. HIV-1 Vpu neutralizes the antiviral factor Tetherin/BST-2 by

binding it and directing its beta-TrCP2-dependent degradation. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000574.

- 352. Mangeat, B., P. Turelli, G. Caron, M. Friedli, L. Perrin, and D. Trono. 2003. Broad antiretroviral defence by human APOBEC3G through lethal editing of nascent reverse transcripts. Nature **424**:99-103.
- 353. Mangeat, B., P. Turelli, S. Liao, and D. Trono. 2004. A single amino acid determinant governs the species-specific sensitivity of APOBEC3G to Vif action. J Biol Chem 279:14481 14483.
- 354. Mangeot, P. E., K. Duperrier, D. Negre, B. Boson, D. Rigal, F. L. Cosset, and J. L. Darlix. 2002. High levels of transduction of human dendritic cells with optimized SIV vectors. Mol Ther 5:283-290.
- 355. Mann, D. A., I. Mikaelian, R. W. Zemmel, S. M. Green, A. D. Lowe, T. Kimura, M. Singh, P. J. Butler, M. J. Gait, and J. Karn. 1994. A molecular rheostat. Co-operative rev binding to stem I of the rev-response element modulates human immunodeficiency virus type-1 late gene expression. J Mol Biol 241:193-207.
- 356. Mansky, L., S. Preveral, L. Selig, R. Benarous, and S. Benichou. 2000. The interaction of vpr with uracil DNA glycosylase modulates the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 In vivo mutation rate. J Virol **74**:7039 7047.
- 357. Mansouri, M., K. Viswanathan, J. L. Douglas, J. Hines, J. Gustin, A. V. Moses, and K. Fruh. 2009. Molecular mechanism of BST2/tetherin downregulation by K5/MIR2 of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. J Virol 83:9672-9681.
- 358. Margottin, F., S. P. Bour, H. Durand, L. Selig, S. Benichou, V. Richard, D. Thomas, K. Strebel, and R. Benarous. 1998. A novel human WD protein, hbeta TrCp, that interacts with HIV-1 Vpu connects CD4 to the ER degradation pathway through an F-box motif. Mol Cell 1:565-574.
- 359. Mariani, R., D. Chen, B. Schrofelbauer, F. Navarro, R. Konig, B. Bollman, C. Munk, H. Nymark-McMahon, and N. R. Landau. 2003. Species-specific exclusion of APOBEC3G from HIV-1 virions by Vif. Cell 114:21-31.
- 360. Marin, M., K. Rose, S. Kozak, and D. Kabat. 2003. HIV-1 Vif protein binds the editing enzyme APOBEC3G and induces its degradation. Nat Med 9:1398 1403.
- 361. Marino, M. P., M. J. Luce, and J. Reiser. 2003. Small- to large-scale production of lentivirus vectors. Methods Mol Biol 229:43-55.
- 362. Marsh, M., and A. Helenius. 1989. Virus entry into animal cells. Adv Virus Res 36:107-151.
- 363. Marshall, H. M., K. Ronen, C. Berry, M. Llano, H. Sutherland, D. Saenz, W. Bickmore, E. Poeschla, and F. D. Bushman. 2007. Role of PSIP1/LEDGF/p75 in lentiviral infectivity and integration targeting. PLoS One 2:e1340.
- 364. Marx, P. A., D. H. Maul, K. G. Osborn, N. W. Lerche, P. Moody, L. J. Lowenstine, R. V. Henrickson, L. O. Arthur, R. V. Gilden, M. Gravell, and et al. 1984. Simian AIDS: isolation of a type D retrovirus and transmission of the disease. Science 223:1083-1086.
- 365. Massiah, M. A., J. A. Matts, K. M. Short, B. N. Simmons, S. Singireddy, Z. Yi, and T. C. Cox. 2007. Solution structure of the MID1 B-box2

CHC(D/C)C(2)H(2) zinc-binding domain: insights into an evolutionarily conserved RING fold. J Mol Biol **369:**1-10.

- 366. Massiah, M. A., B. N. Simmons, K. M. Short, and T. C. Cox. 2006. Solution structure of the RBCC/TRIM B-box1 domain of human MID1: B-box with a RING. J Mol Biol **358**:532-545.
- 367. Masters, S. L., S. Yao, T. A. Willson, J. G. Zhang, K. R. Palmer, B. J. Smith, J. J. Babon, N. A. Nicola, R. S. Norton, and S. E. Nicholson. 2006. The SPRY domain of SSB-2 adopts a novel fold that presents conserved Par-4-binding residues. Nat Struct Mol Biol 13:77-84.
- 368. **Masuda, T., V. Planelles, P. Krogstad, and I. S. Chen.** 1995. Genetic analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase and the U3 att site: unusual phenotype of mutants in the zinc finger-like domain. J Virol **69:**6687-6696.
- 369. **Mateu, M. G.** 2009. The capsid protein of human immunodeficiency virus: intersubunit interactions during virus assembly. FEBS J **276**:6098-6109.
- 370. Mattiuzzo, G., S. Ivol, and Y. Takeuchi. 2010. Regulation of porcine endogenous retrovirus release by porcine and human tetherins. J Virol 84:2618-2622.
- 371. McAllister, R. M., M. Nicolson, M. B. Gardner, R. W. Rongey, S. Rasheed, P. S. Sarma, R. J. Huebner, M. Hatanaka, S. Oroszlan, R. V. Gilden, A. Kabigting, and L. Vernon. 1972. C-type virus released from cultured human rhabdomyosarcoma cells. Nat New Biol 235:3-6.
- 372. McClure, M. A., M. S. Johnson, and R. F. Doolittle. 1987. Relocation of a protease-like gene segment between two retroviruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84:2693-2697.
- 373. McClure, M. O., M. A. Sommerfelt, M. Marsh, and R. A. Weiss. 1990. The pH independence of mammalian retrovirus infection. J Gen Virol 71 (Pt 4):767-773.
- 374. McDonald, D., M. A. Vodicka, G. Lucero, T. M. Svitkina, G. G. Borisy, M. Emerman, and T. J. Hope. 2002. Visualization of the intracellular behavior of HIV in living cells. J Cell Biol 159:441-452.
- 375. McEwan, W. A., T. Schaller, L. M. Ylinen, M. J. Hosie, G. J. Towers, and B. J. Willett. 2009. Truncation of TRIM5 in the Feliformia explains the absence of retroviral restriction in cells of the domestic cat. J Virol 83:8270-8275.
- 376. **McGeoch, D. J.** 1990. Protein sequence comparisons show that the 'pseudoproteases' encoded by poxviruses and certain retroviruses belong to the deoxyuridine triphosphatase family. Nucleic Acids Res **18**:4105-4110.
- 377. McKee, C. J., J. J. Kessl, N. Shkriabai, M. J. Dar, A. Engelman, and M. Kvaratskhelia. 2008. Dynamic modulation of HIV-1 integrase structure and function by cellular lens epithelium-derived growth factor (LEDGF) protein. J Biol Chem 283:31802-31812.
- 378. McNatt, M. W., T. Zang, T. Hatziioannou, M. Bartlett, I. B. Fofana, W. E. Johnson, S. J. Neil, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2009. Species-specific activity of HIV-1 Vpu and positive selection of tetherin transmembrane domain variants. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000300.

- 379. Mehle, A., J. Goncalves, M. Santa-Marta, M. McPike, and D. Gabuzda. 2004. Phosphorylation of a novel SOCS-box regulates assembly of the HIV-1 Vif-Cul5 complex that promotes APOBEC3G degradation. Genes Dev 18:2861-2866.
- Mehle, A., E. Thomas, K. Rajendran, and D. Gabuzda. 2006. A zinc-binding region in Vif binds Cul5 and determines cullin selection. J Biol Chem 281:17259 - 17265.
- 381. Mehle, A., H. Wilson, C. Zhang, A. Brazier, M. McPike, E. Pery, and D. Gabuzda. 2007. Identification of an APOBEC3G binding site in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif and inhibitors of Vif-APOBEC3G binding. J Virol 81:13235 13241.
- 382. Mercenne, G., S. Bernacchi, D. Richer, G. Bec, S. Henriet, J. C. Paillart, and R. Marquet. 2010. HIV-1 Vif binds to APOBEC3G mRNA and inhibits its translation. Nucleic Acids Res 38:633-646.
- 383. Meroni, G., and G. Diez-Roux. 2005. TRIM/RBCC, a novel class of 'single protein RING finger' E3 ubiquitin ligases. Bioessays 27:1147-1157.
- 384. **Michalides, R., and J. Schlom.** 1975. Relationship in nucleic acid sequences between mouse mammary tumor virus variants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **72**:4635-4639.
- 385. **Miller, D. G., M. A. Adam, and A. D. Miller.** 1990. Gene transfer by retrovirus vectors occurs only in cells that are actively replicating at the time of infection. Mol Cell Biol **10**:4239-4242.
- 386. **Miller, J., V. Presnyak, and H. Smith.** 2007. The dimerization domain of HIV-1 viral infectivity factor Vif is required to block virion incorporation of APOBEC3G. Retrovirology **4**:81.
- 387. Miller, M. D., C. M. Farnet, and F. D. Bushman. 1997. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preintegration complexes: studies of organization and composition. J Virol 71:5382-5390.
- 388. Miller, M. D., M. B. Feinberg, and W. C. Greene. 1994. The HIV-1 nef gene acts as a positive viral infectivity factor. Trends Microbiol 2:294-298.
- 389. Mische, C. C., H. Javanbakht, B. Song, F. Diaz-Griffero, M. Stremlau, B. Strack, Z. Si, and J. Sodroski. 2005. Retroviral restriction factor TRIM5alpha is a trimer. Journal of virology 79:14446-14450.
- 390. Mitchell, P., E. Petfalski, A. Shevchenko, M. Mann, and D. Tollervey. 1997. The exosome: a conserved eukaryotic RNA processing complex containing multiple 3'-->5' exoribonucleases. Cell 91:457-466.
- 391. Mitchell, R. S., B. F. Beitzel, A. R. Schroder, P. Shinn, H. Chen, C. C. Berry, J. R. Ecker, and F. D. Bushman. 2004. Retroviral DNA integration: ASLV, HIV, and MLV show distinct target site preferences. PLoS Biol 2:E234.
- 392. Mitchell, R. S., C. Katsura, M. A. Skasko, K. Fitzpatrick, D. Lau, A. Ruiz, E. B. Stephens, F. Margottin-Goguet, R. Benarous, and J. C. Guatelli. 2009. Vpu antagonizes BST-2-mediated restriction of HIV-1 release via beta-TrCP and endo-lysosomal trafficking. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000450.
- 393. Miyagi, E., S. Opi, H. Takeuchi, M. Khan, R. Goila-Gaur, S. Kao, and K. Strebel. 2007. Enzymatically active APOBEC3G is required for efficient inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 81:13346 13353.

- 394. Modin, C., A. H. Lund, A. Schmitz, M. Duch, and F. S. Pedersen. 2000. Alleviation of murine leukemia virus repression in embryonic carcinoma cells by genetically engineered primer binding sites and artificial tRNA primers. Virology 278:368-379.
- 395. Morozov, V. A., F. H. Leendertz, S. Junglen, C. Boesch, G. Pauli, and H. Ellerbrok. 2009. Frequent foamy virus infection in free-living chimpanzees of the Tai National Park (Cote d'Ivoire). J Gen Virol **90**:500-506.
- 396. Mortuza, G. B., L. F. Haire, A. Stevens, S. J. Smerdon, J. P. Stoye, and I. A. Taylor. 2004. High-resolution structure of a retroviral capsid hexameric amino-terminal domain. Nature 431:481-485.
- 397. Muller, S., P. Moller, M. J. Bick, S. Wurr, S. Becker, S. Gunther, and B. M. Kummerer. 2007. Inhibition of filovirus replication by the zinc finger antiviral protein. J Virol 81:2391-2400.
- 398. Munk, C., S. M. Brandt, G. Lucero, and N. R. Landau. 2002. A dominant block to HIV-1 replication at reverse transcription in simian cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:13843-13848.
- 399. **Murnane, J. P., and J. F. Morales.** 1995. Use of a mammalian interspersed repetitive (MIR) element in the coding and processing sequences of mammalian genes. Nucleic Acids Res **23**:2837-2839.
- 400. Nabel, G. J., S. A. Rice, D. M. Knipe, and D. Baltimore. 1988. Alternative mechanisms for activation of human immunodeficiency virus enhancer in T cells. Science 239:1299-1302.
- 401. Nadler, S. G., D. Tritschler, O. K. Haffar, J. Blake, A. G. Bruce, and J. S. Cleaveland. 1997. Differential expression and sequence-specific interaction of karyopherin alpha with nuclear localization sequences. J Biol Chem 272:4310-4315.
- 402. Nakamura, T., T. Masuda, T. Goto, K. Sano, M. Nakai, and S. Harada. 1997. Lack of infectivity of HIV-1 integrase zinc finger-like domain mutant with morphologically normal maturation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 239:715-722.
- 403. Nakayama, E. E., H. Miyoshi, Y. Nagai, and T. Shioda. 2005. A specific region of 37 amino acid residues in the SPRY (B30.2) domain of African green monkey TRIM5alpha determines species-specific restriction of simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac infection. J Virol 79:8870-8877.
- 404. Narezkina, A., K. D. Taganov, S. Litwin, R. Stoyanova, J. Hayashi, C. Seeger, A. M. Skalka, and R. A. Katz. 2004. Genome-wide analyses of avian sarcoma virus integration sites. J Virol 78:11656-11663.
- 405. Nascimbeni, M., M. Bouyac, F. Rey, B. Spire, and F. Clavel. 1998. The replicative impairment of Vif-mutants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 correlates with an overall defect in viral DNA synthesis. J Gen Virol **79:**1945 1950.
- 406. Nath, B. M., K. E. Schumann, and J. D. Boyer. 2000. The chimpanzee and other non-human-primate models in HIV-1 vaccine research. Trends Microbiol 8:426-431.

- 407. Navarro, F., B. Bollman, H. Chen, R. Konig, Q. Yu, K. Chiles, and N. R. Landau. 2005. Complementary function of the two catalytic domains of APOBEC3G. Virology **333**:374-386.
- 408. Neil, S. J., S. W. Eastman, N. Jouvenet, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2006. HIV-1 Vpu promotes release and prevents endocytosis of nascent retrovirus particles from the plasma membrane. PLoS Pathog 2:e39.
- 409. Neil, S. J., V. Sandrin, W. I. Sundquist, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2007. An interferon-alpha-induced tethering mechanism inhibits HIV-1 and Ebola virus particle release but is counteracted by the HIV-1 Vpu protein. Cell Host Microbe 2:193-203.
- 410. Neil, S. J., T. Zang, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2008. Tetherin inhibits retrovirus release and is antagonized by HIV-1 Vpu. Nature 451:425-430.
- 411. **Nepveu-Traversy, M. E., J. Berube, and L. Berthoux.** 2009. TRIM5alpha and TRIMCyp form apparent hexamers and their multimeric state is not affected by exposure to restriction-sensitive viruses or by treatment with pharmacological inhibitors. Retrovirology **6**:100.
- Newman, E. N., R. K. Holmes, H. M. Craig, K. C. Klein, J. R. Lingappa, M. H. Malim, and A. M. Sheehy. 2005. Antiviral function of APOBEC3G can be dissociated from cytidine deaminase activity. Curr Biol 15:166-170.
- 413. Newman, R. M., L. Hall, M. Connole, G. L. Chen, S. Sato, E. Yuste, W. Diehl, E. Hunter, A. Kaur, G. M. Miller, and W. E. Johnson. 2006. Balancing selection and the evolution of functional polymorphism in Old World monkey TRIM5alpha. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:19134-19139.
- 414. Newman, R. M., L. Hall, A. Kirmaier, L. A. Pozzi, E. Pery, M. Farzan, S. P. O'Neil, and W. Johnson. 2008. Evolution of a TRIM5-CypA splice isoform in old world monkeys. PLoS Pathog 4:e1000003.
- 415. Newman, R. M., and W. E. Johnson. 2007. A brief history of TRIM5alpha. AIDS Rev 9:114-125.
- 416. Nie, Z., D. Bergeron, R. A. Subbramanian, X. J. Yao, F. Checroune, N. Rougeau, and E. A. Cohen. 1998. The putative alpha helix 2 of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr contains a determinant which is responsible for the nuclear translocation of proviral DNA in growth-arrested cells. J Virol 72:4104-4115.
- 417. **Niimura, Y.** 2009. Evolutionary dynamics of olfactory receptor genes in chordates: interaction between environments and genomic contents. Hum Genomics **4**:107-118.
- 418. Nisole, S., C. Lynch, J. P. Stoye, and M. W. Yap. 2004. A Trim5-cyclophilin A fusion protein found in owl monkey kidney cells can restrict HIV-1. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101:13324-13328.
- 419. Nisole, S., J. P. Stoye, and A. Saib. 2005. TRIM family proteins: retroviral restriction and antiviral defence. Nat Rev Microbiol 3:799-808.
- 420. Nitahara-Kasahara, Y., M. Kamata, T. Yamamoto, X. Zhang, Y. Miyamoto, K. Muneta, S. Iijima, Y. Yoneda, Y. Tsunetsugu-Yokota, and Y. Aida. 2007. Novel nuclear import of Vpr promoted by importin alpha is crucial for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication in macrophages. J Virol 81:5284-5293.

- 421. Niwa, O., Y. Yokota, H. Ishida, and T. Sugahara. 1983. Independent mechanisms involved in suppression of the Moloney leukemia virus genome during differentiation of murine teratocarcinoma cells. Cell **32**:1105-1113.
- 422. Obad, S., H. Brunnstrom, J. Vallon-Christersson, A. Borg, K. Drott, and U. Gullberg. 2004. Staf50 is a novel p53 target gene conferring reduced clonogenic growth of leukemic U-937 cells. Oncogene 23:4050-4059.
- 423. Odaka, T., H. Ikeda, H. Yoshikura, K. Moriwaki, and S. Suzuki. 1981. Fv-4: gene controlling resistance to NB-tropic Friend murine leukemia virus. Distribution in wild mice, introduction into genetic background of BALB/c mice, and mapping of chromosomes. J Natl Cancer Inst 67:1123-1127.
- 424. Ogert, R. A., L. H. Lee, and K. L. Beemon. 1996. Avian retroviral RNA element promotes unspliced RNA accumulation in the cytoplasm. J Virol 70:3834-3843.
- 425. Ohkura, S., M. W. Yap, T. Sheldon, and J. P. Stoye. 2006. All three variable regions of the TRIM5alpha B30.2 domain can contribute to the specificity of retrovirus restriction. J Virol 80:8554-8565.
- 426. Ohler, U., N. Shomron, and C. B. Burge. 2005. Recognition of unknown conserved alternatively spliced exons. PLoS Comput Biol 1:113-122.
- 427. **Onafuwa-Nuga, A., A. Telesnitsky, and S. King.** 2006. 7SL RNA, but not the 54-kd signal recognition particle protein, is an abundant component of both infectious HIV-1 and minimal virus-like particles. RNA **12:**542 546.
- 428. **Ono, A., S. D. Ablan, S. J. Lockett, K. Nagashima, and E. O. Freed.** 2004. Phosphatidylinositol (4,5) bisphosphate regulates HIV-1 Gag targeting to the plasma membrane. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **101**:14889-14894.
- 429. Opi, S., S. Kao, R. Goila-Gaur, M. Khan, E. Miyagi, H. Takeuchi, and K. Strebel. 2007. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif inhibits packaging and antiviral activity of a degradation-resistant APOBEC3G variant. J Virol 81:8236 8246.
- 430. Opi, S., H. Takeuchi, S. Kao, M. A. Khan, E. Miyagi, R. Goila-Gaur, Y. Iwatani, J. G. Levin, and K. Strebel. 2006. Monomeric APOBEC3G is catalytically active and has antiviral activity. J Virol 80:4673-4682.
- 431. Ortiz, M., N. Guex, E. Patin, O. Martin, I. Xenarios, A. Ciuffi, L. Quintana-Murci, and A. Telenti. 2009. Evolutionary trajectories of primate genes involved in HIV pathogenesis. Mol Biol Evol 26:2865-2875.
- 432. Owens, C. M., B. Song, M. J. Perron, P. C. Yang, M. Stremlau, and J. Sodroski. 2004. Binding and susceptibility to postentry restriction factors in monkey cells are specified by distinct regions of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 capsid. J Virol 78:5423-5437.
- 433. Owens, C. M., P. C. Yang, H. Gottlinger, and J. Sodroski. 2003. Human and simian immunodeficiency virus capsid proteins are major viral determinants of early, postentry replication blocks in simian cells. J Virol 77:726-731.
- 434. Pacheco, B., A. Finzi, K. McGee-Estrada, and J. Sodroski. 2010. Speciesspecific inhibition of foamy viruses from South American monkeys by New World Monkey TRIM5 {alpha} proteins. J Virol 84:4095-4099.
- 435. Pancio, H. A., N. Vander Heyden, and L. Ratner. 2000. The C-terminal proline-rich tail of human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Vpx is necessary for

nuclear localization of the viral preintegration complex in nondividing cells. J Virol **74:**6162-6167.

- 436. **Pandey, K. K., S. Sinha, and D. P. Grandgenett.** 2007. Transcriptional coactivator LEDGF/p75 modulates human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase-mediated concerted integration. J Virol **81**:3969-3979.
- 437. **Panganiban, A. T., and H. M. Temin.** 1984. The retrovirus pol gene encodes a product required for DNA integration: identification of a retrovirus int locus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **81**:7885-7889.
- 438. **Paul, M., S. Mazumder, N. Raja, and M. A. Jabbar.** 1998. Mutational analysis of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu transmembrane domain that promotes the enhanced release of virus-like particles from the plasma membrane of mammalian cells. J Virol **72:**1270-1279.
- 439. **Perepelitsa-Belancio, V., and P. Deininger.** 2003. RNA truncation by premature polyadenylation attenuates human mobile element activity. Nat Genet **35:**363-366.
- 440. **Perez-Caballero, D., T. Hatziioannou, A. Yang, S. Cowan, and P. D. Bieniasz.** 2005. Human tripartite motif 5alpha domains responsible for retrovirus restriction activity and specificity. J Virol **79:**8969-8978.
- 441. Perez-Caballero, D., T. Zang, A. Ebrahimi, M. W. McNatt, D. A. Gregory, M. C. Johnson, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2009. Tetherin inhibits HIV-1 release by directly tethering virions to cells. Cell 139:499-511.
- 442. Perron, M. J., M. Stremlau, M. Lee, H. Javanbakht, B. Song, and J. Sodroski. 2007. The human TRIM5alpha restriction factor mediates accelerated uncoating of the N-tropic murine leukemia virus capsid. J Virol 81:2138-2148.
- 443. **Perron, M. J., M. Stremlau, and J. Sodroski.** 2006. Two surface-exposed elements of the B30.2/SPRY domain as potency determinants of N-tropic murine leukemia virus restriction by human TRIM5alpha. J Virol **80:**5631-5636.
- 444. Perron, M. J., M. Stremlau, B. Song, W. Ulm, R. C. Mulligan, and J. Sodroski. 2004. TRIM5alpha mediates the postentry block to N-tropic murine leukemia viruses in human cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101:11827-11832.
- 445. Perry, M. E., J. Piette, J. A. Zawadzki, D. Harvey, and A. J. Levine. 1993. The mdm-2 gene is induced in response to UV light in a p53-dependent manner. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:11623-11627.
- 446. **Petersen, R., G. Kempler, and E. Barklis.** 1991. A stem cell-specific silencer in the primer-binding site of a retrovirus. Mol Cell Biol **11**:1214-1221.
- 447. **Pincus, T., J. W. Hartley, and W. P. Rowe.** 1971. A major genetic locus affecting resistance to infection with murine leukemia viruses. I. Tissue culture studies of naturally occurring viruses. J Exp Med **133**:1219-1233.
- 448. **Pincus, T., J. W. Hartley, and W. P. Rowe.** 1975. A major genetic locus affecting resistance to infection with murine leukemia viruses. IV. Dose-response relationships in Fv-1-sensitive and resistant cell cultures. Virology **65**:333-342.
- 449. Planelles, V., J. B. Jowett, Q. X. Li, Y. Xie, B. Hahn, and I. S. Chen. 1996. Vpr-induced cell cycle arrest is conserved among primate lentiviruses. J Virol 70:2516-2524.

- 450. Popov, S., M. Rexach, G. Zybarth, N. Reiling, M. A. Lee, L. Ratner, C. M. Lane, M. S. Moore, G. Blobel, and M. Bukrinsky. 1998. Viral protein R regulates nuclear import of the HIV-1 pre-integration complex. EMBO J 17:909-917.
- 451. Powell, L. M., S. C. Wallis, R. J. Pease, Y. H. Edwards, T. J. Knott, and J. Scott. 1987. A novel form of tissue-specific RNA processing produces apolipoprotein-B48 in intestine. Cell **50**:831-840.
- 452. Price, A. J., F. Marzetta, M. Lammers, L. M. Ylinen, T. Schaller, S. J. Wilson, G. J. Towers, and L. C. James. 2009. Active site remodeling switches HIV specificity of antiretroviral TRIMCyp. Nat Struct Mol Biol 16:1036-1042.
- 453. Priet, S., N. Gros, J. M. Navarro, J. Boretto, B. Canard, G. Querat, and J. Sire. 2005. HIV-1-associated uracil DNA glycosylase activity controls dUTP misincorporation in viral DNA and is essential to the HIV-1 life cycle. Mol Cell 17:479-490.
- 454. **Priet, S., J. M. Navarro, G. Querat, and J. Sire.** 2003. Reversion of the lethal phenotype of an HIV-1 integrase mutant virus by overexpression of the same integrase mutant protein. J Biol Chem **278**:20724-20730.
- 455. Quinn, T. P., and D. P. Grandgenett. 1988. Genetic evidence that the avian retrovirus DNA endonuclease domain of pol is necessary for viral integration. J Virol 62:2307-2312.
- 456. Raney, A., L. S. Kuo, L. L. Baugh, J. L. Foster, and J. V. Garcia. 2005. Reconstitution and molecular analysis of an active human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef/p21-activated kinase 2 complex. J Virol **79:**12732-12741.
- 457. **Rasko, J. E., J. L. Battini, R. J. Gottschalk, I. Mazo, and A. D. Miller.** 1999. The RD114/simian type D retrovirus receptor is a neutral amino acid transporter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **96**:2129-2134.
- 458. **Reil, H., A. A. Bukovsky, H. R. Gelderblom, and H. G. Gottlinger.** 1998. Efficient HIV-1 replication can occur in the absence of the viral matrix protein. EMBO J **17**:2699-2708.
- 459. Rein, A., J. Mirro, J. G. Haynes, S. M. Ernst, and K. Nagashima. 1994. Function of the cytoplasmic domain of a retroviral transmembrane protein: p15Ep2E cleavage activates the membrane fusion capability of the murine leukemia virus Env protein. J Virol 68:1773-1781.
- 460. **Reiser, J.** 2000. Production and concentration of pseudotyped HIV-1-based gene transfer vectors. Gene Ther **7:**910-913.
- 461. Reiser, J., G. Harmison, S. Kluepfel-Stahl, R. O. Brady, S. Karlsson, and M. Schubert. 1996. Transduction of nondividing cells using pseudotyped defective high-titer HIV type 1 particles. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 93:15266-15271.
- 462. Reiser, J., Z. Lai, X. Y. Zhang, and R. O. Brady. 2000. Development of multigene and regulated lentivirus vectors. Journal of virology 74:10589-10599.
- Renjifo, B., N. A. Speck, S. Winandy, N. Hopkins, and Y. Li. 1990. cis-acting elements in the U3 region of a simian immunodeficiency virus. J Virol 64:3130-3134.
- 464. Reymond, A., G. Meroni, A. Fantozzi, G. Merla, S. Cairo, L. Luzi, D. Riganelli, E. Zanaria, S. Messali, S. Cainarca, A. Guffanti, S. Minucci, P. G.

Pelicci, and A. Ballabio. 2001. The tripartite motif family identifies cell compartments. EMBO J 20:2140-2151.

- 465. **Rhee, S. S., H. X. Hui, and E. Hunter.** 1990. Preassembled capsids of type D retroviruses contain a signal sufficient for targeting specifically to the plasma membrane. J Virol **64**:3844-3852.
- 466. Ribeiro, I. P., A. N. Menezes, M. A. Moreira, C. R. Bonvicino, H. N. Seuanez, and M. A. Soares. 2005. Evolution of cyclophilin A and TRIMCyp retrotransposition in New World primates. J Virol **79**:14998-15003.
- 467. **Rice, A. P., and C. H. Herrmann.** 2003. Regulation of TAK/P-TEFb in CD4+ T lymphocytes and macrophages. Curr HIV Res **1:**395-404.
- 468. **Riviere, L., J. L. Darlix, and A. Cimarelli.** 2010. Analysis of the viral elements required in the nuclear import of HIV-1 DNA. J Virol **84:**729-739.
- 469. Roe, T., T. C. Reynolds, G. Yu, and P. O. Brown. 1993. Integration of murine leukemia virus DNA depends on mitosis. EMBO J 12:2099-2108.
- 470. **Rogers, T. F., S. Y. Lim, T. J. Sundsvold, T. Chan, A. Hsu, and N. L. Letvin.** 2010. Variability in a dominant block to SIV early reverse transcription in rhesus monkey cells predicts in vivo viral replication and time to death. Virol J **7**:79.
- 471. Rong, L., J. Zhang, J. Lu, Q. Pan, R. P. Lorgeoux, C. Aloysius, F. Guo, S. L. Liu, M. A. Wainberg, and C. Liang. 2009. The transmembrane domain of BST-2 determines its sensitivity to down-modulation by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu. J Virol 83:7536-7546.
- 472. Roshal, M., B. Kim, Y. Zhu, P. Nghiem, and V. Planelles. 2003. Activation of the ATR-mediated DNA damage response by the HIV-1 viral protein R. J Biol Chem 278:25879-25886.
- 473. Rowe, H. M., J. Jakobsson, D. Mesnard, J. Rougemont, S. Reynard, T. Aktas, P. V. Maillard, H. Layard-Liesching, S. Verp, J. Marquis, F. Spitz, D. B. Constam, and D. Trono. 2010. KAP1 controls endogenous retroviruses in embryonic stem cells. Nature 463:237-240.
- 474. **Russell, R., and V. Pathak.** 2007. Identification of two distinct human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif determinants critical for interactions with human APOBEC3G and APOBEC3F. J Virol **81**:8201 8210.
- 475. Saad, J. S., J. Miller, J. Tai, A. Kim, R. H. Ghanam, and M. F. Summers. 2006. Structural basis for targeting HIV-1 Gag proteins to the plasma membrane for virus assembly. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **103**:11364-11369.
- 476. Saenz, D. T., W. Teo, J. C. Olsen, and E. M. Poeschla. 2005. Restriction of feline immunodeficiency virus by Ref1, Lv1, and primate TRIM5alpha proteins. J Virol 79:15175-15188.
- 477. Saib, A., F. Puvion-Dutilleul, M. Schmid, J. Peries, and H. de The. 1997. Nuclear targeting of incoming human foamy virus Gag proteins involves a centriolar step. J Virol 71:1155-1161.
- 478. Sakuma, T., T. Noda, S. Urata, Y. Kawaoka, and J. Yasuda. 2009. Inhibition of Lassa and Marburg virus production by tetherin. J Virol 83:2382-2385.
- 479. Sanville, B., M. A. Dolan, K. Wollenberg, Y. Yan, C. Martin, M. L. Yeung, K. Strebel, A. Buckler-White, and C. A. Kozak. 2010. Adaptive evolution of Mus Apobec3 includes retroviral insertion and positive selection at two clusters of residues flanking the substrate groove. PLoS Pathog 6:e1000974.

- 480. Sardiello, M., S. Cairo, B. Fontanella, A. Ballabio, and G. Meroni. 2008. Genomic analysis of the TRIM family reveals two groups of genes with distinct evolutionary properties. BMC Evol Biol 8:225.
- 481. Sauter, D., M. Schindler, A. Specht, W. N. Landford, J. Munch, K. A. Kim, J. Votteler, U. Schubert, F. Bibollet-Ruche, B. F. Keele, J. Takehisa, Y. Ogando, C. Ochsenbauer, J. C. Kappes, A. Ayouba, M. Peeters, G. H. Learn, G. Shaw, P. M. Sharp, P. Bieniasz, B. H. Hahn, T. Hatziioannou, and F. Kirchhoff. 2009. Tetherin-driven adaptation of Vpu and Nef function and the evolution of pandemic and nonpandemic HIV-1 strains. Cell Host Microbe 6:409-421.
- 482. Sawyer, S. L., M. Emerman, and H. S. Malik. 2007. Discordant Evolution of the Adjacent Antiretroviral Genes TRIM22 and TRIM5 in Mammals. PLoS Pathog 3:e197.
- 483. Sawyer, S. L., L. I. Wu, M. Emerman, and H. S. Malik. 2005. Positive selection of primate TRIM5alpha identifies a critical species-specific retroviral restriction domain. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102:2832-2837.
- 484. Sayah, D. M., E. Sokolskaja, L. Berthoux, and J. Luban. 2004. Cyclophilin A retrotransposition into TRIM5 explains owl monkey resistance to HIV-1. Nature 430:569-573.
- 485. Schafer, A., H. Bogerd, and B. Cullen. 2004. Specific packaging of APOBEC3G into HIV-1 virions is mediated by the nucleocapsid domain of the gag polyprotein precursor. Virology **328**:163 168.
- 486. Schaller, T., S. Hue, and G. J. Towers. 2007. An active TRIM5 protein in rabbits indicates a common antiviral ancestor for mammalian TRIM5 proteins. J Virol 81:11713-11721.
- 487. Schindler, M., S. Wurfl, P. Benaroch, T. C. Greenough, R. Daniels, P. Easterbrook, M. Brenner, J. Munch, and F. Kirchhoff. 2003. Downmodulation of mature major histocompatibility complex class II and up-regulation of invariant chain cell surface expression are well-conserved functions of human and simian immunodeficiency virus nef alleles. J Virol 77:10548-10556.
- 488. Schmidtmayerova, H., H. S. Nottet, G. Nuovo, T. Raabe, C. R. Flanagan, L. Dubrovsky, H. E. Gendelman, A. Cerami, M. Bukrinsky, and B. Sherry. 1996. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection alters chemokine beta peptide expression in human monocytes: implications for recruitment of leukocytes into brain and lymph nodes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:700-704.
- 489. Schroder, A. R., P. Shinn, H. Chen, C. Berry, J. R. Ecker, and F. Bushman. 2002. HIV-1 integration in the human genome favors active genes and local hotspots. Cell **110**:521-529.
- 490. Schrofelbauer, B., D. Chen, and N. Landau. 2004. A single amino acid of APOBEC3G controls its species-specific interaction with virion infectivity factor (Vif). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:3927 3932.
- 491. Schrofelbauer, B., T. Senger, G. Manning, and N. Landau. 2006. Mutational alteration of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif allows for functional interaction with nonhuman primate APOBEC3G. J Virol 80:5984 5991.

- 492. Schrofelbauer, B., Q. Yu, and N. R. Landau. 2004. New insights into the role of Vif in HIV-1 replication. AIDS Rev 6:34-39.
- 493. Schrofelbauer, B., Q. Yu, S. Zeitlin, and N. Landau. 2005. Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Vpr Induces the Degradation of the UNG and SMUG Uracil-DNA Glycosylases. J Virol **79**:10978 10987.
- 494. Schubert, U., L. C. Anton, I. Bacik, J. H. Cox, S. Bour, J. R. Bennink, M. Orlowski, K. Strebel, and J. W. Yewdell. 1998. CD4 glycoprotein degradation induced by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein requires the function of proteasomes and the ubiquitin-conjugating pathway. J Virol 72:2280-2288.
- 495. Schubert, U., S. Bour, A. V. Ferrer-Montiel, M. Montal, F. Maldarell, and K. Strebel. 1996. The two biological activities of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein involve two separable structural domains. J Virol **70**:809-819.
- 496. Schubert, U., A. V. Ferrer-Montiel, M. Oblatt-Montal, P. Henklein, K. Strebel, and M. Montal. 1996. Identification of an ion channel activity of the Vpu transmembrane domain and its involvement in the regulation of virus release from HIV-1-infected cells. FEBS Lett **398:**12-18.
- 497. Schultz, D. C., K. Ayyanathan, D. Negorev, G. G. Maul, and F. J. Rauscher, 3rd. 2002. SETDB1: a novel KAP-1-associated histone H3, lysine 9-specific methyltransferase that contributes to HP1-mediated silencing of euchromatic genes by KRAB zinc-finger proteins. Genes Dev 16:919-932.
- 498. Schultz, D. C., J. R. Friedman, and F. J. Rauscher, 3rd. 2001. Targeting histone deacetylase complexes via KRAB-zinc finger proteins: the PHD and bromodomains of KAP-1 form a cooperative unit that recruits a novel isoform of the Mi-2alpha subunit of NuRD. Genes Dev 15:428-443.
- 499. Schwartz, O., V. Marechal, O. Danos, and J. M. Heard. 1995. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef increases the efficiency of reverse transcription in the infected cell. J Virol 69:4053-4059.
- 500. Schwartz, O., V. Marechal, S. Le Gall, F. Lemonnier, and J. M. Heard. 1996. Endocytosis of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules is induced by the HIV-1 Nef protein. Nat Med 2:338-342.
- 501. Schwartzberg, P., J. Colicelli, and S. P. Goff. 1984. Construction and analysis of deletion mutations in the pol gene of Moloney murine leukemia virus: a new viral function required for productive infection. Cell **37**:1043-1052.
- 502. Sebastian, S., and J. Luban. 2005. TRIM5alpha selectively binds a restrictionsensitive retroviral capsid. Retrovirology 2:40.
- 503. Sewram, S., R. Singh, E. Kormuth, L. Werner, K. Mlisana, S. S. Karim, and T. Ndung'u. 2009. Human TRIM5alpha expression levels and reduced susceptibility to HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis 199:1657-1663.
- 504. Sharova, N., Y. Wu, X. Zhu, R. Stranska, R. Kaushik, M. Sharkey, and M. Stevenson. 2008. Primate lentiviral Vpx commandeers DDB1 to counteract a macrophage restriction. PLoS Pathog 4:e1000057.
- 505. Sharp, J. M., and A. J. Herring. 1983. Sheep pulmonary adenomatosis: demonstration of a protein which cross-reacts with the major core proteins of Mason-Pfizer monkey virus and mouse mammary tumour virus. J Gen Virol 64 (Pt 10):2323-2327.

- 506. Sharp, P. M., E. Bailes, M. Stevenson, M. Emerman, and B. H. Hahn. 1996. Gene acquisition in HIV and SIV. Nature **383**:586-587.
- 507. Sheehy, A. M., N. C. Gaddis, J. D. Choi, and M. H. Malim. 2002. Isolation of a human gene that inhibits HIV-1 infection and is suppressed by the viral Vif protein. Nature **418**:646-650.
- 508. Sheehy, A. M., N. C. Gaddis, and M. H. Malim. 2003. The antiretroviral enzyme APOBEC3G is degraded by the proteasome in response to HIV-1 Vif. Nat Med 9:1404-1407.
- 509. Shen, H., T. Cheng, F. I. Preffer, D. Dombkowski, M. H. Tomasson, D. E. Golan, O. Yang, W. Hofmann, J. G. Sodroski, A. D. Luster, and D. T. Scadden. 1999. Intrinsic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 resistance of hematopoietic stem cells despite coreceptor expression. J Virol 73:728-737.
- Shi, J., and C. Aiken. 2006. Saturation of TRIM5 alpha-mediated restriction of HIV-1 infection depends on the stability of the incoming viral capsid. Virology 350:493-500.
- 511. Shibata, R., H. Sakai, M. Kawamura, K. Tokunaga, and A. Adachi. 1995. Early replication block of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in monkey cells. J Gen Virol 76 (Pt 11):2723-2730.
- 512. Shimura, M., Y. Onozuka, T. Yamaguchi, K. Hatake, F. Takaku, and Y. Ishizaka. 1999. Micronuclei formation with chromosome breaks and gene amplification caused by Vpr, an accessory gene of human immunodeficiency virus. Cancer Res 59:2259-2264.
- 513. Shun, M. C., N. K. Raghavendra, N. Vandegraaff, J. E. Daigle, S. Hughes, P. Kellam, P. Cherepanov, and A. Engelman. 2007. LEDGF/p75 functions downstream from preintegration complex formation to effect gene-specific HIV-1 integration. Genes Dev 21:1767-1778.
- 514. Si, Z., N. Vandegraaff, C. O'Huigin, B. Song, W. Yuan, C. Xu, M. Perron, X. Li, W. A. Marasco, A. Engelman, M. Dean, and J. Sodroski. 2006. Evolution of a cytoplasmic tripartite motif (TRIM) protein in cows that restricts retroviral infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:7454-7459.
- 515. Silvestri, G., D. L. Sodora, R. A. Koup, M. Paiardini, S. P. O'Neil, H. M. McClure, S. I. Staprans, and M. B. Feinberg. 2003. Nonpathogenic SIV infection of sooty mangabeys is characterized by limited bystander immunopathology despite chronic high-level viremia. Immunity 18:441-452.
- 516. Simmons, G., J. D. Reeves, A. McKnight, N. Dejucq, S. Hibbitts, C. A. Power, E. Aarons, D. Schols, E. De Clercq, A. E. Proudfoot, and P. R. Clapham. 1998. CXCR4 as a functional coreceptor for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection of primary macrophages. J Virol 72:8453-8457.
- 517. Simon, J., D. Miller, R. Fouchier, M. Soares, K. Peden, and M. Malim. 1998. The regulation of primate immunodeficiency virus infectivity by Vif is cell species restricted: a role for Vif in determining virus host range and cross-species transmission. EMBO J 17:1259 - 1267.
- 518. Simon, J., T. Southerling, J. Peterson, B. Meyer, and M. Malim. 1995. Complementation of vif-defective human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by primate, but not nonprimate, lentivirus vif genes. J Virol **69:**4166 - 4172.

- 519. Singh, R., G. Gaiha, L. Werner, K. McKim, K. Mlisana, J. Luban, B. D. Walker, S. S. Abdool Karim, A. L. Brass, and T. Ndung'u. 2010. Association of TRIM22 with Type 1 Interferon Response and Viral Control during Primary HIV-1 Infection. J Virol.
- 520. Slattery, J. P., G. Franchini, and A. Gessain. 1999. Genomic evolution, patterns of global dissemination, and interspecies transmission of human and simian T-cell leukemia/lymphotropic viruses. Genome Res 9:525-540.
- 521. Smit, A. F., R. Hubley, and P. Green 1996-2010, posting date. RepeatMasker Open-3.0. [Online.]
- 522. Sommerfelt, M. A., and R. A. Weiss. 1990. Receptor interference groups of 20 retroviruses plating on human cells. Virology 176:58-69.
- 523. Song, B., F. Diaz-Griffero, D. H. Park, T. Rogers, M. Stremlau, and J. Sodroski. 2005. TRIM5alpha association with cytoplasmic bodies is not required for antiretroviral activity. Virology **343**:201-211.
- 524. Song, B., B. Gold, C. O'Huigin, H. Javanbakht, X. Li, M. Stremlau, C. Winkler, M. Dean, and J. Sodroski. 2005. The B30.2(SPRY) domain of the retroviral restriction factor TRIM5alpha exhibits lineage-specific length and sequence variation in primates. J Virol **79:**6111-6121.
- 525. Song, B., H. Javanbakht, M. Perron, D. H. Park, M. Stremlau, and J. Sodroski. 2005. Retrovirus restriction by TRIM5alpha variants from Old World and New World primates. Journal of virology **79**:3930-3937.
- 526. Song, H., E. E. Nakayama, M. Yokoyama, H. Sato, J. A. Levy, and T. Shioda. 2007. A single amino acid of the human immunodeficiency virus type 2 capsid affects its replication in the presence of cynomolgus monkey and human TRIM5alphas. J Virol 81:7280-7285.
- 527. Sova, P., and D. Volsky. 1993. Efficiency of viral DNA synthesis during infection of permissive and nonpermissive cells with vif-negative human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 67:6322 6326.
- 528. **Speck, N. A., and D. Baltimore.** 1987. Six distinct nuclear factors interact with the 75-base-pair repeat of the Moloney murine leukemia virus enhancer. Mol Cell Biol **7:**1101-1110.
- 529. **Speek, M.** 2001. Antisense promoter of human L1 retrotransposon drives transcription of adjacent cellular genes. Mol Cell Biol **21**:1973-1985.
- 530. Sperber, G. O., T. Airola, P. Jern, and J. Blomberg. 2007. Automated recognition of retroviral sequences in genomic data--RetroTector. Nucleic Acids Res 35:4964-4976.
- 531. Spina, C. A., T. J. Kwoh, M. Y. Chowers, J. C. Guatelli, and D. D. Richman. 1994. The importance of nef in the induction of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication from primary quiescent CD4 lymphocytes. J Exp Med 179:115-123.
- 532. Srivastava, S., S. K. Swanson, N. Manel, L. Florens, M. P. Washburn, and J. Skowronski. 2008. Lentiviral Vpx accessory factor targets VprBP/DCAF1 substrate adaptor for cullin 4 E3 ubiquitin ligase to enable macrophage infection. PLoS Pathog 4:e1000059.
- 533. Stansell, E., R. Apkarian, S. Haubova, W. E. Diehl, E. M. Tytler, and E. Hunter. 2007. Basic residues in the Mason-Pfizer monkey virus gag matrix
domain regulate intracellular trafficking and capsid-membrane interactions. J Virol 81:8977-8988.

- 534. Stansell, E., E. Tytler, M. R. Walter, and E. Hunter. 2004. An early stage of Mason-Pfizer monkey virus budding is regulated by the hydrophobicity of the Gag matrix domain core. J Virol **78**:5023-5031.
- 535. Steagall, W. K., M. D. Robek, S. T. Perry, F. J. Fuller, and S. L. Payne. 1995. Incorporation of uracil into viral DNA correlates with reduced replication of EIAV in macrophages. Virology 210:302-313.
- 536. Stein, B. S., S. D. Gowda, J. D. Lifson, R. C. Penhallow, K. G. Bensch, and E. G. Engleman. 1987. pH-independent HIV entry into CD4-positive T cells via virus envelope fusion to the plasma membrane. Cell 49:659-668.
- 537. Stieler, K., and N. Fischer. 2010. Apobec 3G efficiently reduces infectivity of the human exogenous gammaretrovirus XMRV. PLoS One 5:e11738.
- 538. Stopak, K., C. de Noronha, W. Yonemoto, and W. C. Greene. 2003. HIV-1 Vif blocks the antiviral activity of APOBEC3G by impairing both its translation and intracellular stability. Mol Cell 12:591-601.
- 539. Stove, V., I. Van de Walle, E. Naessens, E. Coene, C. Stove, J. Plum, and B. Verhasselt. 2005. Human immunodeficiency virus Nef induces rapid internalization of the T-cell coreceptor CD8alphabeta. J Virol **79**:11422-11433.
- 540. Strebel, K., T. Klimkait, F. Maldarelli, and M. A. Martin. 1989. Molecular and biochemical analyses of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vpu protein. J Virol 63:3784-3791.
- 541. Stremlau, M., C. M. Owens, M. J. Perron, M. Kiessling, P. Autissier, and J. Sodroski. 2004. The cytoplasmic body component TRIM5alpha restricts HIV-1 infection in Old World monkeys. Nature 427:848-853.
- 542. Stremlau, M., M. Perron, M. Lee, Y. Li, B. Song, H. Javanbakht, F. Diaz-Griffero, D. J. Anderson, W. I. Sundquist, and J. Sodroski. 2006. Specific recognition and accelerated uncoating of retroviral capsids by the TRIM5alpha restriction factor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103:5514-5519.
- 543. **Stremlau, M., M. Perron, S. Welikala, and J. Sodroski.** 2005. Species-specific variation in the B30.2(SPRY) domain of TRIM5alpha determines the potency of human immunodeficiency virus restriction. Journal of virology **79:**3139-3145.
- 544. Sullivan, A., N. Syed, M. Gasco, D. Bergamaschi, G. Trigiante, M. Attard, L. Hiller, P. J. Farrell, P. Smith, X. Lu, and T. Crook. 2004. Polymorphism in wild-type p53 modulates response to chemotherapy in vitro and in vivo. Oncogene 23:3328-3337.
- 545. Suspene, R., C. Rusniok, J. P. Vartanian, and S. Wain-Hobson. 2006. Twin gradients in APOBEC3 edited HIV-1 DNA reflect the dynamics of lentiviral replication. Nucleic Acids Res 34:4677-4684.
- 546. Suspene, R., P. Sommer, M. Henry, S. Ferris, D. Guetard, S. Pochet, A. Chester, N. Navaratnam, S. Wain-Hobson, and J. P. Vartanian. 2004. APOBEC3G is a single-stranded DNA cytidine deaminase and functions independently of HIV reverse transcriptase. Nucleic Acids Res 32:2421-2429.
- 547. **Suzuki, S.** 1975. FV-4: a new gene affecting the splenomegaly induction by Friend leukemia virus. Jpn J Exp Med **45:**473-478.

- 548. Svarovskaia, E., H. Xu, J. Mbisa, R. Barr, R. Gorelick, A. Ono, E. Freed, W. Hu, and V. Pathak. 2004. Human apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzymecatalytic polypeptide-like 3G (APOBEC3G) is incorporated into HIV-1 virions through interactions with viral and nonviral RNAs. J Biol Chem 279:35822 - 35828.
- 549. Swigut, T., N. Shohdy, and J. Skowronski. 2001. Mechanism for downregulation of CD28 by Nef. EMBO J 20:1593-1604.
- 550. Swingler, S., B. Brichacek, J. M. Jacque, C. Ulich, J. Zhou, and M. Stevenson. 2003. HIV-1 Nef intersects the macrophage CD40L signalling pathway to promote resting-cell infection. Nature **424**:213-219.
- 551. Takada, A., C. Robison, H. Goto, A. Sanchez, K. G. Murti, M. A. Whitt, and Y. Kawaoka. 1997. A system for functional analysis of Ebola virus glycoprotein. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94:14764-14769.
- 552. Tao, H., B. N. Simmons, S. Singireddy, M. Jakkidi, K. M. Short, T. C. Cox, and M. A. Massiah. 2008. Structure of the MID1 tandem B-boxes reveals an interaction reminiscent of intermolecular ring heterodimers. Biochemistry 47:2450-2457.
- 553. Tareen, S. U., S. L. Sawyer, H. S. Malik, and M. Emerman. 2009. An expanded clade of rodent Trim5 genes. Virology **385**:473-483.
- 554. Teich, N. M., R. A. Weiss, G. R. Martin, and D. R. Lowy. 1977. Virus infection of murine teratocarcinoma stem cell lines. Cell 12:973-982.
- 555. Teng, B., C. F. Burant, and N. O. Davidson. 1993. Molecular cloning of an apolipoprotein B messenger RNA editing protein. Science 260:1816-1819.
- 556. Terwilliger, E. F., E. A. Cohen, Y. C. Lu, J. G. Sodroski, and W. A. Haseltine. 1989. Functional role of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vpu. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86:5163-5167.
- 557. Theilen, G. H., D. Gould, M. Fowler, and D. L. Dungworth. 1971. C-type virus in tumor tissue of a woolly monkey (Lagothrix spp.) with fibrosarcoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 47:881-889.
- 558. Thomas, J. A., T. D. Gagliardi, W. G. Alvord, M. Lubomirski, W. J. Bosche, and R. J. Gorelick. 2006. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 nucleocapsid zinc-finger mutations cause defects in reverse transcription and integration. Virology 353:41-51.
- 559. Threadgill, D. S., W. K. Steagall, M. T. Flaherty, F. J. Fuller, S. T. Perry, K. E. Rushlow, S. F. Le Grice, and S. L. Payne. 1993. Characterization of equine infectious anemia virus dUTPase: growth properties of a dUTPase-deficient mutant. J Virol 67:2592-2600.
- 560. Tian, C., T. Wang, W. Zhang, and X. Yu. 2007. Virion packaging determinants and reverse transcription of SRP RNA in HIV-1 particles. Nucleic Acids Res 35:7288 7302.
- 561. Tiganos, E., J. Friborg, B. Allain, N. G. Daniel, X. J. Yao, and E. A. Cohen. 1998. Structural and functional analysis of the membrane-spanning domain of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein. Virology 251:96-107.

- 562. Tiley, L. S., P. H. Brown, S. Y. Le, J. V. Maizel, J. E. Clements, and B. R. Cullen. 1990. Visna virus encodes a post-transcriptional regulator of viral structural gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:7497-7501.
- 563. **Tissot, C., and N. Mechti.** 1995. Molecular cloning of a new interferon-induced factor that represses human immunodeficiency virus type 1 long terminal repeat expression. J Biol Chem **270**:14891-14898.
- 564. Todaro, G. J., R. E. Benveniste, C. J. Sherr, J. Schlom, G. Schidlovsky, and J. R. Stephenson. 1978. Isolation and characterization of a new type D retrovirus from the asian primate, Presbytis obscurus (spectacled langur). Virology 84:189-194.
- 565. Todaro, G. J., C. J. Sherr, A. Sen, N. King, M. D. Daniel, and B. Fleckenstein. 1978. Endogenous New World primate type C viruses isolated from owl monkey (Aotus trivirgatus) kidney cell line. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 75:1004-1008.
- 566. **Torok, M., and L. D. Etkin.** 2001. Two B or not two B? Overview of the rapidly expanding B-box family of proteins. Differentiation **67:**63-71.
- 567. Towers, G., M. Collins, and Y. Takeuchi. 2002. Abrogation of Ref1 retrovirus restriction in human cells. J Virol 76:2548-2550.
- 568. **Traut, T. W.** 1994. Physiological concentrations of purines and pyrimidines. Mol Cell Biochem **140:**1-22.
- 569. Tristem, M., C. Marshall, A. Karpas, and F. Hill. 1992. Evolution of the primate lentiviruses: evidence from vpx and vpr. EMBO J 11:3405-3412.
- 570. Trobridge, G. D., D. G. Miller, M. A. Jacobs, J. M. Allen, H. P. Kiem, R. Kaul, and D. W. Russell. 2006. Foamy virus vector integration sites in normal human cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:1498-1503.
- 571. **Trubetskoy, A. M., S. A. Okenquist, and J. Lenz.** 1999. R region sequences in the long terminal repeat of a murine retrovirus specifically increase expression of unspliced RNAs. J Virol **73**:3477-3483.
- 572. **Tsukiyama, T., O. Niwa, and K. Yokoro.** 1989. Mechanism of suppression of the long terminal repeat of Moloney leukemia virus in mouse embryonal carcinoma cells. Mol Cell Biol **9**:4670-4676.
- 573. Tsurutani, N., M. Kubo, Y. Maeda, T. Ohashi, N. Yamamoto, M. Kannagi, and T. Masuda. 2000. Identification of critical amino acid residues in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 IN required for efficient proviral DNA formation at steps prior to integration in dividing and nondividing cells. J Virol 74:4795-4806.
- 574. **Turelli, P., G. Petursson, F. Guiguen, J. F. Mornex, R. Vigne, and G. Querat.** 1996. Replication properties of dUTPase-deficient mutants of caprine and ovine lentiviruses. J Virol **70:**1213-1217.
- 575. **Turlure, F., G. Maertens, S. Rahman, P. Cherepanov, and A. Engelman.** 2006. A tripartite DNA-binding element, comprised of the nuclear localization signal and two AT-hook motifs, mediates the association of LEDGF/p75 with chromatin in vivo. Nucleic Acids Res **34**:1653-1665.
- 576. Turner, G., M. Barbulescu, M. Su, M. I. Jensen-Seaman, K. K. Kidd, and J. Lenz. 2001. Insertional polymorphisms of full-length endogenous retroviruses in humans. Curr Biol 11:1531-1535.

- 577. Ueno, F., H. Shiota, M. Miyaura, A. Yoshida, A. Sakurai, J. Tatsuki, A. H. Koyama, H. Akari, A. Adachi, and M. Fujita. 2003. Vpx and Vpr proteins of HIV-2 up-regulate the viral infectivity by a distinct mechanism in lymphocytic cells. Microbes Infect 5:387-395.
- 578. Ulm, J. W., M. Perron, J. Sodroski, and C. M. R. 2007. Complex determinants within the Moloney murine leukemia virus capsid modulate susceptibility of the virus to Fv1 and Ref1-mediated restriction. Virology 363:245-255.
- 579. Urrutia, R. 2003. KRAB-containing zinc-finger repressor proteins. Genome Biol 4:231.
- 580. Van Damme, N., D. Goff, C. Katsura, R. L. Jorgenson, R. Mitchell, M. C. Johnson, E. B. Stephens, and J. Guatelli. 2008. The interferon-induced protein BST-2 restricts HIV-1 release and is downregulated from the cell surface by the viral Vpu protein. Cell Host Microbe 3:245-252.
- 581. Varmus, H. E., T. Padgett, S. Heasley, G. Simon, and J. M. Bishop. 1977. Cellular functions are required for the synthesis and integration of avian sarcoma virus-specific DNA. Cell 11:307-319.
- 582. Varthakavi, V., R. M. Smith, S. P. Bour, K. Strebel, and P. Spearman. 2003. Viral protein U counteracts a human host cell restriction that inhibits HIV-1 particle production. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:15154-15159.
- 583. Verri, A., P. Mazzarello, G. Biamonti, S. Spadari, and F. Focher. 1990. The specific binding of nuclear protein(s) to the cAMP responsive element (CRE) sequence (TGACGTCA) is reduced by the misincorporation of U and increased by the deamination of C. Nucleic Acids Res 18:5775-5780.
- 584. Vieira, H. L., D. Haouzi, C. El Hamel, E. Jacotot, A. S. Belzacq, C. Brenner, and G. Kroemer. 2000. Permeabilization of the mitochondrial inner membrane during apoptosis: impact of the adenine nucleotide translocator. Cell Death Differ 7:1146-1154.
- 585. Vigan, R., and S. J. Neil. 2010. Determinants of Tetherin Antagonism in the Transmembrane Domain of the Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type-1 (Hiv-1) Vpu Protein. J Virol.
- 586. Vink, C., D. C. van Gent, Y. Elgersma, and R. H. Plasterk. 1991. Human immunodeficiency virus integrase protein requires a subterminal position of its viral DNA recognition sequence for efficient cleavage. J Virol **65**:4636-4644.
- 587. Virgen, C. A., Z. Kratovac, P. D. Bieniasz, and T. Hatziioannou. 2008. Independent genesis of chimeric TRIM5-cyclophilin proteins in two primate species. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:3563-3568.
- 588. Vodicka, M. A., D. M. Koepp, P. A. Silver, and M. Emerman. 1998. HIV-1 Vpr interacts with the nuclear transport pathway to promote macrophage infection. Genes Dev 12:175-185.
- 589. **Vogt, V. M.** 1997. Retroviral Virions and Genomes, p. 27-70. *In* S. H. H. John M. Coffin, Harold, E. Varmus (ed.), Retroviruses. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- 590. von Laer, D., F. T. Hufert, T. E. Fenner, S. Schwander, M. Dietrich, H. Schmitz, and P. Kern. 1990. CD34+ hematopoietic progenitor cells are not a major reservoir of the human immunodeficiency virus. Blood 76:1281-1286.

- 591. **von Schwedler, U., R. S. Kornbluth, and D. Trono.** 1994. The nuclear localization signal of the matrix protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 allows the establishment of infection in macrophages and quiescent T lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **91**:6992-6996.
- 592. von Schwedler, U., J. Song, C. Aiken, and D. Trono. 1993. Vif is crucial for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 proviral DNA synthesis in infected cells. J Virol 67:4945 4955.
- 593. Wagaman, P. C., C. S. Hasselkus-Light, M. Henson, D. L. Lerner, T. R. Phillips, and J. H. Elder. 1993. Molecular cloning and characterization of deoxyuridine triphosphatase from feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV). Virology 196:451-457.
- 594. Wallis, C., and J. L. Melnick. 1968. Stabilization of enveloped viruses by dimethyl sulfoxide. Journal of virology 2:953-954.
- 595. Wang, G. P., A. Ciuffi, J. Leipzig, C. C. Berry, and F. D. Bushman. 2007. HIV integration site selection: analysis by massively parallel pyrosequencing reveals association with epigenetic modifications. Genome Res 17:1186-1194.
- 596. Wang, T., C. Tian, W. Zhang, K. Luo, P. T. Sarkis, L. Yu, B. Liu, Y. Yu, and X. F. Yu. 2007. 7SL RNA mediates virion packaging of the antiviral cytidine deaminase APOBEC3G. J Virol 81:13112-13124.
- 597. Wang, T., C. Tian, W. Zhang, P. Sarkis, and X. Yu. 2008. Interaction with 7SL RNA but not with HIV-1 genomic RNA or P bodies is required for APOBEC3F virion packaging. J Mol Biol **375**:1098 1112.
- 598. Wang, T., J. Zeng, C. B. Lowe, R. G. Sellers, S. R. Salama, M. Yang, S. M. Burgess, R. K. Brachmann, and D. Haussler. 2007. Species-specific endogenous retroviruses shape the transcriptional network of the human tumor suppressor protein p53. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:18613-18618.
- 599. Warrilow, D., L. Meredith, A. Davis, C. Burrell, P. Li, and D. Harrich. 2008. Cell factors stimulate human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcription in vitro. J Virol 82:1425-1437.
- 600. Weichold, F. F., D. Zella, O. Barabitskaja, J. P. Maciejewski, D. E. Dunn, E. M. Sloand, and N. S. Young. 1998. Neither human immunodeficiency virus-1 (HIV-1) nor HIV-2 infects most-primitive human hematopoietic stem cells as assessed in long-term bone marrow cultures. Blood 91:907-915.
- 601. Weinberg, J. B., T. J. Matthews, B. R. Cullen, and M. H. Malim. 1991. Productive human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) infection of nonproliferating human monocytes. J Exp Med 174:1477-1482.
- 602. Whibley, C., P. D. Pharoah, and M. Hollstein. 2009. p53 polymorphisms: cancer implications. Nat Rev Cancer 9:95-107.
- 603. Wichroski, M., K. Ichiyama, and T. Rana. 2005. Analysis of HIV-1 viral infectivity factor-mediated proteasome-dependent depletion of APOBEC3G: correlating function and subcellular localization. J Biol Chem 280:8387 8396.
- 604. Wiegand, H. L., B. P. Doehle, H. P. Bogerd, and B. R. Cullen. 2004. A second human antiretroviral factor, APOBEC3F, is suppressed by the HIV-1 and HIV-2 Vif proteins. EMBO J 23:2451-2458.
- 605. Willetts, K. E., F. Rey, I. Agostini, J. M. Navarro, Y. Baudat, R. Vigne, and J. Sire. 1999. DNA repair enzyme uracil DNA glycosylase is specifically

incorporated into human immunodeficiency virus type 1 viral particles through a Vpr-independent mechanism. J Virol **73:**1682-1688.

- 606. Wilson, S. J., B. L. Webb, C. Maplanka, R. M. Newman, E. J. Verschoor, J. L. Heeney, and G. J. Towers. 2008. Rhesus macaque TRIM5 alleles have divergent antiretroviral specificities. J Virol 82:7243-7247.
- 607. Wilson, S. J., B. L. Webb, L. M. Ylinen, E. Verschoor, J. L. Heeney, and G. J. Towers. 2008. Independent evolution of an antiviral TRIMCyp in rhesus macaques. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:3557-3562.
- 608. Wolf, D., F. Cammas, R. Losson, and S. P. Goff. 2008. Primer binding sitedependent restriction of murine leukemia virus requires HP1 binding by TRIM28. J Virol 82:4675-4679.
- 609. Wolf, D., and S. P. Goff. 2009. Embryonic stem cells use ZFP809 to silence retroviral DNAs. Nature 458:1201-1204.
- 610. Wolf, D., and S. P. Goff. 2007. TRIM28 mediates primer binding site-targeted silencing of murine leukemia virus in embryonic cells. Cell 131:46-57.
- 611. Wolf, D., K. Hug, and S. P. Goff. 2008. TRIM28 mediates primer binding sitetargeted silencing of Lys1,2 tRNA-utilizing retroviruses in embryonic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:12521-12526.
- 612. Wolfe, L. G., F. Deinhardt, G. H. Theilen, H. Rabin, T. Kawakami, and L. K. Bustad. 1971. Induction of tumors in marmoset monkeys by simian sarcoma virus, type 1 (Lagothrix): a preliminary report. J Natl Cancer Inst 47:1115-1120.
- 613. Wolfrum, N., M. D. Muhlebach, S. Schule, J. K. Kaiser, B. P. Kloke, K. Cichutek, and M. Schweizer. 2007. Impact of viral accessory proteins of SIVsmmPBj on early steps of infection of quiescent cells. Virology **364**:330-341.
- 614. Woo, J. S., J. H. Imm, C. K. Min, K. J. Kim, S. S. Cha, and B. H. Oh. 2006. Structural and functional insights into the B30.2/SPRY domain. EMBO J 25:1353-1363.
- 615. Wright, E. R., J. B. Schooler, H. J. Ding, C. Kieffer, C. Fillmore, W. I. Sundquist, and G. J. Jensen. 2007. Electron cryotomography of immature HIV-1 virions reveals the structure of the CA and SP1 Gag shells. EMBO J 26:2218-2226.
- 616. Wrona, T. J., M. Lozano, A. A. Binhazim, and J. P. Dudley. 1998. Mutational and functional analysis of the C-terminal region of the C3H mouse mammary tumor virus superantigen. J Virol 72:4746-4755.
- 617. Wu, X., J. L. Anderson, E. M. Campbell, A. M. Joseph, and T. J. Hope. 2006. Proteasome inhibitors uncouple rhesus TRIM5alpha restriction of HIV-1 reverse transcription and infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **103**:7465-7470.
- 618. Wu, X., Y. Li, B. Crise, and S. M. Burgess. 2003. Transcription start regions in the human genome are favored targets for MLV integration. Science **300**:1749-1751.
- 619. Wu, X., H. Liu, H. Xiao, J. A. Conway, E. Hehl, G. V. Kalpana, V. Prasad, and J. C. Kappes. 1999. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase protein promotes reverse transcription through specific interactions with the nucleoprotein reverse transcription complex. J Virol 73:2126-2135.
- 620. Wurtzer, S., A. Goubard, F. Mammano, S. Saragosti, D. Lecossier, A. J. Hance, and F. Clavel. 2006. Functional central polypurine tract provides

downstream protection of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 genome from editing by APOBEC3G and APOBEC3B. J Virol **80**:3679-3683.

- 621. Xiong, Y., G. J. Hannon, H. Zhang, D. Casso, R. Kobayashi, and D. Beach. 1993. p21 is a universal inhibitor of cyclin kinases. Nature **366**:701-704.
- 622. Xu, H., E. Chertova, J. Chen, D. E. Ott, J. D. Roser, W. S. Hu, and V. K. Pathak. 2007. Stoichiometry of the antiviral protein APOBEC3G in HIV-1 virions. Virology 360:247-256.
- 623. Xu, H., E. Svarovskaia, R. Barr, Y. Zhang, M. Khan, K. Strebel, and V. Pathak. 2004. A single amino acid substitution in human APOBEC3G antiretroviral enzyme confers resistance to HIV-1 virion infectivity factor-induced depletion. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:5652 5657.
- 624. Xu, L., L. Yang, P. K. Moitra, K. Hashimoto, P. Rallabhandi, S. Kaul, G. Meroni, J. P. Jensen, A. M. Weissman, and P. D'Arpa. 2003. BTBD1 and BTBD2 colocalize to cytoplasmic bodies with the RBCC/tripartite motif protein, TRIM5delta. Exp Cell Res 288:84-93.
- 625. **Yamashita, M., and M. Emerman.** 2004. Capsid is a dominant determinant of retrovirus infectivity in nondividing cells. Journal of virology **78:**5670-5678.
- 626. **Yamashita, M., and M. Emerman.** 2006. Retroviral infection of non-dividing cells: old and new perspectives. Virology **344:**88-93.
- 627. Yamauchi, M., B. Freitag, C. Khan, B. Berwin, and E. Barklis. 1995. Stem cell factor binding to retrovirus primer binding site silencers. J Virol 69:1142-1149.
- 628. Yang, B., K. Chen, C. Zhang, S. Huang, and H. Zhang. 2007. Virionassociated uracil DNA glycosylase-2 and apurinic/apyrimidinic endonuclease are involved in the degradation of APOBEC3G-edited nascent HIV-1 DNA. J Biol Chem 282:11667 - 11675.
- 629. Yang, S., Y. Sun, and H. Zhang. 2001. The multimerization of human immunodeficiency virus type I Vif protein: a requirement for Vif function in the viral life cycle. J Biol Chem 276:4889 4893.
- 630. Yang, S. J., L. A. Lopez, H. Hauser, C. M. Exline, K. G. Haworth, and P. M. Cannon. 2010. Anti-tetherin activities in Vpu-expressing primate lentiviruses. Retrovirology 7:13.
- 631. Yao, S., M. S. Liu, S. L. Masters, J. G. Zhang, J. J. Babon, N. A. Nicola, S. E. Nicholson, and R. S. Norton. 2006. Dynamics of the SPRY domain-containing SOCS box protein 2: flexibility of key functional loops. Protein Sci 15:2761-2772.
- 632. Yap, M. W., D. Lindemann, N. Stanke, J. Reh, D. Westphal, H. Hanenberg, S. Ohkura, and J. P. Stoye. 2008. Restriction of foamy viruses by primate Trim5alpha. J Virol 82:5429-5439.
- 633. Yap, M. W., S. Nisole, C. Lynch, and J. P. Stoye. 2004. Trim5alpha protein restricts both HIV-1 and murine leukemia virus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101:10786-10791.
- 634. Yap, M. W., S. Nisole, and J. P. Stoye. 2005. A single amino acid change in the SPRY domain of human Trim5alpha leads to HIV-1 restriction. Curr Biol 15:73-78.

- 635. Ylinen, L. M., Z. Keckesova, B. L. Webb, R. J. Gifford, T. P. Smith, and G. J. Towers. 2006. Isolation of an active Lv1 gene from cattle indicates that tripartite motif protein-mediated innate immunity to retroviral infection is widespread among mammals. J Virol 80:7332-7338.
- 636. Ylinen, L. M., Z. Keckesova, S. J. Wilson, S. Ranasinghe, and G. J. Towers. 2005. Differential restriction of human immunodeficiency virus type 2 and simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac by TRIM5alpha alleles. J Virol 79:11580-11587.
- 637. Yoder, A., D. Yu, L. Dong, S. R. Iyer, X. Xu, J. Kelly, J. Liu, W. Wang, P. J. Vorster, L. Agulto, D. A. Stephany, J. N. Cooper, J. W. Marsh, and Y. Wu. 2008. HIV envelope-CXCR4 signaling activates cofilin to overcome cortical actin restriction in resting CD4 T cells. Cell 134:782-792.
- 638. Yohn, C. T., Z. Jiang, S. D. McGrath, K. E. Hayden, P. Khaitovich, M. E. Johnson, M. Y. Eichler, J. D. McPherson, S. Zhao, S. Paabo, and E. E. Eichler. 2005. Lineage-specific expansions of retroviral insertions within the genomes of African great apes but not humans and orangutans. PLoS Biol 3:e110.
- 639. Yu, F., G. S. Jones, M. Hung, A. H. Wagner, H. L. MacArthur, X. Liu, S. Leavitt, M. J. McDermott, and M. Tsiang. 2007. HIV-1 integrase preassembled on donor DNA is refractory to activity stimulation by LEDGF/p75. Biochemistry 46:2899-2908.
- 640. Yu, Q., D. Chen, R. Konig, R. Mariani, D. Unutmaz, and N. Landau. 2004. APOBEC3B and APOBEC3C are potent inhibitors of simian immunodeficiency virus replication. J Biol Chem 279:53379 - 53386.
- 641. Yu, Q., R. Konig, S. Pillai, K. Chiles, M. Kearney, S. Palmer, D. Richman, J. M. Coffin, and N. R. Landau. 2004. Single-strand specificity of APOBEC3G accounts for minus-strand deamination of the HIV genome. Nat Struct Mol Biol 11:435-442.
- 642. Yu, X., Y. Yu, B. Liu, K. Luo, W. Kong, P. Mao, and X. Yu. 2003. Induction of APOBEC3G ubiquitination and degradation by an HIV-1 Vif-Cul5-SCF complex. Science 302:1056 1060.
- 643. Yu, X. F., Q. C. Yu, M. Essex, and T. H. Lee. 1991. The vpx gene of simian immunodeficiency virus facilitates efficient viral replication in fresh lymphocytes and macrophage. J Virol 65:5088-5091.
- 644. Yuan, H., Y. M. Xie, and I. S. Chen. 2003. Depletion of Wee-1 kinase is necessary for both human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr- and gamma irradiation-induced apoptosis. J Virol 77:2063-2070.
- 645. Zack, J. A., S. J. Arrigo, S. R. Weitsman, A. S. Go, A. Haislip, and I. S. Chen. 1990. HIV-1 entry into quiescent primary lymphocytes: molecular analysis reveals a labile, latent viral structure. Cell 61:213-222.
- 646. **Zapp, M. L., T. J. Hope, T. G. Parslow, and M. R. Green.** 1991. Oligomerization and RNA binding domains of the type 1 human immunodeficiency virus Rev protein: a dual function for an arginine-rich binding motif. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **88**:7734-7738.
- 647. Zemmel, R. W., A. C. Kelley, J. Karn, and P. J. Butler. 1996. Flexible regions of RNA structure facilitate co-operative Rev assembly on the Rev-response element. J Mol Biol 258:763-777.

- 648. Zennou, V., D. Perez-Caballero, H. Gottlinger, and P. Bieniasz. 2004. APOBEC3G incorporation into human immunodeficiency virus type 1 particles. J Virol 78:12058 - 12061.
- 649. Zennou, V., C. Petit, D. Guetard, U. Nerhbass, L. Montagnier, and P. Charneau. 2000. HIV-1 genome nuclear import is mediated by a central DNA flap. Cell 101:173-185.
- 650. **Zhang, F., T. Hatziioannou, D. Perez-Caballero, D. Derse, and P. D. Bieniasz.** 2006. Antiretroviral potential of human tripartite motif-5 and related proteins. Virology **353:**396-409.
- 651. Zhang, F., S. J. Wilson, W. C. Landford, B. Virgen, D. Gregory, M. C. Johnson, J. Munch, F. Kirchhoff, P. D. Bieniasz, and T. Hatziioannou. 2009. Nef proteins from simian immunodeficiency viruses are tetherin antagonists. Cell Host Microbe 6:54-67.
- 652. Zhang, H., B. Yang, R. J. Pomerantz, C. Zhang, S. C. Arunachalam, and L. Gao. 2003. The cytidine deaminase CEM15 induces hypermutation in newly synthesized HIV-1 DNA. Nature 424:94-98.
- 653. **Zhang, J., E. Attar, K. Cohen, C. Crumpacker, and D. Scadden.** 2005. Silencing p21(Waf1/Cip1/Sdi1) expression increases gene transduction efficiency in primitive human hematopoietic cells. Gene Ther **12**:1444-1452.
- 654. Zhang, J., D. T. Scadden, and C. S. Crumpacker. 2007. Primitive hematopoietic cells resist HIV-1 infection via p21. J Clin Invest 117:473-481.
- 655. Zhang, X. Y., V. F. La Russa, L. Bao, J. Kolls, P. Schwarzenberger, and J. Reiser. 2002. Lentiviral vectors for sustained transgene expression in human bone marrow-derived stromal cells. Mol Ther 5:555-565.
- 656. Zhang, Y., C. W. Burke, K. D. Ryman, and W. B. Klimstra. 2007. Identification and characterization of interferon-induced proteins that inhibit alphavirus replication. J Virol 81:11246-11255.
- 657. Zhou, H., M. Xu, Q. Huang, A. T. Gates, X. D. Zhang, J. C. Castle, E. Stec, M. Ferrer, B. Strulovici, D. J. Hazuda, and A. S. Espeseth. 2008. Genomescale RNAi screen for host factors required for HIV replication. Cell Host Microbe 4:495-504.
- 658. Zhu, Y., H. A. Gelbard, M. Roshal, S. Pursell, B. D. Jamieson, and V. Planelles. 2001. Comparison of cell cycle arrest, transactivation, and apoptosis induced by the simian immunodeficiency virus SIVagm and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vpr genes. J Virol 75:3791-3801.